THE CRUEL SEA: AN EXAMINATION OF EXODUS 13.17 – 15.21
THROUGH THE LENSES OF TRAUMA THEORY AND COLLECTIVE
MEMORY STUDIES
by Simeon Whiting
A thesis submitted to the University of Birmingham for the degree of DOCTOR OF
PHILOSOPHY
Department of Theology and Religion
College of Arts and Law
University of Birmingham
December 2020

UNIVERSITY^{OF} BIRMINGHAM

University of Birmingham Research Archive

e-theses repository

This unpublished thesis/dissertation is copyright of the author and/or third parties. The intellectual property rights of the author or third parties in respect of this work are as defined by The Copyright Designs and Patents Act 1988 or as modified by any successor legislation.

Any use made of information contained in this thesis/dissertation must be in accordance with that legislation and must be properly acknowledged. Further distribution or reproduction in any format is prohibited without the permission of the copyright holder.

Abstract

The Reed Sea episode is often read as a moment of liberation and vindication for the Israelites. However, it is also a moment of overwhelming violence and divine rage. This thesis offers a new perspective on the violence of the Reed Sea episode.

Exod 13.17 – 15.21 is likely to have been influenced by trauma deriving from the fall of Jerusalem and displacement to Babylonia. Some of the authors of the text, working during the Persian period, may not have directly experienced the destruction of Jerusalem at first hand, but inherited trauma from their parents and their wider community. Exod 13.17 – 15.21 contains evidence of several markers of trauma, giving strong grounds for seeing this text as influenced by the authors' trauma: it has many features of survivor literature.

Trauma has a profound effect on a community's shared identity and on the collective memory which underpins that identity. With insights from collective memory studies, we can see that the Reed Sea episode represented a foundational myth for the Yehud community and that trauma affected how that memory was formed and communicated.

For Jack and Levi Like I said, it all comes out sooner or later.

Acknowledgements

This thesis has only come into being because of the support, encouragement and wisdom of many people. It has been a privilege to belong to a community of scholars as welcoming and innovative as the Theology department at the University of Birmingham. The whole department has helped spur me on, but I would like to single out Joe Scales and Charlie Comerford for particular thanks for their thoughtful feedback, solidarity and good humour. Charlotte Hempel has been an inexhaustible source of hard-won experience, wisdom and enthusiasm, and has made a significant difference to my academic prospects through her investment in the Second Temple Early Career Academy. Thank you, Charlotte.

Beyond Birmingham, I have very much enjoyed the lively discussions at meetings of the Society for Old Testament Study, especially comparing notes on trauma with Kirsi Cobb. I hope my contributions have added as much value to her work as hers have to mine. Thanks, too, to Irene Jones, for her encouragement and input on trauma and cortisol levels.

I must also extend my thanks to St Boniface Church, Quinton, which has been my spiritual home for many years and whose members have sustained me with energy and resolve when doctoral research seemed, at times, overwhelming. My special thanks to Dave Leak, Tony Potter, Martin Priestley and Ray Yates.

My family, too, have been incredible in offering support (including financial support), understanding at my frequent distractedness and irascibility, and unwavering confidence that I would see the project through. To my parents, Andrew and Hazel, to my in-laws, Ian and Hilary and most of all to my extraordinary wife, Jo: thank you. I owe you so much.

Finally, there is one person who has walked every step of the six-year-long journey with me; who has advised, exhorted, cautioned, questioned, encouraged and challenged me

and whose belief in the project has been unfailing. To my supervisor and mentor, the remarkable Deryn Guest, go the greatest thanks of all.

Contents

IntroductionIntroduction	1
Chapter 1 – Trauma theory and the Reed Sea	10
The value and limitations of comparative analogy	11
Identifying key thinkers on trauma	18
What is trauma?	20
Applying trauma theory to the Ancient Near East	27
Survivor literature	29
Trauma theory and biblical studies	39
Preliminary conclusions	56
Chapter 2 – The composition of the Reed Sea episode and its implications for trauma infl	uencing
the textthe text	
An outline of common theories of pentateuchal composition	
When and where was the Pentateuch written?	66
Who wrote the Pentateuch?	76
What source material did the scribes have?	81
Why was the Pentateuch written?	94
Persian-period authorship and its implications for trauma informing the text	102
Conclusion.	107
Chapter 3 – The Reed Sea episode and transgenerational trauma	109
How traumatic was the fall of Jerusalem?	110
How traumatic was the Exile?	116
What is transgenerational transmission?	127
Societies and chosen trauma	140
Transgenerational transmission in biblical studies	148
Implications for the Reed Sea episode	158
Chapter 4 – Reading Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 through the lens of trauma	161
Markers of trauma within survivor literature	162
The Holocaust as a comparative analogy for the fall of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile	165
Existing studies applying trauma theory to the Pentateuch	172
How and where markers of survivor literature are visible in Exod 13.17 – 15.21	175
Is Exod 13.17 – 15.21 a piece of survivor literature?	205
Chapter 5 – Traumatised memory in the Reed Sea episode	
What is collective memory?	212
Memory studies and the Hebrew Bible	224

Bibliography	297
Appendix 1: Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 with translation	283
Conclusion	
Traumatised memory, triumphant identity	264
Exod 13.17 – 15.21 as traumatised memory	252
Memory, trauma and biblical studies	245
Traumatised memory	234

Introduction

A few years ago, I visited friends in Algeria. Towards the end of my stay, we spent a day at the beach, lounging on the sand and splashing in the beautifully warm waters of the Mediterranean. Unfortunately, the sea's pleasant temperature made me overlook its hidden hazards. After swimming a short distance from the shore, I waited for a wave, planning to use its momentum and ride the crest back to the beach. Needless to say, I miscalculated. The wave didn't look powerful but it was strong enough to knock me off my feet and to my alarm, the current then took me, pounding me against the seabed, holding me there and squeezing the breath out of my lungs. After a frightening few seconds, I managed to stand up and, because I was now well within my depth, I was able to stagger the few yards to the beach, gasping and spluttering.

From that very brief glimpse of the sea's power, I believe I understand a little why more imaginative minds than mine perceive the sea as a sentient and malevolent force. Perhaps the most obvious example of this is the 1953 film *The Cruel Sea*, in which the warring sailors are the heroes and the eponymous 'cruel sea' is the villain.

The Reed Sea¹ is different. It is not portrayed within Exodus as cruel in itself, but it is used for cruel purposes as a weapon in the hands of the deity. Having manipulated the hearts of Pharaoh and his army to pursue the Israelites (Exod 14.8, 17), YHWH prepares a trap for the Egyptians (14.25) and uses the waters of the Reed Sea to drown them so that not a single one survives (14.28). YHWH drives back the sea to allow the Israelites to cross (14.21), turns it back to block the Egyptians' onslaught and hurls the Egyptians into the now torrential waters (14.26-27). It is even possible that the word used to describe the seabed in 14.21

¹ Throughout this thesis, I favour 'Reed Sea' over 'Red Sea'. The sea referred to in the story is מוס"ם", literally 'Sea of Reeds', and is unlikely to correspond to what the modern reader knows as the Red Sea (see Cole [1973: 117]; Bruckner [2008: 125]).

 $(\Box\Box\Box\Box)$ is a pun on 'sword' $(\Box\Box\Box)$, emphasising the sea's role as a divine weapon.² The sea is not personified as inherently cruel but it is assuredly used for cruel ends.

I have always found the Reed Sea story compelling, especially because it is so central to both the Jewish and Christian faiths. But in recent years, I have begun to find it disturbing too. While the story represents a moment of triumph and vindication for the Israelites, it means only terror and destruction for the Egyptians. At the start of this project, I was drawn to study the Reed Sea episode by a desire to reconcile my own evangelical Christian faith with a biblical story which portrays the deity as violent, vengeful and cruel. I began searching for an explanation of this divine violence which avoided either retreating into the odicy or decrying the deity as a tyrant.

Trauma theory offered the prospect of this kind of explanation. From my initial research into existing studies of trauma within the Hebrew Bible, I noticed that this approach yielded useful insights into other texts which depicted violence, anger and grief. I therefore hypothesised that it might offer equally useful insights into the origins of the violence in 13.17 - 15.21.

My initial theological focus has faded into the background over the course of my studies. I still believe the question of the character of the deity as revealed in Exod 13-15 is very important, and I hope to have the opportunity to write on the subject in the near future. But as I studied the Reed Sea episode through the lens of trauma, I began to realise that this model truly is a rich seam of insight. When I later noticed how trauma can affect collective memory, another layer of complexity and nuance was added to my research and it became impossible to investigate the character of the deity in sufficient depth, while adhering to the

2

² See Bruckner (2008: 133).

permitted word count. My interest in YHWH's character and its implications for confessing readers had to be sacrificed, at least for now.

My primary research aim is to investigate what light trauma might shed on our understanding of the Reed Sea episode: more specifically, to what extent trauma influenced the composition of Exod 13.17 – 15.21 and what evidence of trauma the text shows. Relating to this primary aim and conditional on my conclusions in that regard, I want to explore how trauma affects the function of the Reed Sea episode as an example of collective memory. Another secondary aim is to offer a heuristic dating schema for the composition of Exod 13.17 – 15.21; itself a necessary step in arguing for specific events which might have created a traumatic influence on the text.

Within this thesis, I seek to demonstrate three things:

- 1) that Exodus 13.17 15.21 is profoundly influenced by the authors' trauma, deriving from the fall of Jerusalem and the deportation to Babylonia³ and (for the later editors of the text) inherited from their parents and others of their parents' generation, within the exiled community;
- 2) that the text therefore bears markers of trauma;
- that the text functions as an example of a collective memory, with this function in itself affected by trauma.

Thesis outline

My thesis is structured as follows:

³ A good deal of scholarship on the Exile tends to efface the difference between Babylon as a city and Babylonia as an empire. Strine (2018a) offers a particularly instructive explanation of why the difference between the two must be kept in view, and I have done my best to follow his lead.

1. Trauma theory and its application to biblical studies

I begin with a short overview of trauma studies, identifying key thinkers and tracing the development of trauma as a recognised psychological phenomenon. I explore the nature of psychological trauma, the symptoms commonly ascribed to it and how those symptoms have manifested themselves in the survivors of severe traumas – especially the Holocaust. Recent work by Caruth (1995, 1996) and Herman (1997) is particularly illuminating on these subjects.

While applying trauma theory to the Ancient Near East offers unique insights into the likely effects of the destruction of Jerusalem (for example) on its survivors, there are also important cautions to bear in mind in this application. I therefore highlight the insights and cautions involved.

Next, I examine the appearance and development of the concept of survivor literature, important examples of such literature and what characteristics these works tend to display.

I conclude this chapter with a short survey of trauma in biblical studies: where evidence of trauma has been found in a text; examples of texts being characterised as outpourings of pain and grief; other texts which can be said to function as traumatised theology; and where trauma seems to intrude into the Hebrew Bible, apparently without the author's intention. The study of biblical texts through the lens of trauma is still in its infancy, but some very exciting work has been done in this area by the likes of Garber (2011, 2015), Morrow (2004, 2011), Janzen (2012) and Smith-Christopher (2011). From this survey, I derive several useful lines of inquiry into Exodus 13.17 – 15.21.

2. The composition of the Reed Sea episode

In order to argue for a traumatic influence on Exod 13.17 – 15.21, I must establish what the source of this trauma is most likely to have been. My second chapter will therefore investigate when and by whom the Reed Sea episode was written and, in view of that dating, what event(s) is most likely to have traumatised the authors. I argue that there is good reason for believing that Exod 13-15 (and the wider Pentateuch) were composed during the Exile and extensively reshaped during the Persian period, following the return from Babylonia.

I also draw some conclusions on the authorship of Exod 13-15, proposing that a guild of scribes is more likely than a single literary genius 'Yahwist' to have been responsible for its composition, and that these scribes would have drawn on at least some pre-existing traditions in their work. Finally, I explore differing ideas on why the text was written at all, concluding that the Pentateuch functions as a national history of Israel and that the Reed Sea episode therefore plays a role in articulating Israel's origins and identity.

Based on this heuristic dating and authorship, I conclude that the fall of Jerusalem and forced displacement to Babylonia are the most likely events to have traumatised the authors of the Reed Sea episode. Any markers of trauma within the text would therefore have their origins in these experiences.

3. Exodus and transgenerational trauma

The obvious difficulty raised by this argument is that if Exod 13-15 was extensively shaped in the early Persian period, its authors are very unlikely to have experienced the fall of Jerusalem or displacement to Babylonia at first hand. They would not, therefore, have been directly traumatised by these events. In chapter three, I address this difficulty by outlining the transgenerational transmission of trauma: how trauma can be passed on from a survivor to

their child, and how this child can be traumatised despite not experiencing the traumatising event for themselves.

Firstly, I make the case for the destruction of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile being truly traumatic for those who survived them. I conclude that, although there is insufficient evidence to insist that the Exile was traumatic in itself, the very experience of being forcibly removed from their homes and displaced to another nation would have been inherently traumatic for the exiled Judaeans.

In exploring the concept of transgenerational transition, I focus on studies carried out by several eminent clinical psychologists (e.g. Baranowsky *et al* [1998], Kellermann [2001] and Yehuda [1998, 2000, 2001, 2008]). I explain how trauma is passed on from parent to child, illustrating this particularly by reference to children of Holocaust survivors. Informed by these studies, I contend that the scribes who reworked the Reed Sea episode in the Persian period may have experienced transgenerational trauma, and that this transmitted trauma is manifested in the text they created.

Indeed, it is possible for an entire society to be traumatised and to pass on this collective trauma from one generation to the next. I move on to discuss the concept of 'chosen trauma', and highlight how a shared trauma can be passed on for several generations after the fact, even constituting a marker of belonging within a large group. Although there are limitations to how far 'chosen trauma' can be applied to the Reed Sea episode, I show how the idea underscores trauma's enduring influence on a society.

4. Reading Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 through the lens of trauma

In chapter four, I highlight specific elements within Exod 13.17 - 15.21 which could be designated as markers of trauma. The heart of the chapter and the crux of the thesis is a

close reading of Exod 13.17 – 15.21, revisiting the key features of survivor literature identified in chapter one and analysing to what extent these markers of trauma apply to this text.⁴ Through this close reading, I demonstrate that the Reed Sea episode bears similarities to more modern examples of survivor literature and that there is thus good reason for reading the text in this light.

I preface this study of the Reed Sea episode with a justification for treating the Holocaust as an analogy for the Babylonian oppression of Judah: an important point, in order for the comparison between literature produced in the aftermath of the Holocaust and literature produced following the destruction of Jerusalem to be legitimate.

The chapter concludes with a discussion of whether the Reed Sea episode can be described as 'survivor literature' in its truest sense, or whether a different term is necessary to sum up its nature and purpose. I explain why I believe the text is better described not as 'survivor literature' but as 'survival literature', and how the two terms differ.

5. Traumatised memory in Exodus 13.17 – 15.21

Having presented my argument for the authors of Exod 13.17 – 15.21 being influenced by transgenerational trauma, I explain in chapter five why I believe they chose this specific story to express their suffering. To do so, I summarise the concept of collective memory, its relationship to trauma, and how the Reed Sea episode preserved a traumatised memory, shaping the shared identity of the community in which it was composed.

The chapter first explores the origins of collective memory as a concept and its most significant features: the purpose of collective memory, the significance of 'memory figures', the reconstruction of historical events and individuals, and how collective memories are

 $^{^4}$ My analysis of the text is based on my own translation of Exod 13.17 – 15.21, included in this thesis as Appendix 1.

preserved. For this summary, I draw particularly on the work of Maurice Halbwachs (1992) and Jan Assmann (2011).

I next show how memory studies and biblical studies have intersected, both in terms of Bible scholars interpreting specific texts through the lens of collective memory and in memory theorists using the Hebrew Bible to illustrate their ideas. Structuring my argument around the features of collective memory identified earlier, I outline how scholars such as Hendel (2001, 2005) and Ben Zvi (2013) have used memory theory within studies on the Hebrew Bible.

In the next section, still following the same key features of collective memory, I show how these features are altered when a society experiences a collective trauma. Once again, the Holocaust offers an illuminating (although awful) example of how trauma affects what a society remembers and how they remember it. With these effects in view, I highlight how several scholars – especially Janzen (2019) and Houck-Loomis (2018) – have applied the concept of traumatised memory to biblical texts.

Finally, I investigate how trauma deriving from the destruction of Jerusalem and deportation to Babylon, present within the Reed Sea episode, would have affected the collective memory of the community in which the text was composed. I present the Reed Sea episode as a proxy memory: a myth created by its authors to express their traumatised rage and desire for revenge, when to express this rage directly was impossible. As such, the story enables the Yehud community to work through their shared trauma, to imagine a future free from pain and persecution, and not merely to articulate their suffering but to transcend it. Ultimately, the story helped shape Yehud's collective identity as victorious, vindicated by the deity and liberated from oppression and servitude.

Conclusive proof of trauma within any text remains elusive. Trauma is, by its nature, an experience 'missed' by the survivor and imperfectly assimilated into their conscious mind (as Caruth explains, for example [1996: 56]). Proving the presence of trauma in a text, especially in the absence of clear authorial intention to portray a traumatic experience, is therefore highly problematic. However, it is still possible to present a compelling case for a traumatic influence on a text. With regard to the Reed Sea episode in particular, I have set out to present just such a compelling case. The context of the story's composition, the extent of the violence and destruction enacted against Jerusalem by Babylon, and the enlightening findings of clinical research into transgenerational trauma, when combined with markers of trauma within the text itself, form a convincing argument for trauma influencing the Reed Sea episode.

Chapter 1 – Trauma theory and the Reed Sea

Trauma has come of age. The psychological concept of trauma has developed from its

first meaningful studies by Freud into a nuanced and well-rounded idea. The concept gained traction following the Vietnam War, when thousands of American soldiers returned home, clearly carrying deep psychological wounds from their experiences of combat.

Psychotherapists began to notice that victims of sexual assault exhibited symptoms very similar to combat veterans (Herman, 1997: 31), and realised that trauma was not limited to any single cause, but could be triggered by overwhelming experiences of all kinds, involving violence, threat, destruction and loss. However, it took several years for trauma to be codified and widely accepted as a medical condition: it was not until 1980 that the term Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder finally appeared in key psychology reference works (Caruth, 1995b: 3).

Survivors of all kinds of catastrophes (both personal and communal) are now understood as 'traumatised' if they exhibit some or all of a commonly agreed set of symptoms (outlined below). Survivors of the Holocaust, the bombing of Hiroshima, the Vietnam War and atrocities in Uganda, Sudan and Sierra Leone have all shown these symptoms, as have countless individual victims of sexual and physical assault.

Trauma theory has also had an impact on the study of literature and the arts, with theorists seeking to identify how a trauma suffered by (for example) a writer, artist or cinematographer might manifest itself in the finished work.⁵ And since the late 1990s, Bible scholars have begun to ask similar questions of biblical texts: where can signs of trauma be seen in the Bible, and how should these signs affect how the texts in question are interpreted?

10

⁵ For example, *Hiroshima Mon Amour* has attracted a good deal of discussion on how the A-bomb influenced its tone and content (c.f. Caruth, 1996: 25-27), *Badenheim 1939* has been interpreted as an allegory for the Holocaust (Lang, 2000: 26), and even the fiction of William Faulkner has been described as influenced by trauma (Vickroy, 2015: 100-102).

In this chapter, I offer a brief overview of the history of trauma studies and of trauma's key features. I then outline the concept of 'survivor literature' and identify features common to works within this category. Finally, I review the existing body of work which applies trauma theory to biblical studies, explaining why this application is not only legitimate but innovative and enlightening, and suggesting how this approach might be applicable to the Reed Sea episode. In all this, my primary objective is to establish that reading Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 through the lens of trauma is justified, that it is well supported by precedents and a sound theoretical framework, and that it offers new and fruitful avenues into understanding the text.

The value and limitations of comparative analogy

Before I begin the overview of trauma studies, a short interjection is warranted to outline why I have used comparative analogy within a thesis focused on the Hebrew Bible, and the benefits and potential pitfalls of this approach. Although my thesis is not a social-scientific study, it makes use of comparative analogy, which is a key social-scientific tool. (For example, I give particular attention in chapter three to a comparison between the Holocaust and the Babylonian subjugation of Judah in the sixth century B.C.E.) Therefore, although I will not give an extensive overview of the contribution of social-scientific criticism as a whole to biblical studies, I will highlight the value and limitations of using relatively recent events as a model to inform our interpretation of biblical texts. In doing so, I will focus on a case study of such an approach: Philip Esler's application of the 'challenge-and-response' model of social interaction, found in modern Mediterranean cultures, to Galatians 2.1-14.

Benefits

The use of comparative analogy has several clear benefits to biblical interpretation. Firstly, comparative analogy opens up new potential sources of data to enhance our understanding of a text. Any study of the direct historical and cultural background to a biblical text is hampered by the limited quantity of extrabiblical evidence available, from which to draw conclusions about this background. And while an anthropologist might derive a valuable perspective from immersing themselves in a society foreign to them in order to study that society's structures and norms, that approach is simply impossible where ANE societies are concerned. A great benefit of social-scientific criticism – and of comparative analogy in particular – is that it can offer insights into the biblical context from other, similar cultures with more extensive data sets (Elliott, 1993: 92-93).

Secondly, comparing a modern society to an ancient near eastern one can help create a vivid impression of how the ancient society may have been. It can make an ancient people more relatable and their texts more lively to a modern reader of the Bible (Elliott, 1993: 101). As Esler expresses it, such social-scientific models, 'offer the best strategy for dealing with the cultural distance between us and the biblical texts' (2000: 107).

Thirdly, comparative analogy can open avenues of understanding into a text which a conventional historical-critical approach might overlook. For example, Esler's study of Galatians through the lens of contested honour (of which, more below) opens up new possible connotations of the Greek phrase usually translated as 'to give the right hand [of fellowship]' (Esler, 1995: 298-304). These connotations are largely unnoticed by scholars who do not consider Galatians in the light of social practices from the modern Mediterranean region.

This is not to say that comparative analogy (or social-scientific criticism as a whole) is superior to other interpretative approaches; merely that it has as much value as these other

approaches and deserves to be acknowledged as such. Neither is it necessary to make a simplistic choice of a single approach to a biblical text, to the exclusion of all others. Indeed, comparative analogy is best used in parallel with another approach, especially the historical-critical method. These two approaches can enhance each other and result in a well-rounded understanding of the text being studied (Aunger, 1995: 112).

Methodology

Esler's study of Gal 2.1-14, through the lens of the 'challenge-and-response' model of debate, offers an instructive example of the methodology involved in using comparative analogy to interpret a biblical text. There are other such examples which relate more directly to texts from the Hebrew Bible rather than the New Testament⁶, but Esler's study, Horrell's critique of it and Esler's later response are particularly helpful in highlighting not just the methodology but also some of the objections raised by opponents of this method.

Esler's essay demonstrates the following approach:

- Consciously 'jettison' modern Western assumptions (1995: 288). Of course, it is a
 moot point to what extent it is possible for a scholar to simply leave aside their
 inherent culturally-bound assumptions. But the use of comparative analogy rests
 on at least aiming for this.
- 2. Adopt a particular model relating to social relations, deriving from a society similar but distinct from the one which produced the text in question. Esler focuses on a model from the modern Mediterranean⁷, as revealed by anthropologists (1995: 288-289). Esler chooses the concept of honour and how it affects social

⁶ For example, Carol Meyers uses observations on the link between women and music from Ancient Greece, Egypt and Sumeria to argue for a similar link in the Hebrew Bible (1999a), and uses informal women's associations in agrarian societies to interpret Ruth 4 (1999b).

⁷ Esler identifies several anthropologists, predominantly working in the mid-1960s (1995: 289).

interaction in modern Mediterranean cultures. He outlines this concept, identifying four clear steps in honour-based social interactions: i) one individual challenges another, with a claim by which the former attempts to enter the social space of the latter; ii) the recipient of the challenge weighs up how to respond; iii) a response is issued; and iv) the wider community pass judgment on which parties have gained or lost honour (1995: 290-292).

- 3. Apply the analogy to the biblical text in question. Rather than a simplistic layering of a modern model onto an ancient context which might not fully support it, Esler uses his analogy as a heuristic tool. He begins with an assumption; not that the analogy will be a perfect fit for Galatians 2, but that applying the analogy will raise new questions to put to the text and open up new avenues in interpreting it (1995: 289; 2000: 110). As he puts it, he wants to 'try out' the model on the text and see to what extent data from the text fits the model (2000: 112). For example, with the concept of honour brought to the fore, Esler wonders how Paul's visit to Jerusalem might have been received: might the leaders of the church have perceived it as a challenge? (1995: 293).
 - Apparently anxious to avoid imposing an artificial framework onto the text, Esler does not simply look for the four-stage challenge-and-response pattern within Galatians 2. Instead, he takes the text as a whole, seeing within it a process of Paul making and breaking an agreement with the church in Jerusalem (1995: 292, 304). He then notes evidence within that structure of Paul challenging the honour of the church leaders and the leaders responding.
- 4. Support any conclusions with reference to other studies on the text. Esler's case does not rest purely on his modern Mediterranean analogy. He buttresses his

argument with reference to existing scholarship on Galatians: specifically, a fourth century commentary (1995: 311).

Assumptions and limitations

Despite the fresh insights offered by Esler's study, it has provoked stiff criticism from some other scholars, most notably David Horrell.

The most obvious risk for a scholar using a comparative analogy to interpret a biblical text is to assume from the outset that their chosen analogy must be applicable to their object of study. This is not necessarily the case. A comparative analogy is largely a heuristic tool, used for the purposes of comparison and further investigation of an ancient context. The analogy is not always perfect and does not need to be in order to produce valuable insights into the text. Similarly, a scholar should not use a contemporary model to cover over a lack of evidence from other sources — 'to plug holes in ancient data' as Esler puts it (1995: 289). Nor does Esler fall into either of these traps.

Secondly, the imposition of a modern social-scientific model onto a text might be seen as a simple anachronism. To this suggestion, I would respond (as Elliott and Matthews do) that any Bible scholar brings a bundle of inherent biases and culturally-bound assumptions to their understanding of the text, which would constitute a model of their own, whether or not they realise they are doing so (Elliott, 1993: 36-37; Matthews, 2016: 148-149). A scholar using comparative analogy as a tool will at least be aware of the model they are using, and acknowledge that.

Next, there is the risk of confirmation bias: the scholar identifies an analogy they think might be applicable to a particular biblical text, applies this analogy and, in looking for evidence that it might indeed fit the text, forces the evidence within the text to fit the model.

(Horrell implies that Esler has done just this [2000: 90], although I believe that accusation is unwarranted.) While critics of this approach observe that the result can be influenced more by the model than by the text itself, a thorough scholar will then return to the model and adapt that, in the light of their findings. Rather than a simplistic layering of a modern model onto an ancient context which might not fully support it, comparative analogy should be a matter of a to-and-fro journey between the two contexts, to make sure the conclusions arising from this approach are sound (Elliott, 1993: 48).

Related to this, when using a modern context as an analogy for an ancient one, the temptation is to highlight only the similarities between these two contexts. But to yield to this temptation risks offering a distorted impression of the ancient culture. A scholar using comparative analogy must acknowledge the differences between the modern and ancient cultures under scrutiny, as well as their similarities (Elliott, 1993: 93). Esler's study on Galatians seems somewhat lacking on this point.

A comparative analogy is, by nature, based on a simplified impression of a modern reality. Applying a simplified understanding of a modern reality to an ancient context risks producing a simplified understanding of the latter, too. Horrell protests that a simplified model reduces human beings to typical and predictable parts of a society, depriving them of individual agency and the possibility of differing from the norm (2000: 84). Esler seems aware of this risk and argues in return that any individual is profoundly influenced in their thoughts and actions by the culture which has surrounded them for most (or all) of their life. Therefore, while an individual still has the capacity for independent thought and unilateral action, they can never be entirely separated from the values and beliefs of their culture (2000: 111). So, to use a comparative analogy effectively, a scholar should ask questions to do with

patterns and social structures within an ancient culture, while still taking seriously an individual's potential for independence: not always an easy balance to strike.

A further weakness of this approach to biblical interpretation is the tendency among its adherents to refer to 'modern Mediterranean cultures', without specifying which culture(s) they are focusing on. (Esler does just this [1995: 289].) This creates the impression that modern Mediterranean cultures are monolithic and overlooks differences between such societies (Horrell, 2000: 90). A scholar's conclusions are likely to be more convincing if they adopt one specific context as an analogy for another.

Finally, Esler states that his key question was whether his conclusions were 'historically plausible' (2000: 109). But Horrell observes that this is not necessarily the same as judging the conclusions as valid or true (2000: 88). This then raises the question of how the reader can know whether the conclusions arising from comparative analogy are valid. In fact, Esler and Horrell are arguing for the same thing, but using different terminology to describe it. In his later response to Horrell's critique, Esler clarifies that 'historically plausible' means, 'results that a reasonable number of experienced readers might regard as a possible or even probable account of the meaning of Paul's interaction with the leaders in Jerusalem' (2000: 109). If nothing else, their dispute serves to underline the importance of thorough research from other sources, as well as the analogy itself. For example, any study on a biblical text should be rooted in several commentaries on the text in question.

Relevance to my own thesis

In view of these potential pitfalls, I will exercise caution in my application of modern analogies to Exodus 13.17 - 15.21. Firstly, I will treat these analogies as a heuristic tool – a starting point for introducing a new set of questions – rather than as a simple framework to

layer over the text, unthinkingly. And where this investigation suggests adaptations to the initial model (specifically, the model of survivor literature), I will suggest adaptations to the model.

Although avoiding confirmation bias is not a simple matter, I will take steps towards this by acknowledging where a modern analogy differs from the ancient context, as well as where the two are similar.

Specificity is less of an issue for me than for Esler. I do not intend to treat 'modern Mediterranean culture' as a single phenomenon but will draw on modern traumata from specific times and places, and show how these diverse contexts have all contributed to the overarching category of 'survivor literature'.

I am very aware that applying a comparative analogy to a biblical text will not provide convincing conclusions in itself, and must be married with other interpretative approaches to produce a rounded understanding of the text. My research is therefore deeply rooted in a close study of Exod 13.17 - 15.21, including attention to numerous commentaries and my own translation of the Hebrew.

And naturally, despite acknowledging the potential pitfalls of my approach to Exod 13-15, I will not downplay its benefits. Using modern traumata as comparative analogies for trauma in ancient Israel and Judah has the potential to make an ancient trauma vivid and immediate for a modern reader. It foregrounds the human cost of ancient terror and its enduring impact on the survivors, their community and their literature.

Identifying key thinkers on trauma

Within the fields of trauma studies and survivor literature, I have focused on the thinkers who have written most extensively, offer the most illuminating comments on trauma

and are most directly relevant to my thesis. Freud (1922) and Janet (1925) were instrumental in forming the notion of trauma as we now understand it and could be said to have laid the foundation for the entire field of study. No study of trauma would be complete without, at the very least, acknowledging their contributions. Caruth (1996), Herman (1997) and Laub (1995) are among the most influential thinkers since PTSD was first defined as a phenomenon in the early 1980s, setting the agenda for the study of trauma. For a thesis concerned with the effects of trauma on an individual and a community, their insights are invaluable. Judith Herman, a specialist in the clinical treatment of trauma, and Cathy Caruth, who applies observations from the psychological study of trauma theory to literature and other cultural phenomena, are particularly influential, referenced in numerous other works in the field.

Lifton (1991) and Des Pres (1973) have done ground-breaking work on the study of survivor literature; work which is significant because of its level of influence on their peers, because of the sheer gravity of the traumatic experiences they address (Hiroshima for Lifton, the Holocaust for Des Pres) and because of the likely parallels between literature produced in these contexts and literature influenced by the sack of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile.

Lifton's and Des Pres' observations are tremendously useful in outlining the nature and key characteristics of survivor literature.

My research has also included studies of traumatic experiences in recent memory, including the civil wars in Sudan and Uganda, and the displacement of African refugees to

-

⁸ It should also be pointed out that Freud's work on trauma was underpinned by that of Charcot, under whom Freud studied in Paris, and from whom originated the embryonic idea of 'moral trauma'; psychological damage, deriving from a 'shock' with a physical cause but without a physical wound (Hacking, 1998: 170-171). Somewhat surprisingly, Caruth does not mention Janet's weighty contribution to the field of trauma studies (1891, 1925), focusing instead on Freud (1996: 1-2, 4, 12-13, 15, 20 ff) and (to some extent) Lacan (1996: 91-112). Herman is more enlightening on Janet's influence on the field, referring to his work on traumatic memories within her description of repetitive memories (Herman, 1997: 38; c.f. Janet, 1925: 589-600, 661-663).

⁹ Caruth is most often cited for *Unclaimed Experience: Trauma, Narrative and History* (1996), but is also acknowledged for the 1995 volume *Trauma: Explorations in Memory*, for which she acted as editor, and also for her more recent works, *Listening to Trauma* (2014) and *Literature in the Ashes of History* (2013).

America. These studies are worthy of attention, again because of their influence on other writers on trauma, but also because the experiences they describe are comparable analogies for those likely suffered by the Judaeans besieged and exiled by Babylon. Young men carrying the physical and psychological scars of warfare and displacement in 21st century Sudan may be able to tell us something about the mental state of those carrying similar scars in ancient Judah and Babylonia.

The application of trauma theory to biblical studies has generated a small body of research so far, but work within the field is gathering momentum. I have focused particularly on the contributions of Garber (2011) and Smith-Christopher (2002, 2011), as they have been pioneers within this field. In reading several other passages from the Hebrew Bible through the lens of trauma, they help illuminate my own study of the Reed Sea episode. I have also referred to scholars such as O'Connor (2002, 2011) who have interpreted specific books of the Hebrew Bible in the light of trauma, and to Janzen (2012), who has adopted a different perspective on trauma from other Bible scholars.

For now, I am leaving aside an investigation of transgenerational transmission – how trauma can be passed on from one generation to another – as this chapter does not allow space for the in-depth discussion this subject deserves. But I revisit the discussion in chapter three, with particular attention to the findings of psychologists such as Baranowsky *et al* (1998), Kogan (2012), Loewenberg (2012) and Volkan (2001).

What is trauma?

i) A psychological wound

The concept of 'trauma' derives from the Greek word for a bodily injury, adopted by psychologists to refer to a mental wound, as well as a physical one (Caruth, 1996: 3). ¹⁰ In the early stages of its formation, trauma was predominantly understood as an example of 'neurosis': language derived from Freud (1922: 8), suggesting a kind of inherent mental defect in the sufferer. Studies in the later twentieth century developed the concept, distancing it from those connotations. Trauma came to be understood as a psychological injury inflicted on an individual by forces external to them, rather than the result of any kind of weakness in the individual themselves (Herman, 1997: 33).

More specifically, trauma can be described as an emotional, social and behavioural response to a terrifying and overwhelming event (Caruth, 1995: 4). This response is involuntary and most often manifests itself in helplessness, deep and enduring fear, and a feeling of loss of control (Herman, 1997: 33). Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) is distinct from trauma itself: it is a complex of specific symptoms often discernible in survivors of overwhelming events and often associated with a severe trauma. These symptoms include uncontrollable intrusion of memories related to the trauma, avoidance of stimuli associated with the traumatising event, dissociation, detachment, and a heightened sense of threat (*DSM V* [American Psychiatric Association], 2013: 271-272; *International Classification of Diseases* [WHO], 2018: online). Since trauma is characterised by a generalised emotional response and PTSD is a complex of specific symptoms, it is possible for a survivor to be understood as 'traumatised' without necessarily being diagnosed with PTSD.

ii) An overwhelming experience

_

¹⁰ Of course, the word 'trauma' is still widely used within medicine to refer to physical injuries.

Trauma is caused by 'an overwhelming experience of sudden or catastrophic events in which the response to the event occurs in the often delayed, uncontrolled repetitive appearance of hallucinations and other intrusive phenomena.' (Caruth, 1996: 11). Caruth's description is by no means the last word in defining trauma, but it is at least a helpful starting point. It highlights that trauma results from an event – any event – which the survivor perceives as a threat to their life or bodily integrity, and which they feel helpless to prevent or control (see also Herman [1997: 33]). This description also mentions trauma's enduring effect on the survivor, and its intrusion into the survivor's consciousness, both of which I discuss below.

Since any kind of overwhelming experience can traumatise its survivors, psychological studies have identified trauma in survivors of events as diverse as the Holocaust¹¹, the Vietnam War¹² and the bombing of Hiroshima¹³, as well as individuals who experienced sexual abuse in general and incest in particular. ¹⁴ Research has also included survivors of more recent traumata, such as victims of the Lord's Resistance Army in Uganda (Human Rights Watch, 1997), African immigrants to America (Kamya, 2007), and a particular group of Sudanese youths relocating to America following the civil war (Goodman, 2004), to give just a few examples. A short but arresting article in *Time* magazine from 1999 also presents the harrowing experiences of two victims of the civil war in Sierra Leone (Linton *et al.*, 1999). The subjects of all of these studies have undergone overwhelming

_

¹¹ See in particular Felman and Laub (1992), and several of the contributions to Caruth's 1995 volume.

¹² For example, Sonnenberg et al (1985), van der Kolk et al (1984).

¹³ Lifton (1991) provides essential reading on Hiroshima and trauma.

¹⁴ Burgess' 1985 volume gives a comprehensive overview of the psychological effects of rape and sexual abuse of all kinds. And Tal (1996) gives attention to the literature produced by survivors of incest and sexual assault of other kinds, as well as the Holocaust, Hiroshima and Vietnam.

experiences and report that these experiences have affected their day-to-day lives in similar ways. 15

iii) Impossible to grasp

So overwhelming is the traumatising event that the survivor finds it impossible to fully grasp and process their experiences. As Freud posits, a traumatic experience passes too soon and too unexpectedly to be grasped and processed; hence a survivor's involuntary repetition of this experience (Freud, 1922: 36-37; Caruth, 1996: 4). Because the experience utterly overwhelms the survivor, they are unable to fully understand it as it happens. Their mind therefore begins to repeatedly rehearse the experience in an attempt to properly 'know' it (Freud, 1922: 34, 36; Caruth, 1996: 6).

Trauma's repeated and uncontrollable intrusion into the survivor's consciousness is one of its key characteristics. These intrusions most often take the form of dreams, flashbacks or hallucinations: all examples of the psyche struggling to understand and grasp the truth of the traumatic experience. Again, Freud seems to have been the first to notice the compulsive repetition common to trauma sufferers (Freud, 1922: 19, 37; see also Caruth [1996: 2]). 16

-

¹⁵ As an aside, I should mention that, although sexual abuse is a very common cause of trauma, I will make little reference to trauma deriving from sexual abuse within this thesis. This is because the great majority of the available research into the psychological effects of sexual abuse focuses on individual women subjected to one-off incidences of sexual violence, or even on childhood rape within families. This research is therefore less immediately applicable to the plight of the people of sixth century Jerusalem than psychological studies of trauma deriving from war, destruction and captivity. I am also particularly interested in what might have traumatised the authors of Exodus, who were almost certainly men and therefore less likely to have been subjected to sexual assault. That said, sexual violence is all too often part of a woman's experience of warfare and captivity, in both modern and ancient contexts (see, for example, Abas [2017] on Islamic State's use of sexual violence as a weapon of war, and the high incidence of PTSD among survivors of such attacks), and the Hebrew Bible itself sanctions the rape of female prisoners of war (c.f. Numbers 31.7-18; Deuteronomy 21.10-14). The Hebrew Bible gives no voice to the women ravaged by the Babylonians or, indeed, by the Israelites. I am anxious that my thesis should not perpetuate this erasure of the female experience. Lemos (2011) is very illuminating on the use of sexual violence in the ANE, as means to assert dominance over defeated enemies, both male and female.

¹⁶ Janet, working at a very similar time to Freud, noticed 'fixed ideas' in his patients who had experienced trauma, and a repetitive aspect to such memories (Janet, 1925: 600, 661-663). Caruth could equally have credited Freud's contribution or Janet's.

Caruth suggests that a traumatised dream has a significance beyond simple, involuntary repetition. She draws on Lacan (1973) as well as Freud, seeing a traumatised dream as a reminder of another person's death and of the impossibility of responding to it (Caruth, 1996: 100). Caruth holds that the dream therefore functions as a marker of responsibility towards the one who has suffered and died (1996: 102). Where a traumatising event itself involves a death, this may be true. But this is by no means the case for every trauma. It seems a stretch to apply Caruth's theory to traumatised dreams following a sexual assault, for example.

iv) Affects the survivor, long after the event

Trauma casts a long shadow over the survivor's life. It has been linked with long-term physical health problems, including hypertension, blood clots, type II diabetes and problems relating to the immune system: evidenced by the symptoms reported by a cohort of African immigrants to America (Kamya, 2007: 258). More directly, trauma often leads to a complex of psychological symptoms known as Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). If left untreated, a survivor can continue to experience symptoms of PTSD for decades after the traumatising event, and such symptoms can still recur after lying dormant for an extended period.

Judith Herman, who writes for professional psychoanalysts, offering advice on how best to treat trauma survivors and enable their recovery, gives especially helpful descriptions of trauma's effects and treatments. She astutely observes that severe and/or prolonged experience of trauma can result in continuous hypervigilance, anxiety, psychosomatic symptoms and intrusion, for many years after the experience ends (Herman, 1997: 86-87). For example, Herman shows how several Holocaust survivors experienced the effects of trauma

for an extended period after the event (1997: 87), and gives a case study of a World War Two veteran who reported a recurrence of his symptoms of intrusion after a delay of 30 years (1997: 48).¹⁷

We have already established that intrusion is a classic feature of trauma's effects on the survivor, but trauma has several other behavioural markers, among them: 'constriction', whereby the victim freezes and simply surrenders to his/her fate; emotional detachment; hyperarousal; self-limitation in order to minimise exposure to danger; guilt and shame, and profound loss of trust (Herman, 1997: 42-53).¹⁸

The characteristics of trauma (indeed the symptoms of PTSD) are equally applicable to survivors of the Holocaust (Krystal, 1995: 76-82), combat, and sexual assault (Herman, 1997: 20-32), and have also been observed in Yazidi women liberated from Islamic State (Abas, 2017: 512-513) and in children reporting for treatment after escaping the Lord's Resistance Army in Uganda (Human Rights Watch, 1997: 43). This variety of traumatising events suggests that neither geographical setting nor historical context makes a significant difference to the symptoms a trauma survivor experiences, or to the severity of those symptoms.

Anger and desire for revenge are particularly common in trauma survivors. For example, survivors of attacks often express the wish that the perpetrators should suffer for what they have done (Herman, 1997: 44, 189). This kind of rage can be seen in Linton's

1'

¹⁷ In the case of the Holocaust, trauma has often been passed down from survivors to their children. Herman does not describe transgenerational trauma of this kind and I will address it in chapter three.

¹⁸ While Herman offers a broad understanding of the clinical effects of trauma, Caruth appears to limit her study of trauma solely to repetition, to the exclusion of the numerous other symptoms. However, Caruth shows slightly more nuance in her 2014 book, mentioning 'numbing' once as a symptom of PTSD in her conversation with Robert Jay Lifton (2014: 6), and discussing dissociation (perceiving a traumatic experience as happening to someone else rather than to oneself) with van der Hart (2014: 179-211). The book also includes the transcript of a conversation between Caruth and Herman, in which she comments on Herman's observations on shame as an element of trauma. 'When I first encountered shame in your writing I was surprised because I had been used to the models of fear and anxiety associated with trauma... you emphasize the importance of the shame element to the relational aspects of trauma' (2014: 148).

visceral interviews with two survivors of the Sierra Leonean civil war. Issatu Kargbo has had her hands amputated so cannot hold a pen and therefore cannot return to school, and Abdul Sankoh, suffering the same mutilation, faces the humiliation of having to ask for assistance with toileting (Linton *et al*, 1999: online). Abdul's response to his tormentors is bitter: 'If the government forgets about us, we'll take revenge. I can't do it myself, but I would tell my family to take revenge on the person who did this to me. We have no guns, but we have the traditional ways of revenging.' (1999: online).

v) Recovery is possible

A survivor or group of survivors can recover from trauma, given the right support. In the second half of her clinical handbook on trauma, Herman outlines the stages of recovery. She mentions that healthy, supportive relationships (1997: 133-154), restoring the survivor's sense of control over their circumstances (1997: 155-174) and allowing the survivor to mourn (1997: 175-195) can all be healing processes. Survivors can also gain a sense of empowerment by becoming part of a community with other individuals who have undergone similar experiences (1997: 214-236).

Underpinning all of these strategies is the assumption that trauma – even PTSD – need not be permanent: it can be and is treated. Goodman provides illustrative examples of how these treatment strategies can be beneficial. The young Sudanese refugees on whom her study focuses come to terms with their trauma partly through 'making meaning' from their experiences and through a sense of 'collectivity' in their suffering (2004: 1183).

It is interesting to note that the process of mourning which enables a survivor to express and come to terms with their pain and grief often includes encouraging them to tell the story of their traumatic experience (Herman, 1997: 175-177). Bearing witness to this

experience can, in itself, help a survivor to come to terms with their trauma and move beyond it. This act of bearing witness can even include a revenge fantasy; an expression of rage against the perpetrator of the trauma (1997: 189). The idea of coming to terms with trauma by bearing witness to it is borne out by the significant volume of survivor literature available to us. I outline the phenomenon of survivor literature below, along with its relevance to biblical texts.

As I make my case for dating the completion of the Reed Sea episode to the postexilic period, I examine where the text shows evidence of trauma deriving from the fall of Jerusalem and the deportation to Babylonia. Later, I examine how creating this text might have helped its authors to come to terms with their trauma.

Applying trauma theory to the Ancient Near East

Trauma theory offers insights into how the invasions, deportations and sacking of major settlements within the ANE might have affected the people of the time. More specifically, it may shed light on the Judaeans' experiences of the destruction of Jerusalem and exile in Babylonia, and on how those experiences influenced the biblical literature composed during and following that period.

From recent studies of trauma survivors¹⁹, we can infer that displacement, transition and resettlement are all intrinsically stressful (Kamya, 2007: 257-259), and that violence, threats of violence, sudden separation from home and loved ones, hunger, capture, witnessing death, and being forced to carry out atrocities are all extremely psychologically damaging to an individual (Goodman, 2004: 1177, 1181; Human Rights Watch, 1997: 13-20, 43). These experiences also offer comparable analogies to the plight of Judaeans who lived through the

¹⁹ Refugees from Uganda (Human Rights Watch, 1997) and Sudan (Goodman, 2004), and African immigrants to America (Kamya, 2007).

siege and sack of Jerusalem, and were then forcibly displaced to Babylonia. When we consider that the inhabitants of Jerusalem in the sixth century B.C.E. are likely to have experienced many of the horrors common to modern trauma survivors, the possibility that these ancient people were deeply traumatised becomes unsettlingly real. In chapter three, I investigate exactly how likely this is and what, specifically, might have traumatised the Judaeans. (In fact, there are two potential sources of trauma for the Judaeans: the prolonged siege and eventual fall of Jerusalem, and the subsequent forced displacement to Babylonia.)

We should be cautious, though, in applying the label 'traumatic' to all of these circumstances. It is a moot point as to whether all of these experiences will overwhelm a survivor completely enough to render him/her 'traumatised'. For the purposes of this thesis, I believe it is enough to observe where modern survivors show evidence of trauma, and to extrapolate that there are reasonable grounds for supposing survivors of comparable experiences in the ANE may also have been traumatised.

There are also potential dangers in unquestioningly applying trauma theory – which derives from observations of modern trauma survivors – to an ancient society with a culture very different from our own and even from that of twentieth century European Jews (as Bible scholars Daniel Smith-Christopher [2011: 268] and David Garber [2011: 310] emphasise). But notwithstanding this caveat, there remains the possibility that the Judaeans exiled to Babylonia would have experienced these very same symptoms of trauma, with just as prolonged an influence.

Furthermore, it would be a mistake to assume that all ancient trauma survivors responded to their experiences in an identical way. As Garber observes, the Hebrew Bible exhibits a 'diversity of responses to destruction and exile' (2011: 321). In studying a specific

biblical text, it is therefore important to pay close attention to the particular response to trauma revealed by that text in its own right.

Survivor literature

Out of the mass traumas of the twentieth century, an impressive and often harrowing body of literary work has emerged. The Holocaust, the nuclear bombing of Hiroshima, and the Vietnam War have all birthed literature of this kind, which has come to be known as 'survivor literature'. However, the definition of survivor literature as: 'literature produced in the aftermath of a major catastrophe and its accompanying atrocities by survivors of that catastrophe' (Linafelt, 2000: 18) is too narrow. It is accurate insofar as 'survivor literature' equals 'literature of survival', but the concept is wider and more nuanced than that. The literature produced by survivors of trauma can encompass memoirs (Lang, 2000: 19-20), documentary descriptions of the events which traumatised them (Lifton, 1991: 456), fiction set against the background of those events (Lang, 2000: 21-22), or even a hybrid of fiction and autobiography, in which the boundaries of fact and imagination are blurred (Lifton, 1991: 399). Vickroy has even argued that evidence of trauma can be seen in earlier literature: the pre-war fiction of William Faulkner apparently bears witness to the trauma caused by slavery, the oppression of women and the tyrannical societal norms which made these possible (Vickroy, 2015: 100-102). Thus, 'survivor literature' might bear no obvious relation to the traumatic experience which underlies it. For example, Badenheim 1939 offers an allegory for the Holocaust, so refers to it only obliquely (Lang, 2000: 26), but the novel can only be fully understood against this background. Stephanie Hutton's prose poem 'You don't have to talk about your daddy in counselling if you don't want to' (2017) depicts an abusive father by using the planet Jupiter as an extended metaphor. And Hiroshima Mon Amour (admittedly a

film, not a work of literature) does not refer to the A-bomb at all, instead depicting a relationship between a Japanese man and a French woman, set in Hiroshima.

So, if one is to argue that Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 might be categorised as 'survivor literature', one must clarify in what respect(s) it might be categorised in this way. In the subsequent chapters, I will explore carefully exactly what kind of literature the narrative and song represent: whether a memoir, a documentary description of events, pure fiction, or something else altogether. I will examine how the events described in the text might convey the authors' trauma, despite being far removed from the authors' own time.

Despite encompassing several different genres and approaches, survivor literature can still be said to share a few common features:

i) Guilt and shame

A sense of guilt and shame on the survivor's part, a sense of self-blame for the traumatising event(s), can be seen in many examples of modern survivor literature (Des Pres, 1973: 678; Lifton, 1991: 35, 489)²⁰, not to mention biblical texts which have been categorised in a similar way (Garber, 2011: 319; Morrow, 2004: 84). Since guilt is characteristic of trauma, it should not be surprising if guilt and other symptoms of trauma appear in literature produced by trauma survivors.

Indeed, guilt is a common marker of survivor literature. In his memoir of the aftermath of the Hiroshima bomb, Michihiko Hachiya expresses guilt at surviving and receiving medical treatment while others were dying in excruciating pain: 'When I thought of the injured, lying in the sun begging for water, I felt as though I were committing a sin by being where I was.' (1995: 18). Likewise, *Kiss Daddy Goodnight*, Louise Armstrong's anthology of

²⁰ Although Des Pres and Lifton disagree on the extent to which trauma survivors experience and are motivated by guilt.

incest survivor narratives, conveys a grappling with guilt and a sense of responsibility for the abusers' behaviour (see Tal, 1996: 162-164).²¹

Obviously, such guilt is not deserved. Any sense of guilt on the survivor's part is more due to how society responds to the survivor than to any responsibility of his/her own. A society both clamours to hear the survivor's story and seeks to ignore them, mitigating its responsibility for allowing the survivor's suffering by suggesting they might be somehow complicit in causing this suffering (Des Pres, 1973: 41). It is to be expected, then, that literature which represents survivors' efforts to articulate their experiences often bears evidence of guilt.

ii) Anger and desire for revenge

As an extension of this guilt, trauma survivors often express rage, railing against the perpetrator of their trauma in a bid to get rid of guilt and shame (Herman, 1997: 189). This rage will often result in an outright revenge fantasy. Abdul's testimony, following the civil war in Sierra Leone, illustrates this rage and desire for revenge (see above). Desire for revenge against the oppressor spills over into survivor literature, too. Profound anger – a conscious decision to embrace conflict and resist attempts to erase the traumatising event – underpins the very act of depicting traumatic experiences (Tal, 1996: 7).

Survivor literature therefore flows with anger and rage. For example, Louise Armstrong's sexual assault literature is 'an impassioned and furious work' (Tal, 1996: 164) and Carolivia Herron's *Thereafter Johnnie* conveys 'bitterness, rage, self-hatred and the silence that results from suppressed anger' (1996: 157). W.D. Ehrhart's poetry likewise gives

²¹ In a slightly different vein, W.D. Ehrhart's poetic reflections on the Vietnam War express perpetrator's guilt at the violence he and his unit carried out against Vietnamese civilians. This is especially powerful in 'Making the Children Behave', in which Ehrhart compares himself to a monster or bogeyman in a child's imagination (2019:

vent to deep anger: in his case, anger at the military and political authorities who compelled him to enact violence in their name (2019: 20). The Hebrew Bible reflects this kind of anger, too. It can be seen in the divine wrath and punishment in several exilic and post-exilic biblical texts, especially Ezekiel (Garber, 2011: 320), which suggests the authors' desire for revenge against their enemies.²²

If a survivor experiences a desire for revenge, they will usually articulate this desire as part of the process of recovery from a traumatic experience. Within the context of remembering the event, reflecting on it and mourning their losses (usually with the support of a therapist), they will begin to express their rage against the perpetrator of their suffering (Herman, 1997: 188-189). By implication, a desire for revenge is not always an instantaneous reaction to a traumatising event: it can develop gradually, some time later. This being the case, literature composed in the immediate aftermath of a traumatising event might show no obvious desire for revenge, but a text composed later – even by the same author – might show evidence of a revenge fantasy.

Since the Reed Sea episode depicts overwhelming violence by Israel's god, against their enemies, this suggests that the text might have been born out of its authors' revenge fantasy against their own contemporary enemies. This is an important idea which demands further investigation. I will investigate it in depth in chapters four and five.

iii) The imperative to bear witness; the impossibility of doing so

Probably the single universal factor within survivor literature and the key to understanding the entire body of work, in all its diversity, is the simultaneous imperative for

²² Ruth Poser (2012) develops the argument for Ezekiel as revenge fantasy at length and in compelling detail. I explore her ideas in chapter four.

the survivor to bear witness and a sense of the inadequacy of any words one could use to do so.

Survivor literature is, first and foremost, the product of a survivor's determination to bear witness to what they have experienced (Des Pres, 1973: 668-669). As Des Pres emphasises, especially with regard to Holocaust survivors, it was this sheer will to tell the story which enabled many to go on living, in the face of insuperable odds (1973: 671). Not only this, but several Holocaust survivors describe their witnessing in terms of a 'sacred mission'. As Alexander Donat puts it: 'I felt I was a witness to disaster and charged with the sacred mission of carrying the ghetto's history through the flames and barbed wire until such time as I could hurl it into the face of the world.' (Donat, quoted in Des Pres, 1973: 671). Bearing witness to the traumatic experience is, for the survivor, an imperative and driving force, even to the point of becoming an enormous burden.

However, the survivor's relentless drive to draw the attention of an unwilling world to the evil they have experienced is countered by the impossibility of telling the story. The sheer profundity of their suffering and of the evil perpetrated against them, along with often unspoken assumptions of the survivor's guilt in living through it, combine to render them silent (Des Pres, 1973: 675, 678-681). Thus, the survivor wrestles with the imperative to tell their story, while feeling that telling this story is impossible. 'Silence is the only adequate response, but the pressure of the scream persists.' (Elie Wiesel, quoted in Des Pres, 1973: 675).²³

A Holocaust survivor interviewed as part of Claude Lanzmann's documentary *Shoah* echoes Des Pres's thoughts: 'No one can describe it. No one can recreate what happened here.

²³ And Aleksandrowicz's 1973 study of 34 families directly affected by the Holocaust refers not just to the impossibility of telling their story but to their 'need for massive repression of traumatic memories' (1973: 385-392).

Impossible? And no one can understand it. Even I, here, now... I can't believe I'm here. No, I just can't believe it.' (Unnamed survivor, quoted in Felman and Laub, 1992: 224). This disbelief and incomprehension is echoed in Hachiya's *Hiroshima Diary*:

Reason as I would, I could not make the ends meet when I considered the destruction that followed... Whatever it was, it was beyond my comprehension. Damage of this order could have no explanation! All we had were stories no more substantial than the clouds from which we had reached to snatch them. (1995: 25).

For survivors of extreme trauma, the story must be told, not primarily to communicate the experience to others but in order to know, understand and come to terms with the experience for themselves. And yet, the experience is so beyond the language of everyday life that no words seem adequate (Laub, 1995: 63). For some survivors, the only way to express their suffering is a simple scream: an 'inarticulate wailing' of the kind employed by Louise Armstrong (Tal, 1996: 197). Moreover, the survivors of the Holocaust feel so dehumanised that they begin to question their own memories. To tell the story is impossible and, 'The longer the story remains untold, the more distorted it becomes in the survivor's conception of it, so much so that the survivor doubts the reality of the actual events.' (Laub, 1995: 64).

Caruth explores this dichotomy further in her discussion of trauma's implications for literature and the arts. She takes another step in the argument, suggesting not just that trauma is beyond articulation but that because of this, attempting to describe it begins to erode its reality (Caruth, 1996: 29). Indeed, any attempt to do so is an act of betrayal against those who suffered because of this experience. In this case, perhaps the best a survivor can do is to tell a story about their traumatic experience, without describing the event itself. Thus, paradoxically, a faithful history of the event can be conveyed, without depicting it directly (1996: 27).

This line of thinking derives from reflections on Resnais's film *Hiroshima Mon*Amour – a grappling with the subject of the A-bomb, taking place at the site of its impact,

without ever directly addressing the explosion itself. *Hiroshima Mon Amour* reveals the profound difficulties of witnessing, understanding and articulating a traumatic experience. Something of the missed-ness of the traumatic experience comes across through the film. 'It is indeed the enigmatic language of untold stories – of experiences not yet completely grasped – that resonates, throughout the film' (Caruth, 1996: 56).

If we accept this idea, it implies that any work of art or literature (including biblical literature) created by a traumatised author, may be a deliberate recapitulation of the event which traumatised the author, in the guise of an unrelated story. So the Reed Sea story could potentially be a retelling of the destruction of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile, and a manifestation of trauma affecting the authors' community and indirectly affecting the authors themselves. Alternatively (and to my mind, more likely) it could be a fantasy: a deliberate use of an unrelated story set in the distant past, by which the authors attempted to depict the experience of their recent ancestors. Caruth does not demonstrate that this idea holds true for any work other than *Hiroshima Mon Amour*, but she never sets out to do so. The possibility remains that a story portraying one event may actually be a representation of another.

It must be acknowledged that there are voices which challenge the inexpressibility of trauma. While the majority of scholars comment on the impossibility of describing the traumatising event, a few stand in opposition to this idea. For example, Lang comments: 'I propose at the outset... to "de"-figure this figure of the Holocaust; to claim instead that the Holocaust *is* speakable, *has* been spoken, *will be* spoken (certainly here), and, most of all, *ought* to be.' (2000: 18, emphasis original). This is correct insofar as many have written accounts of their experiences of the Holocaust, or fiction which draws on this most horrific of

-

²⁴ The authors of the Reed Sea episode are unlikely to have directly experienced the destruction of Jerusalem and deportation to Babylon for themselves, as I explain in chapter two. However, the phenomenon of transgenerational trauma makes it entirely possible that the authors may have been traumatised by these events at second hand (see chapter three).

episodes in Europe's history, and that we could be said to face a moral imperative to confront and discuss the subject. But it does not convey the sense of paralysis amongst Holocaust writers; the sense of torment that, however they might beat their brains and marshal their literary skill, no words could ever fully do justice to their experiences and to the suffering of their dead loved ones. In this sense, the Holocaust, like any overwhelming trauma, remains unspeakable, however many words are hurled at it.

iv) Other-worldly language

The unspeakableness of the traumatic experience lends a singular tone to survivor literature. In the face of overwhelming suffering and evil, a dry description of the facts is totally inadequate and results in 'either cynicism or despair' (Des Pres, 1976: vi). On the other hand, an overly-emotional response could seem hysterical and self-indulgent (1976: vi). This explains why, in Des Pres's work on the Holocaust, he adopts 'a kind of archaic, quasi-religious vocabulary' in his work, since 'only a language of ultimate concern can be adequate to facts such as these' (1976: vi). We should not apply this idea hastily to all survivor literature, when Des Pres makes these comments primarily with regard to his own work.

That said, a quasi-religious tone does indeed seem to come across from discussions of traumatic experiences. Donat describes his attempts to share his experiences as a 'sacred mission' (Des Pres, 1973: 671). Emmanuel Levinas claims that describing the Holocaust is to say something profound about the nature of humanity (quoted in Eaglestone, 2000: 98). One 'A-bomb writer' laments that 'past literary methods... are inadequate for dealing with the A-

'wordplay' as an essential characteristic of survivor literature (2015: 26).

²⁵ In Garber's description of Des Pres's conclusions, 'to allow feeling much play when speaking of atrocity is to border on hysteria' (Des Pres, 1976: vi) strangely becomes 'survivor language cannot be characterized by a sense of linguistic play – such language would border on the hysterical' (Garber, 2015: 26). Garber appears to have distorted Des Pres's thoughts and, in doing so, contradicts himself when, in the same paragraph, he points to

bomb' (quoted in Lifton, 1991: 400), and *The World is in Dread*, an A-bomb-inspired film, is nightmarish and other-worldly, using a 'dream language' to convey confusion, danger and terror (Lifton, 1991: 458). Hachiya also conjures this kind of nightmarish atmosphere in *Hiroshima Diary*: 'It was all a nightmare – my wounds, the darkness, the road ahead. My movements were ever so slow; only my mind was running at top speed.' (1995: 4). Finally, Ehrhart's 'The Ambush' gives a fragmented, disjointed account of combat in Vietnam, in which reality and fantasy become confused (2019: 17-18).

In the face of the scale of the trauma, conventional artistic language and forms seem inadequate. A profound trauma is inherently 'other', inherently 'strange' (Felman and Laub, 1992: 7). To depict a traumatic experience demands a language and tone which are equally 'other'. Perhaps Des Pres's claims should be taken as indicative of survivor literature as a whole, after all.

'Quasi-religious' language is very common in biblical literature, of course. That in itself is not sufficient to establish that a text claimed as religiously authoritative must fall into the category of survivor literature. This possibility is bound up with the debate on whether the writers of the Hebrew Bible intended their work to become canonical scripture. If the narrative books of the Hebrew Bible were meant primarily as a national history rather than a religiously authoritative document, then their quasi-religious language may indeed be indicative of trauma informing the text.

v) Extreme and enduring fear

Experiences of trauma are frequently associated with extreme fear. The World Health Organisation's *International Classification of Diseases* identifies 'overwhelming emotions such as fear or horror' (2018: online) which often accompany traumatic nightmares or

flashbacks. Among psychologists, van der Kolk and van der Hart note that 'Severe or prolonged stress' can lead to 'context-free fearful associations, which are hard to locate in space and time' (1995: 172). In other words, a trauma survivor can experience profound fear without clear association to any specific stimulus. Herman also observes that 'intense fear' is indicative of trauma (1997: 33) and that a survivor will often restrict or alter their behaviour to help 'control their pervasive fear' (1997: 46).

My survey of survivor literature in general has not identified extreme and enduring fear as a marker of this kind of literature. However, there are hints of extreme fear in *Hiroshima Diary* (Hachiya, 1995: 2, 26) and in Ehrhart's Vietnam poetry. (For example, 'The One That Died' adopts a consciously detached and callous tone, apparently as a defence mechanism against fear and grief [2019: 14; see also Tal, 1996: 84].) This aspect of trauma has also been accepted by several Bible scholars who apply trauma theory to biblical texts. Carr draws on Caruth's idea of 'speechless terror' to describe the experiences of the Judaean exiles and explain the Hebrew Bible's silence on day-to-day life in Babylonia (2011b: 295-297). Similarly, O'Connor singles out fear as a key aspect of the overwhelming impact of trauma relating to the fall of Jerusalem, and contends that fear underpinned biblical texts written in its aftermath, particularly Lamentations (2011: 21; 2002: 3-6).

vi) Other possible characteristics

It is possible that learned helplessness might be a marker of survivor literature. It is a lone Bible scholar – William Morrow – who makes this case. In his study of Second Isaiah, Morrow argues that the text reveals learned helplessness on the part of the Judaean exiles (2004: 80, 83-84). Although I am not convinced that this holds true for survivor literature as

an overarching category, Morrow's paper at least raises the possibility that learned helplessness might characterise the particular response to trauma of the Judaean exiles.

Survivor literature may also be characterised by a sense of being watched. Again, this idea is put forward by a Bible scholar, Daniel Smith-Christopher, who highlights a feeling of being watched within the book of Ezekiel and suggests this is characteristic of being controlled and subordinated by an oppressive power (2011: 262-263). However, the suggestion does not appear to have support from trauma theorists or indeed from other Bible scholars, to any great extent. It must also be acknowledged that Smith-Christopher's work does not always make it clear where the literary out-workings of trauma end, and the indicators of imprisonment, displacement and colonialisation begin. The sense of being watched may properly belong to one of these latter phenomena rather than to trauma.

Trauma thus finds expression in literature through a range of characteristics which appear to be common to survivor literature as a whole, regardless of genre and of the times and places in which individual pieces were written. If the Reed Sea episode was composed in the aftermath of a national trauma – as I believe it was – this trauma might therefore have influenced the form and content of the text, just as the Holocaust (for example) influenced the literature produced in its wake. It is my contention that some, if not all, of the markers of survivor literature identified above are visible in Exodus 13.17 – 15.21. I demonstrate this in chapter four, in which I offer a close reading of the text with reference to these markers.

Trauma theory and biblical studies

My study of the Reed Sea episode through the lens of trauma comes in the context of a burgeoning body of research, in which passages from several books of the Hebrew Bible have

been analysed with reference to the psychological study of trauma. The study of biblical texts informed by trauma is still developing, but what work has been done in the field is engaging and thought-provoking. Garber, Janzen and Smith-Christopher, for example, are very much worthy of attention.

Garber gives a very helpful overview of the application of trauma studies to the Bible, clarifying a crucial link between psychologists such as Herman, survivor literature specialists such as Lifton and Caruth, and biblical studies (2015: 25-27). He outlines how, since the late 1990s, Bible scholars have begun to apply trauma theory to biblical texts, drawing on psychology, and postmodern and postcolonial biblical criticism (2013: 421). Garber also shows that the combination of psychology and biblical studies has precedent; Ezekiel, for example, has been psychoanalysed by commentators from as early as 1877 (2015: 25). The application of trauma theory to the biblical text can therefore be seen as a continuation of this trend. This application has largely centred on the experiences of the Judaean people and the biblical writers thought to have been active during or soon after the Babylonian Exile (2015: 36), and on evidence within certain books of the Hebrew Bible of how the Exile affected the writers (2015: 28-34).²⁶

Garber also offers a helpful investigation of the word ללח, the nearest Hebrew equivalent to 'trauma'. ²⁷ לח can be translated as 'to profane... to dishonor' (2011: 312) as well as 'to pierce' or 'to wound', and this multi-faceted word is evidence that: 'the ancients had a different semiotic system, a different vocabulary with which to express the all too

²⁶ Garber's 2015 essay functions largely as a summary of the extant work on trauma in biblical studies. As such, it is a useful introduction for a newcomer to the field, but expresses little of Garber's own views. However, he appears to take for granted that exilic (and post-exilic) biblical texts were produced and transmitted by a community, and that this community was genuinely and profoundly traumatised by the Exile (2015: 28) – two important assumptions, which Garber does not justify within this short essay.

²⁷ Indeed is rendered as 'trauma' in LXX.

universal experience of trauma' (2011: 310). Taking this further, an ancient Israelite understanding of trauma might shed light on how we understand articulations of trauma from modern disaster survivors (2011: 311), especially from near-eastern cultures.

As the psychoanalytic understanding of trauma has developed beyond simple 'neurosis' and the common assumption of the First World War era that combat veterans suffering from 'shell shock' must be lazy, lacking in moral fibre or somehow inherently weak (Smith-Christopher, 2011: 254), so psychological readings of the Bible have matured and shaken off these negative associations. For example, recent studies by Garber and Smith-Christopher have helped to progress the analysis of Ezekiel beyond simply dismissing the prophet as neurotic, sex-obsessed or even a paranoid schizophrenic, as Broome (1946) and others have done in the past (Garber, 2013: 423; Smith-Christopher, 2002: 104). These more recent psychological readings of Ezekiel take seriously the scale of the devastation which affected the prophet. They are more nuanced, more fully informed of the clinical effects of trauma and more sympathetic to Ezekiel's plight than Klostermann's (1877) or Broome's (1946). As Smith-Christopher observes, failing to give sufficient weight to the trauma Ezekiel and his contemporaries suffered ignores a vital element of their social context and may even be 'tantamount to blaming the victims' (2002: 104).

This highlights why a trauma-informed reading of the Hebrew Bible²⁸ is so valuable: it takes seriously the effects of historical events on its authors. It reminds us that the Hebrew Bible was produced by real people with real experiences – both joyful and devastating. Thus, not only is this approach close to the well-established historical-critical model in its emphasis on the context in which a piece of literature was written, it also enables an emotionally-

²⁸ Naturally, it is not appropriate to apply trauma studies to every part of the Hebrew Bible. But where it can be argued convincingly that trauma has influenced the writing of a biblical text – especially where such a text is linked to the cataclysmic events of the fall of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile – trauma studies offer an immensely valuable window into the experiences of the text's author(s).

intelligent connection between reader and writer which other hermeneutical methods lack. Juliana Claassens foregrounds this connection between reader and writer – and between modern and ancient traumata – in her 2020 monograph, which brings into dialogue biblical narratives bearing markers of trauma and modern trauma fiction. Claassens' work is also especially valuable in exploring the intersection between trauma and feminism, queer theory and postcolonial interpretation, thus highlighting the insidious trauma caused by structural violence and the oppression of marginalised groups (2020a: 4, 13, 155).

The biblical text and symptoms of trauma

A major focus of trauma-informed biblical studies has been on identifying symptoms of trauma in biblical authors and the people represented in their texts. Ezekiel has received probably more attention in this regard than any other biblical book, with Smith-Christopher among the first to relate trauma to the book or indeed to any biblical text. Smith-Christopher notes particularly the symptoms of PTSD in combat veterans and refugees, sees the parallels between these situations and the fall of Jerusalem and exile in Babylonia, and reasons that if such stressors resulted in trauma for twentieth century survivors, the same stressors are likely to have had similar effects on ancient Israelites. I find the logic of this approach convincing, albeit with the caveat that we cannot assume an ancient society responded to catastrophe in the same way a modern western one does.

More specifically, Smith-Christopher posits that several of Ezekiel's actions show symptoms of traumatic intrusion, after Jerusalem was terrorised by the Babylonians. He contends that Ezekiel's actions recapitulate the fall of Jerusalem and the subsequent exile (2002: 95-96). For example, in Ezek 3.22-27, Ezekiel confines himself to his home, mimicking the siege of his city (2002: 95). In Ezek 5.1-17, he cuts off his hair, then burns,

cuts and scatters it, modelling the fate of the Judaeans burnt in their city, cut down by the sword and displaced (2002: 96). Smith-Christopher explains: 'What appears to have driven Ezekiel the man to act out the horrors of conquest... is what causes thousands upon thousands of traumatized humans to relive memories that can literally drive them to despair, alcoholism, silence, and suicide.' (2002: 88).

This interpretation is valuable, as it takes into account the environment in which Ezekiel lived and functioned. The result is no lazy psychoanalysis but an awareness of the siege, famine and extreme violence to which Ezekiel and his fellow Judaeans were subjected, and a hypothesis of how these experiences might have affected them. It also offers a plausible explanation for some of the prophet's frankly bizarre behaviours.

However, there are also limitations in Smith-Christopher's frame of reference, as regards traumatic symptoms. He derives his understanding of PTSD from the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, which is indeed 'widely cited' (2002: 89) but not necessarily absolutely authoritative. A little more critical distance from this source or an awareness of slightly different conceptions of trauma would have been helpful.²⁹ Taking his lead from *DSM*, Smith-Christopher mentions intrusion (dreams or waking flashbacks), hypersensitivity to stimuli associated with the traumatic experience, self-limitation to avoid these stimuli, and feelings of detachment as classic markers of PTSD (2002: 89). However, he does not mention guilt and shame or constriction (freezing in the face of perceived danger) within his list of symptoms, which Herman, for example, does (Herman, 1997: 37-53).

The possibility of traumatic intrusion within Ezekiel therefore remains, albeit with question marks over it. There is a stronger case for the presence of guilt and shame within the

²⁹ For example, the *International Classification of Diseases* identifies slightly different criteria for PTSD. It does not mention feelings of detachment, instead emphasising the 'overwhelming emotions such as fear or horror' which often accompany traumatic nightmares or flashbacks (WHO, 2018: online).

book: a classic marker of trauma. The word is used repeatedly throughout Ezekiel³⁰ and suggests a sense of guilt and shame on Judah's part, especially in the context of Ezekiel's broad theme of Judah's exile being a consequence of their rejection and profaning of YHWH (Garber, 2011: 312, 315). This argument is strengthened further by the similar evidence of guilt and shame within Jeremiah: again guilt is suggested by the repeated use of in and sentiments expressed in the book echo those of survivors from Hiroshima (Garber, 2011: 314, 319-320). The combined case for the presence of survivor's guilt within Ezekiel and Jeremiah is thus stronger than if we were to treat each book in isolation.

O'Connor emphasises, traumatic events – ancient and modern – are characterised by being 'overwhelming'; creating a devastating impact in terms of physical injury, destruction of the environment, creation of social instability, and disruption of systems of meaning by which individuals and groups understand themselves (2011: 21). This overwhelming impact results in extreme and enduring fear in survivors, and the undermining of any meaningful sense of security (2011: 21). As O'Connor implies, the fall of Jerusalem is likely to have had these effects on the Judaeans, just as modern disasters affect their survivors. Indeed, fear, terror and horror are referenced throughout Jeremiah (c.f. Jer 2.12; 4.9; 5.22; 6.25; 8.15, 21; 20.4, 10).

The overwhelming impact of the destruction of Jerusalem can also be seen in its effect on survivors' speech: a sheer inability to speak (2011: 23) and, when speech is finally possible, a limiting of oneself to 'vague generalisations', rather than specific details of one's plight (2011: 24). Because of the overwhelming scale of trauma, language is inadequate to describe the experience, and because of the conscious mind's inability to assimilate a

³⁰ See Ezek 7.15, 20-24; 13.19; 20.9, 13, 14, 16, 21, 22, 24, 39; 21.30, 34; 22:8, 16, 26; 23.39; 24.22-23; 28:7, 8-9, 16; 36.20-21, 23; 39.7; 44.7.

traumatising event, the survivor can offer no recollection of the event beyond simple generalisations. Again, this is visible in Jeremiah, especially in the words of the narrator himself. Jer 20.7-9 expresses the narrator's simultaneous compulsion to speak and insult and ridicule when he does so, and 39.1-10 describes the fall of the city only briefly and in cursory, general terms.

Finally, Jeremiah expresses profound anger, raging at Judah's enemies and predicting their destruction. As Claassens observes, Jer 46-51 constitutes an extended revenge fantasy, particularly against Babylon, provoked by the suffering and destruction wreaked against Jerusalem (2017a: 2). Although the lurid description of Babylon's downfall in Jer 50-51 is presented as the outcome of YHWH's actions, not the people's, this is a simple longing for revenge displaced onto a divine proxy (2017a: 2). Ruth Poser also argues for biblical narrative as revenge fantasy; in her case, in Ezekiel (2012: 485). Poser's argument is more extensive than Claassens' and I will return to it in chapter four, to support my argument that the Reed Sea episode can also be understood as a revenge fantasy.

Poser's case for Ezekiel as trauma literature is probably the most extensive work on the subject to date, and details numerous markers of trauma within the text. She notes the presence within Ezekiel of shame, guilt and self-effacement, helplessness, constriction, inertia, inarticulate sounds and dissociation (2012: 290, 298-300, 435). In addition, Poser mentions the traumatic intrusion already alluded to by Garber (2012: 290). Furthermore, she argues that the structure of the narrative itself bears evidence of trauma, with violence and destruction suddenly breaking into hopeful and salvific passages (e.g. Ezek 33.21-33). In this way, sudden shifts in narrative tone and emphasis can be understood as indicative of trauma (2012: 291-295).³¹

³¹ Intriguingly, Poser also highlights the close association between individual and collective trauma within Ezekiel. The individual embodies the collective experience as the prophet himself exemplifies the horrors being

The above are just a few examples of the growing number of studies reading biblical texts in the light of trauma theory, especially highlighting suggestions of trauma, including symptoms of PTSD. Intrusion, guilt, extreme fear and inability to describe the traumatic event have all been noted in passages from the Hebrew Bible. On the basis of such studies, it is clearly legitimate to explore whether Exodus 13-15 might reveal similar evidence of the effects of PTSD and of trauma more generally.

The text as an outpouring of traumatised pain

Lamentations has received attention from several Bible scholars with an interest in trauma theory. Among these scholars, O'Connor is probably the most prominent, and Linafelt (2000) and Boase (2016) also offer useful insights. David Janzen contributes to this body of research, too, and I refer to this contribution briefly below, but his analysis of Lamentations is also bound up with collective memory studies. I therefore discuss his 2019 monograph in greater depth in chapter five.

Trauma-informed studies of Lamentations tend to assume that the book represents an outpouring of traumatised pain: a response to a genuine experience of the destruction of Jerusalem and an expression of the survivors' pain and grief (c.f. O'Connor, 2002: 3). Similar propositions are made of other biblical texts (for example, Morrow argues that Second Isaiah is heavily influenced by the form and tropes of lament [2004: 82-83]), but Lamentations appears to express trauma overtly, more extensively than any other biblical book. Lamentations is commonly understood as an outpouring of grief, not just at the devastation of Jerusalem but at the experience of being abandoned by God (O'Connor, 2002:

-

enacted on Jerusalem, and the people's suffering is depicted in the person of an individual woman, estranged from YHWH and ravished by her enemies (2012: 293-294). These observations open up important questions as to how individual and collective traumata might be interrelated in other biblical texts, including Exod 13-15.

32 Probably multiple survivors, rather than Jeremiah, to whom Lamentations is traditionally attributed.

84). In this line of thought, the narrator feels a compulsion to witness to Jerusalem's intense suffering on the city's behalf: the same imperative to witness which characterises modern survivor literature. As O'Connor puts it, personified Zion demands to be seen, heard and paid attention. Because God is not present to explain and comfort, the narrator must speak instead (2002: 86, 98; see also Linafelt, 2000: 20).

To use Freudian terminology, we might describe this as 'acting out'. A survivor, struggling to come to terms with a traumatising event, to process it and articulate it, will often find themselves recapitulating this event over and over again. The unassimilated event repeatedly intrudes into their consciousness through flashbacks or nightmares, the boundaries between past and present become blurred, and they are compelled to relive the event and reexpress their trauma. Without specialist help to come to terms with the traumatic experience, the survivor remains trapped in this endless process of 'acting out' (see LaCapra [2001: 21-22] for further detail). This is the framework within which Janzen understands Lamentations. The repetitions and use of the acrostic form in the book are, he argues, suggestions of inescapable trauma on the part of the author(s) (Janzen, 2019: 91-93). In essence, Janzen's argument is largely the same as O'Connor's, just using distinctly Freudian terminology.

Several assumptions underpin this argument. Firstly, there is the assumption that the siege and destruction of Jerusalem and the subsequent occupation by Babylon must have been prolonged and harsh enough to have left an enduring imprint of trauma on the inhabitants of the city. Related to this, O'Connor assumes that Lamentations must have been composed during the Babylonian period, when this trauma was still raw. (She seems to base this latter assumption simply on 'traditional associations' [2002: 7] and the parallels between the subject matter of the book and the likely experiences of Jerusalem's people.)³³ And thirdly, the

³³ O'Connor's approach differs from that of Garber and Smith-Christopher in that it is largely devotional. Her work on Lamentations highlights expressions of pain, fear and despair in the text, asks what experiences inform

argument assumes that the book represents a genuine and direct response to the events it purports to depict.

There are valid alternative understandings of the form and content of Lamentations. The city lament form and several characteristic motifs may have been appropriated from other ANE cultures, as O'Connor herself concedes (2002: 10), although she does not ask to what extent the content and phraseology of Lamentations may also have been appropriated. If significant elements of Lamentations are indeed adopted from other ANE city laments, then the book does not represent an outpouring of trauma and grief on Israel's behalf; it instead appropriates the language of trauma and grief for a staged and formulaic mourning.

The aftermath of the fall of Jerusalem still seems the most likely context for the composition of Lamentations, even if the book's depiction of that disaster is embellished with literary artistry. So, the book is set against the background of a devastating and overwhelming event. It is therefore plausible to argue for a genuinely traumatic experience informing the composition of Lamentations, but I am cautious about characterising the book as an 'outpouring of traumatised pain'. As O'Connor acknowledges, it is equally likely that the text might represent 'an imagined symbolic world' (2002: 4), the product of literary artistry as much as of a traumatic experience.

Lamentations, then, can be described as survivor literature in that it was composed in the aftermath of a disaster and informed by the experience, probably by authors who themselves endured that disaster.³⁴ It also *appears* to represent an outpouring of traumatised

these expressions, and connects such experiences with comparable experiences in the modern world. It is presented in the form of a commentary on the text, with a focus which is primarily theological, rather than psychological. O'Connor draws on trauma theorists but only insofar as they shed light on the likely experiences of Lamentations' author(s) and therefore offer clearer and stronger connections with suffering in the modern world. Her aim seems to be to use Lamentations as a resource, offering her readers comfort, a sense of meaning, and insights into the nature of God. For this reason, she does not devote as much space as I would have liked to questions of the book's origin and to what extent its authors were genuinely traumatised.

³⁴ The authorship of Lamentations is, of course, a matter of debate, but that debate lies outside the purview of this thesis. O'Connor (2002: 99), Linafelt (2000: 20) and Janzen (2019: 4, 91-93) all imply that the author(s) of

pain and grief, arising from the overwhelming experience. However, it is questionable to what extent the text is a genuine and visceral expression of pain, rather than a formulaic lament.

But there may be another dimension to Lamentations' status as survivor literature. It might be understood not only as survivor literature but also as 'literature of survival', in that the author means for the literature itself to survive, to preserve the memory of what has happened, as Linafelt argues, for example (2000: 21). This proposition is very difficult to prove or disprove, but it remains a fascinating possibility. Lamentations speaks of the experience of surviving a traumatic experience, and may also seek to ensure that a record of this experience will survive. I believe this is also true of the Reed Sea episode. After applying the rubric of survivor literature to Exod 13.17 – 15.21 in chapter four, I will explore in chapter five how the passage functions as an example of collective memory, preserving a traumatic experience.

O'Connor's work on Lamentations also highlights an important differentiation which should be kept in mind when discussing a text influenced by trauma. Some survivor literature expresses profound grief and suffering arising from a traumatising event, just as Lamentations does, in O'Connor's view. However, to say that the text expresses *trauma* is a little misleading. Trauma is by its nature insidious, not fully grasped or assimilated into the survivor's consciousness, and therefore manifests itself in the survivor's words and actions, without the survivor being fully conscious of it. Thus, the survivor will often express the pain and grief arising from the event which traumatised them but, although their trauma will often be manifest in what they say and do, this trauma will not be deliberately expressed by the survivor.

Lamentations directly experienced the fall of Jerusalem. Others place the dating of the books composition to a later period: for example, Morgenstern (1956) argues for an early fifth century dating and Tréves (1963) for a setting in the mid-second century.

The text as traumatised theology

If Lamentations can be described as survivor literature, or even literature of survival, perhaps Genesis can be called 'survival literature'. This third term is clearly very similar to the other two and does risk adding an element of confusion to the discussion, but the precise connotations of 'survival literature' are distinct and important. According to O'Connor, Genesis can be said to be 'survival literature' because it speaks into Judah's concerns relating to its ongoing survival and the theological problems raised by its plight (2016: 305-307).

Following this argument, the text of Genesis seeks to make theological sense of a traumatic experience. This can be seen in the disaster narratives, famines and instances of landless, wandering people within Genesis, which echo the experiences of the exiled Judaeans (O'Connor, 2016: 307-309). These stories impose order on disaster by attributing the events they depict to God³⁵; either portraying him as a punisher or as one who would be merciful but is forced to be harsh by his people's depravity (2016: 308). By implication, God must also have had a role within the people's displacement and exile: theological order is restored.³⁶ In the same vein, Genesis underlines the theological tropes of God promising his people offspring, land and blessings: promises which would have had a special resonance for returning exiles trying to rediscover their collective identity and sense of belonging (2016: 310-312).³⁷

³⁵ O'Connor does not differentiate between God as a metaphysical entity and the deity as a character in the text. Space does not allow for a full discussion of the implications of this. But suffice to say, the two cannot be conflated without establishing that the writers of Genesis definitely intended to create a theologically-normative text.

³⁶ Poser makes a similar observation on Ezekiel. The authors attribute ultimate responsibility for the devastation of Jerusalem to YHWH, rather than to the Babylonians. Thus, they bring theological order out of the chaos and destruction (2012: 295).

³⁷ This is an important argument but two issues remain: firstly, O'Connor assumes a late-Babylonian or early-Persian period for the composition of Genesis (2016: 306), citing only the popularity of this dating in evidence. Late-Babylonian-to-early-Persian covers several decades, and only by this imprecision can it be argued that the writers of Genesis were early enough to have survived the Exile, while also placing the composition of the book

In the same way, it could be argued that the Deuteronomistic History constitutes an attempt to make theological sense of the fall of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile. Janzen advances this argument, pointing out that 2 Kings highlights the sinfulness of the people and presents this sinfulness as a provocation to God, forcing his hand in punishing them with destruction and exile (Janzen, 2019: 41-42, 51). 2 Kings thus provides a theological explanation for the destruction of Jerusalem, just as (in O'Connor's view) Genesis does.³⁸

However, the Deuteronomist's viewpoint does differ from the authors of Genesis on one crucial point. While Genesis seems to reflect Judah's collective trauma, 2 Kings denies trauma or at least overlooks it, instead focusing on historiographical and theological questions, particularly to do with the rise and fall of the monarchy and the deity's role within both (2019: 41, 49). Janzen still allows for the presence of trauma within DtrH, to an extent – indeed, he envisages trauma as having a crucial role within the text (see below) – but any descriptions of potentially traumatising events are given in 'laconic' accounts such as 2 Kgs 25.1-12 (2019: 47-49).

This is an original and thought-provoking perspective, but it seems to rest on a contrast between the cursory descriptions of events in 2 Kings and the poetic hyperbole of Lamentations. And just as the demonstrative language in Lamentations does not necessarily indicate trauma, the lack of such language in 2 Kings does not necessarily indicate its absence. A cursory, stereotypical and emotionless description of a painful event might

in Yehud, following their return (2016: 306). Secondly, O'Connor holds that Genesis was written for the whole nation of Judah, struggling to come to make sense of their displacement, fractured identity and broken theological understanding (2016: 306). This is possible, but it is also possible that Genesis was written by and for the ruling elite, with little or no interest in setting theological norms. O'Connor does not appear to have considered that alternative scenario. I believe there is a case to be made for Genesis articulating traumatised theology, but this case could be made a little more convincingly.

³⁸ Claassens argues the same for the sermons of Jeremiah (Jer 7, 11.1-14, 17.19-27). She concludes that Jeremiah 'seeks to frame the traumatic events of the Babylonian invasion and exile in such a way as to help his audience on the one hand face the traumatic events they had lived through, while also finding some meaningful way of moving beyond disaster.' The sermons provide an explanation for the destruction of Jerusalem, framing it as the result of the people's sin and YHWH's punishment, and theological order is restored (2017b: 33).

stages of recovery and only beginning to come to terms with their experiences (c.f. Herman, 1997: 175). This prospect goes some way to explaining how Dtr might give no overt expression to his pain, while the trauma still intrudes into his writing, unbidden.

Traumatic intrusion into the text

DtrH may indeed be influenced by trauma, in a more subtle way than any of the other biblical expressions of trauma I have examined so far. In the same way that trauma can intrude into the consciousness of a survivor, through dreams, flashbacks or waking hallucinations, it might intrude into a text composed by a traumatised author. A traumatic intrusion into a text might even go so far as to subvert the message the author is trying to convey. According to Janzen, DtrH is subverted by exactly this kind of intrusion.

Motivated by the need to make religious and ethical sense of Judah's suffering, Dtr composed a 'master narrative' which explains destruction and exile as the consequences of disloyalty towards YHWH (Janzen, 2012: 3, 47). However, trauma intrudes into this narrative, subverting its core message. In this line of reasoning, the Judaeans' experience of violence, loss and displacement did irreparable damage to their worldview, leaving an enduring sense of chaos and threat (2012: 24-27, 33-34). Unbidden by Dtr, maybe even unconsciously, this sense of chaos 'explodes into and radically challenges Dtr's master narrative's explanation of the exilic community's horrific experience' (2012: 5). Trauma offers no coherent alternative explanation for Judah's exile, merely nihilism: 'As the trauma repeats into or beside the master narrative, it envisions suffering without explanation and punishment for no reason, and so subverts the language of God, justice, punishments, and so on that the master narrative uses to explain and ethicize the exile.' (2012: 62).

Thus, DtrH's subtext places in doubt the key elements of the master narrative's theology and ethics, without offering an alternative. For example, Deuteronomy's 'golden calf' episode (Deut 9-10) mimics Jeroboam's apostasy in 1 Kings 12, but Moses' destruction of the idol and deep repentance on Israel's behalf does not seem to have been adequate to induce YHWH to forgive his people. There remains, at least, an element of ambiguity over whether YHWH responds to repentance (2012: 77-78). YHWH, it seems, treats those loyal to him as if they were disloyal (2012: 80-81). Subtly, unconsciously on the part of the author, the theology of the just and righteous deity is brought into question.

Janzen's argument is difficult to refute, since it relies on the effect of trauma being, by definition, insidious and difficult to detect. If even Dtr himself was unaware that he was being influenced by the collective trauma of his nation, the humble Bible scholar has little chance of proving conclusively that this was not so. However, as regards Janzen's specific interpretation of Deut 9-10, a conservative scholar could quite easily make a convincing case for a more conventional reading.³⁹

Although I remain sceptical about Janzen's thesis, the concept of traumatic intrusion into a text is valuable in that it brings to the fore how trauma will often find a way to manifest itself, even if the survivor attempts to deny or downplay the experience which traumatised them. The idea of intrusion also makes the differentiation clear between expressing the pain arising from a traumatising event and expressing the trauma itself. Pain, grief and suffering can be and have been expressed by numerous trauma survivors. Trauma itself is not deliberately expressed: it manifests itself in a survivor's words and behaviours, sometimes even if the survivor wants to deny they have any kind of problem.

³⁹ For example, McConville simply concludes that YHWH's behaviour was entirely justified. The Israelites were 'stubbornly resistant to God's way for them' and guilty of 'the worst sin imaginable' (2005: 210), and their righteous and faithful deity showed great restraint in not destroying them (2005: 210-211).

Trauma studies and related disciplines

The study of trauma within the Hebrew Bible cannot be completely disentangled from related disciplines. Especially where this study focuses on the fall of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile, war studies, refugee studies and postcolonial theory all come into play. This is exemplified by Smith-Christopher, who shows interest in the broad spectrum of the Exile's effects on Israel and therefore subsumes trauma into a larger rubric of war and refugee studies. Thus, his chapter on Ezekiel and Lamentations refers to trauma only insofar as it contributes to an understanding of 'Ezekiel the refugee' (2002: 89-94).

His primary methodology seems to be to apply the effects of colonialism on selected twentieth century societies to the experiences of Israel under Babylon and Persia (2002: 15-21), and to examine biblical texts dating from the Exile and afterwards in the light of these experiences. Since Israel could be said to have been colonised and subjugated by these two empires, this approach seems legitimate and a 'joined up' approach, exploring the intersection between several different fields of study, promises valuable insights. But the immediate implication for my own research is that it becomes awkward to distinguish where trauma theory ends and insights from other disciplines begin. Smith-Christopher argues persuasively that 'an intensified sense of being watched' is integral to the experiences of subjugated people (2011: 264) and opens up the possibility that biblical texts referring to the Exile may exhibit this sense of being watched (2011: 264). However, in doing so, he conflates refugee studies, trauma and post-colonial theory and it becomes very difficult to say whether this sense of being watched is due to trauma, shame or conquest by an imperial power.⁴⁰

⁴⁰ Smith-Christopher's 2011 essay develops his thoughts on trauma and the Hebrew Bible; Ezekiel in particular. In this essay, he notes that refugee studies is an 'associated discipline' to trauma studies, but proceeds to subsume the former into the latter (2011: 257). In unpacking 'intentional misrepresentation' (story-telling or outright lying) as a characteristic of refugee behaviour (2011; 257-258), he therefore implies that it is associated

This intersection between disciplines also raises a fundamental question: exactly where are the boundaries of trauma studies? Or, more to the point, to what extent should a thesis focused on trauma draw on related but distinct disciplines? My central concern within this thesis is how experiences of trauma derived from the fall of Jerusalem or the Babylonian Exile might have affected the people of Judah and influenced biblical texts produced soon afterwards. Blurring the boundaries between academic disciplines is not, in itself, a problem. It could even be useful in addressing this central concern. For example, war studies may shed light on the psychological state of the army defending Jerusalem during its siege, and of the civilians subjected to the constant threat of a violent death, not to mention the military tactics of the Babylonian army. Where relevant, I have given attention to specific sources which draw on these disciplines and seem to make useful contributions towards fulfilling my research aims.

Summary

Reading the Hebrew Bible through the lens of trauma is a burgeoning field and an important one. Interpreting exilic and post-exilic biblical texts in this way may seem novel, but it is entirely legitimate since it is rooted in a thorough understanding of the psychology of trauma, of trauma's varied effects on a piece of literature, and of the context of early sixth

with trauma, which is not necessarily the case. Refugee studies is a separate strand of research which may be applicable to the experiences of Israelites in exile, but should not be conflated with trauma. Smith-Christopher then muddies the water further by proposing that an 'imperial gaze' is at work in selected passages in Ezekiel (2011: 263). This 'imperial gaze' is apparently congruent with the 'psychologist's gaze' which scrutinises traumatised combat veterans, and the concept is informed by the 'male gaze' in feminist analysis and by the studies of indigenous peoples which suggest a 'colonizer's gaze' (2011: 260). He then dips into the biblical trope of shame as a result of being perceived negatively, before adding a further theoretical layer by referring to the psychological consequences of being watched, referring especially to Michel Foucault (2011: 262-263). His train of thought becomes difficult to follow. And I assume that, in referencing Foucault, Smith-Christopher intended to draw out Foucault's ideas of the necessity of constantly observing a subject, so as to exert power over him/her (Foucault, 1991: 200-228). However, Smith-Christopher does not make this point explicit and as a result, his argument loses coherence.

century Judah. Using the explicit language of trauma has only been possible since the early 1980s, since PTSD and similar terminology only came into common usage at that point, but the application of trauma studies to the Hebrew Bible is also a continuation of an established thread of biblical interpretation, grounded in psychology, which has operated since the latter part of the nineteenth century (Garber, 2015: 25). Such interpretation is not only reasonable but valuable, because it takes seriously the historical context within which the biblical authors operated, the devastating impact of trauma and the relatability of the human beings who composed the biblical text. Any reader of the Hebrew Bible wishing to gain a well-rounded, emotionally-intelligent understanding of texts written in the exilic and post-exilic periods would do well to give attention to this field of study. My study of the Reed Sea episode comes in the context of this growing body of research, and is informed and partly shaped by it.

Preliminary conclusions

The available scholarship on trauma and biblical studies leads us to several preliminary conclusions:

- that traumatic experiences can have a profound and enduring impact on survivors;
- ii) that this impact is often expressed in literature produced by trauma survivors;
- that although the concept of 'survivor literature' is broad and diverse, there are certain characteristics which many examples of survivor literature share;
- iv) that reading exilic and post-exilic biblical texts through the lens of trauma is not only legitimate but offers unique insights into those texts;

v) finally, that applying trauma theory to Exodus 13.17 – 15.21, especially using the framework of survivor literature, could add a new dimension to how that specific text is understood.

Multiple questions must be answered in making a case for the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses being influenced by trauma. If the text should be understood as survivor literature, we must explore in what respects it fits this category and which markers of survivor literature it demonstrates. It will also be enlightening to examine how the text functions as an example of collective memory and how trauma affected the formation and preservation of that memory – especially bearing in mind that a memory of a traumatic event so often defies direct description. Thus, we can form an impression of how trauma manifested in Exod 13.17 – 15.21 would have had an enduring effect on the community in which the text was produced. These issues are all discussed in later chapters.

Most pressingly, if Exod 13.17 - 15.21 is indeed influenced by trauma, the source of this trauma must be established. In the next chapter, I outline what I believe is the most plausible dating for the composition of Exod 13.17 - 15.21 and why, based on this, I believe that trauma deriving from the fall of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile is likely to have influenced the authors of the text.

Chapter 2 – The composition of the Reed Sea episode and its implications for trauma influencing the text⁴¹

In order to argue convincingly for trauma informing Exod 13.17 – 15.21, it is necessary to establish a plausible origin for such trauma. I must therefore explain the context in which I envisage the text being written. Since the question of the composition of Exod 13.17 – 15.21 is bound up with the composition of the entire Pentateuch, this chapter will begin with an overview over the scholarly debate on the composition of the Pentateuch as a whole. It will then focus more closely on the Reed Sea episode itself, the most likely context for its composition, and the implications of this for any traumatic influence on the text.

Scholars have advanced a number of competing theories around the Pentateuch's composition and, to suggest a heuristic dating for the Reed Sea episode in particular, it is instructive to engage with some of these theories relating to the Pentateuch. I will argue that the Yehud community in the early Persian period is the most likely setting for the completion of the Pentateuch – including extensive editing and reshaping of existing source material and some new compositional work – and that there is good reason for believing trauma experienced in the context of the fall of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile influenced the authors, leaving a watermark on the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses.

This investigation does not preclude the application of literary-critical approaches to the text. On the contrary, chapter four – the focus of my whole thesis – represents a close reading of Exod 13.17 – 15.21, informed by a psychological understanding of trauma and of key literary features of other writing influenced by trauma. However, without a historical-critical basis to support it, a trauma-informed reading can only ever be speculative: a sceptic

⁴¹ Some material included in this chapter has previously been published in my 2020 paper.

could dismiss such a reading as a novel and interesting theory, but no more. Presenting at least a heuristic dating and geographical setting for the composition of Exodus thus bolsters my argument for trauma influencing Exod 13.17 – 15.21. Far from detracting from a literary-critical approach, it complements it.

An outline of common theories of pentateuchal composition

The differing theories of how the Pentateuch came to assume its current form are many and various. It would be unwise and unfair to overlook the nuanced differences between competing views: discussion on the issue is often more a matter of subtle differences of opinion, rather than deeply polarised positions.

However, for the purposes of a brief overview of the debate, the most influential theories of pentateuchal composition can be summarised in four categories: the documentary hypothesis; P and non-P; the late Yahwist; and revisionism. I will contend below that the concept of P and non-P is the most compelling explanation for how the Pentateuch came to assume its current form.

i) The documentary hypothesis

The documentary hypothesis dominated pentateuchal scholarship for most of the twentieth century and remains highly influential in the twenty-first. The hypothesis can be summarised thus: the Pentateuch was composed by several contributors over a timeframe extending from the monarchical period to after the Exile. These contributors created four source documents – J, E, D and P – of which J was the earliest and P the latest. The four sources were combined and redacted at a similar time to the composition of P, and the

resultant document was the Pentateuch in a mostly complete form (see e.g. Dozeman, 2017: 62-65 for a more detailed outline of this hypothesis).

Although adherents to the documentary hypothesis agree that a significant quantity of redactional work was carried out as or soon after P was composed, they are divided on two related questions: whether there might also have been an earlier redactor, combining J and E; and whether the redactor(s) carried out extensive reshaping of the earlier sources, minor corrections of obvious errors, or something between these two. (For example, Propp argues for a Redactor^{JE} alongside a final redactor [1999: 49], while Baden insists on the simplest possible form of the documentary hypothesis, with a single redactor who made only minor additions to the text to correct errors and omissions [2012: 220-224]).

The documentary hypothesis offers some insights, since there are numerous points in the text of the Pentateuch where tensions, internal contradictions and non-sequiturs can be discerned, suggesting strongly that the Pentateuch is composite, rather than the product of a single author (as Römer [2016a: 121] and Baden [2012: 3] observe). Furthermore, the Pentateuch includes diverse literary genres, shifting repeatedly between prose, poetry, genealogy and legislative texts. The documentary hypothesis offers an explanation for how the Pentateuch might have been created, in view of its apparent composite nature and variety of genres. Especially at the time when Wellhausen first advanced his form of the theory, this was ground-breaking and insightful; a challenging and illuminating corrective to the widespread assumption that the whole Pentateuch was written by Moses.

However, Wellhausen's theory has been questioned and challenged in recent years. Its critics observe that the notional E source is difficult to differentiate from J and does not appear to represent a coherent document in its own right (Carr, 2005: 110-113). Furthermore,

⁴² See 'Issues with the idea of a lone author or compiler' below.

the four sources are often differentiated on linguistic grounds – that is, on the presence in the text of words and phrases supposedly characteristic of the individual sources – which can be misleading if emphasised to the exclusion of other textual dating methods (Schmid, 2019: 104-106). Finally, as we have seen earlier in this chapter, adherents to the documentary hypothesis often disagree among themselves on key aspects of the theory, and on which verses and verse fragments should be attributed to which source (Whybray, 1987: 36). These problems weaken the theory's plausibility.

ii) P and non-P

Since the late twentieth century, the voices dissenting from the documentary hypothesis have grown louder and more numerous. Many prominent scholars – particularly European scholars – have pointed out weaknesses in the hypothesis and advanced an alternative theory of pentateuchal composition, which builds on the strengths of the documentary hypothesis but differs from it in several key aspects. (Blum, Carr, Schmid, Römer and Gertz have made important contributions to this alternative theory.)

These scholars do not agree on every question of the Pentateuch's provenance⁴³, but they do agree on several important points, so can be grouped together for the purposes of this brief summary. They contend that the Pentateuch includes material from two overarching sources: P (congruent with the P source envisaged under the documentary hypothesis) and non-P (material largely pre-dating P and combined with P during or shortly following P's composition).⁴⁴ P is likely to have been composed during the Exile, they argue, with editorial

 $^{^{43}}$ I outline some of these differences of opinion below. See especially the section on 'Combining P, non-P and new compositions'.

⁴⁴ Blum prefers the labels 'P-komposition' and 'D-komposition' (1990: 5) but his argument is in step with Schmid, Römer and the others. The Pentateuch may also include a self-contained H source (the 'Holiness Code') but, if so, it this source is limited to legal material and is of little relevance to the Pentateuch's narrative (see e.g. Schwartz, 2009: 4-7).

work on the combined P and non-P continuing into the Persian period (Schmid, 2019: 102, 107-108; Carr, 2011a: 215-217). Thus, the Pentateuch was shaped into its now-recognised form through an extended process of redaction, editing and possibly even the addition of newly composed narrative elements (Carr, 2011a: 224; Römer, 2016: 365).

This theory acknowledges the compelling evidence for the Pentateuch being composite, written over a period of several centuries and including two main narrative threads. For example, as Blum notes, Exod 14 shows two competing explanations for the miracle at the Reed Sea: the waters are driven back by the east wind, but also split by YHWH (1990: 256). These two explanations can be best accounted for by the inclusion of two pre-existing narratives within the final text. The theory also offers an explanation for the abrupt shifts between narrative sequences (e.g. between Joseph and Moses [Gertz, 2006: 77-82; Römer, 2016b: 365-367]). And it challenges the weaker points of the documentary hypothesis; the specious differentiation between J and E, for example (see Gertz, 2014: 95; Carr, 2005: 110-113).

Below, I will align myself with Schmid, Blum, Carr, Gertz and especially Römer, and contend that the most persuasive theory of pentateuchal composition includes an exilic P source, non-P material deriving mostly from the pre-exilic period but partly from after P was complete, and extensive editorial work in Persian-period Yehud.

iii) The late Yahwist

Other scholars depart from the documentary hypothesis in different directions. van Seters' theory of a 'late Yahwist' is singular enough to merit attention in its own right. For van Seters, the Yahwist is not merely the author of one of four source documents for the Pentateuch, but a virtuoso editor, gathering myths, legends, genealogies and other source

material and redacting it all into the Pentateuch as we know it (van Seters, 1983: 31). The Yahwist is thus, 'a historian of quite remarkable scope.' (1983: 229).⁴⁵

Interestingly, van Seters himself never uses the word 'editor' to describe the Yahwist. Editors, he explains, are a hallmark of the documentary hypothesis; redactors who compiled existing material, using a copy-and-paste technique and minimal written additions to correct errors and smooth over breaks in the text. van Seters suggests that the Yahwist is far more than an editor of this kind: there is a creative and 'compositional' aspect to his work (1983: 51). The Yahwist is therefore better described as an 'antiquarian' in the same mould as Herodotus; not only combining disparate sources but developing these sources and even inventing material of his own (2013: 12, 62, 167).

van Seters' hypothesis is important, particularly as it brings to the fore questions of why the Pentateuch was written. He challenges the common assumption that it was intended to be primarily religiously-normative, and instead argues that it is a national history, created by the Yahwist to help his own people understand their origins and identity (2013: 13). This is a crucial discussion, which I explore at more length below (see the section, 'Why was the Pentateuch written?').

There are also weaknesses in van Seters' argument. According to van Seters, the Yahwist would have operated during the Exile, after the Deuteronomistic History was complete, effectively extending Dtr backwards (1983: 361). Since he dates the earliest work on Dtr to the sixth century (1983: 8) and also concludes that the Pentateuch must have been complete before Second Isaiah (van Seters, 2015: 6), this leaves a very narrow timeframe for the Yahwist to create a work as long and complex as the Pentateuch. This narrow timeframe

63

-

⁴⁵ van Seters allows for the existence of a Priestly writer too, but limits his contribution to supplementing the Yahwist's work: "revision" of the earlier history' (1983: 48; 1999: 211). Whybray (1987) advances a similar argument to van Seters but seems to have based his own conclusions on van Seters' work, so focusing on van Seters here seems wise.

also highlights a further problem: a reliance on special pleading, in presenting the Yahwist as an extraordinary, perhaps unparalleled, literary genius (van Seters 1983: 229).

iv) Revisionism

A group of revisionist scholars (most notably Davies, Thompson and Lemche) take this argument much further and conclude that the Pentateuch was almost entirely composed during the Persian or even Hellenistic period, with scant material written earlier. Davies sums up the conclusion neatly, claiming that the Pentateuch (and indeed the whole Hebrew Bible), 'was at least largely compiled into its present form, and at most almost entirely written... during the rule of the Persian and then the Hellenistic monarchies.' (1992: 24).

Davies highlights the lack of evidence for an exilic dating, and particularly the lack of evidence for Judaean exiles having the time and the facilities in Babylon to compose lengthy literary texts (1992: 57). Similarly, Thompson holds that, although the Pentateuch may have been underpinned by existing traditions, there is no way of discerning what these traditions were, where they came from and how the authors of the Pentateuch might have adapted and reworked them (1992: 368-369). In view of this, Thompson argues, we cannot safely date any element of the Pentateuch to before the Exile.

A Persian or Hellenistic date is also supported by evidence within the text. Biblical accounts of arrival in the land, establishment of the law, a strong, prosperous, influential Israel and a glorious Temple all reflect the concerns of the immigrant elite, settling in Yehud and seeking to establish themselves (Davies, 1992: 118). Lemche also argues that the Pentateuch bears evidence of Greek thought and imagery (2013c: 140) and that a pre-exilic date of composition is therefore implausible.

This line of argument challenges the common assumption among more conservative scholars that the Pentateuch is historically reliable, and demands that any claims to biblical historicity must be supported by extrabiblical evidence. Where more conservative scholars tend to assume the text is historically factual and alter that perspective where extrabiblical evidence calls it into question, the revisionists begin with the available archaeological evidence and extrabiblical texts and assume any biblical narrative not supported by this other evidence cannot be historical. For example, Davies highlights a lack of extrabiblical evidence for the united kingdom of Israel and Judah and, based on this lack of evidence, concludes that 'this biblical Israel is an idea, a concept, a construct, and not an historical society' (1992: 74).

Although I disagree with many of the revisionists' conclusions, I affirm the value in their insistence on robust evidence. And while I am not persuaded that the themes of arrival in the land, restoration of Israel and collective prosperity must mean the whole Pentateuch was composed following the Exile, I agree that this is a compelling argument for the Persian period being the setting for at least significant reshaping of an existing text.

However, there are several problems with this position. Firstly, linguistic analysis of the Pentateuch, with its high concentration of Classical Biblical Hebrew, presents weighty evidence for a significant portion of the text being written before the Persian period. The revisionist scholars tend to lean heavily on 'artificial archaisation': the idea that the Pentateuch's authors deliberately adopted an archaic form of Hebrew, so as to make the text appear older than it truly was (see e.g. Davies [1998: 34]). This argument fails to convince, in the face of the much simpler possibility that the text is exactly as old as it appears to be. Secondly, the available extrabiblical data for the Persian period is not sufficient to allow us to be confident in dating extensive compositional work to this point in time. Thirdly, the claims of distinctively Greek tropes in the Pentateuch rest on shaky examples: Lemche suggests that

the Greek concept of four elements is discernible in Genesis 1, for example (2013c: 140), which seems rather fanciful.

When and where was the Pentateuch written?

The case for a sixth-fifth century dating i)

As several important recent studies on the composition of the Pentateuch conclude, much of the Priestly material is likely to have been composed during the Exile, and elements of the non-P material should be dated earlier (see e.g. Blum, 2009: 31-32; Römer, 2009: 157-158; Schmid, 2019: 107-108). However, these compositions would have been far from a recognisably complete Pentateuch, as we now have it. The extant text of the Pentateuch underwent significant redaction, revision and reshaping in the Persian period and, during this process, the scribes responsible for this editorial work had ample opportunity to modify the Pentateuch so as to reflect the experiences and socio-political concerns of their community. (e.g. Blum, 1990: 333-360; Carr, 2011a: 205-207; Römer, 2014: 123). 46

i.i Socio-political conditions

While there are difficulties in reliably dating the composition of the Pentateuch to the Exile or to the Persian period, based on extrabiblical texts or archaeology, there are several other criteria which clarify matters. Completion of the Pentateuch in the fifth century is supported by the socio-political conditions within Yehud, following the return from Exile. There is no consensus on exactly when the Temple was completed, but few scholars would

⁴⁶ Even Baden, who follows the documentary hypothesis in a form close to that advanced by Wellhausen, envisages the compilation of the Pentateuch in the Persian period, allowing for the text and its ideology being reframed by its redactor (Baden, 2019: 28; 2009: 14-16). See below for a lengthier discussion of the content and extent of the source material the Pentateuch's redactors would have worked from.

date it later than the end of the sixth century.⁴⁷ With the Temple and the cult restored, a system of government re-established and immigrants from Babylonia swelling the population in Yehud in the subsequent years, conditions arose in which the creation of a national history was not only possible but necessary. In this environment, the Yehud community sought to establish itself, understand itself and its deity, and define itself, over and against other residents of the land (Thompson, 1999: 31; Davies, 1992: 116).⁴⁸ The Pentateuch was produced to articulate what it meant to be 'Israel'.

In a similar vein, K. L. Noll sees the Pentateuch as a written articulation of Judah's collective identity. He argues that the crisis of the Exile was a prompt for the Judaeans to collect, compile and synthesise written traditions, to avoid those records being lost forever. For Noll, the deportation to Babylonia was a motivation for the scribes to raid the Temple archives and rescue pre-existing scrolls (2013: 395; see also Grabbe, 2001b: 152-153; Levin, 2016: 579). He suggests perceptively that the Exile's threat to Judah's collective identity would have inspired the subsequent creation of a written document to reinforce this identity.

The facilities necessary for the Pentateuch's composition are unlikely to have been available for long before the Exile. Based on archaeological findings and on Assyrian and Babylonian records, Jerusalem seems to have been only a small town until at least the reign of Omri (Römer, 2007a: 46; Thompson, 1992: 111; Noll, 2013: 240-241). A small town of this kind would have lacked the Temple facilities⁴⁹, the entrenched ruling elite and the scribal

⁴⁷ The rebuilding of the Temple has traditionally been credited to Cyrus in 539 B.C.E. Middlemas suggests that 515 is a more likely date (2009: 176) and Grabbe proposes a date early in the fifth century for the resettlement of Yehud (2009a: 116, 120-121). Even assuming Grabbe is correct, it is plausible that the Pentateuch could have been edited and expanded in the early-to-mid fifth century.

⁴⁸ Carol Meyers makes a similar point, emphasising that Exodus in particular would have helped form a sense of collective identity within the community which produced it. However, she differs from Thompson and Davies in terms of the book's dating, envisaging the origins of the Exodus narrative (and the need for identity formation) in pre-monarchic Israel, not post-exilic Yehud (Meyers, 2005: 4-5, 11).

⁴⁹ Significant literary compositions would have required a large group of scribes and thus an extensive and well-developed Temple to allow these scribes space to work. The scribes would also have required a ready supply of pens, ink and leather or papyrus, which would have demanded sufficient raw materials and space to produce

school to make large-scale works of literature possible, so extensive compositional work on the Pentateuch seems unlikely in that context.

The exiles may have had the facilities and the opportunities for writing while in Babylon, but this has not been proven. There is vigorous debate on the Judaeans' experiences of exile – how much freedom they enjoyed while in Babylonia, how harsh their captors were and how spartan their living conditions would have been – largely because extrabiblical evidence dating from the Exile is in short supply, and there is even less biblical material which gives any impression of the Judaeans' experiences in Babylonia. This being the case, we must be cautious about attributing large-scale works of literature to the exilic period (as Davies notes [1992: 24, 105-106]).

i.ii Linguistic dating

It is widely accepted that a large portion of the Pentateuch – a hypothesised P source – was written during the Exile. This belief is founded on a combination of linguistic features of the text and the authors' apparent ideology and thematic interests (Schmid, 2019: 102-105), along with cross references from other biblical texts widely accepted as postexilic.

As Carr observes, P's composition in Classical Biblical Hebrew – which fell out of use (at least in literature) by the mid-Persian period – along with a noticeable lack of literary features distinctive to Late Biblical Hebrew, makes it unlikely that P should be dated after the Exile (Carr, 2016: 89). Schmid wisely advises caution in using linguistic grounds to date P, noting how difficult it is to be precise in this exercise, especially when it is carried out in isolation from other methods (2019: 106, 110). He observes that the break between CBH and

these scribal supplies (see Keith, 2019a: 712-713). The papyrus used for some of the scrolls later produced at Qumran may even have been imported from Egypt (Tov, 2004: 14-15), and imports of this kind seem unlikely at a time when Jerusalem was a comparatively small town.

LBH is not a clean one: a few features of P can be understood as later – as 'transitional' between CBH and LBH (2019: 111).⁵⁰ Schmid seems to interpret this as allowing an early postexilic dating for P. Alternatively, it may be evidence for P being retouched during the postexilic period. Either way, linguistic analysis of the Pentateuch does not preclude significant additions and amendments in the Persian period.

i.iii Thematic content

Few scholars insist on linguistic dating to the exclusion of other methods. As Römer observes, 'allegorical dating', a focus on the content of pentateuchal texts and their echoes of events likely to be contemporary to their authors, is a common strategy in dating the texts in question (2016b: 363-364). Römer goes on to argue, compellingly, that these literary themes make most sense in the context of a post-exilic work of literature. For example, he suggests that Abraham's near-sacrifice of Isaac in Gen 22 reflects the vulnerability of the Yehud community and their fear that there might be no future for Israel; it thus suggests a Persian-period composition (2016b: 363). Similarly, Schmid argues that the Pentateuch's monotheism and presentation of heaven and earth as stable entities 'reflect[s] the stable world order of the Persian period' (2019: 103). And pentateuchal accounts of a strong and numerous Israel, captivity and oppression, and a journey to a homeland promised by the deity would have reflected the experiences and hopes of the immigrant community, settling in Yehud and seeking to establish themselves (Whybray, 1987: 107; Levin, 2007: 223).

However, there is also a case to be made for themes in the Pentateuch reflecting the concerns of the Judaeans in exile, and for therefore dating the composition of those accounts to the exilic period. For example, the ancestral sequence – especially YHWH's command to

⁵⁰ For example, Schmid observes that P varies in its use of first person singular pronouns (2019: 111).

Abram to leave his homeland – reflects the experience of being displaced, suggesting that at least the core of the sequence was composed during the Exile (Carr, 2011a: 226-229).⁵¹ Similarly, Blum points out that P takes for granted centralised worship, so probably reflects memories of the Jerusalem Temple and a desire to restore it (2009: 31-32).

These two arguments are not mutually exclusive. It is entirely plausible that P was composed during the Exile and therefore reflected the concerns of the exiled Judaeans, and that these concerns are still discernible in the reworked and finalised Pentateuch. Equally, the finalised Pentateuch appears to address concerns unique to the Yehud community, suggesting that significant editorial and compositional work was carried out in the Persian period.

Complicated questions remain as to how lengthy and coherent P (and pre-exilic non-P) would have been, the extent of the editorial and reshaping process performed upon this material, and how much pentateuchal material was newly composed in the Persian period. I explore these questions below under 'What source material did the scribes have?'.

i.iv Connections with other biblical texts

Furthermore, an exilic dating for P is supported by connections between the Pentateuch and other biblical texts. For example, Ezra-Nehemiah, the majority of which is usually dated to the Persian period⁵², references and assumes the content of the Pentateuch (Carr, 2016: 97). In view of this, a substantial portion of the Pentateuch – at least a coherent P source – must have been complete before the return from exile.

ii) Issues with an earlier dating

⁵¹ See also Strine's perspectives on Jacob (2018b) and Joseph (2019) as involuntary migrants.

⁵² Detailed discussion of the dating for Ezra-Nehemiah is not within the purview of this thesis.

Among pentateuchal scholars, there is widespread agreement that at least parts of the Pentateuch were composed before the Babylonian Exile. Under the documentary hypothesis, two of the four supposed source documents for the Pentateuch are pre-exilic. Opinions differ on exactly when the J (Jahwist or Yahwist) and E (Elohist) sources are supposed to have been written but, amongst adherents to the theory, there is agreement that both were written well before the Exile, with J complete by the end of the ninth century and E a little later (Wellhausen, 2013: 4-12, 361; see also Dozeman, 2017: 62-65). The recent trend in pentateuchal studies diverges from the four-source documentary hypothesis, preferring instead the terminology of Priestly and non-Priestly material. But scholars within this camp still agree that P was largely composed during the Exile and at least some of non-P before the fall of Jerusalem.⁵³

This reliance on a body of work having been done before the Exile raises three significant issues. Firstly, archaeological evidence suggests that Judah was not populous or sophisticated enough to be described as a 'developed monarchic state' until at least the eighth century B.C.E. (Römer, 2007a: 46) and, as noted above, Jerusalem is likely to have been just a small town until a similar time. This being the case, it is doubtful that, before the eighth century, Jerusalem would have afforded conditions in which an extensive work of literature could have been written.

Such conditions may have existed in the two centuries which followed, however.

Archaeological evidence suggests that, during the eighth and seventh centuries, Jerusalem grew from a small town into a major city (Jamieson-Drake, 1991: 72-76). In view of this rapid growth, robust administrative systems would have been required, which would have

⁵³ Schmid (1999: 95-106), Carr (2011a: 215-216) and Gertz (2000: 231-232) all think along these lines, for example. Blum largely agrees with these others, but refers to a 'D-komposition' rather than 'non-P' and concludes that it would have been roughly contemporaneous with P (1990: 5).

necessitated a school of scribes and created facilities for these scribes to operate (1991: 79-80).

Some composition of non-Priestly material seems to have taken place during this period. Literary analysis of the Pentateuch reveals disparities between a coherent Priestly source and other (non-P) material, and shows that P assumes non-P, assimilates it and responds to it at several points (Carr, 2011a: 292-293; Gertz, 2006: 76). If P should be dated to the Exile, then some non-P material must surely be pre-exilic.

External political pressures in the seventh and eighth centuries make the composition of lengthy biblical texts implausible, though. The scribal school would have had to survive Jerusalem's subjugation to Assyria from the mid-eighth century, with the accompanying Assyrian influence on Jerusalem's administration and the subsequent deportation of much of its elite (Davies, 1998: 61-63). These circumstances make extensive literary compositions unlikely.

Indeed, non-P does not seem to represent an extended narrative. The separation of likely Priestly material from the rest of the Pentateuch leaves non-P appearing fragmentary and with internal inconsistencies, especially in the case of the Reed Sea narrative itself (Gertz, 2014: 103; Levin, 2016: 581). This suggests that, when Jerusalem fell in 586 B.C.E., non-P existed as a collection of disparate stories and traditions rather than as any kind of coherent master narrative (Kratz, 2005: 98-100, 246; 2018: 69).

A second issue with the idea of pre-exilic compositions is that any such material would have had to be carried into exile by the displaced Temple scribes. Noll, for example, argues that the crisis of the Exile would have prompted the scribes to take all the scrolls they could carry, in order to ensure they were preserved (2013: 395-396). There is good reason to believe that the scribes, being skilled, experienced and knowledgeable, would have been

deported as part of the Judaean elite and pressed into the service of their Babylonian overlords. However, there is no conclusive evidence, one way or another, on whether they would have taken archival scrolls with them (Davies, 1998: 63-64). Indeed, one might question how likely the scribes would have been to burden themselves with heavy scrolls – and whether their captors would have permitted them to – for the long journey to Babylonia. The apparently fragmentary nature of non-P makes this objection less significant. A collection of disjointed traditions would have been much easier to transport than any notional extended narratives on lengthy scrolls.

Finally, it cannot be assumed that any biblical text was written before the earliest extant copy. As Noll observes, the earliest known biblical texts (inscribed on two silver amulets found at Ketef Hinnom) date from around 600 B.C.E. (Noll, 2013: 394). While this does not preclude the composition of biblical traditions even many years before then, we have no written text which confirms this. We should therefore be cautious in attributing large swathes of the Pentateuch to before the sixth century.

To summarise, there are several factors which make extended literary compositions seem unlikely, before the Exile. However, it appears that the pre-exilic elements of non-P would not have constituted an extended composition of this kind.

iii) Issues with a later dating

The dating of the Dead Sea Scrolls raises difficulties in dating any completed biblical texts before the third century B.C.E. It could be argued that, since the Dead Sea Scrolls represent the earliest verified written source, we cannot assume that any significant portions of the Pentateuch were composed before the earliest extant scrolls. Thompson, for example, argues for this point (1999: 274-285). However, the Dead Sea Scrolls – a wide-ranging collection of copied biblical texts, largely approximating their final forms – are a different

proposition from the Ketef Hinnom amulets. While the amulets may represent an early tradition which informed later intensive compositional work, the scrolls are extensive enough to be the outcome of this kind of work. The scrolls should be understood as the end point for biblical composition, with much earlier authorial work not only possible but probable (Noll, 2013: 56-58; see also Römer, 2016b: 358).

Another important issue relating to a supposed later date for the Pentateuch centres on apparent similarities between Greek sources and biblical narratives. Scholars who favour a Hellenistic date for the Pentateuch tend to lean heavily on these similarities. For example, Wesselius highlights similarities between the Joseph and Cyrus narratives and between the Moses and Xerxes sequences (2002: 6-47). Based partly on Genesis 1 supposedly reflecting the Greek idea of four elements, Lemche reasons that Genesis must have been written in the sixth century at the very earliest and, since it is doubtful that Greek writers were widely read in the Persian Empire, Genesis 1 and other biblical texts bearing Greek influences must have been composed later than the Persian period (2013c: 140, 150). Thus, largely through an emphasis on purported Greek influences, we are left with a Hellenistic date for the bulk of the composition of the Pentateuch and indeed of the rest of the Hebrew Bible.

Similarly, van Seters claims extensive parallels between the Pentateuch and Herodotus' *Histories* (although van Seters favours a sixth century dating for the Pentateuch). He suggests that both the Yahwist and the Deuteronomistic Historian would have read and consciously imitated early Greek historiography; especially that of Herodotus (1983: 17). This prospect has an initial ring of plausibility to it. There are several similarities between Herodotus and the Pentateuch. Both contain genealogies (1983: 28-29), etiological myths (1983: 25), deluge narratives (1983: 26) and the use of parataxis to connect apparently unrelated literary units (1983: 37-38).

There are weaknesses in this argument, though. van Seters himself acknowledges that direct contact between Greeks and Hebrews is 'doubtful' before the fourth century B.C.E. (1983: 53-54), making Greek influences on the Pentateuch less likely, if it was indeed written before then. An indirect influence, perhaps through a cultural link in Phoenicia or Mesopotamia, would remain a possibility, but it cannot be proven that Judah and Greece were linked and shared cultural artefacts by this means (Blenkinsopp, 1992: 40-42).

Furthermore, as Blenkinsopp observes, there are as many significant differences as similarities between the Pentateuch and Herodotus. For example, Herodotus' *Histories* are directly attributed to a specific author, and are more secular in tone than the Pentateuch (Blenkinsopp, 1992: 39). And the Pentateuch is more ambitious in scope than *Histories*, referring not just to a national history but to universal history – the creation of the world (1992: 39). Thus, significant issues remain with the theory of the Pentateuch borrowing from Greek sources. A Hellenistic dating for the Pentateuch therefore has little to commend it.

Summary

In short the overview above has revealed the dating of the Pentateuch as a contested issue. While there is no consensus, the arguments for dating P to the Exile with some non-Priestly material to before the Exile, followed by the completion of the Pentateuch to the Persian period, offer a strong account of the evidence. While no dating schema for the composition of the Pentateuch is without its problems, completion in Persian-period Yehud seems to me to be the most convincing prospect. It is the most likely context to have offered the socio-political apparatus, the facilities for creating literary works and the psychological motivation necessary for the creation of a work as extensive and wide-ranging as the

Pentateuch. Although I acknowledge there are unanswered (and currently unanswerable)⁵⁴ questions to do with a Persian-period dating, the questions raised by this dating schema are less significant than the issues with alternative theories. The theories of how and when the Pentateuch came to assume its current form are many and various. But despite this huge variation of ideas, pentateuchal scholars are largely agreed that the Persian period was a pivotal stage in its composition, seeing at very least a significant process of editing (Römer, 2009: 157; Blum, 2009: 31-21; Carr, 2011a: 205-207).

Who wrote the Pentateuch?

i)The case for scribal authorship

A work of literature as lengthy and complex as the Pentateuch is most likely to have been created by a school of scribes. As Davies puts it: 'literature in the ancient world... is a scribal activity and thus confined to less than five percent of any ancient agrarian society' (1992: 19). Scribes were necessary in order for the basic administrative functions of any significant political centre – including the drafting of contracts, land deeds and wedding agreements – to be fulfilled (see Keith, 2019b: 832). Scribes would thus have acted as composers and archivists, preserving royal records, legal documents and other material deemed significant (Römer, 2007a: 47). Just such a school of scribes is likely to have been active in Persian-period Jerusalem. Since scribes are also likely to have been part of the elite deported to Babylonia, texts composed by the exiled Judaeans would probably have been products of scribal pens, too.

The term 'scribes' might imply that the role involved merely writing down, word for word, exactly what their patron required them to record. But scribes would have had a much

⁵⁴ The issue of the lack of extrabiblical evidence dating from the Persian period is unlikely to be resolved by anything other than a surprising and very exciting archaeological find.

wider remit than this. There would have been scope for creativity within their writing, including the use of satire and irony, and opportunities to write to their own interests, including attempting to influence their nation's political workings. They may even have considered themselves intellectually superior to the king (Römer, 2007a: 47-48; Person, 2002: 65). To claim that the Pentateuch was written by scribes is not to claim it was written by administrators. These men were intelligent, creative and perceptive.⁵⁵

Moreover, the scribes are likely to have had access to archives of existing sources to inform their work, and which they could have adapted to meet their own agendas (Davies, 1998: 18, 34; Noll, 2013: 70), as well as creating material of their own. Davies argues with conviction that this applies to the scribes who composed the Pentateuch (and indeed the rest of the Hebrew Bible): they would have drawn on archives of existing sources, as well as their own literary flair. Davies apparently bases this view on general observations on the role and function of scribes throughout the ANE (1992: 106).

For Davies, the Pentateuch was woven together from a combination of pre-existing archival texts and the scribes' own compositions. In this respect, Davies is not far from the conclusions of Schmid (2012: 199-200), Carr (2011a: 216-217, 222-223) and especially Römer (2016: 365; 2007: 27): they agree that the Pentateuch would have included pre-existing written traditions and some newly-composed elements. But as we have seen, Schmid, Carr and Römer are more specific than Davies on the form and content of these traditions.

⁵⁵ Throughout this thesis, I prefer the terminology of 'scribe' to 'redactor'. There is little difference in function between the two roles: both can be understood as combining and editing pre-existing texts, and creating even extensive pieces to weave into the completed whole. However, the term 'redactor', because of its association with the documentary hypothesis, is often assumed to mean an individual who did little more than piece together extant traditions. (For example, Baden attributes as little compositional work on the Pentateuch as possible to a redactor, largely limiting this role to the corrections of errors and omissions [2012: 215-220].) There is a creative aspect to the role of 'scribe' which 'redactor' does not quite convey.

ii) Issues with the idea of a lone author or compiler

There are compelling reasons to doubt that the Pentateuch was the product of a single author or antiquarian. Firstly, the Pentateuch contains numerous contradictions, inconsistencies and repetitions, not to mention giving different names to the deity at different points (see e.g. Noth, 1972: 20-21; Römer, 2016a: 121; Baden, 2012: 3). It would be surprising if so many incongruities escaped the notice of an individual author and compiler. These aspects of the text do not categorically eliminate the possibility of a single author⁵⁶, but they are much easier to explain if we see the Pentateuch as the result of a lengthy process of composition, including disparate source material and a group of scribes editing and reshaping it.

It has also been argued that the style and vocabulary of the Pentateuch varies from one literary unit to another. Perhaps most notably, Wellhausen, the father of the documentary hypothesis, relies largely on stylistic and linguistic grounds for ascribing portions of the pentateuchal text to different sources (2013: 9).⁵⁷ I am cautious about following this argument too hastily, since even adherents to the documentary hypothesis have questioned using it as a basis for source criticism.⁵⁸ But there are enough differences in style and vocabulary to suggest a significant level of unevenness between literary units, which the purported author

⁵⁶ There are alternative explanations for repetition within the text, such as the possibility that resumptive repetition and repetition of similar material with key differences could be deliberate rhetorical devices (van Seters, 2013: 59). However, van Seters seems to have little support on this point from other scholars, and is opposed by adherents to the documentary hypothesis and alternative theories alike. (See Baden [2012: 3], Noll [2013: 397] and Thompson [1999: 23].)

⁵⁷ J, for example, is apparently in step with the language, style and themes of other literature thought to have been composed during a purported united monarchy period, so Wellhausen reasons that J would have been written during the same era and is the earliest of the four pentateuchal sources (Wellhausen, 2013: 9). P is distinct from J in terms of language and style (2013: 9) and also in its thematic focus on the Temple cult and the Mosaic law (2013: 361).

⁵⁸ Baden, for example, rejects stylistic and terminological grounds for differentiating between pentateuchal sources. Instead, he favours literary analysis of the pentateuchal text 'on the basis of narrative flow' (2012: 28).

left unamended. This unevenness leads us to the conclusion that the Pentateuch is composite, rather than composed by a single author (see e.g. Blum, 1990: 256; Baden, 2012: 3, 12).

The Pentateuch's composite nature is also strongly suggested by its length and complexity. For a single author to have produced a work on this scale demands a 'controlling genius' (Whybray, 1987: 235), 'a historian of quite remarkable scope' (van Seters, 1983: 229). The concept of a single author for the Pentateuch thus rests on a case of special pleading which stretches the believability of the theory. Composition by a group of intelligent, educated but not necessarily remarkable scribes does not require us to assume such extraordinary circumstances.

iii) Issues with the documentary hypothesis

The documentary hypothesis cannot be dismissed lightly after being endorsed by so many eminent scholars, but work by adherents to the hypothesis reveals a good deal of confusion over its details. Wellhausen himself is quite candid about some key unanswered questions relating to his theory. For example, while positing that P was the last of the four sources to be written, he acknowledges problems in dating it and mentions disputes amongst his colleagues as to which sources built on which (2013: 9-10). Among more recent scholars, there are noticeable divergences in opinion on, for example, the number of redactors and the extent of their work⁵⁹, the validity of using stylistic and linguistic grounds as a basis for source criticism⁶⁰, and which sections of the Pentateuch should be attributed to which

_

⁵⁹ For Noth, the redactor's role is even more significant than in Wellhausen's understanding. While Wellhausen envisages extensive additions to the text on the redactor's part, Noth suggests that the redactor had his own distinct interests and structured the Pentateuch to fit those interests, arranging excerpts from J and E so as to fit his preferred structure (1972: 12-15). Conversely, Baden minimises the redactor's role. He holds that the redactor's contributions to the Pentateuch were limited to simple corrections of errors and omissions from the source documents; that he created little or no material of his own and did not even correct contradictions between the sources (2012: 220-224).

 $^{^{60}}$ Noth sees the tendency to differentiate on linguistic grounds between the source material within the text – as Wellhausen himself does – as overly simplistic. Ascribing particular phrases to individual sources is misguided,

purported sources (Whybray, 1987: 36). What is more, recent scrutiny of texts often attributed to E by adherents to the hypothesis reveals this attribution to be questionable. Indeed, doubts have been raised as to whether E can be safely differentiated from J at all, and attempts to trace a continuous E source often result in an 'E' text riddled with contradictions. (For example, see Carr [2005: 107-114] for a critique of one such endeavour.) The credibility of the hypothesis is thus undermined by disputes over some of its key features.

Summary

The creation of large-scale works of literature was an inherently scribal activity in the ANE. Scribes would have enjoyed unique opportunities and facilities to compose a work of the scale of the Pentateuch, not to mention the skills and education to do so. The Priestly source can most probably be attributed to scribes deported to Babylonia from Jerusalem. And in serving the political establishment in postexilic Jerusalem, the scribes in the Yehud community may even have been required to shape and augment the work which came to be known as the Pentateuch.

The idea of a single author for the Pentateuch (as advanced by van Seters, 1983) seems implausible. It relies on the author being nothing short of a literary genius, in order to weave together numerous sources and material of his own conception: not impossible but a very unlikely scenario. Furthermore, this theory doesn't account convincingly for the contradictions, repetitions and stylistic unevenness in the text. The documentary hypothesis is helpful insofar as it points out the Pentateuch's composite nature, but there are a number of weaknesses to the theory which make me reluctant to endorse it beyond that point.

as there is a 'lack of truly characteristic terms and idioms' within the sources (1972: 21). Similarly, Baden rejects stylistic and terminological grounds for differentiating between pentateuchal sources. Instead, he favours literary analysis of the pentateuchal text 'on the basis of narrative flow' (2012: 28).

What source material did the scribes have?

i) The case for pre-existing traditions

The proposition that the Pentateuch as a whole (and Exod 13-15 in particular) draws on pre-existing traditions is hardly controversial. Despite Exodus commentators' sometimes sharp disagreements on which verses (or verse fragments) should be attributed to which purported sources, they show near consensus that the Pentateuch is composed from several pre-existing traditions. For example, as regards Exod 13-14 specifically, Propp, Childs and Hyatt envisage contributions from J, E and P, with (in Propp's case) some additions by a redactor (Propp, 1999: 461, 476; Childs, 1976: 220; Hyatt, 1980: 147.) Dozeman deviates from the documentary hypothesis, dividing the section between P and non-P (2009: 300-305), but he still expresses the view that the text is composite, albeit drawing on different source documents.⁶¹

The case for pre-existing traditions behind the Pentateuch is supported by the idea of scribal authorship, and also by repetitions and inconsistencies within the text, and similarities with other ANE literature. If the Pentateuch was indeed composed by a school of scribes, it is likely that they drew on a collection of pre-existing traditions for their work. We cannot necessarily assume that the circumstances in which scribes operated were the same from one ANE society to another, but ANE scribes most commonly contributed to and drew on wideranging archives (as Römer observes [2007a: 47-48]). Literary archives have been discovered at other ANE temple sites (in Ugarit, for example), and it is probable that scribes in fifth

_

⁶¹ Alexander abstains from offering an opinion on which traditions were combined into the Pentateuch (preferring to focus on the final form of the text). But it is clear that he envisages numerous literary units being brought together by a single redactor-editor (2017: 14-15).

century Yehud would have worked in similar circumstances (Davies, 1992: 110; Person, 2002: 70).

The contradictions, repetitions and incongruities within the Pentateuch point to its composite nature. This much is agreed by proponents of the documentary hypothesis and alternative theories alike. (See Noth, 1972: 21; Gertz, 2006: 77-87; Thompson 1999: 10; Lemche, 1988: 41.) What is more, there are several points at which the text presents contradictory accounts of the same event, directly alongside each other. For example, Genesis 1-2 includes two differing accounts of creation, and the juxtaposition of the two implies they are intended to be taken together: the Pentateuch's authors have consciously allowed the contradictions between the two accounts (e.g. the order in which plants, animals and humans are created) to stand (Noll, 2013: 93-94). We can only speculate as to the scribes' reasons for foregrounding these contradictions, but their presence in the text suggests that the Pentateuch is indeed an assembly of pre-existing traditions, rather than the result of a creation *ex nihilo*.

Relatedly, the Pentateuch's internal chronology also suggests that it is assembled from disparate source material. The timeline is confused; often out of step with extrabiblical sources, or even with two biblical accounts presenting different timescales for the same figure or event (Noll, 2013: 95-97; Thompson, 1999: 73-75).⁶² This might suggest carelessness on the scribes' part, if the confusion was not so clear and obvious. As it is, a safer inference is that the scribes were simply less interested in strictly accurate chronology than in the content of the stories they were preserving.

If the content of the pentateuchal text leads us to believe there were pre-existing sources behind its composition, these suppositions are reinforced by the Pentateuch's similarities to other ANE literature. For example, the hymns, miracles and creation myths in

⁶² For example, 1 Kings 16 presents contradictory information on the length of Omri's reign over Israel (Noll, 2013: 96).

the Hebrew Bible have parallels in texts from Egypt, Mesopotamia and Canaan, as Noll notes (2013: 83). In the same vein, van Seters notices clear similarities between the Moses sequence in Exodus and Assyrian and Akkadian texts (2013: 61-62, 75), and Balaam, the main protagonist of Numbers 22-24, also appears in a Moabite inscription, in which he serves a different deity and has nothing to do with Moses. Thompson suggests that the two texts drew on a common tradition, or at least a common literary 'type': the prophet figure common to several ANE cultures (1999: 11).⁶³ Thus, either the scribes who composed P or those who reworked the Pentateuch in the Persian period appear to have drawn from traditions and tropes common to ANE cultures or to have edited source documents which themselves did so.

Finally, the existence of source material, as yet undiscovered by archaeologists, is alluded to within the text of the Hebrew Bible. For example, 2 Kings 20.20 refers to the 'Book of the Annals of the Kings of Judah'. If the Deuteronomistic Historian drew on sources like this, it is reasonable to hypothesise that the Pentateuch's creators might have drawn on similar pre-existing material.⁶⁴

It is probable that the scribes who formed the Pentateuch not only edited the already-combined Priestly and pre-Priestly sources, but also augmented this with some other traditions and refreshed and repurposed all of this material, so as to speak into the scribes' contemporary concerns. Scribes in the wider ANE context would often change the details of

⁶³ The same might apply to the Deuteronomistic History, as well as to the Pentateuch. For example, the Moabite Mesha stele shows similarities in subject matter and tone to the Omri narrative in 2 Kings 3. Thompson notes that 2 Kings 3 closely imitates the Mesha inscription. He posits a 'monumental' style of writing which dates back to an inscription commemorating the victories of Idrimi, king of Alalakh, in the thirteenth century. He next argues that the authors of both the Mesha stele and 2 Kings 3 make use of this literary trope, adopting its stock phrases and applying them to heroes of their own communities (1999: 11-13).

⁶⁴ Bible scholars express a range of views on these biblical allusions to pre-existing source material. Thompson seems convinced that they refer to genuine sources (1999: 86). Na'aman also argues for several source documents being available to the scribes, but is cautious enough to note that the nature and content of these sources will always be hypothetical, in the absence of the sources themselves (1997: 77). On the other end of the spectrum, van Seters see these allusions as nothing more than a literary device, meant to add credibility to the text (1983: 299-302), and Garbini is sceptical about the extent of any single source document (2003: 74-75).

Assyrian inscriptions (Römer, 2007a: 48; Noll, 2013: 92). Nor was a scribe's role limited to reproducing existing texts: many scribes composed literary texts of their own (Person, 2002: 65). It is therefore equally possible that the Pentateuch's scribes would have added literary units of their own creation, alongside the edited and refreshed source material. This suggestion has support from revisionists, as well as from more conservative biblical scholars, who argue for a redactor adding passages to the Pentateuch and combining source documents so as to fit his own interests (Davies, 1992: 24; see also Blum, 2006: 134-135; Gertz, 2006: 87; Noth, 1972: 12-15).65

Overarching themes within the Pentateuch suggest that its source material was revised and embellished in a manner typical of ANE scribal practices. The story of arrival in a promised land after escaping an oppressive overlord, suspicion of groups outside the immediate community, and fear of invasion and subjugation by foreign powers all reflect the recent experiences and live concerns of the Yehud community in the Persian period (Davies, 1992: 74, 118). This appears to be applicable to the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses specifically, which express a longing for liberation and, finally, victory over Israel's oppressors. These themes would fit with post-exilic concerns and sentiments, and support a Persian dating for the story's completion. However, as Noll notes, the railing against Egypt, who dominated Canaan in the Late Bronze Age, suggests that the story has a basis in a tradition dating from this period, with its miraculous elements, tangents and non-sequiturs indicating much later editing and embellishments (2013: 101-103).

⁶⁵ Similarly, van Seters envisages an antiquarian Yahwist not only combining disparate sources (both from Israelite tradition and the wider ANE context) but changing and developing these sources and inventing material of his own to fit the major themes he wanted to emphasise. For example, he suggests that the twelve tribes, Israel's settling in Egypt and its subsequent oppression derive purely from the Yahwist's mind, with no basis in historical fact or earlier traditions (2013: 12-13, 58-62; 1983: 50).

Admittedly, the hypothesis of pre-existing traditions for the Pentateuch is not without its problems, not least the fact that the proposed written traditions have yet to be discovered. Similarly, my argument thus far has focused on written traditions underpinning the Pentateuch. This does not preclude the possibility that oral traditions were also appropriated and included within the text but, of course, the existence of any oral traditions is even harder to prove than written ones: by their nature, ancient oral traditions resist preservation in material form.

Exactly how the scribes would have accessed pre-existing written sources is still a matter of speculation. Noll might be correct to assert that the deported scribes would have carried the contents of the Temple archives to Babylon (2013: 395-396) and then, presumably, back to Jerusalem in the fifth century, but there is no clear evidence for this. Alternatively, the archives might have remained at the Temple throughout the exilic period, watched over by a few scribes who remained in Jerusalem (as Davies contends [1998: 63-64]), but this possibility relies on a very tolerant attitude towards Judah and its administration, on the part of the Babylonians, not to mention being out of step with the many scholars who agree that P was largely written and combined with non-P material during the Exile. However, notwithstanding these issues, the case for pre-existing source material for the Pentateuch has more to commend it than alternative arguments. Despite the unanswered questions, a belief in pre-existing traditions remains compelling.

ii) Combining P, non-P and new compositions

The extent of the debate around pentateuchal source criticism highlights the inherent difficulty in reconstructing component traditions from the finished text. Because of this difficulty, some scholars (especially revisionists) despair of the whole enterprise. Thompson,

for example, dismisses as impossible the effort to identify existing traditions and the extent of any alterations to these traditions as they were subsumed into the final text (1992: 368-369). While I sympathise with Thompson's frustration, I cannot agree that this exercise is futile. There is compelling evidence for the Pentateuch including a lengthy and coherent P source, as well as material from a second source, which can be labelled non-P. There is also reason to believe that the scribes who performed the final editing and reworking of the Pentateuch added narrative elements of their own composition.

Literary and linguistic analysis of the Pentateuch provides helpful clues as to its composition and development. P seems distinct from other pentateuchal material in presenting a coherent overall narrative, and in some uses of specific words, phrases and concepts (Schwartz, 2009: 1; Kratz, 2020: 231).⁶⁷ The most obvious example of this is P's concern with monotheism and use of language and terminology distinct to cultic worship (Römer, 2014: 132-134).

Similarly, the structure of certain narratives suggests an original core (probably from P) with additions from another source. It seems that the authors of P assumed non-P and integrated it into their own source (Gertz, 2006: 76). For example, Blum notes that the third, fourth and ninth of the ten plagues in Exod 7-11 are less detailed and complex than the other seven and, on those grounds, likely to derive from a different source document (1990: 243-245). And the resumptive repetition in Gen 15.12 and 15.17 suggests that the verses in between are a later insertion, intended to foreshadow the Exodus and smooth over an abrupt break between sources (Carr, 2016: 92-93). There are therefore very persuasive grounds for differentiating between P and non-P in the finalised text of the Pentateuch.

⁶⁶ Schmid (2019), Römer (2016), Carr (2011a), Gertz (2006) and others all use the terminology of 'non-P'.

⁶⁷ Division of the Pentateuch into sources on linguistic grounds is not without problems but, in conjunction with other literary approaches, it can still be valuable (Schmid, 2019: 104-106).

Further sections of pentateuchal narrative may derive neither from P nor from preexilic non-P, but from the scribes who reworked the combined P and non-P in the Persian
period. This possibility is supported by the themes within the Pentateuch of Israel inheriting a
land promised by their deity, prospering and conquering their enemies; themes which seem
particularly relevant to postexilic Yehud. For example, YHWH's promises of a homeland to
the patriarchs echo the hopes of the nascent Yehud community and seem to be a departure
from the verses around them (Schmid, 2016: 599). Those verses could justifiably be credited
to a scribe in Yehud, then. Secondly, the complexity of the finalised Pentateuch – its
contradictions, deviations and non-sequiturs – suggests a lengthy process of composition,
including additions in Persian-period Yehud (Römer, 2014: 123).

The majority of Pentateuchal scholars support the prospect of the text being edited and reworked in the Persian period (e.g. Baden, 2019, 28; Blum, 2009: 31-32; Römer, 2009: 157).⁶⁸ And this 'editing' process in fact appears to have been extensive enough to involve significant reshaping of the pre-existing text – including the composition of some new sections of narrative – in order to reinterpret its subject matter in a way which addressed the themes and concerns most relevant to the Yehud community (as Carr suggests [2011: 223]). Unfortunately, any conclusion beyond this must be advanced more cautiously. The exact process of redaction is a matter of some debate.⁶⁹ However, there seems to be a general agreement that P would have represented a coherent document which, when combined with earlier non-Priestly material, constituted the majority of the finalised Pentateuch. There is

-

Similarly, Kratz argues for P being written and redacted in several stages, thus partly accounting for the inconsistencies and repetitions within the Pentateuch (2020: 210-212).

⁶⁸ Naturally, the most prominent revisionists go beyond this position and argue for the whole Pentateuch being composed during the Persian period, or even later (e.g. Davies, 1992: 24; Lemche, 2013c: 140, 150). ⁶⁹ Gertz, for example, holds that P was a coherent text but was expanded as well as retouched as it was combined with non-P. These expansions were necessary, he argues, in order to smooth over discrepancies between P and non-P accounts (2014: 102-103, 111-112). Blum envisages a single stage of redaction, performed by the Priestly writer in post-exilic Yehud, including his own work and non-Priestly material (1990: 5, 333-360; 2009: 31-32).

similarly a widespread agreement that the Persian period was pivotal to the Pentateuch's composition.

The nature of non-P raises even more questions. There is debate on how much of the non-P material was composed earlier than P, whether non-P constituted a coherent source or a collection of disparate traditions, and to what extent non-P was revised by the Priestly writers. The primary bone of contention on non-P is around coherence. Blum implies that the D-komposition was a coherent narrative but less extensive than P (1990: 5, 259). Gertz argues that non-P would have comprised three overarching narrative sequences – the primordial history, the patriarchs sequence and the exodus narrative – but these narratives were distinct and disconnected; only brought together when the Priestly writer redacted them and combined them with his own work (2006: 74). Kratz takes a similar position, but suggests that the constituent narratives within non-P were more numerous than Gertz suggests (2005: 98-100). And Schmid, mindful of the difficulties in reconstructing non-P from the final text of the Pentateuch, abstains from attributing specific narratives to specific pre-Priestly sources (2014: 46).

Notwithstanding the inherent difficulties in drawing any definitive conclusions on the nature and content of non-P, there seems a general agreement that non-P would have been a less extensive source than P. Schmid (1999: 144-149), Carr (2015: 462-463) and Gertz (2014: 102-104) all argue for this, on the grounds that several pivotal sections of pentateuchal narrative appear to be missing from non-P, and that the Priestly writers seem to have fitted non-P material around their own source rather than vice versa.

Moreover, Gertz has argued convincingly for non-P as a collection of three disconnected narratives. As Gertz observes, Exod 1.8 marks an abrupt shift from the end of

⁷⁰ Schmid also notices clear divisions along these lines, within the Pentateuch, but attributes the structure to P rather than non-P (2014: 36, 41-43; 2012: 188-189).

88

Genesis, rendering Joseph all but irrelevant to what follows (2006: 82). Indeed, in terms of narrative flow, there still seems a clear break between Genesis and Exodus, which makes the bridging text from Gen 50.22 to Exod 1.8 stand out as a later insertion. Also, where the Pentateuch shows evidence of internal cross-referencing (where Gen 12 foreshadows the plagues of Egypt, for example), this can be explained convincingly as a linking text added by a redactor (2006: 75).

Thus, although we cannot be entirely confident of how complete and how finished the combined P and non-P would have been, we can draw these conclusions: i) that P represented a coherent narrative in its own right; ii) that pre-exilic non-P compositions were combined with P and redacted, during or soon after P's composition; iii) that the combined P and non-P was redacted again by scribes operating in Persian-period Yehud, who also added some new compositions of their own, as well as reworking and retouching the text to reflect the concerns and experiences of their community. I would also suggest that non-P constituted three distinct and independent narrative sequences, which were only brought together for the first time as they were combined with P. However, the available evidence only allows me to suggest this tentatively.

iii) The Song of Moses

The authorship of the Song of Moses is the subject of enduring debate. As a piece of poetry surrounded by narrative, it stands out as a likely insertion into the text around it. But scholars – including commentators on Exodus – have advanced a wide range of opinions on the song's origins and dating. Some conclude that the song is ancient: 'some of the oldest poetry in the Hebrew Bible' (Fretheim, 1991: 161; see also Alexander, 2017: 293). Others assert that it was not composed until after the Exile (e.g. Dozeman, 2009: 336, 342-343). Still

others steer a middle course, surmising that the song was written at a similar time to a preexilic form of the Reed Sea narrative (e.g. Childs, 1976: 245). The song is therefore worthy of examination in its own right within a wider survey of theories of pentateuchal composition.⁷¹

The debate around the authorship of the Song of Moses seems to focus on two particular lines of enquiry: its content and the form of Hebrew its author(s) used. As to its content, the song's theme and imagery echo the creation myth in Genesis (c.f. Exod 15.4-5, 8; Gen 1.2, 6-10; see Fretheim, 1991: 153; Bruckner, 2008: 128-129). However, if one of these texts was influenced by the other, it is impossible to tell which borrowed from which, or the length of time which elapsed between the two compositions. So this resemblance is of limited use in dating either of them. Similarly, Alter holds that the song's portrayal of YHWH as a fierce warrior is influenced by Ugaritic and Canaanite poetry and that it should therefore be seen as pre-monarchical (2004: 398). This is not a persuasive argument, though. The text could still resemble Ugaritic poetry, even if it was written much later. And the song could equally be understood as using tropes from Babylonian myth (Bruckner, 2008: 138), which would require a much later date of composition. More significant is the song's apparent allusion to the conquest of Canaan and the establishment of Jerusalem (15.15-17; see Davies, 2020: 304-305). These references lead us to conclude that the song was composed (or at least expanded from a minimal core tradition) in the monarchical period at the earliest.

Linguistically, few dispute that the Song of Moses was written in Classical Biblical Hebrew with scant evidence of features from a later form of the language (Davies, 2020: 311). This suggests that at least an original core of the song would have been pre-exilic.⁷² The

71

⁷¹ Other commentators conclude that the song was 'not earlier than the time of Solomon' (Hyatt, 1980: 163) or argue that the already extant song was redacted into the combined JE, without venturing a date or an author for the song itself (Propp, 1999: 482-483).

⁷² As Carr explains, Classical Biblical Hebrew would have fallen out of use altogether by the mid-Persian period and was declining in use for some time before then (2016: 89).

scribes who compiled and augmented the Priestly and pre-Priestly material may well have had the skill to amend the Song of Moses while keeping to the classical form of the language. (As Römer argues, scribes in most ANE cultures would have been adept enough for this kind of task [2016: 363].) But the revisionists who insist that the entire song was post-exilic tend to rely very heavily on artificial archaisation (e.g. Davies, 1992: 103-105) and this line of argument seems implausible. The argument for the song being composed from scratch, following the return from exile, can therefore probably be dismissed.

Based on the available thematic and linguistic evidence, the most likely scenario seems to be that the kernel of the song is pre-exilic – perhaps even a pre-monarchical oral tradition – and that it was reworked during the Exile, by the same scribes who composed P and combined it with non-P. We can at least be confident that a recognisable form of the song would have existed before the scribes in Yehud themselves reworked the Pentateuch. The lack of distinctively 'late' features in the song make it difficult to argue for Exod 15 being extensively remodelled in the Persian period but, as Clines notes, even minor amendments to a text can dramatically alter its message and tone (1997: 25). Thus, the song can still reflect the hopes, values and concerns of the Yehud community, even if we dismiss the possibility of the scribes making wholesale changes to it.

iv) Issues with the rubric of fiction

A proposed Persian or Hellenistic dating for the Pentateuch is often associated with a minimising of the historical basis for the Pentateuch, or even with an argument that it is outright fiction. Several scholars, labelled 'minimalist' or, slightly more kindly, 'revisionist' by their opponents, reject the documentary hypothesis at the same time as rejecting the assumption of a historical basis to the Pentateuch.

For example, Noll argues that the Pentateuch was not completed until the Hellenistic period, and calls it a collection of 'folklore' (2013: 54-55, 90-92). The Bible's contradictions, logical impossibilities and multiple versions of the same story with different protagonists are all folkloric elements – evidence that the authors had no intention of recording a purely 'historical' account of the past (2013: 96-100). Biblical narratives might not have been designed to directly mimic Greek *historia*, but the Pentateuch – and the Hebrew Bible as a whole – adopts a Greek attitude to history and fact, Noll suggests. As in Greco-Roman histories, the Hebrew Bible contains grandly embellished accounts of the past, decked in myth and miracles, and with no in-depth investigation of the kind employed by modern historians (2013: 67-69, 80). The result is a 'history' which almost certainly includes elements at odds with actual events and personalities. And yet, this was not and should not be understood as deceptive on the part of the writer: 'the ancient historian was not telling lies, he was presenting the past in a more "truthful" way than how it actually happened.' (Noll, 2013: 78). (The differentiation between modern and ancient understandings of history is important, and I will return to it below.)⁷³

The suggestion that the Pentateuch could be understood as fiction highlights a fundamental difference in approach between proponents of the documentary hypothesis and scholars who favour alternative theories. The documentary hypothesis is an inherently conservative position; an attempt to provide a credible framework for the historical reliability of the Pentateuch. In contrast, 'minimalist' scholars tend to start from a point of scepticism and accept the biblical version of events only when it is supported by extrabiblical evidence.

⁷³ Lemche endorses a similar dating schema to Noll and characterises the Hebrew Bible as mythology – or at least, as an extended narrative connecting two foundational myths: the Exile and the Exodus (1998: 88, 93-94). According to Lemche, both of these myths were intended to help solidify the shared identity of the Yehud community. Although I believe Lemche's comments about myths and collective identity have value, I cannot dismiss the idea that at least some of the pentateuchal material is based on historical events.

The debate has become highly polarised. On the one hand, I think it highly implausible that the Reed Sea episode, for example, represents a literal historical account. For 600,000 Israelites, along with their wives, children and livestock (Exod 12.37), to cross anything which could be described as a 'sea' in a single night stretches the bounds of credibility. And Davies is right to draw our attention to disparities between Israel as it is presented in the Hebrew Bible and the support for this portrayal in archaeological and other extrabiblical evidence (1992: 69-73). I also believe that the Reed Sea episode's function as a collective memory throws into question what, if any, historical basis the episode might have. (This point is explored at length in chapter five.) The reader of the Hebrew Bible should not assume that they are reading a strictly factual account of events in Israel's past and of the deity's actions.

At the same time, though, I find the term 'fiction' jarring when used to describe a biblical text; perhaps partly because of my background in evangelicalism. It is not necessary to abandon a historical basis to the Pentateuch, even if any such basis is obscured by embellishment and hyperbole, and even if the composition of the Pentateuch is dated to the Persian period or even later. Indeed, Noll himself does not entirely dismiss this possibility, even as he argues that the biblical text contains elements at odds with historical events (2013: 77-79).

A further significant problem with the prospect of Bible-as-fiction relates to the enduring influence of certain key literary events. Anyone wishing to present a convincing case for that prospect would have to explain why the Exodus, for example, recurs so often and so vividly throughout the Hebrew Bible. As Dozeman observes, beyond its depiction in the book of Exodus itself, Israel's deliverance from Egypt is mentioned in other narratives (e.g. Deut 7.8, Josh 2.10), the Holiness Code (Lev 25.42), the prophetic books (e.g. Hos 11.1) and

the Psalms (e.g. Ps 114) (Dozeman, 2017: 102-103). If there is no historical basis whatsoever for the Exodus, if it is a complete literary fabrication, how are we to account for the event taking root so deeply in the nation's imagination and sense of collective identity? The revisionist scholars have not satisfactorily answered this question.

Summary

Along with the majority of scholars, I hold that the Pentateuch is very likely to include pre-existing traditions. More specifically, I believe these traditions consist of P and non-P, combined by scribes during the Exile and further reworked and augmented by other scribes in post-exilic Yehud. The role and practices of scribes in the wider ANE context make it likely that Judaean and Yehudite scribes would have worked in a similar way, compiling and adapting source material. Indeed, similarities between biblical narratives and other ANE literature suggest not just similar scribal practices but possible common traditions between Yehud and its neighbours. Repetitions and contradictions within the text of the Pentateuch make its composite nature quite clear, and its thematic content suggests at least some source material from as early as the Late Bronze Age.

Why was the Pentateuch written?

i) The Pentateuch as national history

A particularly valuable element of revisionist pentateuchal scholarship is that it throws into relief the fundamental question of why the Pentateuch was written. Adherents to the documentary hypothesis tend to assume that at least one of the putative four sources (P) was intended to be an authoritative document for cultic worship, just as the Pentateuch is interpreted by confessing readers today (see e.g. Noth, 1972: 197; Nicholson, 2002: 18).

Revisionists have foregrounded the Pentateuch's political function, characterising it (and the Hebrew Bible as a whole) as primarily a national history. As Davies puts it, 'it is not necessary to assume that the biblical literature was... regulative or authoritative for the belief and conduct of a religious community or tradition... the final shaping of the Bible... was an integral part of the constitution... in Hellenistic Judah.' (1992: 20, 161).

The involvement of scribes in composing the Pentateuch makes a political, nationalistic focus more likely. Yehud's scribes, in the pay and under the influence of political leaders, would have had political concerns uppermost in their minds (see Thompson, 1992: 416). It does not follow that the Pentateuch would have been devoid of any religious function, but this religious function would have been coloured by politics: 'religion for the scribe will have been, professionally, an instrument of political ideology' (Davies, 1998: 18).

Related to this, the Pentateuch was completed at a time when political concerns would have been particularly important to the authors' community. In fifth century Yehud, the fledgling community was in need of a national history: a clear expression of its shared past (whether real or constructed) to strengthen its collective identity. The pressing need, therefore, was predominantly political, although religious identity may have played a role within Yehud's nationalism. The Pentateuch helped to meet this need for collective identity. It represented 'a massive exercise in self-definition' (Davies, 1992: 116).

Not only this, but it is possible that the Persian authorities endorsed the creation of such a national history. As Carr points out, Persia tended to gain support from the outlying areas of its empire by endorsing local governments (2011: 205), and even 'occasionally sponsored the collection and publication of local traditions' (2011: 217). So it is not inconceivable that the Pentateuch might have been composed with Persian endorsement and that its content might have been influenced by the Persian authorities. For example, the Reed

Sea episode might reflect Persian animosity towards Egypt, as well as Israel's own experiences and enmities (Schmid 2019: 112). This prospect is very difficult to prove, but the possibility remains that the Pentateuch might have been written as a political document, not only as a national history for Israel but also to bolster diplomatic relations between Yehud and Persia.

Moreover, the Pentateuch is not just a national history but a universal history (Blenkinsopp, 1992: 39). It is cosmic in its scale, presenting the origins of the entire created order and within that, Israel as pre-eminent, chosen by their god from among all the nations in the world he created. The content of the Pentateuch as a whole – stories of patriarchs chosen by the deity, liberation from slavery, military victories over neighbouring peoples and, above all, entering a promised land with a mandate to possess and rule over it – reinforces Yehud's apparent status as a strong and divinely-favoured nation (Lemche, 1998: 88-94).⁷⁴

Notwithstanding this, the Pentateuch's political function does not preclude a simultaneous religious one. The figure of the deity looms large over the Pentateuch, cultic regulations feature very prominently within it, and its promises of divine blessing and favour are predicated on the nation's fidelity to their god. Israel's national history is very much intertwined with its worship of YHWH.

⁷⁴ Lemche holds that the majority of the biblical text hinges on two foundational myths: the Exile and the Exodus. The Exile was, he claims, crafted into a myth, to function as 'a program for the return to the country of God, where a new and ideal nation of God should be established' (1998: 88). Similarly, the Exodus is 'the origin myth of a religious history of the chosen people' (1998: 93). Both myths were intended to help solidify this people's sense of identity. Provocatively, Lemche reduces the function of the rest of the biblical narrative to simply connecting those two myths (1998: 94). I agree that the Exodus can be described as a myth and that there are grounds for characterising the Exile as such (although there is intense debate about the extent and impact of the Exile). However, I am surprised that Lemche sees such a large volume of biblical narrative as largely redundant in itself, existing only to connect the Exodus and the Exile. This seems a somewhat eccentric position. Ironically, in reducing the Exodus to an origin myth, with little or no foundation in historical events, Lemche makes this episode more, not less, meaningful. If the Exodus truly is one of two literary pillars, supporting the collective identity of the (re-)established people of Yehud, it carries a colossal weight. Every detail of the narrative becomes laden with significance, shaping the nation's understanding of itself and of its deity.

ii) History or historiography?

At the heart of the debate over the Pentateuch's historicity lie differences of understanding on what constitutes 'history'. A modern definition of history centres around objectively factual people, places and events. But several leading scholars contend that the authors of the Pentateuch might have intended it as history of a different kind, more similar to Greco-Roman historiography. Under this latter approach to history, strictly factual depictions of events are less important than the *meaning* of those events, and how that meaning helps to shape a group's collective identity.

Although a direct Greek influence on the Pentateuch seems doubtful, there are similarities between the Pentateuch and Herodotus' *Historia*, as van Seters observes. Both works include genealogies, etiological narratives and parataxis (van Seters, 1983: 25-38). Based on these similarities, van Seters argues that the Pentateuch combines history (as a modern reader would understand it) with legend. According to van Seters, just as Greek historiographers did not insist on a strict adherence to facts, and included elements of their own creation, the authors⁷⁵ of the Pentateuch adopted a similar attitude and thus created a work of historiography (van Seters, 1983: 23; 1992: 30-33). The Reed Sea episode exemplifies this: the crossing of the sea is supposedly based on the very similar description of the crossing of the Jordan, composed earlier as part of DtrH, with the Song of Moses influenced by already-extant Psalms (van Seters, 1994: 144, 148). Van Seters stops short of calling the Reed Sea narrative entirely fictitious, but claims it includes extensive creative work on the part of the Yahwist (1994: 145).

⁷⁵ van Seters, of course, envisages one pre-eminent author: the Yahwist.

⁷⁶ This argument depends on a particular dating schema for the Psalms, which lies outside the purview of this thesis.

This idea is supported by Noll, who in fact goes further than van Seters, describing biblical history as 'folklore', with merely 'a few facts' behind the fiction (2013: 95), and by Whybray (1987: 152). Noll explains that, in Greco-Roman histories, 'evidence' meant whatever seemed reasonable and believable. When the ludicrous and incredible (and divine) was stripped away from myths and folktales, what remained was what was believed to have happened, even when one historian had simply copied another's manuscript and tweaked key details, as was common (2013: 69-70). No further investigation, in the mode of modern history, was deemed necessary. Despite this lack of factual basis, as far as the authors were concerned, they were providing a 'true' account of events, people and the deity. Even if the authors knew that the events they were describing had never happened, the ideas and values communicated by the story, and the collective identity it reinforced within its authors' community, remained emphatically true. Biblical history is therefore 'true fiction' (2013: 94-100, 103).

However, although the Pentateuch does bear some similarities to Greek history, there are significant differences between the two. With anonymous writers, no explicit insistence on the truth of what is being presented, no first person narration and a lack of common, Hellenistic, rhetorical techniques, biblical narrative is without several key features of Hellenistic history (Schniedewind, 2005: 6-9; Thompson, 1992: 374-377). Indeed, the Pentateuch could be said to be as similar to other ANE literature as it is to Greek history (Bolin, 2016: 67-69). (I discuss this further in section *iii*) below.)

Although the differences between the Pentateuch and Greek history are too significant to allow us to group them into the same category, there are enough similarities to make it doubtful that the authors of the Pentateuch intended it as a literal historical account. The authors may still have believed the Pentateuch to be 'true', though, in terms of the values their

work depicts and its reinforcement of their community's shared identity. We cannot assume that the Pentateuch is strictly historical, in terms of a modern understanding of history, but it still appears to combine fact and myth, in a manner comparable to Greco-Roman history.

iii) Issues with assuming the Pentateuch is religiously-normative

Although the idea of Mosaic authorship has been abandoned almost universally amongst historical-critical scholars⁷⁷, the documentary hypothesis began as a development of this traditional theory; an attempt to provide a credible framework for the historical reliability of the Pentateuch. It is, at its root, an inherently conservative viewpoint.

A cornerstone of the hypothesis is that at least one of the four sources was created by priests (see e.g. Nicholson, 2002: 18). The hypothesis is thus underpinned by an assumption that the Pentateuch's authors were seeking to create a religiously normative piece of literature; a work which represented Israel's lived experiences of the deity (as Noth suggests, for example [1972: 197]), or even objective truths about the nature of God. Emblematic of this, Childs holds that Exodus constitutes a 'sacred inheritance'; that as part of the canon of scripture, it has a meaning which is authoritative for the Church and applicable to the modern world (1976: xiii).

This line of thought is brought into question by several features of the Hebrew Bible which suggest its intended function was as a deposit of folklore. Firstly, there are striking similarities between biblical stories and other ANE narratives. For example, Noll points out that miracles, hymns and creation myths appear in Egyptian, Mesopotamian and Canaanite literature, as well as the Bible. More specifically, the Joshua sequence includes several tropes

99

⁷⁷ A few commentators on the Pentateuch still insist on Mosaic authorship. For example, Stuart does so in his commentary on Exodus (2006: 28-32).

typical of Assyrian hero narratives: divine support and endorsement of the hero, crossing a river and the humbling of enemy kings (2013: 83, 89-90).

Secondly, the Pentateuch in particular contains multiple versions of the same narrative in different contexts and with different protagonists: a typically folkloric feature (Whybray, 1987: 188). The repeated wife-as-sister story in Gen 12.10-20, Gen 20.1-18 and Gen 26.1-16 is a clear example of this feature.

And thirdly, there is scant extrabiblical evidence to support biblical narratives such as the supposed 'golden age' of Solomon, and even the very existence of key biblical figures like Josiah (Lemche, 2013: 145). This lack of evidence undermines the conservative view of a basis in historical events and figures.

While the historicity of much of the Pentateuch is indeed doubtful, it may still have had a religious function. The elements in the text of the Pentateuch which could be described as 'folkloric' are reconcilable with religious normativity, if we can accept that its authors allowed for more imagination in its composition, and were less concerned with factual historicity, than many of today's readers.

The arguments marshalled against the Pentateuch's religious function are not entirely convincing. For example, Bolin notes that there is no clear evidence that the Jews in Yehud attempted to disseminate biblical texts to Jews beyond their borders (e.g. in Elephantine), which (he argues) suggests that these texts were not, at that stage, considered important enough to justify the effort of exporting them (1996: 12-13). This conclusion does not necessarily follow, however. With the Yehud community seeking to establish itself and rebuild Jerusalem, it would be perfectly understandable if it simply prioritised issues internal to the community over and above dissemination of texts to Jews in other nations.

It has also been argued that the numerous textual variations within the Dead Sea Scrolls would have been unthinkable if the texts had been considered religiously normative, even within the Hellenistic period. This would suggest that the Pentateuch was not thought of as religiously authoritative until well into the Roman era (Noll, 2013: 397-402). But variation is not at odds with religious normativity. On the contrary, as Najman astutely observes, it is often the very texts which are seen as most important and most sacred which inspire the greatest number of translations, paraphrases and new texts which convey a similar message to the original, in different terms: 'Insofar as scripture is *authoritative*, it is also *generative*.' (Najman, 2012: 516, emphasis original).

Summary

Although the Pentateuch can be understood as Israel's national history as conceived by the Yehud community, it does not necessarily follow that its contents are strictly factual. Indeed, it is more historiography than a presentation of factual events and people in the mode of modern history. It can still be described as 'true', however. Even if any facts in the narrative are obscured by the authors' imaginative embellishments, the authors aimed to communicate truth in terms of the ideas and values their work expresses. Thus, it remains possible that the authors of the Pentateuch meant for their creation to be religiously normative, at the same time as being historiographical or even folkloric. The Pentateuch enabled the Yehud community to articulate its shared past (whether real or imagined) and shaped its collective identity – its ethnic, social and religious identity – from the Persian period onwards.

Persian-period authorship and its implications for trauma informing the text

The context in which Exodus was written clearly has a bearing on what traumatic events might have informed the Reed Sea episode. The identity of the authors, the time and place in which they operated, the source material they used and the overarching aim of their work all affect the source of any trauma on the part of the authors and how that trauma might have found expression in the text they produced.

In my view, the most likely scenario is that Exodus was written and compiled by scribes during the Exile (that is, P was written and pre-Priestly material was added to it), and reworked by other scribes in early fifth century Yehud. Assuming this was the case, it has several implications for trauma's influence on the text:

i) The fall of Jerusalem as a source of trauma

With this dating schema, the fall of Jerusalem and the forced displacement to Babylonia of some of its inhabitants stand out as the most likely causes of trauma in the recent past. Through the siege of Jerusalem and its aftermath, Jerusalemites are likely to have experienced violence, prolonged threats to life, witnessing the deaths of loved ones, shortages of food and water, and probably sexual assault: all well-attested as potential causes of PTSD (see e.g. Middlemas, 2009: 175). Similarly, the experience of sudden, forced removal from one's home has been documented as inherently traumatic (as Kamya notes [2007: 257], for example). The displacement to Babylonia could therefore have been traumatic, in itself.

It is possible that the experience of life in exile might also have been inherently traumatic, although this is a moot point: scholars are divided on whether the Judaeans' living conditions in Babylonia truly were as torrid as has been assumed. Albertz suggests that the Exile would have represented 'a severe bloodletting for Judah', including military service and

forced labour (2003: 86-90), but Bright concludes that the exiles were not particularly harshly treated (2000: 346) and Coogan argues that descendants of the exiles were able to rise to influential positions within Babylonian society (1974: 10). This issue is discussed at more length in chapter three, along with a fuller exploration of the fall of Jerusalem as a source of trauma.

Immediately, however, there is a problem with arguing for events from the early sixth century influencing scribes in the fifth century. Even if we were to assume that the scribes in Yehud were operating at the very beginning of the fifth century, it seems unlikely that any of them would have directly experienced those earlier events, unless they were infants at the time and extraordinarily long-lived. The authors of P may well have survived the sack of Jerusalem but the Yehudite scribes were, in all probability, second generation exiles, whose only experiences of the fall of Jerusalem and deportation to Babylonia would have come from hearing accounts of those events from older members of their community. Nevertheless, the possibility of a traumatic influence arising from the early sixth century still stands. As has been documented extensively in recent psychological studies, trauma can be transmitted from one generation to the next, creating significant psychological problems – even PTSD – in the children of trauma survivors (see e.g. Kellerman, 2001: 257). I would contend that the authors of P were traumatised by their experiences of the destruction of the city and of forced deportation, and that the transgenerational transmission of trauma is applicable to the scribes operating in post-exilic Yehud. I make a case for this transgenerational transmission in chapter three.

The prospect of a traumatic influence on the Reed Sea episode is not wholly reliant on the dating I propose for its composition. Even if a much earlier dating were to be conclusively proven, the possibility remains of trauma deriving from earlier events, such as the conquest of the northern kingdom by Assyria. By extension, any written or oral traditions deriving from around that period could have borne markers of trauma, which might later have been transposed into the text of the Pentateuch. This can therefore be no more than a tentative suggestion. But a dating scheme for the Pentateuch other than the sixth-fifth century context I propose would not necessarily preclude a traumatic influence on the text.

Alternatively, if it were established that the story was written in Judah, following the fall of Jerusalem, it is entirely plausible that its authors might have been traumatised by Babylonian oppression and brutality and by internal displacement within Judah, and that such trauma might have manifested itself in the text they produced (see e.g. Crouch, 2021: 128-133). So a geographical setting other than the combination of Babylonia and Yehud would likewise still allow for a traumatic influence.

However, the possibility of trauma manifested in the text deriving from any historical Reed Sea crossing seems remote, for three reasons. Firstly, the fall of Jerusalem and deportation to Babylon were much more recent, much fresher in the minds of the authors of Exodus, and much more raw for the exiled Judaeans as a community. These events are thus more likely to have traumatised the authors than a putative event hundreds of years before. Secondly, the process by which Exodus (and the Pentateuch) was created involved intense compositional and editorial work in the sixth and fifth centuries. Even if the Song of Moses (Exod 15) was based on a pre-exilic kernel of a song, it appears to have been reworked significantly during and following the Exile. Any trauma manifested in pre-existing traditions (including any pre-exilic kernel to the song) would therefore have been obscured by the additions and amendments of the later authors. Thirdly, it seems doubtful that the Reed Sea episode as described in Exod 13-15 represents a literal historical account. As argued above,

⁷⁸ Birnbaum (2008) has argued for exactly this position, but there are significant problems with his thesis. I discuss his paper at more length in chapter four.

the scale of the action described seems exaggerated and the Song of Moses is shot-through with mythological language and tropes. This is not to detract from the extent to which the Reed Sea episode took root in the Hebrew Bible and in Israel's collective consciousness. But any trauma manifested within Exod 13.17 - 15.21 is far more likely to derive from the events of the late sixth century.

To point out that the events of the late sixth century position the Israelites as victims, while the Reed Sea story positions them as victors, would be an understandable objection to this argument. Indeed, this is a crucial point for my thesis: that Exod 13-15 constitutes an attempt by its authors to come to terms with the trauma in their recent past, to rid themselves of the sense of victimhood arising from the destruction of their city and their forced displacement to Babylonia, to instead envisage their enemies terrorised and traumatised, ⁷⁹ and to forge a collective identity as victorious, free and under the protection of an awe-inspiring deity.

ii) Wide scope for the expression of trauma

The Reed Sea episode appears to derive, at least in part, from a pre-existing tradition but it is difficult to tell what form this tradition would have taken or how extensive it would have been. In any case, the scribes who composed P and those who completed the final text of Exodus would have had scope to embellish any pre-existing source and shape it to their own ends, including adding material of their own creation. This allows room in Exod 13.17 – 15.21 for any trauma the authors or their community had experienced to manifest itself. A cursory reading of Exod 13.17 – 15.21 suggests it is not a direct depiction of the traumatising event; there is no mention of Babylon or of the destruction of Jerusalem. However, it may

105

⁷⁹ See particularly the exploration of the Reed Sea story as revenge fantasy in chapter 4.

provide an oblique depiction of this trauma by telling an unrelated story. Thus, the Reed Sea episode might still be described as a piece of survivor literature.

Alternatively, even if the authors of Exodus had no intention of expressing pain and grief arising from a trauma they or their community had experienced, trauma could still intrude into the text, unbidden, in the way described by Janzen (2012: 3-5). The context of the Pentateuch's composition leaves open this possibility as well as the prospect of a deliberate depiction of a traumatising event. A closer analysis of Exod 13.17 – 15.21 in chapter four will provide evidence as to which of these possibilities is most likely.

iii) Trauma informing Yehud's collective identity

The Pentateuch's folkloric characteristics do not make it inconceivable that the Reed Sea episode might have some basis in a real event, but the authors would have embellished this event with imagination and artistic flair. Paradoxically, the Pentateuch's function as national history makes this element of imagination more likely, not less so. In shaping a national history, the authors would have sought to emphasise their community's important values, over and above any literal account of events. ⁸⁰ And completing such a text in the nascent Yehud community would have helped to articulate a shared history and thus shape that community's collective identity, at a stage when such an identity may have been in question.

The Reed Sea episode contributed to the articulation of Yehud's shared experiences and values. Insofar as these experiences and values would have been overshadowed by shared trauma in the community's recent past, that trauma may have manifested within the text of

⁸⁰ This ties in with concepts of collective memory expounded by leading thinkers such as Halbwachs and Assmann, which are explored in chapter five.

Exod 13.17 - 15.21. By extension, trauma may have influenced the collective identity to which the text contributed.

Conclusion

There remains widespread disagreement on who composed the Pentateuch, when and where, and what source material the authors used. However, there are several points which command, if not consensus, then significant support among pentateuchal scholars. There seems to be a general agreement that at least some source material for the Pentateuch (usually referred to as P) was written during the Exile and some before then, even allowing for disagreement on the extent of this material. The Song of Moses (Exod 15.1-18) in particular is likely to have existed in some form, before the Exile. Similarly, the majority of scholars concur that the Pentateuch was edited and refined in the Persian period although, once again, they differ on how significant this editorial work would have been. The only scholars who disagree fundamentally with all of these conclusions are revisionists who date the composition of the Pentateuch later and tend to rely on spurious arguments about the text being deliberately composed in an artificially archaic form of Hebrew.

Other points in this discussion are more debatable, but a range of evidence allows us to draw reasonable conclusions. Literary-critical examination of Exod 13.17 – 14.31 suggests strongly that the text is composite and includes material from at least two different sources; linguistic analysis reveals that a significant quantity of source material is likely to have been written in the exilic period, at the latest; and attention to the socio-political environment of Persian-period Yehud and comparative analogies in the narratives of the wider Pentateuch leads to the conclusion that Yehud was indeed the context for large-scale reshaping and reimagining of the extant text, including the composition of some new elements. Research

into the role of scribes in the ANE supports the conclusion that such scribes would have been capable of this kind of creative work.

This context for the composition of the Pentateuch leaves the possibility of trauma influencing the text very much open. As regards the Reed Sea episode in particular, the events of the early sixth century might still cast a shadow over the text, despite not being directly described within it. In the next chapter, I investigate how trauma deriving from the fall of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile might have influenced the authors of Exod 13.17 – 15.21. I examine the phenomenon of the transgenerational transmission of trauma and how the scribes who reshaped the Reed Sea story in the fifth century might have been traumatised by the fall of Jerusalem, even if they did not directly experience the event. And I discuss to what extent the fall of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile might be described as truly traumatic.

Chapter 3 – The Reed Sea episode and transgenerational trauma

Since the Reed Sea episode underwent reshaping in Persian-period Yehud, the scribes responsible for this work are unlikely to have been directly traumatised by the fall of Jerusalem or by forced displacement to Babylonia. With the siege of Jerusalem ending in the city's destruction by the Babylonian army in 586 B.C.E., and a significant number of its inhabitants being taken into exile immediately afterwards, it seems unfeasible to suggest that even the hardiest Jerusalemites would have survived to see the completion and final redaction of the Pentateuch in the early-to-mid-fifth century. More convincing is the possibility that the Reed Sea episode (and indeed the Pentateuch as a whole) was composed by the children or even grandchildren of exiles.

In this chapter, I outline how the Persian-period reshaping of the Reed Sea episode could still have been significantly influenced by trauma arising from the fall of Jerusalem or the Babylonian Exile. I describe the phenomenon of the transgenerational transmission of trauma, explaining the origins of this concept, how such trauma can be passed on from a survivor to their children, and how this has been seen to affect the children of modern trauma survivors, especially Holocaust survivors. I next investigate Volkan's ground-breaking hypothesis of chosen trauma: how a traumatic event can have an enduring influence on a whole society for generations after the fact. Finally, I suggest how these aspects of trauma might have affected the scribes who reshaped the Reed Sea episode. But firstly, I will establish what grounds we have for believing the fall of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile to be traumatising events.

How traumatic was the fall of Jerusalem?

Needless to say, for any trauma to be present in Exod 13.17 – 15.21, it must have been produced in the wake of a traumatic event, and the deportations and final fall of Jerusalem in 586 B.C.E. fit this criteria. There is little disagreement on this issue among Bible scholars and archaeologists. Noll calls the sack of Jerusalem 'a bloody and excruciatingly painful end' (2013: 359). Schniedewind agrees, alluding to 'the fury of the Babylonian destruction of Jerusalem, Judah and the entire Levant.' (2005: 141). Likewise, Bustenay Oded holds that, 'The Babylonians caused havoc and devastation' (2003: 67). The only debate seems to be regarding the degree of violence enacted against the Jerusalemites by Babylon, with even scholars who downplay this violence still allowing for potentially traumatising destruction and upheaval.⁸²

Of course, Jerusalem finally fell in 586 B.C.E. only after a series of other incursions from Babylon in previous years. Any trauma arising from the 586 destruction of the city might equally be the result of the cumulative effects of violence and threats of violence to the inhabitants of the city, over the years leading up to it.

There are three particular sources of evidence which lead us to believe the fall of Jerusalem was traumatic:

i) The nature of siege warfare

Before Jerusalem was finally overrun, its inhabitants were subjected to a lengthy siege, lasting for eighteen months, according to the biblical accounts (2 Kgs 25.1-6; Jer 39.1-

⁸¹ Naturally, it is also possible that earlier deportations, particularly those of 597 B.C.E., might also have been traumatic (as argued by Crouch [2021: 66]). However, the available evidence offers a compelling case for the siege and fall of Jerusalem being especially traumatic, and I see no particular reason to suppose that the authors of P were deported in 597 rather than 586.

⁸² Barstad, for example, argues that it is unlikely that the Babylonian army would have destroyed the whole of Jerusalem, but still envisages areas of the city in ruins (2003: 8). See point *iii*) below.

2). Siege warfare, by its nature, will exhaust a city's population, mentally, emotionally and physically. This typically includes cutting off food supplies, so as to starve the enemy into submission, which is likely to have been the case for Jerusalem, isolated from the rest of the country by the surrounding Babylonian army (Middlemas, 2009: 175; Seevers, 2013: 256-258).

The psychological strain of a siege can be intense, with the city's inhabitants under a constant and protracted threat of violence and death, and often witnessing the deaths of loved ones. And once a city falls to a besieging army, it is usually then subjected to destruction and looting, with widespread violence and sexual assault against its inhabitants. Again, this is likely to have applied to Jerusalem. For example, Middlemas envisages 'a lengthy siege and military engagement that led to injury, death, starvation, sickness and sexual abuse.'

(Middlemas, 2009: 175; see also Vikman, 2005: 21-23, 29; Poser, 2012: 178-203).83

Frustratingly, while Assyrian reliefs and written chronicles provide graphic details of the extent of their brutality in siege warfare, Babylonian military records are perfunctory at best. The Assyrian reliefs and chronicles provide a united account of barbarism: impaling and flaying alive male enemies, mutilating survivors and burning children to death (Bertman, 2003: 267-268; Eph'al, 2009: 49-53; Grayson, 1976: 123-124). Beyond these grotesque punishments, reliefs and the annals of Tiglath-Pileser III both suggest that the Assyrians would often weaken the resolve of a besieged city by torturing and executing the inhabitants' relatives, within full view of the city walls (Eph'al, 2009: 52). In contrast to this litany of

⁸³ It is interesting that Middlemas identifies sexual abuse as a feature of Babylon's conquest of Jerusalem. The particular effects of the fall of Jerusalem on its female inhabitants are rarely discussed, so it is refreshing to see Middlemas bringing these issues to the fore. However, I am not sure on what grounds she makes this claim. Middlemas seems to assume that widespread rape is near-ubiquitous at the conclusion of a siege – which may very well be the case – but she has not shown conclusive evidence for this. Poser supports Middlemas' conclusions, pointing out the tendency (especially within Assyrian sources) to emphasise the feminising of defeated enemies as a mark of mastery over them, and the frequent use of rape imagery within ANE documents to represent the violation and despoiling of a defeated city (2012: 186-189). See also Lemos (2011: 389-391).

horrifying violence, a typical entry from Babylonian military records states laconically that Nebuchadnezzar 'put his [enemy's] army to the sword' and furnishes the reader with no further details (Seevers, 2013: 269-270).

However, in spite of the little extrabiblical evidence which directly describes Babylonian military practices⁸⁴, the nature of siege warfare as a whole makes it likely that the Jerusalemites would have been under protracted threat of death from the Babylonian army, and eventually subjected to significant levels of violence at their hands, even if the besieging forces were less brutal than their Assyrian counterparts.

ii) Archaeological evidence

The work of archaeologists supports the view of the Babylonians terrorising

Jerusalem. Stager (1996) examines the devastation of Ashkelon, a Philistine seaport, taking it as representative of Babylonian ferocity. In particular, archaeological examination of

Ashkelon shows evidence of large-scale fire, collapsed roofs and destruction of property such as 'ceramic jars' (Stager, 1996: 56). This evidence is enough to convince Stager of brutality on the Babylonians' part, of the total destruction of Ashkelon itself (1996: 63), and of a 'scorched earth policy [which] created a veritable wasteland west of the Jordan River' (1996: 64). Similarly, based on archaeological excavations of several sites attacked by Babylon,

Stern envisages the wholesale destruction of Jerusalem (2004: 274-276).

We should be cautious in assuming that the Babylonians' destruction of Ashkelon in 604 B.C.E. must have been repeated in Jerusalem nearly twenty years later, but it does not seem unreasonable to imagine that Nebuchadnezzar would have been equally brutal with both

_

⁸⁴ Of course, the Babylonians themselves experienced Assyrian brutality at first hand (Eph'al, 2009: 118-135). It would not be surprising if this experience had an influence on their subsequent military tactics. This can only be a matter of speculation, though.

cities. And Stager cites both the *Babylonian Chronicle* and the Hebrew Bible (Jer 47.4-5) in support of his position (1996: 56) – if both sources tally with the archaeological evidence as far as the destruction of Ashkelon is concerned, this adds to the credibility of the descriptions of the fall of Jerusalem within these sources.

The idea of wanton Babylonian violence is contested, however. Several archaeologists, working from the same or very similar data sets to Stager and Stern, reach differing conclusions. For example, Barstad concludes that the Babylonian conquest of Jerusalem would not have been as overwhelmingly violent as is often thought. He reaches this conclusion on the grounds that several other major Judaean cities were left untouched, and that there were enough survivors from Jerusalem to form several new settlements in the surrounding country (2003: 6-8). Furthermore, the complete destruction of Jerusalem would have been a huge task for Nebuchadnezzar, and not necessary to achieve victory. A more likely scenario, Barstad claims, is that the Babylonians would have burned the city gates, made breaches in the walls, and otherwise left the fabric of the city largely intact (2003: 8). Blenkinsopp reaches the same conclusion, arguing that 'the destruction [of Jerusalem] was neither indiscriminate nor total' (2002a: 187).

Many of the bones of contention between these two schools of thought centre on the finer points of archaeological practice and the interpretation of findings. It is difficult for any Bible scholar who is not also an expert archaeologist to comment on these disagreements. However, even Barstad and Blenkinsopp, despite their more cautious conclusions, assume a certain level of violence in the overthrow of Jerusalem: enough violence to be described as 'destruction' and to prompt many of the survivors to flee the city (Barstad, 2003: 8; Blenkinsopp, 2002a: 187). The available archaeological evidence thus supports the

proposition that the Babylonians enacted enough violence against Jerusalem to have traumatised its survivors.

iii) Biblical sources

The inherent problem in discussing the fall of Jerusalem is the paucity of the extrabiblical evidence available.⁸⁵ The work of Stager, Stern and other archaeologists is valuable but in short supply and scholars must therefore fall back on biblical accounts of Jerusalem's siege and destruction (Oded, 2003: 58): accounts which should not necessarily be taken at face value.⁸⁶

The passages of the Hebrew Bible which describe these events depict a harrowing experience and support the proposition of overwhelming violence. 2 Kings does not dwell on the death toll inflicted by the Babylonians, focusing more on the number of people displaced than the number killed (2 Kgs 24.14-16), but it makes it clear that prominent military and political leaders were put to death (25.18-21) and suggests that the city was plundered (25.13-17). 2 Chronicles is more graphic, describing Jerusalem's young men being slaughtered, its walls destroyed and the Temple and palaces burned to the ground (2 Chron 36.17-19). Lamentations goes further, envisaging the Babylonians as agents of YHWH's wrath and proclaiming: 'The Lord has destroyed without mercy all the dwellings of Jacob... he has killed all in whom we took pride... He has destroyed all its palaces, laid in ruins its strongholds' (Lam 2.2-5).

⁸⁵ Even Boyd Seevers, whose work focuses on military tactics and weaponry in the Ancient Near East, bemoans the 'little available information' on Babylonian military practices (Seevers, 2013: 268). While concluding that the available evidence points to similarities between Babylonian and Assyrian warfare, he admits that, 'The near absence of pictorial representations and of detail in texts makes any meaningful discussion of Babylonian weaponry most difficult.' (2013: 268-269).

⁸⁶ See e.g. Carroll (1998: 70) on unanswered questions over the Hebrew Bible's reliability.

Beyond the violence itself, biblical sources suggest that a famine resulted from the Babylonian conquest. 2 Kings 25.3 reports a severe famine and Lamentations 1.11 suggests food scarcity severe enough for survivors of the siege to 'trade their treasures for food'. Lamentations 2.20 even includes a gruesome reference to mothers resorting to eating their own children. A note of caution is advisable here, though: Lamentations contains several motifs common to the ANE lament form, including cannibalism and bodies littering the streets (Eph'al, 2009: 61-62, 130-131). We cannot assume it offers anything approaching a literal account of the siege of Jerusalem.

The biblical account of the destruction of Jerusalem is not entirely uniform. Ezekiel 33.24 mentions people living in ruins, suggesting it was possible for survivors to return to the city. Still, the great majority of biblical references to the event present the fall of Jerusalem as violent and terrifying for its inhabitants, and leading to conditions which made continued inhabitation of the city extremely difficult. Even if the majority of the city was left standing, if it was overrun by Judah's enemies, who caused sufficient upheaval to prompt the surviving citizens to flee and form new settlements elsewhere, this sequence of events can surely be described as deeply disturbing for the survivors.

iv) Summary

The fall of Jerusalem was, in all probability, harrowing, even if we assume the biblical laments exaggerate the extent of its destruction and violence. Given the usual nature of siege warfare, starvation, deaths of loved ones and the persistent threat of their own death would probably have been a reality for the inhabitants of Jerusalem. And archaeological findings from other sites raided by Babylon suggest that these sites were ransacked and razed to the ground – making it likely that Jerusalem suffered a similar fate. If there is documented

Babylonian brutality against other Judaean cities, how much more so would this have been the case against Judah's capital.

Even scholars who, like Barstad, are cautious of assuming the total destruction of Jerusalem, still envisage an overthrow of the city which would have been violent and terrifying to its inhabitants. The city may not have been entirely destroyed, but the violence enacted against it and its people would have been sufficient to devastate the city, traumatise the inhabitants and decimate the population, as the people who escaped exile did so by fleeing either to Egypt or to more rural areas of Judah. ⁸⁷ It is probable, then, that the fall of Jerusalem would indeed have been traumatic to anyone who experienced it.

How traumatic was the Exile?

If the question of the level of trauma caused by Jerusalem's destruction in 586 is problematic, matters are even less clear-cut when it comes to the extent of the trauma caused by the subsequent Exile. Quite simply, it's impossible to be sure of what life in exile would have been like for the deported Judaeans. However, we can form some provisional conclusions. The available evidence suggests that some of the Judaean exiles may have experienced living conditions within Babylonia which were more comfortable than is often thought. But we certainly cannot assume that all exiles would have lived comfortably, and recent scholarship on the subject of migration highlights that the forced displacement to Babylonia is likely to have been traumatic, in itself.

i) The nature of forced displacement

⁸⁷ For example, Barstad points to a large number of small settlements within Judah, established by survivors from the fall of Jerusalem (2003:8).

Forced displacement is an inherently disturbing and traumatic experience. The experience entails loss of home, land, possessions and income, and increased risk of sickness and death (Ames, 2011: 175-178). Once resettled, immigrants remain extremely vulnerable. Lacking financial resources, cultural understanding and recourse to familiar societal networks, they are vulnerable to extreme poverty, famine, disease and exploitation. Furthermore, none of these stressors takes place in isolation: a displaced person is likely to experience several cumulative traumas, deriving both from the experience of forced migration and from the circumstances which made migration necessary (Schweitzer *et al.*, 2006: 185).

Partly as a result of these immediate effects, displacement often overthrows the sense of identity for both individuals and entire communities (see e.g. Conroy, 2016: 1). Malkki's observations on Hutu refugees from Burundi, resettled in Tanzania, offer an especially illuminating example of how immigrants' identities must be renegotiated in their new circumstances. Hutus resettled in urban areas quickly assimilate into their host community, so as to ensure their survival and some modicum of prosperity but, to do so, they must be flexible in their identity: they avoid defining themselves in terms of their geographical origin and location, and especially avoid identifying as refugees. Their former Hutu identity is effaced (Malkki, 1995: 157, 199-201). This reflects a common issue for refugees: an inability to integrate with their host society often presents them with significant problems – both practical and psychological (Hynie, 2018: 300) – but assimilating involves a 'fragmentation of the self'; a crisis of identity with associated guilt, shame and anger (Conroy, 2016: 3).

In contrast, Hutu refugees settled within a camp – a homogenous community – respond to their diminished status and resources by increasing their dependence on one another, emphasising their commonality and therefore prizing their identity as Hutu.

22

⁸⁸ Ames goes on to point out where these effects can be observed in the books of Ruth and Jeremiah (2011: 178-185).

However, even as they increasingly assert their identity, they perceive it as being under intense threat, from native Tanzanians and from the 'moral pollution' of town-dwelling Hutus who assimilate with the local population (1995: 156, 202, 216).

Again, this response is indicative of common behaviour and attitudes among refugees. Maintaining cultural and familial ties can be a source of comfort for refugees, and this often prompts them to emphasise their culture and to gravitate towards others from the same cultural background (Abe, Zane and Chun, 1994: 132; Conroy, 2016: 26). However, when this cultural community becomes insular, it can amplify any perceived rejection and hostility from its host society and even provoke a sense of outright paranoia among community members (Bilgali, 2018: 94).

Regardless of the living conditions in Babylonia experienced by the Judaean exiles, it seems highly likely that the very process of being forcibly removed from their homes, displaced to a foreign context and resettled – with all of the upheaval and vulnerability this process entailed – would in itself have traumatised them. Furthermore, resettlement is likely to have given rise to a profound disturbance to the exiles' sense of identity (see e.g. Conroy, 2016: 1; Crouch, 2021: 5).

ii) Extrabiblical evidence

There is, if anything, even less extrabiblical evidence offering insights into the Exile than into late seventh/early sixth century Judah. ⁸⁹ For example, there has been much discussion of the Murashu archives, which suggest that individuals of Judaean descent achieved relative prosperity in Mesopotamia, occupying 'relatively important positions' and becoming 'fully integrated into the economic life of their society' (Coogan, 1974: 10, 12),

⁸⁹ e.g. Albertz (2003: 87) recognises this lack of evidence.

while still preserving at least something of their Judaean identity (1974: 7). Noll refers obliquely to 'Mesopotamian sources' (2013: 362) without specifying what sources he has in mind, although it seems most likely that he is referring to the Murashu archives, and Blenkinsopp and Schniedewind also mention them (see below).

Unfortunately, this evidence is far from conclusive. The documents in question are little more than 'filing labels' for banking records (Coogan, 1974: 7) – hardly extensive information on the plight of the exiles. And even if the information they contain had been more fulsome, the archives date from the Persian period, not the neo-Babylonian, so it certainly cannot be assumed that the apparently prosperous state of the exiles held true under Babylon as much as under Persia. As Schniedewind notes, these archives are of little direct relevance to the exilic period (2005: 147). Blenkinsopp also acknowledges that the Murashu archives actually tell us very little about the reality of exile (2002b: 417).

A more informative collection of documents has come to light since the early 1990s. The Al-Yahudu documents give more direct insights into the situation of Judaean deportees to Babylon, comprising around 200 administrative records which detail legal proceedings, marriage contracts and financial transactions (Alstola, 2020: 30). These sources relate to a period of time ranging from the late exilic period into the post-exilic period, so illuminate the lives and experiences of deportees from Judah and their immediate descendants (Wunsch, 2013: 249-250).

Several features of the Al-Yahudu documents are noteworthy. Firstly, they suggest that a significant number of the Judaean deportees were resident in a rural area of Babylonia, in a community consisting only of Judaeans: hence, the name of the settlement (Alstola, 2020: 2, 13). This would have allowed this community of exiles to maintain a strong sense of community and of ethnic and religious identity.

Secondly, in tension with this enduring sense of identity, it seems that at least some of the Judaean exiles integrated quite contentedly into Babylonian society. For example, one particular marriage agreement invokes Babylonian deities (suggesting these deities were not abhorrent to the Judaeans) and details a woman with a Judaean name (Kassaya) marrying into a Babylonian family (Alstola, 2020: 95-97). It may be that second or third generation exiles found assimilation into Babylonian society easier and more desirable than their ancestors. 91

Thirdly, the documents show that Judaeans were given land as part of a 'land for service' arrangement. That is, they were allocated land and permitted to cultivate it, in return for military service, forced labour and taxes (Wunsch, 2013: 253). While forced labour could be described as 'slavery' of sorts, it is distinct from chattel slavery. The Judaeans are referred to as 'šušānus' rather than as slaves, implying a status distinct from either slavery or fully free individuals (Alstola, 2020: 160). The Judaeans' ownership of land suggests greater freedom than that envisaged by scholars who see the exiles as confined to internment camps. Indeed, it appears that many ordinary Babylonians lived in very similar circumstances to the Judaeans (Magdalene and Wunsch, 2011: 127). 92

And fourthly, the documents show some Judaeans buying and selling, making use of the Babylonian legal system to bring their own suits (Magdalene and Wunsch, 2011: 124) and, at least in the case of Jehoiachin and several high-ranking officials, benefiting from generous rations (Alstola, 2020: 62-69). Although we cannot assume that all (or even most) of

⁹⁰ This is not surprising, given the common differences in attitudes between involuntary migrants settled in rural and urban areas. Settlers in rural areas tend to emphasis consistency in cultural praxis and religious observance; those in urban communities tend to be more pragmatic in integrating into their host society (see e.g. Crouch, 2021: 59-60, 91; Malkki, 1995: 154-157).

⁹¹ Psychological studies of immigrant communities support the suggestion that second generation immigrants integrate more readily than their parents into their host culture, and indeed identify with this host culture to a large extent (see e.g. Wiese, 2010: 144-145).

⁹² The land for service arrangement may have been in the interests of the Babylonian authorities, in that they would have increased the available work force, agricultural output and tax revenue, as well as preventing future unrest by allowing the monitoring of the Judaeans' activities (Alstola, 2020: 15; Ahn, 2010: 48).

the Judaean exiles would have prospered in these ways, the Al-Yahudu documents show that it was possible for the exiles to make money, to trade, to rise to positions of authority and to integrate with Babylonian society. The documents even show individuals with Judaean names buying and selling slaves (Magdalene and Wunsch, 2011: 119-121). Thus, it appears that some of the Judaean exiles, while still captive, enjoyed a significant degree of self-determination.

The Al-Yahudu documents therefore challenge the assumption that the Exile involved torrid living conditions and torment at the hands of the Babylonians. However, these documents speak only of a limited number of the deportees; they are silent on the experiences of the majority (Crouch, 2021: 72-73). It would therefore be unwise to treat the exiles (and descendants of exiles) referenced in the Al-Yahudu documents as representative of all exiles. Significant numbers of deportees from Judah were indeed housed in rural communities, but others (especially Jehoiachin and his retinue) were settled in urban areas. While Kassaya's marriage agreement suggests a willingness among the exiles to integrate into Babylonian society, other similar agreements suggest a far more insular attitude (2021: 103). The documents highlight examples of prosperity among the exiles, but there is no compelling reason to see such prosperity as the norm. The Al-Yahudu documents cast doubt on the extent of any trauma caused by living conditions in Babylonia, but the possibility of such trauma cannot be dismissed.

iii) Biblical sources

An alternative approach to investigating possible trauma caused by the Exile would be to begin with biblical sources which refer to the Exile, and then to fill any gaps in understanding by reference to extrabiblical material. The eminent and famously-conservative

Bible scholar John Bright favours this method (2000: 343). But even the biblical text offers scant material to inform our conclusions, and the passages which do address the Babylonian Exile do not offer a unified testimony on it being a harrowing experience. For example, Daniel, Tobit and Judith portray Judaeans apparently living contentedly in exile (Carroll, 1998: 69), and while Psalm 137 reveals the exiles' grief at the loss of Jerusalem and removal from their homeland, it does not explicitly mention harsh treatment of the exiles at the hands of their 'captors' (1998: 69). Bright concludes that while the exiles, 'were filled with bitter hatred for those who had brought them thither, and homesick longing for faraway Zion', they were able to settle in Babylonia, build houses and earn money (2000: 346-351).

Reliance on biblical accounts of the Exile is problematic, especially where these accounts present contradictory information. For example, 2 Kings 24:12-17 and Jeremiah 52:28-30 differ significantly on the numbers of Judaeans deported (2 Kings gives the total number of exiles as 10,000 or possibly more, depending on how these verses are interpreted; Jeremiah gives a figure of 4,600). Bright himself concedes that, even if one assumes the reliability of biblical material, 'dismaying lacunae and baffling problems remain.' (2000: 343).

It is possible that the Bible's silence on life in Babylon is itself evidence of trauma. Carr follows this line of thought, insisting that the Judaeans' experience of the Exile was intensely traumatic. While the fall of Jerusalem was cataclysmic, it is still described in biblical narrative, but the Exile itself is a black hole in the text: it must therefore (Carr argues) have been traumatic to the point of defying description: 'actual life in the Babylonian exile was truly traumatic "speechless terror." (2014: 74-75). As a result, although this experience was shattering to the exiles, they would not speak of it (2014: 75) and when it found expression in biblical literature composed following the return to Yehud, this trauma was a

tacit influence; never directly addressed.⁹³ This is an intriguing theory, and in step with observations from Caruth (1996: 29), Des Pres (1973: 675, 678-681) and van der Kolk and van der Hart (1995: 172) on how trauma survivors are often simply incapable of describing their experiences. Unfortunately, Carr relies on an argument from silence, which is inherently problematic.

The Hebrew Bible does offer some clues as to how their displacement from Judah might have affected the exiles. Jeremiah and Ruth both suggest 'violence that displaces, a diminishing of resources needed for survival, and the heightened morbidity and mortality that plague exile' (Ames, 2011: 183), Ezekiel's prediction that a third of the exiles will perish by disease and starvation similarly reflects the precarity of their position (Lim, 2016: 13), and Ezekiel's preoccupation with questions of history and of ethnic and cultic purity suggest a crisis of identity of the kind common to displaced people groups (Crouch, 2021: 39; Strine, 2013: 1-2, 188-191). However, as with extrabiblical sources, the Hebrew Bible gives us no conclusive evidence that the living conditions within Babylonia themselves constituted a traumatic experience for the Judaeans.

iv) Assyrian analogy

Given the dearth of evidence from the period, a common approach is to look to the Assyrians for an analogy of how captives were treated in the ANE. Albertz, for example, relies on this approach, positing that 25 percent of the population of Judah would have been deported, just as the same percentage of the population of Samaria was deported earlier (2003:

⁹³ Similarly, Janzen suggests that the Deuteronomist, while incapable of explicitly articulating the trauma he had experienced, would unconsciously have expressed this trauma in composing the Deuteronomistic History (2012: 4-5).

88-90). 94 If this were true, and there were indeed another 20,000 Judaeans killed in war, executed by the Babylonians or fleeing to Egypt, then the Exile might indeed have represented 'a severe bloodletting for Judah' (2003: 90). Not only that but, once exiled to Babylonia, the men of Judah would have been subjected to 'military service and forced labor' (2003: 86). However, Albertz relies on significant assumptions to reach this position, not least that Babylon would have treated their defeated enemies just as Assyria did. 95

Oded provides a detailed and nuanced investigation of how the Assyrians treated their conquered foes. Deportation of defeated peoples would have been a common practice for the Assyrians (Oded, 1979: 18) but, while deportees would initially have been treated harshly, permitted to carry only a bare minimum of property and provisions for the journey (1979: 35), they would, Oded claims, have found a fairly comfortable life in exile (1979: 87). Deportees would have been put to work to benefit the Assyrian empire – they may have been conscripted into the army or employed as craftsmen or labourers (1979: 48-49, 54), for example – but it was 'very rare' that they would have been treated as slaves (1979: 115).

This would suggest that the Judaean exiles are likely to have been comparatively well treated in Babylonia, too (indeed, the available evidence from the Al-Yahudu documents

⁹⁴ Albertz suggests 20,000 deported to Babylon, based on a 25% deportation of Israel to Assyria (2003: 90). This would therefore suggest a population of around 80,000 in Jerusalem, to begin with. Albertz offers no clear basis for assuming this population figure, or for a further 20,000 being killed or fleeing. Here, I am outlining Albertz's views rather than assuming these figures must be accurate. Clearly, this is the matter of vigorous debate and all scholars who express a firm view are relying on assumption to some extent.

⁹⁵ There is wide-ranging disagreement among scholars on the extent of the exile, in terms of the number of people deported. There seems to be a general scepticism now of the 'empty land' theory, with Carroll, Thompson and others dismissing the idea of total deportation to Babylon as a 'biblical trope' (Carroll, 1998: 64) or 'literary motif' (Thompson, 1998: 106), and even writers as conservative as Bright distancing himself from it (2000: 343-344). But this seems to be the limit of the agreement on this issue and I am not aware of anyone who has presented a number of exiles along with a watertight case for that number. Again because of the lack of available evidence, anyone venturing an opinion on the matter is forced to rely on assumption or guess work to some degree. For example, Blenkinsopp suggests only 'tentatively' that ten percent of the population of Judah was deported (Blenkinsopp, 2002b: 419). Römer gives a figure of between five and ten percent of the population, apparently on the grounds that 'most specialists' accept this figure (2007a: 108). Stern, one of Römer's archaeological specialists, envisages a 'sharply reduced' population but abstains from offering a figure (2004: 274), and Stager, another archaeologist, does likewise (1996: 63-64).

suggests this may have been the case [Wunsch, 2013: 252]), but it goes without saying that what may have been true of Assyria was not necessarily equally true of Babylon. In fact, there are weaknesses even in Oded's observations on Assyria although, to his credit, Oded acknowledges these weaknesses: the Assyrian royal inscriptions to which Oded refers are prone to hyperbole and often use set expressions, making it difficult to tell which deportation an inscription is referring to; administrative texts are often lacking in detail; and while Assyrian reliefs are fascinating artefacts, they require careful interpretation and may also be prone to hyperbole (1979: 6-11). Thus, the available sources on Assyrian deportations cannot be accepted uncritically, even as evidence of how Assyria treated their exiles, let alone of how Babylon treated theirs.

v) Summary

It cannot be said with certainty whether the Exile was especially harrowing for the Judaeans or not. There is little archaeological evidence from the neo-Babylonian period and even the Hebrew Bible is almost entirely silent on the realities of day-to-day life for the exiles. The little evidence which is available suggests that conditions within Babylonia might actually have been fairly comfortable, at least for some of the exiles, and that it would have been possible for some Judaeans to prosper. It could be argued that the Bible's silence itself suggests overwhelming trauma, which made it impossible for the biblical writers to convey the gravity of their experiences, but constructing an argument from silence is a precarious business. We cannot entirely dismiss the possibility that life in Babylonia was indeed horrendous for the displaced Judaeans, but there is not yet convincing evidence for that. This thesis cannot rely on the existence of trauma prompted by the Judaeans' treatment while in exile.

However, although life in Babylonia may not have been traumatic for the Judaean exiles, their sudden, forced removal from their homes to a foreign country is likely to have been. Displacement can, in itself, be deeply traumatising. As Malkki's study of Hutu refugees and Kamya's of modern African immigrants to America both demonstrate, displacement from one's home setting, transition to a new location and resettling in this new 'home' all place a psychological strain on the immigrant and a disruption to their identity – to the point of trauma – regardless of how comfortable or otherwise this new location might be (Malkki, 1995: 154-157; Kamya, 2007: 257). The same may well have been true of the Judaean exiles. Even if we assume comfortable conditions within Babylonia, captivity and removal from their homes would, in themselves, have been devastating for them (as Noll observes [2013: 360-362]).

Emblematic of these traumas, Psalm 137 expresses the grief of the exiled Judaeans 'when we remembered Zion' (v1) rather than when they reflected on any present suffering. Verse 3 makes passing references to 'captors... tormentors' (which may well be poetic hyperbole), but the emphasis of the whole Psalm is on lament and longing for ruined Jerusalem. The psalmist asks in verse 4 not, 'How could we sing the Lord's song while being tormented by our enemies?' but 'How could we sing the Lord's song *in a foreign land*?' (emphasis added). As Noll astutely notes, this Psalm expresses the pain of the exiles' loss of their home and loved ones, and their 'alienation' in an unfamiliar new location (Noll, 2013: 360). Regardless of the comfort or otherwise of living conditions in Babylon, the destruction of Jerusalem and their forced deportation were enough to leave the exiles with a profound sense of grief and – yes – trauma.

Following on from a siege, with its accompanying starvation, violence and death, a good number of the already-traumatised survivors were, with little warning, forcibly removed

from their homes to an alien nation and culture, and are likely to have experienced disease, food scarcity and the loss of vital support networks in the process. These twin traumas of violence and destruction at their enemies' hands and sudden displacement to another country were enough to leave an indelible mark on the psyche of the survivors.

What is transgenerational transmission?

If the exiled Judaeans were traumatised then, by extension, their descendants might have inherited this trauma. If so, the community which later 'returned' to settle in Yehud, including the scribes who reshaped the Reed Sea episode and the wider Pentateuch, would have been traumatised by the fall of Jerusalem and displacement to Babylonia, despite not directly experiencing either.

There is a growing body of psychological research which presents compelling evidence for trauma being passed on from one generation to the next. For the purposes of this chapter, I have focused on the work of three prominent and oft-cited psychologists, to give a summary of this research. Rachel Yehuda has published more than 250 papers, chapters and monographs on trauma and the neurobiology of PTSD; Anna Baranowsky is a clinical psychologist specialising in the treatment of PTSD, and is the founder and CEO of the Traumatology Institute; and Natan Kellermann, another clinical psychologist, is a specialist in the treatment and support of Holocaust survivors and their families.

The key features of the transgenerational transmission of trauma – and the reasons for accepting this idea – can be summarised as follows:

i) The Holocaust and Babylonian brutality

The impact of traumatic memories, not just on the survivor but on the survivor's children, has been well documented, particularly in studies of the children of Holocaust survivors. Individuals who did not themselves experience persecution, violence and threats of death at the hands of the Nazis, have nevertheless shown symptoms of depression, chronic anxiety and even PTSD (Yehuda et al, 1998: 841), with their parents' traumas as the likely root. The Holocaust has been given perhaps more attention in this respect than any other traumatising event, presumably because there are so many survivors and children of survivors to inform such studies, and because sufficient time has elapsed since the traumatising events for the survivors to have children and for the children to grow to adulthood – and even to have children of their own. This body of research is therefore particularly illuminating on the nature and characteristics of transgenerational trauma and on its relevance to children of survivors from the fall of Jerusalem. However, there are several studies available which explore the effects of trauma on the children of survivors from other events, especially experiences of combat. These experiences include the First World War (Ancelin Schützenberger, 2007), the Second World War (combat itself [Ancelin Schützenberger, 2007] and prisoner of war camps [Laub, 2012]), the Vietnam War (Harkness, 1993) and the recent conflicts in Iraq and Afghanistan (Pearrow and Cosgrove, 2009).

In a study of possible transgenerational trauma affecting the descendants of Judaean exiles, the Holocaust offers a harrowing but illuminating analogy. Survivors of the Holocaust and of the fall of Jerusalem experienced starvation, the loss of loved ones, violence (including sexual violence), a continual danger of death, the destruction of their homes and, finally, displacement. ⁹⁶ Naturally, one must be cautious in assuming that these events would have resulted in the same level of trauma in the Ancient Near East as in twentieth-century Europe,

 $^{^{96}}$ I outline how the Holocaust might function as an analogy for the Babylonian conquest of Judah at more length in chapter four.

but the violence and destruction enacted by the Babylonians against the inhabitants of Jerusalem must surely have affected the survivors profoundly: it is reasonable to assume that they would indeed have been traumatised by it (see e.g. Morrow, 2004: 80).

Attention to how the children of Holocaust survivors have been affected by their parents' experiences of similar violence, displacement and threats of death thus offers insights into the shadow cast onto the children of exiled Judaeans. However, I will also refer to studies focusing on the children of survivors from other traumatising events, as and when their insights are relevant to my argument.

ii) Traumatised parent, traumatised child

There is a case to be made for collective trauma being passed on from one generation to the next within a wider community. (Volkan has done especially interesting and ground-breaking research on this subject, of which more below.) But the clearest causal link between trauma in two generations is between individual parents and children. This link was first proposed in the 1960s, with regard to the children of Holocaust survivors specifically. A 1966 study by Rakoff, Sigal and Epstein noted that a disproportionate number of children of survivors were being treated at the psychiatric department of a Montreal hospital, and Winnik's 1968 study observed the prevalence of terrifying nightmares in children of survivors, influenced by their parents' memories of the Holocaust (Baranowsky *et al*, 1998: 250-251).

Since the sixties, more than 400 papers have been published on the transgenerational transmission of Holocaust-related PTSD (Kellermann, 2001: 257). There is therefore a substantial body of case studies and analysis which underpins the theory, and there seems to be broad agreement among researchers that trauma can be and is passed on from survivors to

their children. Baranowsky *et al* are more cautious in their conclusions than most researchers but even they venture that, 'There is evidence in the literature' to suggest 'a secondary PTSD syndrome... is being transmitted from one generation to the next' (1998: 247).

Although this conclusion seems safe, two caveats should be kept in mind. Firstly, the link between a parent's trauma and a child's potential trauma is 'seldom clear and linear' (Kellerman, 2001: 258). By no means all children of individuals suffering from PTSD will themselves develop PTSD, and among individuals who are affected by PTSD (both parents and children), the exact symptoms vary widely (Yehuda *et al*, 1998: 841-842). It is unclear, then, why some children of PTSD sufferers will develop PTSD themselves and others will not, and why PTSD manifests itself in particular ways in particular individuals. More fundamentally, a traumatised parent will not always pass on their trauma to their children.

Secondly, despite the extensive research already carried out into transgenerational trauma, there are still gaps in this research. Baranowsky *et al* are astute in pointing out that, at least at the time they published their findings, 'rigorous empirical studies' in the field were in short supply (1998: 247).

Both of these caveats can be answered. The link between a parent's PTSD and that of their child might not be clear and linear, but there is still sufficient data to support a causal link. As Yehuda *et al* conclude, the children of parents suffering from PTSD are 'significantly more likely' to develop PTSD in response to their own traumatic experiences (1998: 842-843)⁹⁷, with a particularly strong correlation between 'the intensity of intrusive thoughts about the Holocaust in both survivors and their adult offspring' (1998: 842).

If there is insufficient evidence to enable Baranowsky and her colleagues to offer more robust support to the theory of secondary PTSD in survivors' children, this may be due, at

⁹⁷ See also Silva *et al* (2000).

least in part, to the dating of the studies they reference. The great majority of their literature review focuses on sources published in 1990 at the latest, with only a handful of more recent sources. Whatever their reasons for excluding more up-to-date research, Baranowsky *et al* may have denied themselves access to important recent insights. In contrast, Kellermann references sources dating up to and including 2001, effectively drawing on ten years' worth of research overlooked by Baranowsky. ⁹⁸ Kellermann seems more convinced than Baranowsky of the reality of the transgenerational transmission of Holocaust-based PTSD, and his conviction appears to be enabled by his use of more recent research.

For all their caution, Baranowsky *et al* also offer two compelling reasons for accepting the hypothesis of Holocaust trauma being transmitted across generations. Firstly, they hold that it is not necessary for PTSD symptoms to be identical in parents and children, or for children's PTSD to be 'utterly debilitating', for the label of PTSD to be appropriate to the psychological condition of those children (1998: 249).

Secondly, Baranowsky *et al* refer to studies of psychotherapists being indirectly traumatised by their patients' accounts of their experiences, and of museum staff showing signs of trauma after handling artefacts from the Holocaust (1998: 249). Reflecting on those studies, they conclude: 'If trauma is so volatile as to leave its mark on a therapist who meets a client for a limited period of time, or museum staff who come in contact with historical material alone, we must ask what happens to the offspring of trauma victims who interact with these individuals on a daily basis.' (1998: 249).⁹⁹

⁹⁸ In his 2001 article, Kellermann cites six books and journal articles relating to the psychological problems of the children of Holocaust survivors, all dating between 1990 and 1996 inclusive (2001: 266-267). These sources would have been available to Baranowsky and her colleagues, too. Kellermann mentions a further five similar sources, dating from 1997 and 1998, which might also have been available to Baranowsky, depending on the vagaries of her publisher's deadlines.

⁹⁹ It could be argued that, while museum staff handling artefacts come into contact with material deriving directly from a traumatising incident, the children of traumatised parents instead contend with an absence – a 'great secret' which is never articulated – so the two experiences are not exactly comparable. But I believe the interaction with trauma of a survivor's child is more multifaceted than this, including generalised fear and

Thus, although it is not simple and clear-cut, there are sufficient grounds to accept a causal link between trauma in a parent and trauma in their child.

Models of transmission iii)

There are various means by which a trauma might be passed on from parent to child. Following Kellermann's framework, these means can be summarised into four general vectors: psychodynamics, a general sense of fear and anxiety, a dysfunctional family environment and biological transmission (2001: 260-266). None of these means of transmission seems more significant than the others, and more than one may be operational in any given family's context.

a) Psychodynamics

A survivor might pass on their trauma to their child without either the survivor or the child being conscious of it. As Kellermann explains, if a parent has not entirely worked through their traumatic experience, this trauma can spill over into their familial relationships and be absorbed unconsciously by their children (Kellermann, 2001: 260).

Alternatively, a child's trauma can be born out of a desire to connect with their traumatised parent. Aware that their parents themselves experienced a life-changing event, children of survivors sometimes attempt to form a connection with their parents by imagining scenes from the Holocaust (for example) and internalising the horror and suffering relating to these scenes (Baranowsky et al, 1998: 248). Albeck describes this process as 'empathetic

anxiety, a dysfunctional family environment and even a biological vector for passing on trauma, all of which contribute to the child's susceptibility to PTSD. So, a child of a survivor is, in fact, exposed to trauma to a far greater extent than a museum curator. Of course, this is exactly Baranowsky's point!

¹⁰⁰ Yehuda develops the possibility of a biological vector for transmitting trauma much further than Kellermann does. But it is interesting to note that Kellermann describes biological vulnerability to PTSD as 'a necessary but not a sufficient condition' for the transmission of trauma (2001: 266).

traumatization' (1994: 106). This tendency has also been observed in the children of veterans from the Vietnam War (Harkness, 1993: 637) and combat in Iraq and Afghanistan (Pearrow and Cosgrove, 2009: 79).

Ilany Kogan, a specialist in trauma, violence and genocide, also notices that the children of survivors often carry images and thoughts of their parents' traumatic experiences, which will often drive the children to 'enact' their parents' trauma (2012: 6-7). Usually, this enaction will involve internalising a parent's sense of self in order to try to help that parent to heal, but it might also mean that a parent (consciously or otherwise) imposes a particular task on the child, motivated by their earlier traumatic experience (2012: 7). For example, Kogan gives a case study of Daphna, who was outspoken in campaigning within Israel for Palestinian rights, despite this being a risky enterprise, thus re-enacting the danger of the Holocaust and fulfilling a desire to be a 'saviour' for a group functioning as a proxy for the Jews (2012: 7-16).

Thus, a survivor's trauma can be passed on to their child unconsciously, whether through the uncontrolled effects of the survivor's unresolved experience, or by the imaginative connection of the child. It is very difficult to differentiate between those processes, and both result in the transmission of trauma between parent and child, unconsciously.

b) Fear and anxiety

Alongside or instead of this unconscious transmission, parents often pass on trauma to their children through their explicit fear and anxiety. Because they themselves are keenly aware of the possibilities of extreme suffering, threats of death and persecution, and because they desire to keep their children safe from these dangers, many survivor parents become

fretful and over-protective. This is relevant to both Holocaust survivors (Baranowsky *et al*, 1998: 248) and combat veterans (Pearrow and Cosgrove, 2009: 77). More broadly, fear and anxiety can be transmitted through the cultural taboos and prohibitions which arise in a traumatised community (Kellermann, 2001: 261). Both of these scenarios apply to Holocaust survivors and, I believe, to survivors of the fall of Jerusalem.

Drawing on his unique dual expertise in psychoanalysis and history, Loewenberg maps precisely how transgenerational trauma deriving from the Holocaust affects the children and even grandchildren of survivors. ¹⁰¹ Aside from a chronic sense of depression, traumatic fear manifests in these children in 'risk aversion', a general sense of distrust, especially of those in authority, and a paranoid sense of persecution (2012: 57-58). In Kellermann's findings, this fear can even cause a fixation with death (2001: 259). The traumatised fear expressed by the survivors can thus result in a pervading sense of fear in their children.

c) A dysfunctional family environment

The family environment itself can be said to disturb the children of survivors. Just as the wives of combat veterans suffering from PTSD report higher than average instances of low self-esteem and lack of a sense of identity, their children exhibit 'impaired self-esteem, poor reality testing, hyperactivity, and aggressive behavior' (Harkness, 1993: 637-638). It appears that these women and children suffer detrimental effects on their mental health – and

¹⁰¹ Loewenberg produces work thoroughly grounded in the historical events around the Holocaust, while also paying close attention to the psychological symptoms of trauma in the subjects of clinical studies. He describes similar characteristics of how Holocaust-related trauma can affect the children (and grandchildren) of survivors, drawing his conclusions from clinical observations of his own patients. He also makes an oblique reference to 'Many of us... treating... the children and grandchildren of Holocaust survivors' (2012: 57), implying that his conclusions are informed by clinical observations from his colleagues, although he does not specify which colleagues he has conferred with, or how many.

even trauma – simply as a result of living with a PTSD sufferer (see also Pearrow and Cosgrove, 2009: 78).

Survivors' families (again, drawing on studies of Holocaust survivors in particular) tend to be close-knit and insular, with children at risk of being smothered by their parents' past and the horrors related to it (Kellermann, 2001: 262). The affected families can show several common characteristics, including 'risk aversion', 'distrust and anxiety', a desire to heal and rescue, lack of affection between family members and a sense of a great 'Secret' (Loewenberg, 2012: 57-58). 102

There is no doubt that these characteristics are dysfunctional, but it is less clear whether they can be described as distinctive to trauma. In Loewenberg's thesis, these phenomena derive from 'the burden of guilt and shame' carried by the parents, following their experiences of the Holocaust (2012: 56). For an individual subjected to entirely undeserved torment to take away a deep sense of guilt from their experience is grossly unfair, but has been well documented. For example, see Herman (1997: 53) and Des Pres (1973: 678). But, although the majority of the characteristics Loewenberg identifies are in step with those mentioned by other psychologists – Herman in particular (1997: 42-53) – in relation to individuals directly traumatised by an event, there are some in Loewenberg's list which could be ascribed to other sources. For example, 'ambivalence towards parents and grandparents' and 'Ambivalence regarding Jewish identity' (2012: 58) do not seem distinctive characteristics of trauma.

Also, although Loewenberg is largely clear in his argument that parents traumatised by the Holocaust can pass on their trauma to their children, he occasionally muddies the waters, I

¹⁰² Although, as Baranowsky *et al* observe, the parents' trauma is as likely to be expressed in 'obsessive retelling' as it is in 'all-consuming silence' (1998: 247).

assume unintentionally. For example, he includes a quote from Henry Krystal; himself a key thinker in the traumatic effects of the Holocaust:

The survivors form abnormal families and communities. The families tend to be sadomasochistic and affect-lame. The communities are laden with the burden of guilt and shame, and preoccupied with the past. The imprinting of inferior status can be perpetuated by a number of generations... (2012: 56)

Krystal's words convey the weight of trauma on families affected by the Holocaust, but there is ambiguity here: is the child of survivors traumatised by his/her parents passing on their own trauma, or by simply growing up in such a dysfunctional home environment? In assimilating Krystal's words into his chapter, Loewenberg does not clarify his meaning — indeed he raises as many questions as he answers.

It therefore remains unclear whether a dysfunctional family environment results in a parent's trauma being directly passed on to a child, whether simply growing up in this environment of abuse and neglect traumatises the child or at least makes them more susceptible to PTSD in later life (as Yehuda *et al* argue [2001: 734]), or a combination of both outcomes. This is a significant question for clinical psychologists but, as regards this thesis, the answer is less important. It can be said with some confidence that a trauma survivor will often create a dysfunctional family environment which, by whatever means, causes trauma in their children, alongside other psychological disturbances.

d) A biological vector

The above three vectors for trauma transmission relate to personal relationships between survivors and their children. There is also a possibility that trauma can be passed from parent to child biologically. A biological transmission would go some way to explaining the outcomes of psychological studies which suggest that trauma can affect an individual several generations after the traumatising event. For example, Ancelin Schützenberger

presents a case study of one woman suffering psychosomatic illness linked to her grandfather's experiences of combat in the First World War (2007: 167-170).

Yehuda and her colleagues have researched the possibility of biological transmission of trauma extensively. Initially, they ascribed the high instance of PTSD in survivors' children to a 'genetically linked risk factor for PTSD' (1998: 843). That is, some people are simply biologically predisposed towards PTSD. In his 2001 paper, Kellermann agrees with this position, suggesting 'a genetic and/or a biochemical predisposition' to trauma as to any other illness (2001: 263).

In subsequent publications co-authored with Linda Bierer and others, Yehuda adapts her position. In her 2000 paper, she observes low cortisol levels in a group of children of Holocaust survivors, concluding that parental PTSD results in low cortisol levels in children, and thus that low cortisol levels 'may constitute a vulnerability marker', making those children more susceptible to suffering PTSD themselves (Yehuda, Bierer *et al*, 2000: 1252).

Later, Yehuda takes this line of thinking a step further, suggesting that low cortisol level are not merely a marker of vulnerability to PTSD but an outcome of trauma and a biological vector by which trauma is passed from mother to child, in utero (Yehuda and Bierer, 2008: 124-126). This conclusion derives from a study of the respective cortisol levels of pregnant women exposed to the World Trade Centre attack on 9/11, and of their infant children. From mooting a possible genetic risk factor in 1998, Yehuda identifies low cortisol levels as a possible vulnerability marker in 2000, before finally suggesting that those low cortisol levels can be transmitted from mother to child, thus increasing the child's vulnerability to trauma.

Neither is this provocative idea limited to an isolated study. Another biological study concludes that physical effects of trauma might be transmitted on a cellular level, in a father's

sperm (Gapp *et al*, 2014). Kellermann suggests something very similar in a 2013 essay, referencing Yehuda's work as he suggests that trauma specific to the Holocaust might be passed on from parent to child epigenetically; that is, in genetic material other than the DNA sequence (2013: 33-39).

Yehuda and Bierer's study (2008) is limited to a very small sample and Gapp's to a group of mice, not human subjects, and Kellermann couches his hypothesis in very tentative language (2013: 34). A number of geneticists are more cautious about accepting the theory of an epigenetic basis for inherited traits; among them Daxinger and Whitelaw (2010) and Grossniklaus *et al* (2013). Still, Yehuda's work in particular seems to be generally well accepted and widely cited by her peers (c.f. Silva *et al*, 2000; Kennedy *et al*, 2007). The conclusions from Yehuda's, Gapp's and Kellermann's work, while not yet indisputable, are compelling enough to justify further research.

Respondents to Yehuda's 1998 article have also commented on the ambiguity of whether traumatic transmission is primarily biological or psychological, and asked for clarification (c.f. Napoli, 1999: 1838-1839), which does not appear to have been forthcoming yet. In replying to Napoli's queries, Yehuda suggests it would be desirable to study a cohort of survivors' children who had been adopted by parents not affected by the same traumatic experience, thus making it easier to make an informed judgment on whether any subsequent PTSD on the children's part would be due to nature or nurture (1999: 1839). Such research would indeed offer useful insights.

For now, although there remains some ambiguity over the precise mechanism of biological trauma transmission and over the extent of its influence in comparison to psychological vectors, the conclusions offered by Yehuda in particular are highly valuable.

These conclusions underline the enduring physical effects of trauma and how readily such trauma can be passed on from generation to generation.

iv) Summary

The body of available research presents a convincing case for the children of survivors inheriting their parents' trauma. The waters of transgenerational trauma remain muddy, though. There is sufficient correlation between expressions of trauma, epigenetic abnormalities and dysfunctional relationships in survivors and symptoms of PTSD in their children to support the theory that trauma can be passed from generation to generation psychologically and even biologically. However, the children of trauma survivors may be affected just as much by abuse at their traumatised parents' hands as by any inherited sense of trauma itself.

It is also possible that the grandchildren of survivors might also be affected in this way (Loewenberg, 2012: 57). There is not yet sufficient evidence to offer a watertight conclusion on this point, but more such evidence may become available as the grandchildren of Holocaust survivors grow up and more research is carried out into their mental state.¹⁰³

In summary, I would propose a new term – 'survivor's child syndrome' – to encapsulate the increased susceptibility to PTSD and other psychological problems among the children of trauma survivors. A survivor's child grows up steeped in trauma and its effects.

As their parent continues to grapple with the trauma deriving from their own experiences, the

transgenerational transmissions can be passed on over as many as fourteen generations: the descendants of survivors of the English Civil War might therefore be living with inherited trauma from the seventeenth century (Ancelin Schutzenberger, 2007: 156)! Not only is this extremely hard to demonstrate conclusively, but I'm wary of relying on a researcher who Ancelin Schutzenberger herself describes as 'not widely known' (2007: 156).

¹⁰³ This raises the (as yet unanswered) question of how many generations might experience their ancestors' trauma. Anne Ancelin Schutzenberger argues that the influence of trauma extends far beyond the second or even third generation following survivors. She cites an obscure study by J.R. Hildgard, which suggests that

parent cannot help creating a home environment which is dysfunctional or even outright abusive. Whether from this dysfunctional environment, from a sense of trauma transmitted from parent to child (psychologically or biologically) or from a combination of these, the child is left more vulnerable to PTSD and other psychological problems as they grow up. It seems impossible to separate those contributory factors and identify a single, overriding cause of the survivor's child's trauma, but perhaps that is not necessary. For the purposes of this thesis, it is enough to observe the compelling evidence for the existence of survivor's child syndrome. From here, we can ask to what extent this syndrome may be applicable to the authors of the Reed Sea episode.

Societies and chosen trauma

There is, then, a substantial body of work which provides evidence for trauma being passed on from directly-affected individuals to their children, and it remains a possibility that grandchildren could be affected in the same way. Nor is the transgenerational transmission of trauma confined to individuals: it can and does occur within entire societies. Vamik Volkan picks up the thread here with the notion of 'chosen trauma'. A society or 'large group' of any kind need not have directly experienced a traumatic event from their group's past in order to have been influenced – even traumatised – by this event. Such insights into a society's response to their ancestors' shared trauma are valuable in understanding how the children of Judaean exiles might have been affected by the previous generation's experiences of the destruction of their city and forced displacement.

Volkan has made significant contributions to the study of large-group psychology and chosen trauma, often reiterating his ideas in order to expand on them or explore one particular aspect of such study. His ideas are ground-breaking, influential and rooted in twenty years of

psychological research, especially studies of groups in conflict. Volkan's writings on group psychology are informed by his own extensive field research, but also have a solid basis in other scholarship, especially in Freud and Anzieu's work. For example, his observations of a group influencing an individual's behaviour and expecting a sense of allegiance and identity above and beyond the individual's sense of self (2001: 81, 83) derive from Freud¹⁰⁴, and his comments on a group's trauma being reactivated by a dominating leader (2001: 84, 93) echo Anzieu. However, Volkan's combination of trauma with large-group psychology takes his work beyond Freud and Anzieu and creates something truly original. His findings therefore deserve special attention.

To precis Volkan's findings, I have focused on his 2001 essay which encapsulates most of his important ideas, but I also refer in passing to some of his other work, as and when it clarifies elements of the 2001 essay.

i) Catastrophe and traumatised collective identity

Belonging to a large group of some kind – usually a nation, tribe or ethnic group – is common to all human beings, regardless of their location in time or geography (Volkan, 2014: 17). And an individual's sense of belonging to a large group forms an integral part of their 'core identity' – the elements most fundamental to the individual's self-image and self-

¹⁰⁴ In fact, Freud states the case more strongly. For Freud, the group influences the individual to the point of overriding the individual's free choice, with the intensity of collective emotion overwhelming the individual's critical faculties (1922: 6, 28). Similarly, Freud's argument that group dynamics are underpinned by a grasping for identity – by an oedipal desire for the mother and a simultaneous animosity and identifying with the father (1922: 60-71) – clearly inform Volkan's thesis that a large group will choose a leader they see as a father figure, idealising this leader even as they subconsciously resent him (2001: 81-82).

¹⁰⁵ According to Anzieu, the members of a group feel threatened and insecure in their identity without a 'dominating figure through the love of whom each member feels protected and united with the others' (1984: 121). A group depends on its leader and indeed cannot function without him, in the mode of a parent/child relationship (1984: 111). Of course, the danger inherent in this dependence on the leader is that a leader could easily abuse his position and manipulate his followers (1984: 132).

understanding (Volkan, 2001: 81). Therefore, a catastrophe for the group is also a catastrophe for the individual. This is especially true where an enemy is responsible for the catastrophe in question, because a sense of 'sameness' draws a large group together, and any characteristics outside this sense of sameness tend to be projected onto a common enemy (Volkan, 2014: 25-26). A defeat at the hands of the common enemy is a defeat of the characteristics a group holds most dear by those they most emphatically reject.

'After experiencing a collective catastrophe inflicted by an enemy group, affected individuals are left with self-images similarly... *traumatised* by the massive event.' (Volkan, 2014: 23 [emphasis added]). The catastrophic event may itself traumatise the affected individuals, in the sense that its suddenness and violence are impossible for the individuals to immediately grasp and comprehend fully, leaving them in a state widely recognised as 'traumatised' by psychologists. But beyond this, the individuals' sense of self, and therefore the large group's collective sense of self, is also fundamentally disrupted. For this reason, Volkan describes the large group's sense of self as 'traumatised'.¹⁰⁷

As a result of a disruption to its self-image, the large group may experience a range of consequences, including a sense of victimhood, humiliation and helplessness, survivor's guilt, a simultaneous demonising and envy of their oppressors, and a profound sense of mourning (2014: 23). A note of caution is wise here, though. Several of the consequences Volkan identifies are very common markers of trauma but he has not conclusively demonstrated that this trauma is due to a disruption in the large group's collective sense of self. Considering that

¹⁰⁶ Here, Volkan draws on Erikson's ideas of identity, combining them with Freud's thoughts on 'group psychology' and then considering how a crisis in the core identity of many individuals might have an impact on the large group as a whole (2001: 80-82).

¹⁰⁷ Volkan's use of this term is misleading and a little confusing, as it does not relate to 'trauma' as a set of diagnosable psychological symptoms. In this regard, he is in step with the concept of 'collective trauma' as distinct from 'psychological trauma', as argued by LaCapra (2001) and Alexander (2004a, 2004b). I explore this concept in chapter five, as it is tied very closely to collective memory.

events leading to a disruption of this kind tend to be sudden, violent and overwhelming, any 'trauma' experienced by the group cannot be separated from traumatic experiences arising from the event itself and cannot be attributed solely to an upheaval in the group's self-image.

ii) Passing on an unresolved sense of loss

Following an event devastating enough to traumatise an entire large group, this trauma is often passed on to the next generation. This involves not merely parents passing on their individual traumata to their children, but also the society as a whole perpetuating the unresolved loss and damage to its collective sense of identity. The generation directly affected by an experience of collective defeat, loss or humiliation will pass on 'the mental representation of the tragedies that have befallen the group' to the generation that follows (Volkan, 2001: 87). Significantly, Volkan also argues that, if the members of this following generation are also unable to fully come to terms with their group's losses, they will, in turn, pass on the trauma to the next generation and so on. Thus, a 'chosen trauma' is created (2001: 87-88).

Volkan illustrates his theory by referring to Serbia's defeat at the Battle of Kosovo in 1389 and its influence on the nation's collective consciousness for centuries afterwards. At this battle, Serbia was routed by Turkey and its prince, Lazar, captured and executed. This defeat was devastating and highly traumatic to Serbia (2001: 90-91), to the extent that the nation was unable to fully come to terms with this collective trauma at the time. The Battle of Kosovo and the death of Lazar were therefore preserved in Serbia's collective memory and passed on to the next generation and the next.

¹⁰⁸ Volkan refers to the same case study in his 1996, 1998, 2003 and 2014 publications, as well as the 2001 article I am examining here.

The proposition that a group's unresolved sense of loss can be passed on indefinitely is highly significant. If this is indeed the case, it offers an answer to the above question of how many generations might be traumatised by their ancestors' experiences: the trauma will continue for as many generations as the group's sense of loss remains unresolved.

iii) A myth and a marker of identity

As it is passed on from generation to generation, a chosen trauma becomes a marker of identity for the affected large group (Volkan, 2001: 88). To belong to this group is to accept the burden of trauma from the event which devastated the group in the past and continues to overshadow it in the present. Volkan observes that the term 'chosen trauma' might seem unfair, giving the impression that individuals somehow choose to be traumatised and humiliated. However, the trauma is 'chosen' insofar as it represents 'a large group's unconscious "choice" to add a past generation's mental representation of an event to its own identity.' (2001: 88). (There remains the question of whether anything chosen unconsciously can ever be truly 'chosen', but that argument is probably just a matter of semantics.)

The Battle of Kosovo began to assume this function for Serbia. Throughout Serbia's subsequent history, tales of the battle were passed on, taking on the status of myth. It was commemorated through songs, icons and folk tales, with Lazar remembered as 'Christ-like... martyr, victim and tragic hero', reinforcing Serbia's sense of victimhood (2001: 91). The factual details of the battle were gradually forgotten, trumped by what was necessary for Serbia to remember, in order to reaffirm its collective identity. As Serbia became more bellicose and focused on national self-determination in the nineteenth century, their memory of the Battle of Kosovo evolved in order to reinforce those emerging aspects of the national

character. Previously remembered as a martyr, Lazar was gradually transformed into a 'hero' and 'avenger' in Serbia's collective memory (2001: 91).

Volkan's thoughts converge with Jan Assmann's 109, as he describes the chosen trauma in terms strikingly similar to Assmann's concept of cultural memory:

The historical truth about the event is no longer important for the large group, but what is important is that through sharing the chosen trauma, members of the group are linked together. In other words, the chosen trauma becomes woven into the canvas of the ethnic or large-group tent. (2001: 88 [emphasis added]).

The literal historical events behind the trauma become obscured and the episode is remembered in such a way as to reinforce the large group's shared identity. 110 Recalling their mythologised past, including traumatising events, helps to bind a large group together, and to belong to the group is to take on this past.

iv) Reactivating the trauma

In times of threat, change or upheaval to a large group, its leader can revive and 'reactivate' a chosen trauma, so as to reinforce the large group's collective identity (Volkan, 2001: 88). Since large groups tend to choose leaders who reaffirm their shared identity, and to idealise such leaders once they have been chosen¹¹¹, the leader of a large group is in a position to exert a high degree of influence over the group. Appealing to the group's shared identity and reactivating a chosen trauma are therefore easily performed (2001: 82-84).

Serbia offers a powerful example of this phenomenon. During the late 1980s, Kosovan Serbs felt oppressed by the Muslim majority in the region; hence they perceived a threat to

¹⁰⁹ Although, somewhat surprisingly, Volkan does not appear to have been influenced by Assmann at all. Assmann is never referenced in Volkan's published works and he is entirely absent from the bibliographies. ¹¹⁰ I will bracket off the concept of collective memory for now, to return to it in chapter five. It offers some fascinating perspectives on how trauma can affect a society but an extended discussion of the concept at this point would be likely to confuse the issue of chosen trauma.

Volkan draws on Freud on this point, suggesting that a group turns its oedipal resentment and aggression towards a leader into loyalty, in the same way a son does towards his father (2001: 81-82).

their security and collective identity (2001: 92). In 1987, the Serbs were presented with an opportunity to express their grievances to their leader: Slobodan Milosevic, the then President of Yugoslavia. Milosevic was moved by their plight and became dedicated to the cause of Serb nationalism, following the meeting. In 1989, marking the 600th anniversary of the Battle of Kosovo, Lazar's body was brought back to Kosovo and Milosevic ensured it was taken on a tour of towns and villages, where it was greeted by crowds of mourners. He thus made a powerful appeal to Serbia's shared identity, reactivating the collective trauma of 600 years previously: 'Serbs began to feel that the defeat in Kosovo had occurred only yesterday, an outcome made far easier by the fact that the chosen trauma had been kept alive throughout the centuries.' (2001: 93). A time collapse was initiated.

When a chosen trauma is 'fully' reactivated within extremely stressful circumstances, the result is a 'time collapse', whereby the leader encourages connections between a past trauma and a present threat. In this way, the fears, expectations and anger related to the chosen trauma are brought into present, and the historical and contemporary adversaries are confused. Lingering desire for revenge and for regaining what the large group lost in the past becomes directed at the contemporary enemy (2001: 89).

Vowing not to allow Serbia to be defeated again as it was in 1389, Milosevic continued to stir up nationalist sentiments, including erecting a monument to commemorate the Battle of Kosovo, inscribed with Lazar's call to fight the Turks. Serbian rhetoric increasingly threatened the return of the Ottoman Turks, who became conflated in the national consciousness with Bosnian Muslims (2001: 93-94). By means of this time collapse, initiated by their leader, the chosen trauma from Serbia's past was brought vividly into its present, and the nation's fear, anger and desire for revenge was brought to bear on its contemporary

enemy. The subsequent ethnic cleansing and systematic rape of Bosnian Muslim women were typically sadistic outcomes of a traumatic time collapse (2001: 89).

v) Summary

The concept of chosen trauma is valuable because it highlights the enduring impact of a disaster on a society, even hundreds of years later. As the Serbian case study illustrates, an upheaval from the distant past can still feel (or be made to feel) extremely raw in the present. This seems in step with the above studies on transgenerational trauma passed on from a survivor parent to their child. What is more, taken together, these two phenomena give us good reason to take seriously the prospect of trauma from the fall of Jerusalem and displacement to Babylonia influencing the Yehud community, even a hundred years after the fact.

The stumbling block in Volkan's argument is his use of the word 'trauma'. In his understanding, 'trauma' seems to mean a collective sense of loss or a disturbance to a group's collective identity, rather than psychological trauma (as Herman articulates it). He is not alone in this regard. LaCapra (2001) and Alexander (2004a, 2004b) advance similar arguments, differentiating between 'psychological trauma' (the complex of clinical and psychological effects already explored at length within this thesis) and 'cultural trauma' (the effects of a disaster on a group's collective identity). I find this dichotomy confusing and misguided. The so-called 'cultural trauma' is in fact almost indistinguishable from 'collective memory', as outlined by Assmann and Halbwachs. I discuss this question in more depth in chapter five, as part of my exploration of collective memory and its relevance to trauma within the Reed Sea episode.

Nevertheless, this does not preclude a large group being influenced by an element of transgenerational collective trauma, in the conventional psychological sense. Volkan's use of the word 'trauma' might be confusing, but his arguments could still hold true for psychological trauma.

Transgenerational transmission in biblical studies

My thesis comes in the context of several existing studies of transgenerational trauma within biblical texts. Several of the prophetic books have already been associated with transgenerational trauma, and even the Deuteronomistic History as a whole may bear a traumatised watermark, deriving from the experiences of the Deuteronomist's parents and community.

Bible scholars have identified several particular characteristics of texts composed by the generations following the Judaean exiles: 112

i) Sense of victimhood

Noting that a survivor may create 'secondary victimization and stigmatization' by passing on stories of trauma to his/her children (2004: 82), Morrow extrapolates that Judaean exiles would have passed on a sense of victimisation to their children, and that victimhood, rejection by their deity, and trauma would have become part of the shared identity of second-generation exiles (2004: 82). Regardless of how harrowing the exile and the fall of Jerusalem

children of survivors from the fall of Jerusalem, but it is possible that grandchildren of survivors may have been involved. Notwithstanding this further removal from the generation directly affected by the traumatising event, the available clinical research leaves open the possibility that the grandchildren of survivors may be affected by transgenerational trauma, just as the children are.

¹¹² In my view, the final redaction and reshaping of the Pentateuch is most likely to have been composed by children of survivors from the fall of Jerusalem, but it is possible that grandchildren of survivors may have be

were in reality, 'the narrative constructed around' the experience would have cemented this aspect of Judaean collective identity (2004: 82).

Morrow reaches this conclusion by means of comparative analogy; drawing on the results of psychological studies of modern day refugees. In particular, Morrow refers repeatedly to Guus van der Veer's studies, based on treatment of refugees in the Netherlands in the 1990s. Having established this model of psychological trauma among refugees, Morrow then transposes that model onto Judaean exiles in Babylonia, using Second Isaiah as a source of evidence as to the exiles' state of mind. Comparative analogy is a long-respected method of analysis within the social sciences, but van der Veer's refugees originate primarily from southeast Asia and Morrow offers no clear discussion of the culture and context from which those refugees came. This makes it harder to say to what extent the refugees' context is congruent with that of the Judaeans in exile. It weakens Morrow's argument.

Nevertheless, based on evidence from within the text of Isaiah, it seems reasonable to argue that the author's audience, largely second-generation exiles¹¹³, appear to have exhibited: 'depression... low self-esteem... difficulties in task completion... and passivity' (2004: 82-83). The laments and 'proclamations of salvation' in Isa 41.8-20, 42.14-17, 43.1-7, 16-21ff emphasise the people's helplessness, victimhood and lack of agency (2004: 82-83).

Morrow is perhaps the earliest example of a Bible scholar dealing with transgenerational transmission. His essay would have been stronger if he had drawn clearer parallels between the comparative contexts of van der Veer's modern day refugees and the exiled Judaeans but, even so, he does enough to affirm that not only is transgenerational

149

-

this thesis.

¹¹³ Morrow assumes a date of c540 B.C.E. for the composition of Second Isaiah. He also assumes that life expectancy for the exiles would have been around 40 years. Based on these twin assumptions, he concludes that few of the living exiles would themselves have been deported from Judah (2004: 82). It is difficult to refute this argument without detailed anthropological study of life expectancy in the ANE, which is beyond the purview of

transmission a genuine phenomenon, it is applicable to the Hebrew Bible. In so doing, he helps lay the foundation for the other Bible scholars who have explored the subject since.

ii) Guilt and shame

An element of survivor's guilt can be seen in various biblical texts, especially the major prophets. In Isaiah, the people's depression and sense of victimhood is presented as a result of their guilt and shame. They are responsible for their own plight because of their sinfulness (Isa 42.24-25, 43.27-28, 44.22, 47.6ff) and shame has become bound up with their very identity (53.1-3) (Morrow, 2004: 84). The narratives of trauma, defeat and rejection passed on by the previous generation condemned the second-generation exiles to 'carry their parents' shame as those judged and rejected by YHWH.' (2004: 85). This self-blame and suffering is embodied in the suffering servant, as well as in the figures of Jeremiah and Ezekiel, as Carr suggests (2014: 80-89).

What is more, a deep sense of guilt is also in evidence in the book of Exodus. Within Exodus, Israel is depicted as complaining, defeatist and recalcitrant: chosen by YHWH but without any quality that makes the people inherently better than any other nation. Indeed, Exodus 'seems to stress the unusually rebellious and obstinate character of Israel', and this character eventually drives YHWH to 'murderous rage' (Carr, 2014: 124-125). Israel is thus portrayed as being responsible for YHWH's anger and punishment (c.f. Exod 32.25-35).

iii) Expression in unrelated stories

Transgenerational trauma from the fall of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile may have found expression within the Hebrew Bible, in oblique references or even in the guise of unrelated stories. Caruth proposes that a traumatic experience might be so overwhelming as to

be impossible to directly articulate, even in writing, and that the best a survivor might achieve is to tell a story about the experience without describing the event itself (1996: 27-29). For example, this trend can be seen in literary responses to the Hiroshima bomb, which are frequently imaginative rather than descriptive of literal events (Lifton, 1991: 408, 450). In the same way, it is possible that some biblical narratives, including the Reed Sea episode, might be a recapitulation of a traumatic event, expressed within an apparently unrelated story. And this may apply to the descendants of trauma survivors, as well as to survivors themselves, as Smith-Christopher mentions (2014: 237).

Several biblical narratives can be understood in this light. Daniel, Esther and Judith may well be fictional figures but their stories express significant experiences – particularly traumatising events – from the recent history of the authors' community, as well as from the authors' own lifetimes (Smith-Christopher, 2014: 237-238). Similarly, the book of Micah shows a sudden shift in theme and tone between chapters 3 and 4, which can be ascribed to an extended period of time elapsing between the two chapters being written. The very same trauma which informs the violence and upheaval of chapters 1-3 is still present in chapters 4-5, but the nature of the authors' inherited trauma did not permit them to describe the traumatising event directly: trauma lurks in the background of the text, shaping its theme and tone without the root of the trauma being apparent (2014: 237). Indeed, this might be an outworking of chosen trauma, in the mode outlined by Volkan, as much as of trauma passed on individually from parent to child (2014: 234).

Transgenerational trauma is difficult to detect in a piece of literature, exactly because the traumatising event is so often expressed indirectly (Smith-Christopher, 2014: 238). This makes its presence frustratingly difficult to prove. Certainly, Smith-Christopher has not conclusively proven that transgenerational trauma influenced the composition of Micah, nor

of Daniel, Esther or Judith, and it appears that conclusive proof is not his goal. His approach seems to be more investigative than conclusive. Beginning from a point of dissatisfaction with the often detached attitude of Bible scholars, Smith-Christopher seeks to redress the balance by taking seriously the likely psychological impact of violent and unsettling events in the recent past of biblical authors (2014: 229, 237-238). He adopts comparative analogies from twentieth century traumata and atrocities, mapping the impact of such events on their survivors onto similar events in the ANE, and applying insights from this exercise to the study of Micah, in particular (2014: 224-227). The outcome is a heuristic outline of how a trauma-informed reading of Micah would affect our understanding of the text.

Thus, it remains possible that the Hebrew Bible includes examples of transgenerational trauma, with the roots of these traumata expressed obliquely. But this is a plausible argument, not a proof, and can be no more than a plausible argument as long as the trauma influencing the text is latent rather than explicit. However, applying this theory to the Reed Sea narrative might still be a fruitful exercise. If we read the text in light of the theory (suspending questions over to what extent one can prove the influence of a latent trauma), we can then ask whether these results are in step with other studies of literature produced in the wake of a trauma. Taken in conjunction with less speculative markers of trauma, this will help us arrive at informed conclusions over the influence of trauma from the fall of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile on the composition of the Reed Sea episode.

iv) Meaning making

This line of argument can be taken further. A biblical text might be not only an oblique manifestation of transgenerational trauma; it might be composed out of a desire to come to terms with that trauma and find meaning within it. As Claassens puts it: 'Trauma

needs to be interpreted – past traumatic experiences must be reframed and organised in terms of some sort of meaningful narrative that may help to reconstitute a self' (2020a: 2). She examines several biblical texts in this light, including the story of Rachel, Leah, Bilhah and Zilpah in Gen 30, arguing that such texts enable both the storyteller and the reader to recover from trauma, to heal, to become more resilient and to reframe their sense of self (2020a: 155-157).¹¹⁴

Taking this argument further, Janzen argues that the entire Deuteronomistic History bears the watermark of trauma from the fall of Jerusalem, and exists to help the authors' community come to terms with this trauma. The text places 'the siege, famine, mass death, destruction of Jerusalem, and forced migration to Babylon within an ethical framework that attempts to make sense of this trauma that the exilic¹¹⁵ readers have undergone.' (2012: 3).

A traumatised narrative brings an experience of past trauma into the present and keeps it there. The trauma, a 'constantly repeated past' becomes inescapable in the present and preserved for the future (2012: 42). ¹¹⁶ But if that prospect seems oppressive, a traumatised narrative can be a positive force, forming and defining the affected community and enabling them, ultimately, to come to terms with the experience which traumatised them: 'traumatic narratives... can be reworked by the social group in which they are spoken in order to appropriate them into pre-existing communal narratives... to take an experience that is not believable or understandable... and rework it into something that is.' (2012: 42). So, as an

¹¹⁴ Claassens begins from a slightly different standpoint from me. While I am arguing that Exod 13.17-15.21 manifests trauma experienced by its authors, Claassens focuses on trauma experienced by the characters within biblical narratives. Still, these characters themselves move towards healing and a clearer sense of meaning and identity, and Claassens seems to be arguing that readers whose experiences mirror those of the characters might find a trauma narrative useful for the same purposes.

¹¹⁵ Janzen begins by implying that Dtr was composed and read during the Exile, but then suggests that the text was created by a child of survivors from the fall of Jerusalem (2012: 3-4). Perhaps he envisages DtrH being born in Babylon and still being there when he did his authorial work.

¹¹⁶ Chapter five draws out the contrast between 'acting out' and 'working through' a trauma, and how working through can help to break the repetitive cycle of trauma.

extension of the idea that a traumatising event can be articulated through telling an unrelated story, existing narratives can be adapted to not only express traumatised pain but to make sense of it. Crafting a traumatised narrative can be an exercise in making meaning, helping a community to heal.

This meaning making is complicated, however. While Dtr as a whole constitutes a 'master narrative', outlining how Israel and Judah's apostasy forced YHWH to give them over to their enemies, in order to punish them and ultimately redeem them, there are moments within the text which clash with this neat and orderly explanation. At these moments, uncontrolled trauma intrudes into the master narrative. For example, Josiah is not rewarded for turning his nation back to YHWH, and Manasseh is not punished for his disobedience. Moses is punished for unspecified sin, while Joshua is not, although the reader has no reason to believe Joshua is any less guilty. Fidelity to YHWH is not rewarded, disobedience is not punished, and the deity seems inconsistent in whom he chooses to punish and pardon (2012: 62-63, 78-79). While DtrH seeks to explain the fall of Jerusalem and the Exile as the work of a just, righteous and all-powerful deity, these intrusions call that explanation into question (2012: 47, 59). While traumatised narratives can be bent into a shape which articulates a logical meaning behind the author's suffering, unprocessed and unassimilated trauma can still burst into the text, unbidden by the author, and subvert the text's overarching purpose.

Crucially, Janzen suggests that Dtr was composed by a descendent of survivors from the fall of Jerusalem, rather than survivors themselves. The author¹¹⁷ would have been surrounded by family members and indeed a wider community who had experienced the destruction of Jerusalem, and would therefore have been profoundly affected by their trauma (2012: 4). The author would therefore have inherited trauma, from his family, his community

¹¹⁷ He uses the singular form, apparently assuming there was only one author of Dtr.

or both, and this secondary trauma is likely to have manifested itself in the literature he created. Janzen therefore arrives at conclusions which echo Morrow and Smith-Christopher.

Difficulties arise with this hypothesis when Janzen begins to argue that, because trauma is often latent in survivors' offspring (and even in survivors themselves), trauma is not in those cases directly addressed by the literature affected individuals produce. Instead, trauma is evidenced by 'gaps or absences' in the text (2012: 5). If trauma is evidenced by an absence, this raises the question of how the reader can detect there is something missing. But allowing for that caveat, this hypothesis is illuminating. It demonstrates that both Dtr's master narrative and its intrusions can be ascribed to transgenerational trauma: the master narrative seeks to explain why the traumatising event took place; the intrusions manifest raw, unassimilated and enduring trauma. A biblical text can thus communicate trauma – even transgenerational trauma – through forging rational meaning and through cries of unresolved anguish.

v) Gaps in existing research

The application of transgenerational trauma to biblical texts is still in its infancy and, at this stage, there are key indicators of trauma which have not yet been commented upon as markers of transgenerational trauma within the Hebrew Bible. The most obvious examples of such symptoms are extreme and enduring fear, and anger and desire for revenge. However, these characteristics have both been noted within biblical texts as indicators of simple trauma. It would not be unreasonable to suggest that these same characteristics might indicate transgenerational trauma, depending on when the authors were alive and working.

Trauma will often cause extreme and enduring fear in a survivor. Indeed, this fear might even be described as 'speechless terror'. Psychologists (such as van der Kolk and van

der Hart [1995: 172] and Herman [1997: 33, 46]) and literary theorists (such as Caruth [1996: 29] and Des Pres [1973: 675, 678-681]) comment on how trauma survivors often experience extreme fear; fear which can be so overwhelming that the survivor is rendered simply incapable of describing those experiences. This speechless terror has been linked with the Hebrew Bible, too. O'Connor envisages this kind of terror within the book of Jeremiah, with its repeated references to fear and the prophet's apparent struggle to articulate what he has experienced (2011: 21-24).

More broadly, the Hebrew Bible as a whole has been described as affected by speechless terror. Although the fall of Jerusalem is described in several biblical accounts¹¹⁸, the Hebrew Bible is notoriously silent on the subject of the Babylonian Exile. The Exile is 'a black hole in the biblical tradition' as Carr puts it (2014: 74). Since the Bible is silent on the realities of life in Babylon, Carr argues that this life must have been traumatic to the point of defying description, creating 'speechless terror' in those subjected to it (2014: 74-75). Therefore, although this experience was shattering to the exiles, including those who (in Carr's view) composed the majority of the Hebrew Bible, this trauma remained a tacit influence; never directly addressed (2014: 75).

This argument has several weaknesses. Firstly, we cannot assume the Exile was inherently traumatic, as I discuss above. Secondly, this proposition of 'speechless terror' seems to rely on an argument from silence. And thirdly, if descriptions of the Exile are absent from the Hebrew Bible, this may have been for any one of several possible reasons: for example, its authors simply might not have felt the Exile would be interesting or important for their readers, or they may have wished to directly erase the Exile from the nation's collective memory by striking it from the official national history.

¹¹⁸ The event itself is described in 2 Kings, 2 Chronicles, Jeremiah and Ezekiel, and its aftermath in Lamentations.

Profound fear and even speechless terror are assuredly common markers of trauma and can be transmitted to the children of survivors. However, there is a gap in the existing research in terms of presenting a case for a biblical text being influenced by extreme fear arising from transgenerational trauma. And the argument for speechless terror within the Hebrew Bible, even on the part of individuals directly affected by traumatising events, is not yet convincing.

Perhaps the clearest gap of all within the application of transgenerational trauma to biblical texts is attention to anger and desire for revenge. Extreme anger is well-documented in patients seeking psychological help in the aftermath of traumatic events (c.f. Herman, 1997: 189), and is a common feature of survivor literature (Tal, 1996: 7), not to mention biblical texts supposedly composed by trauma survivors (Garber, 2011: 320). But there seems to be a gap in research, in terms of anger arising from transgenerational trauma, within a biblical narrative.

I am surprised that this marker of trauma is not mentioned in Morrow's study of transgenerational trauma in Second Isaiah. The book contains passages which could well be interpreted as expressing rage on the part of the writer, most notably the vitriolic account of Babylon's destruction in Isaiah 47. I can only assume that, in a short article, Morrow preferred to focus on symptoms of trauma which he felt came across more strongly than anger in Second Isaiah. Or perhaps he envisages rage as being an extension and outworking of the survivor's sense of guilt and shame (2004: 84-85). Nevertheless it seems peculiar that he has omitted any mention of anger or desire for revenge from his essay.

vi) Summary

Some valuable and insightful work has already been done in applying the concept of

transgenerational trauma to biblical texts. At the same time, there is still fertile ground for exploring further how the Hebrew Bible may have been influenced by transgenerational trauma. My study of Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 builds on the research already published, while also touching on markers of trauma not previously associated with transgenerational transmission with regard to a biblical text.

Implications for the Reed Sea episode

Despite the significant length of time between the fall of Jerusalem and the likely date for the final reshaping of the Reed Sea story, it is very much a live possibility that trauma from this event influenced the authors and their text. We have seen that the children and even grandchildren of survivors often suffer from PTSD and other psychiatric disorders, and we must take seriously the prospect that the authors of the Pentateuch experienced transgenerational trauma of the same kind. We cannot know whether this trauma was the outcome of biological transmission, psychodynamics, pervading parental anxiety, abuse arising from a dysfunctional family environment or a combination of these factors. But that is almost immaterial. Their parents' and relatives' suffering and trauma must have had an effect on the authors of the Pentateuch. Whatever its precise cause, they are likely to have suffered from survivor's child syndrome.

Moreover, the authors may have inherited a 'chosen trauma' arising from the shock and upheaval suffered by their whole community, as a result of the fall of Jerusalem and displacement to Babylonia. As the Reed Sea episode forms part of the book of Exodus, an articulation of Israel's origins, it would hardly be surprising if it included an expression of the shared pain in the community's recent past and indeed an uncontrollable intrusion of their shared trauma. As the returning exiles settled in Yehud and sought to reaffirm their collective

identity through a written record of their shared memories¹¹⁹, a story of a crushing victory over a foreign oppressor would have helped them reinforce their identity as chosen, set apart and protected by YHWH. Perhaps, in this way, Egypt functions as a proxy for Babylon in Exodus 13-15 and through this proxy, Israel's desire for revenge against their recent oppressors is, to a degree, fulfilled. This would go some way to explaining the scale of the violence wreaked against Israel's enemies by its deity within the Reed Sea episode.

The model of time collapse proposed by Volkan does not fit perfectly in this context. It is not impossible that the Reed Sea episode in Exodus is based on an ancient myth and that the authors intended to portray their enmity against Babylon in light of that myth, but a time collapse typically requires a charismatic leader to reactivate a trauma from a society's distant past, and no such charismatic leader is obvious within the Yehud community. Although Exodus 13-15 presents Moses as a national hero comparable to Serbia's Prince Lazar, Yehud has no clear equivalent to Slobodan Milosevic.

Notwithstanding this, the concept of chosen trauma may still be applicable to the Reed Sea episode, insofar as it highlights the text's potential influence by the collective trauma of the community in which it was produced. For the Yehud community, seeking to articulate and preserve its sense of shared identity, a collective trauma could have offered a rallying point; a marker of identity of the kind Volkan proposes.

Thus, if Exodus 13.17 - 15.21 shows indicators of trauma, these indicators can reasonably be ascribed to trauma directly experienced by the authors of P, to transgenerational trauma inherited by the scribes who reshaped the text in the Persian period, or to a chosen trauma of the shock and upheaval suffered by the whole community. In chapter four, I

 119 Chapter five explores the connection between trauma and collective memory, and how this intersection might have influenced the content and purpose of Exod 13.17 – 15.21.

¹²⁰ It is possible that Ezra might fulfil this role, but there is not a great deal of biblical evidence to support this. See chapter 4, *ii*) *Anger and desire for revenge*, point f).

highlight specific elements within Exod 13.17 – 15.21 which could be designated as markers of trauma. Based on these markers, I demonstrate that the Reed Sea episode bears similarities to other examples of survivor literature and that there is thus good reason to believe it belongs within the same category. Conclusive proof of transgenerational trauma within any text remains elusive. However, the context of the Reed Sea episode's composition and the enlightening clinical research into the nature of transgenerational trauma, when combined with markers of trauma within the text itself, form a compelling case for transgenerational trauma influencing the Reed Sea episode.

Chapter 4 – Reading Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 through the lens of trauma

Building on the foregoing exploration of trauma and its relevance to the composition of the Reed Sea story, this chapter will focus on a close reading of Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 and highlight elements of the text which display common markers of trauma. I will first identify these trauma markers, drawing on six common features of survivor literature created in the wake of modern traumatic events. Clearly, these markers of trauma cannot simply be lifted from a modern context and dropped, unquestioningly, into an ancient one, so I will support this approach by showing how and why an example of modern trauma – the Holocaust – represents a suitable comparative analogy to the fall of Jerusalem and displacement to Babylonian. Next, I will ground my study in existing work which applies trauma theory to the study of the Pentateuch, especially the book of Exodus. And the body of this chapter will explore where each of the six markers of trauma I identify are visible in the text of Exod 13.17 – 15.21.

It would be unrealistic to expect proof positive that the authors of Exod 13-15 were traumatised and that the narrative they produced is irrefutably an example of survivor literature. However, it is feasible to demonstrate that elements of this text bear striking similarities to modern survivor literature, and that we therefore have grounds for reading the text in the same light as these modern works. This is what I aim to achieve in this chapter.

I am keenly aware of the pitfalls of being led astray by an interesting and novel theory in spite of a lack of evidence to support it, so I will distance myself from my hypothesis as far as possible and try to avoid confirmation bias in my argument. I will also keep in mind that trauma is merely one of several possible explanations for the form and content of Exod 13-15, and I will present an outline of some of these alternative explanations within the conclusion to this chapter.

Markers of trauma within survivor literature

Survivor literature is disparate in terms of genre, writing style and even content, but these disparate works share some key characteristics. I outlined these characteristics at length in chapter one so will not cover the same ground again here. A brief summary should suffice:

i) Guilt and shame

Survivors of traumatic events often describe a sense of guilt and shame, however undeserved this might be. Guilt and shame can be seen in many examples of modern survivor literature (Des Pres, 1973: 678; Lifton, 1991: 35, 489), not to mention biblical texts which can also be categorised as survivor literature (Garber, 2011: 319; Morrow, 2004: 84).

ii) Anger and desire for revenge

As Herman (1997: 189), for example, has observed, rage and revenge fantasy are common in recovering trauma victims. This desire for revenge against the group or individual responsible for a trauma can be seen in survivor literature, too. The act of depicting traumatic experiences is often underpinned by profound anger (Tal, 1996: 7) and several exilic biblical texts, especially Ezekiel, seem to express the authors' desire for revenge against their enemies (see e.g. Garber, 2011: 320).

iii) The imperative to bear witness; the impossibility of doing so

The great majority of survivor literature wrestles with the simultaneous imperative for the survivor to bear witness and a sense of the inadequacy of any words one could use to do so. Survivor literature is first and foremost the product of a survivor's determination to bear witness to what they have experienced (Des Pres, 1973: 668-669), but the scale of the suffering experienced by the survivor (and their community) makes language insufficient to describe this experience (1973: 675, 678-681).

Within this characteristic of survivor literature, I am particularly intrigued by the works which seek to communicate a traumatic experience without directly describing the event which caused the trauma. Caruth suggests that because the traumatic event is beyond description, attempting to describe it begins to erode its reality, and that, in response to this, a survivor can sometimes best communicate his or her experience by telling a story unrelated to the traumatic event (1996: 27-29).

iv) Other-worldly language

If conventional language seems inadequate to convey the scale and gravity of a traumatic experience, something more grandiose, more sublime, may seem more fitting to the survivor. Indeed, depictions of traumatic experiences often seem to adopt a quasi-religious tone (see e.g. Des Pres, 1973: 671). And one 'A-bomb writer' laments that 'past literary methods... are inadequate for dealing with the A-bomb' (quoted in Lifton, 1991: 400). If a profound trauma is inherently 'other', inherently 'strange' (Felman and Laub, 1992: 7), then language which is similarly 'other' might be necessary to depict it.

v) Extreme and enduring fear

Experiences of trauma are frequently associated with extreme fear. The *International Classification of Diseases* identifies 'overwhelming emotions such as fear or horror' (2018: online) which often accompany traumatic nightmares or flashbacks. A trauma survivor can experience profound fear without clear association to any specific stimulus (van der Kolk and

van der Hart, 1995: 172). Indeed, 'intense fear' can be symptomatic of PTSD (Herman, 1997: 33) and a survivor will often restrict or alter their behaviour to help 'control their pervasive fear' (1997: 46).

My survey of survivor literature in general has not identified extreme and enduring fear as a marker of this kind of literature. However, this aspect of trauma has been accepted by several Bible scholars who apply trauma theory to biblical texts (see e.g. Carr, 2011b: 295-297; Garber, 2013: 425-426; O'Connor, 2011: 21; 2002: 3-6). So, if Exodus 13-15 is indeed underpinned by trauma, it seems sensible to ask whether this trauma might manifest within the text as fear.

vi) Learned helplessness

This criterion does not appear in my earlier list of markers of survivor literature, as it is not widely attested as characteristic of survivor literature. However, although he seems to be a lone voice in arguing for it, Morrow's suggestion that the exiled Judaeans exhibited learned helplessness is an intriguing one (2004: 80, 83-84). If the Judaeans depicted in Second Isaiah – second generation exiles – can be described as exhibiting learned helplessness as a result of the trauma inherited from their parents' displacement to Babylonia, the same may be true of the second or third generation exiles responsible for the final reshaping of Exodus 13-15. It would be a stretch to apply this characteristic to survivor literature in general but Morrow has raised important questions over whether learned helplessness might represent a common Judaean reaction to the trauma of displacement. If this is the case, learned helplessness might be observed in biblical texts other than Second Isaiah.

These are the six markers of trauma¹²¹ against which I will measure the Reed Sea episode. If these markers are present in the text, this does not necessarily mean that the text should be categorised as survivor literature, but it will make this idea more plausible and it will justify further discussion of it.

The Holocaust as a comparative analogy for the fall of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile

It is wise to be cautious about applying a modern theoretical framework to an ancient culture. Psychological trauma was only mentioned as a possibility in the early twentieth century (c.f. Freud, 1922: 19) and it was as late as 1980 before Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder was finally included in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. Working backwards from there and discerning trauma in Judaean exiles is a slippery business.

That said, this exercise is justified, as long as we can demonstrate that one or more modern traumata represent a comparative analogy to the fall of Jerusalem in 586 B.C.E. and the accompanying displacement to Babylonia. As I have outlined in chapters one and three, trauma has been convincingly associated with many modern events and the literature created by their survivors, including: the Hiroshima bomb; combat in the first and second World Wars, Vietnam, Iraq and Afghanistan; war crimes committed by Islamic State and insurrectionists in Sierra Leone; and countless sexual assaults. Given the nature of siege warfare and the likely behaviour of Babylonian soldiers towards their defeated enemies, there is a case to be made for each of these events being comparable to the experiences of the

^{. .}

¹²¹ In chapter one, I also mention a feeling of being watched as a possible marker of survivor literature. However, this feature may be as much due to colonial oppression as to trauma and only Smith-Christopher (2011) seems to notice this feature in a biblical text. Furthermore, there is little evidence of a sense of being watched within Exod 13.17 – 15.21. 13.17 suggests that YHWH stands aloof from both Israel and Egypt, and 14.24 portrays him 'looking down' on the Egyptian camp, in order to throw it into confusion. But this is the full extent of support for a sense of being watched within the text.

inhabitants of Jerusalem. However, I contend that the Holocaust is an especially close and appropriate modern analogy for the events of 586 B.C.E., for the following reasons:

i) Both experiences included destruction, death and threats of death

The Holocaust constituted the eradication of nearly six million Jews: an utterly horrific death toll. ¹²² A sustained programme of mass shootings, pogroms, destruction of property and deportations to concentration camps constituted a genocide against Europe's Jewish population. Before an individual was themselves displaced to a concentration camp, it was likely that they would already have heard of extreme violence in other areas and therefore felt threatened with death at the prospect of a similar attack on their own community. In addition, many of those imprisoned in the Lodz ghetto (for example) witnessed the removal of friends and relatives, knowing they were bound for extermination (Adelson and Lapides, 1989: 319-323). Numerous survivors of the camps also report witnessing or hearing of the deaths of family members.

Similarly, the inhabitants of Jerusalem, under siege from the Babylonians, experienced a protracted period under threat of death and losing loved ones, culminating in a rout at their enemies' hands. As outlined at more length in chapter three, biblical accounts make it clear that this rout included prominent military and political leaders being put to death (2 Kings 25.18-21) and the city plundered (25.13-17), and suggest widespread slaughter and destruction in the process (2 Chron 36.17-19). It is also significant that Lamentations envisages the Babylonians as agents of YHWH's wrath, proclaiming: 'The Lord has

¹²² Several other marginalised groups experienced persecution and extermination at the hands of the Nazis, concurrent with the Holocaust. For example, Slavs, political dissidents, the disabled and homosexuals were all murdered in huge numbers. While not wishing to belittle the egregious persecution against these other groups, I am focusing on the Holocaust itself for the purposes of this study, as it offers a comparable analogy to the siege and fall of Jerusalem in 586 B.C.E..

destroyed without mercy all the dwellings of Jacob... he has killed all in whom we took pride... He has destroyed all its palaces, laid in ruins its strongholds' (Lam 2.2-5). The available archaeological evidence seems to support these accounts, too (see e.g. Stager, 1996; Stern, 2004: 274; Blenkinsopp, 2002a: 187).

In view of Assyria's well-attested brutality against their vanquished enemies — apparently including impaling and flaying, mutilation and murdering children (Bertman, 2003: 267-268; Eph'al, 2009: 49-53; Grayson, 1976: 123-124) — we can hypothesise that Babylon may have adopted a similar level of violence against Jerusalem. Admittedly, there is little direct evidence from Babylon itself to support this hypothesis but, even if Babylon's treatment of Jerusalem was not this barbaric, the city's experience of the siege and its aftermath would still have been utterly harrowing. The inhabitants would have faced a constant threat of death for as long as the siege lasted. Once the city fell, the Babylonians' looting and pillaging is likely to have included widespread sexual violence (Vikman, 2005: 21-23, 29), and there would inevitably have been killing and maiming, even if we make a conservative estimate about the numbers of victims. The combination of prolonged threat to life, witnessing the deaths of loved ones, destruction of property and sexual violence is likely to have been enough to traumatise the Jerusalemites profoundly.

ii) Both experiences included scarcity of food and resources

Conditions in the concentration camps and ghettos were uniformly brutal. In both contexts, Jews were imprisoned, forced to live in impossibly overcrowded spaces and deprived of essential resources such as sanitation and heating. Deaths from hypothermia were common (Adelson and Lapides, 1989: 94-95). Disease was rife. Food was in critically short supply (1989: 92) with residents of the ghettos limited to around 250 calories per day.

The Judaeans, isolated from the rest of the country by the surrounding Babylonian army, were also cut off from sources of food. And the protracted length of this siege (eighteen months, according to 2 Kings 2.2-3,) would have been designed to starve the Judaeans into submission. 2 Kings 25.3 reports a severe famine as a result and Lamentations suggests that food was so scarce as to provoke the trade of treasures for food, and even cannibalism (Lam 1.11, 2.20). (The reference to cannibalism may owe as much to classic tropes of ANE lament as to historical reality, however [see Eph'al, 2009: 61-62, 130-131].)

Not many biblical scholars or archaeologists comment specifically on food scarcity within besieged Jerusalem but Middlemas (2009: 175) and Seevers (2013: 256-258) are among those who do, and siege warfare is generally designed to starve an enemy into surrendering. It therefore seems reasonable to give some credence to the biblical accounts of famine, even if we assume a certain amount of poetic hyperbole in Lamentations.

iii) Both experiences included forced displacement

The displacement of European Jews by the Nazis is well documented. A great many Jews were, in fact, displaced twice: first from their homes to ghettos in cities and large towns, and then from those ghettos to concentration camps.

It seems very likely that some survivors of the siege of Jerusalem were also forcibly displaced. As Oded (1979: 26) and Stager (1996) both note, Babylon routinely conducted deportations of vanquished adversaries. Biblical accounts are united in attesting to large-scale deportations from Judah to Babylonia, although they differ on the numbers of people exiled. While Jeremiah's account sees 4,600 Judaeans removed to Babylon across three separate deportations (Jer 52.30), 2 Kings claims as many as 10,000 were exiled in an initial deportation (2 Kgs 24.14) with 'the rest of the people' deported later (25.11).

It is not surprising, then, that biblical scholars also differ on the extent of the Exile. For example, Albertz envisages 20,000 Judaeans lost through a combination of war and displacement and thus a 'severe bloodletting' for Judah (2003: 90) but Barstad claims that the majority of the population of Judah would have remained in the land, with enough social and religious leaders to constitute a 'functioning society' (2003: 4). Still, scholars seem to agree that there was at least one mass deportation of vanquished Judaeans, even if that deportation was limited to the societal elite.

Furthermore, even if we follow Barstad and Blenkinsopp in accepting a conservative estimate of the numbers of survivors exiled to Babylonia, we can still postulate that many more might have been displaced within Judah. Barstad (2003: 8) interprets the available archaeological evidence as indicative of a large number of small settlements within Judah, established by those who fled Jerusalem. Similarly, Blenkinsopp concludes that significant numbers of survivors would have 'retreated to one or other of the numerous places of refuge with which the country is liberally provided, to emerge once the dust had settled' (2002a: 181). Thus, if we assume that Jeremiah's figure of 4,600 exiles to Babylonia is more plausible

¹²³ Scholars differ sharply in their views on this question, largely because, as Blenkinsopp acknowledges (2002a: 180), there is simply not enough data available to draw hard and fast conclusions. Some attempt to extrapolate Nebuchadnezzar's customary level of aggression against enemy cities, based either on the archaeological remains of other cities attacked by Babylon (e.g. Ashkelon; see Stager [1996]) or on the Assyrian conquest of the northern kingdom, as a comparative analogy (c.f. Albertz, 2003: 88-90). Examination of other Judaean settlements can yield insights into how populous these settlements were, and when they were inhabited, thus suggesting how many (if any) Jerusalemites might have migrated there in the wake of the fall of the city (Barstad [2003: 6-8], Blenkinsopp [2002a: 179-181] and Lipschits [2003: 323-328] all favour this approach). Of course, the Hebrew Bible itself can be and is used as a source to inform this discussion; especially the passages from Jeremiah and 2 Kings which give figures for the numbers of people exiled (Bright [2000: 343-344] is among those who begin with the biblical text and then look for evidence to 'fill the gaps'). All of these approaches involve at least an element of guesswork, though. We can say with confidence that thousands of Judaeans were taken into exile, but we cannot say how many thousands with equal confidence. We can acknowledge that the Babylonian army is likely to have been brutal in its attack on Ashkelon, but it does not necessarily follow that it would also have been brutal in its attack on Jerusalem. It seems likely that survivors from Jerusalem might have escaped to other, smaller settlements within Judah, but we can only speculate on exactly how many would have done so.

than the 10,000+ in 2 Kings, it is likely that many more were internally displaced within Judah, as a result of the sack of Jerusalem.

iv) Both experiences affected whole communities

While many experiences can traumatise individuals, the Holocaust and the fall of Jerusalem were collective traumata, profoundly influencing entire communities. The magnitude of the devastation caused by the Holocaust makes it utterly unique: a colossal and extraordinary crime with repercussions that reach far beyond its direct victims. As Laub and Allard express it:

The Holocaust exists both inside and outside history. It exists as part of the world's history... yet it exists also as a challenge to our understanding of history, to any belief in progress or civilization... It is a crime... whose repercussions in the lives of survivors and their children, on the future of the world itself, continue to be spelled out today. The Holocaust exists as the unassimilable core of Western history. (2002: 800)

Thus, the Holocaust not only casts a dark and enduring shadow over its survivors. It looms large over their children and even over the whole of Western society. The Holocaust represents a rupture in history itself.

In chapter three, I explored transgenerational trauma: how a legacy of trauma can be passed on from a survivor to their children. This kind of transmission is common in the children of Holocaust survivors. To effect any kind of escape from this trauma, a child must make a conscious effort to form their own identity through 'an active claiming of one's own life, of one's own place' (Laub and Allard, 2002: 808).

Just as the Holocaust is still – quite understandably – intrinsic to the Jewish collective psyche and possibly even to Western society, the exile to Babylonia was remembered and grieved for generations after the fact. Biblical reflections on the fall of Jerusalem and its aftermath feature both a harrowing individual outpouring of grief at the extent of the

destruction (Lamentations¹²⁴), and survivors' corporate lament at being torn away from their home city and its Temple (c.f. Psalm 79, 137). Even Second Isaiah, probably written in the aftermath of the fall of Jerusalem and addressed to second generation exiles, depicts the exiled community as 'a people plundered and looted, all of them trapped in pits or hidden away in prisons' (Isa 42.22), as Morrow observes (2004: 82). This would suggest that the Judaeans' collective experience of destruction, ruin and death at the hands of their enemies remained vivid for decades afterwards and influenced the community's shared sense of identity, even when the generation who directly experienced this trauma were dead and gone. As the novelist William Faulkner puts it: 'The past is not dead. It is not even past.'

It must be acknowledged that the comparison between the Holocaust and the fall of Jerusalem is not perfect. The Holocaust was a genocide: an attempted eradication of an entire people group, motivated purely by their ethnic identity. The fall of Jerusalem and Babylonian Exile were the outcomes of a strategic military campaign, rather than an attempt to exterminate the Judaeans specifically. While the Holocaust led to the deaths of an estimated six million people, the Babylonian campaign against Judah was much more limited in scale. And relating to this, twentieth century technology made it possible for the Nazis to enact murder on a truly industrial scale, while this technology was obviously not available to the Babylonians.

Notwithstanding these differences, the siege and fall of Jerusalem can be compared fairly to the Holocaust, in terms of the enforced displacement of large groups of people, the brutality of the conditions involved, and the breadth and longevity of its effects. Therefore, just as trauma is rightly ascribed to numerous survivors of the Holocaust (by Felman and Laub [1992], Krystal [1995] and others), there are grounds for believing the survivors of the

 124 Assuming Lamentations refers specifically to the fall of Jerusalem. See point ii), above.

fall of Jerusalem would also have been traumatised. If much of the literature produced in the wake of the Holocaust is categorised as 'survivor literature', it is reasonable to investigate whether literature produced following the Exile might also be categorised in this way.

Existing studies applying trauma theory to the Pentateuch

As we have already seen, trauma-informed reading of the Hebrew Bible is a growing field within biblical studies, with Garber (2011, 2013, 2015), Janzen (2012) and Smith-Christopher (2002, 2011) making particularly helpful contributions to this area of study. This body of work has included trauma-informed studies of pentateuchal texts. For example, O'Connor (2016) has shown how trauma may have played a part in shaping the text of Genesis, and Claassens (2020a) has drawn illuminating parallels between several narratives from Genesis and modern trauma literature.

Trauma has already been associated with the study of Exodus, too, with Aiton Birnbaum (a psychologist rather than a Hebrew Bible specialist) attempting to show where collective trauma and PTSD are visible within Exodus and Numbers (2008: 536-543). There are a number of issues with Birnbaum's paper, but his association of Exodus with trauma at least adds weight to my own thesis of a traumatic influence to Exod 13-15. The narrative of slavery and persecution in the early chapters of Exodus is, Birnbaum claims, 'replete with trauma' (2008: 536-537) and the ten plagues and Reed Sea narratives represent the 'traumatic climax' (2008: 538) of the Israelites' sojourn in Egypt. Following these multiple traumatic events, the Israelites experience further dramatic upheaval through a

.

¹²⁵ Birnbaum understands a traumatic event as 'an unusual or shocking incident subjectively experienced as an uncontrollable threat to survival, often involving violence and major life consequences' (2008: 534) and adopts the *DSM-IV* criteria for diagnosing PTSD, including an intense emotional reaction, intrusion, arousal, numbing and avoidance of traumatic stimuli (2008: 534). I myself draw on this definition extensively, as part of this thesis, so I have no issue with Birnbaum's understanding of trauma. However, his application of this understanding to the biblical text is problematic.

disease epidemic, prolonged warfare and the death of their leader (2008: 538-539). (Birnbaum appears to take Exodus and Numbers – and indeed all narrative sections of the Hebrew Bible - as literal historical accounts.)

It is perhaps not surprising, then, that Moses shows signs of strain. Birnbaum goes as far as to claim, 'the biblical text seems to indicate that Moses exhibited a number of individual post-traumatic symptoms' (2008: 540). Frustratingly, he does not elucidate exactly what symptoms Moses exhibits, simply stating that these symptoms are 'presented elsewhere' (2008: 540), presumably in his unpublished paper, 'Posttraumatic stress reactions among leaders: Moses and the Peor affair'. Indeed, Birnbaum hypothesises that Israel as a nation suffered collective trauma, deriving from their adverse experiences. To support his claim, he uses biblical references in a literal and uncritical way, referring to the Israelites' 'crying and helplessness', 'abandonment and isolation', social violence and later intrusive recollections of the Peor plague (c.f. Deuteronomy 4, Joshua 22) as indicative of trauma (2008: 540-541).

Unfortunately, there are significant problems with Birnbaum's conclusions. Few of the behaviours he ascribes to trauma are widely agreed as indicative of trauma by psychologists. The Israelites' violence could perhaps be conflated with the rage and desire for revenge common in survivor literature, and isolation (emotional detachment and self-limitation in order to avoid exposing oneself to further trauma) is indeed common in trauma survivors (Herman, 1997: 43, 46). But the Israelites' weeping at the mass death at Peor (Numbers 25.6)¹²⁶ is just as likely to be an expression of collective grief as of trauma in its truest sense, and I can find nothing in this account to suggest the traumatised 'helplessness' that Birnbaum claims is present in the text (2008: 540). Furthermore, the Israelites' later recollections of

¹²⁶ Not Numbers 24.6, as Birnbaum states (2008: 540).

Peor seem to be deliberate acts of remembrance rather than examples of traumatic memories intruding into their consciousness.¹²⁷

Finally, Birnbaum's conclusions are underpinned by an assumption that the biblical account is strictly historical. The Israelites could only have been traumatised by the events within the narrative if those events really did happen, exactly as the biblical account relates. Scholars who, like me, remain sceptical of the historicity of Exodus, are likely to see this as a fundamental flaw in Birnbaum's argument.

I would argue for an alternative understanding of trauma within the text. Just as O'Connor sees the disasters, famines and upheaval in Genesis as mirroring the experiences of exiled Judaeans (2016: 307-309), the depictions of death, disease, violence and oppression included within Exodus and Numbers may be manifestations of the authors' own trauma. Survivor literature is characterised by a simultaneous imperative to bear witness to the traumatising event and impossibility of doing so. Faced with this tension within themselves, authors will sometimes tell an unrelated story as a means of depicting the event which traumatised them. In this way, the events within Exodus and Numbers might convey trauma from the authors' own past. Indeed, the events of Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 do exactly that.

Although I cannot accept Birnbaum's conclusions, his work is valuable insofar as it highlights the possibility of a traumatic influence on Exodus and Numbers. My own study builds on his by suggesting where this influence derives from and illustrating where it might be observed in a different passage within the book of Exodus.

_

¹²⁷ See Caruth (1996: 4-11) for more detail on traumatic intrusion as a symptom of PTSD.

How and where markers of survivor literature are visible in Exod 13.17 – 15.21

Thus far, I have established that there is good reason for believing the fall of Jerusalem and displacement to Babylonia to be highly traumatic for those who experienced them, and that this trauma influenced the authors of the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses. I will now highlight specific features of the text which suggest a traumatic influence. Evidence of trauma, in the form of common markers of survivor literature, can be seen in the following verses¹²⁸:

i) Guilt and shame

a) 14.15 – This verse represents a textual difficulty – an apparent non sequitur from 14.14, in which YHWH rebukes Moses, without any obvious provocation: "Why are you crying out to me?". In a manuscript variant, Syr adds 'and Moses prayed to the Lord' to the end of 14.14, apparently to explain YHWH's rebuke of Moses (Propp, 1999: 468), but this is a simple insertion and does not appear in any other MSS.

Several commentators on Exodus notice YHWH's short temper, but they can only speculate on what prompts him to rebuke Moses in this verse. Some see Moses as representative of his people and YHWH therefore attributing the 'crying out' to him (e.g. Alter 2004: 393) and directing a 'reproachful question' at Moses (Noth, 1962: 113). 129

Others infer that Moses shares the people's doubts and transmits them to YHWH, or is 'scolded' for reporting the people's discontent to YHWH (e.g. Fretheim, 1991: 157; Propp, 1999: 479). Alexander believes that Moses' own cry is unreported in the text and that YHWH 'challenges' Moses for his lack of action (2017: 277). And Brueggemann proposes

129 Similarly, Sarna envisages YHWH addressing Moses as the leader and representative of all Israel (1991: 73) but he does not comment on whether YHWH's question to Moses might constitute a rebuke.

 $^{^{128}}$ For this analysis of Exod 13.17 – 15.21, I refer to my own translation of the text, which can be found in Appendix 1.

that YHWH's rebuke is aimed at the Israelites rather than Moses himself, because of their grumbling and lack of faith in vv11-12 (1994: 794). All of these arguments seem speculative: there is no obvious explanation for YHWH's outburst.

Both Fretheim and Propp appear to base their assumptions of a divine rebuke on the abruptness of the shift between vv14 and 15, which lends an impression of suddenness to YHWH's question. The Hebrew verb itself (השלבור) translates simply as 'said' and offers no clues on what tone YHWH adopts. Does he ask Moses in bewilderment why he is crying out? In sympathy? As a gentle but firm challenge to his lack of faith? The sudden break between vv14 and 15 may be the best clue available on the subject. As an adherent to the documentary hypothesis, Propp suggests that this break may be due to a join between fragments of different source documents. But on the same page, Propp speculates that the redactor might have let this 'unevenness' stand, in order to suggest hidden discontent on Moses' part and a rebuke of this discontent from YHWH (1999: 479).

Trauma theory offers an alternative answer to this question. As Lifton perceptively notes, a trauma survivor's guilt is most often 'death guilt': that is, it derives from having survived an experience which claimed others' lives, and from the survivor's helplessness to prevent those deaths (1980: 118). Survivor guilt can therefore be said to result from feelings of helplessness and passivity.

YHWH's sharp rebuke could be ascribed to the Israelites' passivity and inaction in a moment of crisis (see e.g. Alexander, 2017: 277). Narratives composed in the wake of traumatic events often feature passive protagonists who 'fail[ed] to exert control over

¹³⁰ Meyers implies that YHWH speaks sharply to gain Moses' attention and focus him on the task at hand, but acknowledges that the manner in which YHWH goes about this 'may seem impatient' (2005: 115).

¹³¹ Childs (1976: 220-221), Noth (1962: 105-106) and Durham (1987: 183-184) all postulate that verses 14 and 15 might belong to different sources, but do not offer this as an explanation for the suddenness of YHWH's question.

events', and give a 'sense of being overwhelmed by unjust force', as Jeffrey Alexander observes (Alexander, 2004b: 226). He notices this trend particularly in reference to literature influenced by the Holocaust, and the same appears to be true here. Faced with the onrushing Egyptian army, the Israelites are 'unarmed and defenceless' (Alexander, 2017: 268). Meyers expresses the same thought more colourfully, describing the Reed Sea narrative as 'the rescue of a motley and dispirited group of powerless refugees from the well-equipped army of a mighty imperial state' (2005: 115).

Helpless and with no control over what is happening around them, they can only cry out to YHWH and blame Moses for their impending deaths (vv10-12). It could be argued that 'crying out' is, in and of itself, an active response to a crisis, but I would counter that the Israelites' cry is an acknowledgement of their own helplessness and their reliance on the deity to act on their behalf. It is interesting that 'Why are you crying out to me?' is immediately followed by 'Tell the Israelites to *move on*' (emphasis added).

This sense of helplessness can be attributed to the authors' trauma, and the rebuke put into YHWH's mouth by the authors of the text may reflect their own self-blame and their frustration with their compatriots for their passivity in failing to prevent the deaths of loved ones during or soon after the siege of Jerusalem. The helplessness and self-blame in Exodus 14 seem to express survivor's guilt on the part of the authors.

An alternative explanation for the abrupt shift between v14 and v15 would be that trauma is making an intrusion – an 'eruption' – into the master narrative, as Janzen hypothesises with regard to other texts. The textual difficulty may be an example of 'traces of trauma that have slipped into – or perhaps we should say behind – the main narrative of the history' (2012: 34). Within a story of incredible divine salvation, the unmentioned but implied crying out to YHWH between the two verses might be an intrusion into the

authors' present of their shared memory of abandonment by the deity, quickly suppressed by the question, 'Why are you crying out to me?'.

This explanation is tempting, as it offers not only an answer to a textual difficulty but potential justification for my thesis that the narrative is influenced by trauma. But although I am fascinated by Janzen's idea, I am not entirely convinced by it. If an author's trauma is manifested in the text they create without the author's own knowledge, this makes it extremely difficult for a reader to argue conclusively either for or against the presence of trauma in the text. His theory is an intriguing possibility and may be relevant to this narrative, but I cannot make the case for that with real conviction. However, notwithstanding my scepticism about any traumatic eruption into the text, I still believe 14.15 conveys a sense of shame and survivor's guilt.

b) 14.31 – The climax of the narrative depicts an overwhelming act of power on YHWH's part; he does not just 'throw' the Egyptians into the sea but 'hurls' them (the verb takes the piel [intensive] form). 132 This action is truly awe-inspiring. YHWH's stated aim is to 'reveal [his] glory' (14.4); to demonstrate his power and thus to inspire fear and belief in the Israelites. Among the commentators on Exodus, Alexander (2017: 280), Bruckner (2008: 135), Brueggemann (1994: 795-796), Durham (1987: 197) and Noth (1962: 118) all mention the relationship between YHWH's demonstration of power and Israel's belief and reverence. As a result of the annihilation of the Egyptians, the Israelites 'feared the LORD'

_

¹³² Alexander is right to point out that the verb used for YHWH's action is also used elsewhere to describe 'clothing being shaken in order to cause something to fall out' (2017: 279), but 'shaking' misses the force and intensity in this present usage. At the same time, he still notices that, 'The destruction of the Egyptian force is so comprehensive that none of those who went between the waters survive.' (2017: 279).

This simultaneous fear and belief seem to render the Israelites utterly subservient to the deity. Even Moses, their leader, is placed 'clearly in a subordinate, derivative position' through this display of YHWH's power (Brueggemann, 1994: 795). This can be explained as an expression of self-abasement by the authors of Exodus; an outworking of the shame deriving from their own trauma.

In the diary chronicling his experiences of the Warsaw ghetto, Chaim Kaplan observes that although 'Nazism came to annihilate us... Unconsciously, we accept its ideology and follow in its ways' (quoted in Goldberg, 2017: 214). So although the Warsaw Jews reviled the Nazis, they could not help internalising Nazi ideology on an unconscious level, and even identifying with their oppressors (Goldberg, 2017: 214-216). Goldberg is at pains to emphasise that this unconscious adoption of Nazi ideas is not the same as 'overt bonding' with the Nazis or a desire to join them. But he observes a tendency among the Warsaw Jews towards, 'Adulation of the strong and powerful perpetrator who resorts to unbridled violence' (2017: 220). Kaplan's diary states explicitly: 'You almost begin to believe that this is a people that deserves to rule over everything, and has the courage and authority.' (Quoted in Goldberg, 2017: 220). This adulation was also manifested among prisoners at Buchenwald, who 'regressed to a childlike state and tended to admire... the camp guard... who functioned as the adult figure in that situation' (2017: 221). It is exemplified by an individual who exclaimed: 'Yes! You are the strongest... We have never seen anybody stronger than you... No matter what you do, we will never try to measure our strength against yours, not even in our imagination.' (2017: 221), in a striking echo of the adulation of YHWH in Exod 15.11 (see below).

The previous paragraph might give the impression that I see YHWH as comparable to the Nazis. I must emphasise that I am absolutely not implying that YHWH and the Nazis can or should ever be compared. I am merely noting that absolute power – in whatever guise – tends to prompt a submissive response.

What's more, the adulation of the Nazis was coupled with self-abasement on the part of the Jews: 'We are like horses... we ourselves have become in our own eyes "inferior beings" devoid of the divine image.' (Kaplan, quoted in Goldberg, 2017: 223). Adulation of a powerful oppressor and shame at one's own inferiority and subjugation comprise a common response to trauma at the hands of a tyrant. And there is evidence of this simultaneous adulation and shame within Exodus 13-15. This is an insight into the narrative which seems uniquely available by reading it through the lens of trauma theory. No Exodus commentary I have yet encountered observes that the Israelites' self-abasement could be associated with shame.

In his paper on divine narcissism in the Hebrew Bible, Stuart Lasine claims that YHWH 'can be an abusive narcissist, who may seek the loyalty and submission he needs from his children by breaking their spirit, by burdening them with feelings of guilt and inadequacy, or by keeping them cravenly dependent upon him' (Lasine, 2002: 39). He is partly right. Within the Reed Sea narrative, YHWH is indeed portrayed as creating feelings of guilt and inadequacy in his children¹³³, but I believe these feelings arise from the authors of Exodus and their own traumatic shame. In the shadow of their trauma, the authors projected their shame onto the Israelites by portraying the deity as supreme and incomparable and therefore inspiring self-abasement and inadequacy in his people.

¹³³ As we have already seen, YHWH rebukes Moses (as representative of Israel) for his passivity in 14.15. He also inspires a sense of inadequacy through his overwhelming power (14.31, 15.11) and even, paradoxically, through his 'unfailing love' (15.13). See points i) c) and i) d) respectively.

'Projection' is a contested term within psychology. There is some debate as to its exact nature and how it is distinct from 'externalisation'. However, it is unnecessary, for the purposes of this exercise, to go into great detail on the differences between the two concepts. Projection and externalisation are so similar, and the differences between them so subtle, that they can be said to be largely congruent: both relate to 'a process whereby a painful impulse or idea is attributed to the external world' – usually to another individual (Novick and Kelly, 1970: 70).

Freud's view that this is a defence mechanism, by which an individual distances themselves from an undesirable impulse (usually to do with sex or aggression), has been developed in recent years. Studies suggest that projection can indeed be a defence mechanism, but that it arises from a person (or a group) subconsciously avoiding the recognition of an undesirable trait in themselves, thus making this trait more accessible to their consciousness when evaluating another person (Baumeister *et al*, 2002: 1082, 1091). In any case, the result is the same: the subject attributes a negative quality they themselves possess to an external object.

Projection appears to be at work in the Reed Sea narrative. The authors, experiencing a sense of deep shame, projected this shame onto their portrayal of the Israelites as they composed their narrative. This projection therefore influenced the characterisation of the all-powerful deity. Thus, it is the authors' trauma that informs the inherent feelings of shame and inadequacy of the Israelites within Exodus 13-15 and, by extension, the characterisation of YHWH in the same text.

¹³⁴ Novick and Kelly itemise five slightly different understandings of 'projection', for example (1970: 74).

c) 15.11 – The theme of YHWH's surpassing power also finds expression in the Song of Moses. For example, in 15.11, YHWH is described as 'majestic in holiness, terrible in splendour¹³⁵, working wonders'. Thus, his 'wonders' are inseparable from the terror he inspires in his enemies, just as belief in him is intrinsically linked with fear in 14.31. (This prevalent sense of fear in the text is, in itself, suggestive of trauma. I will investigate this further under point *v*), below.) YHWH subordinates not only any mortal who crosses his path but all other deities, too: 'Yahweh is thus extolled as incomparable among... all beings for whom divinity is claimed.' (Durham, 1987: 207). Furthermore, YHWH's victory is cosmic in its scale; a defeat not just of his human enemies but also of the forces of chaos, represented by the raging waters of the Reed Sea (Meyers, 2005: 115-116; Fretheim, 1991: 153).

YHWH is the indisputable supreme actor. All others are dwarfed by association with him. Once again, the authors' own traumatised shame finds expression here, projected onto the Israelites, who are belittled and insignificant in comparison to the supreme and almighty deity portrayed in this narrative.

d) 15.13 – The Israelites praise YHWH for his 'unfailing love'. This ¬¬¬ YHWH's loyalty, faithfulness, kindness, goodness, love, mercy – 'implies the fulfilment of a moral obligation... [which] arises from his relationship with Israel's ancestor(s)' (Propp, 1999:

_

¹³⁵ ההלחל can be rendered 'glory, praise' or 'praiseworthy actions' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1999: 1692-1693). This is a slightly different concept from שנו – usually translated 'glory' – and 'terrible in praise' would suggest it is the praise of the Israelites which makes YHWH 'terrible'. 'Splendour' sums up the meaning well. און carries connotations of fear and dread, deriving from the root און ('fear'). An individual described as בור can be understood as awe-inspiring and worthy of reverence but, more commonly, as fearsome, intimidating or dreadful (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1995: 432-434; Brown and Gesenius, 1979: 431-432). There is not an explicit link with warfare, but a און מעריבים שלידות שלי

532). That is, YHWH's unfailing love is expressed in his unique relationship with Israel and is inseparable from this relationship.

Although YHWH's unfailing love might seem the polar opposite of his overwhelming violence described in the verses immediately preceding it (vv3-12) and in chapter 14, they can actually be two sides of the same coin. As Herman observes, trauma victims may be terrorised by an abuser while also seeing him¹³⁶ as 'the source of strength, guidance, and life itself'. What's more, 'The relationship may take on an extraordinary quality of specialness' to the victim (1997: 92).

Lasine applies this observation to the deity of the Hebrew Bible, arguing that the depiction of YHWH as infinitely loving and merciful is a 'coping device' for the Israelites he terrorises. They come to see their relationship with YHWH as special and unique, in much the same way as an abused child might hero-worship their terrorising father (2002: 39-41). Lasine even cites a passage from Exodus in support of his argument, commenting on the description of Israel as YHWH's 'treasured possession' in 19.5 (2002: 40).

Thus, if the portrayal of YHWH as incomparably powerful and overwhelmingly violent is an expression of traumatic shame in the authors of Exodus then, perhaps paradoxically, his 'unfailing love' for Israel might derive from the same source.

- *ii)* Anger and desire for revenge
- a) 13.18 Violence is foreshadowed from the beginning of the Reed Sea narrative, with YHWH expressing wariness of the Israelites facing war (13.17) and the people marching out of Egypt in military formation, 'prepared for battle' (Bruckner, 2008: 125; Sarna, 1991: 69; Dozeman, 2009: 309). Brueggemann goes as far as to describe the Israelites as 'a well-

183

¹³⁶ This observation derives particularly from analysis of female survivors of domestic abuse, the vast majority of whom were victims of male abusers.

organized, highly disciplined company' (1994: 789). The stage is set for battle and an outpouring of revenge against Israel's enemies.

Intriguingly, Alexander dissents from this view. He holds that 'dressed for travel' is a better translation than 'prepared for battle' for \(\sigma\) \(\sigma\) and insists: 'At no point in the present narrative is it clearly stated that the Israelites formed an army. On the contrary, the people fear the arrival of the Egyptian charioteers because they are unarmed and defenceless.' (2017: 264, 268). Alexander also makes the astute observation that YHWH initially directs the Israelites so as to avoid military conflict (13.17). This being the case, why would the Israelites be prepared for battle? (2017: 263-265).

Alexander has highlighted an important tension within the narrative. The Israelites are indeed portrayed as vulnerable to attack, while simultaneously being battle-ready.

Recourse to Janzen's traumatic 'eruption' would offer an explanation of this apparent contradiction: perhaps trauma is breaking into and subverting the 'master narrative'.

Alternatively, more prosaically, the Israelites may have been 'prepared for battle' in terms of how they were arranged as they left Egypt, while still being largely unarmed. A literal translation of 13.18 would be that the Israelites 'were five' or 'were grouped in fifties' in the sense that they were arranged similarly to units of an army (Clines, 1996: 259; c.f. Brueggemann, 1994: 789; Bruckner, 2008: 125). At the same time, as former slaves escaping their erstwhile captors, they may have lacked weapons (see e.g. Propp, 1999: 488; Hyatt, 1980: 149). Therefore, it is possible to reconcile the Israelites marching out in military formation — with YHWH the warrior as their 'commander' (Alter, 2004: 389) — with an inherent sense of their vulnerability. The stage is set for a violent confrontation, but the violence must be enacted by YHWH the commander-in-chief rather than the people themselves.

b) 14.16 – The language used here (and elsewhere in Exod 13-15) is violent in itself. YHWH commands Moses to 'split' the sea and, in 14.21, the waters are indeed 'broken open', using the same verb usually used for chopping wood with an axe (Alter, 2004: 394). YHWH's action, bringing dry land in the midst of the waters, can be seen as recapitulating the act of creation in Genesis, with the cosmic warfare and victory over the forces of chaos which creation entails (Fretheim, 1991: 159-160). The impression of victory over chaos reinforces the divine violence within the narrative. Similarly, in 14.27, YHWH 'hurled' the Egyptians into the sea. As mentioned above, this is far stronger than simply 'throwing' them: the Hebrew verb communicates overwhelming force. Similarly, in 15.4, the Egyptian officers are emphatically and violently 'drowned', with the verb taking the pual (intensive passive) form and, in 15.7, YHWH is praised for having 'destroyed' his enemies, with the verb and encompassing 'attack, tear down... demolish, destroy... ruin' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1994: 256-257).

Throughout this passage, YHWH's violence against Egypt, on Israel's behalf, is not only endorsed but emphasised and celebrated, as scholars observe. The Song of Moses in particular is 'exuberant' (Brueggemann, 1994: 799), giving voice to 'ecstatic excitement' at the terror and destruction YHWH causes (Durham, 1987: 205).

c) 14.4, 8, 17, 24-25 – YHWH's humiliation of his enemies stretches as far as manipulating their hearts in order to spur them on towards their own destruction. He shares with Moses his intention to harden the hearts of Pharaoh (14.4) and all the Egyptians (14.17) and enacts this plan in 14.8.

There is extensive debate among commentators on how to best understand this 'hardening' of the Egyptians' hearts. Some argue that Pharaoh's previous actions were so evil as to deserve annihilation (e.g. Propp, 1999: 354; Sarna, 1991: 23), while others suggest that 'strengthen' is a better translation than 'harden': that YHWH merely strengthens Pharaoh's resolve on a course of action on which he was already set (e.g. Alexander, 2017: 274-277, 281; Noth, 1962: 111; Fretheim, 1991: 155).

Whatever nuances there might be in YHWH hardening Pharaoh's heart, the result is the same: Pharaoh and his entire army are enticed to pursue the Israelites. Once they are committed to this pursuit, YHWH lures them into the sea, throws the Egyptian camp into confusion (14.24) and even diverts the wheels of their chariots (14.25) to ensure their fate is sealed. Any appearance of Egyptian self-determination is an illusion: YHWH manoeuvres them throughout the narrative, to bring them to a point where he can utterly destroy them. 'Everything has been pre-empted by Yahweh, who manages all sides of the drama.' (Brueggemann, 1994: 793).

d) 14.28-30 – At the denouement of the narrative, the Egyptians are finally and completely destroyed (Alter, 2004: 395); powerless to resist YHWH's overwhelming force. 14.28 states explicitly: 'The waters turned back over the chariots and horsemen; all of Pharaoh's army which had followed them into the sea. Not one of them remained.'

Tellingly, Bruckner observes that YHWH's salvation of Israel goes hand-in-hand with his destruction of Egypt: 'Salvation and destruction came together. The sea of protection from evil was also the sea of destruction for evil forces.' (2008: 134). As Cassuto perceptively notes, this is a matter of vengeance: in order to save Israel, YHWH enacts revenge against the enslaving Egyptians. 'This will be the final retribution, measure for measure, for the casting of the infant sons of the Israelites into the waters of the Nile.'

(2005: 170). Cassuto's comments on the destruction of the Egyptian army as an act of revenge are also illuminating in view of the prospect that the story can be read as a revenge fantasy on the part of the authors (see point f) below).

e) 15.7-8 – YHWH's 'burning anger', implied by the violence in Exod 13-14, is finally made explicit in 15.7. This is underlined by the allusion to YHWH's 'nostrils' (15.8), a common Hebrew idiom to express anger (Durham, 1987: 201). Indeed, Propp argues that the Song of Moses presents anger as being one of YHWH's key characteristics (1999: 519) and Dozeman comments on YHWH's simultaneous 'majesty' and 'fury' within this song (2009: 333)

Trauma survivors report feeling so overwhelmed with rage that it makes them 'literally unable to speak' (Tal, 1996: 157). And, as Kalí Tal observes, survivor literature is an inherently angry kind of writing: 'Bearing witness is an aggressive act. It is born out of... a decision to embrace conflict rather than conformity, to endure a lifetime of anger and pain rather than to submit to the seductive pull of revision and repression' (1996: 7). With anger featuring as such a prominent characteristic of the main protagonist of Exodus 13-15, there is a compelling case for seeing him as a reflection of the authors' own anger and rage.

Just as the authors of Exodus 13-15 seem to have projected their traumatised shame onto the Israelites (see point i) b), above), they appear to have projected their overwhelming rage onto the deity. Rage of this intensity might well have been a painful and even frightening impulse on the part of the authors; the kind of impulse often projected onto an external object (Novick and Kelly, 1970: 70). So it would be no surprise if the authors gave their traumatised rage against Babylon free rein in their depiction of Egypt

and made YHWH the instrument by which this rage could be expressed safely and the longed-for violence enacted.¹³⁷

The possibility of the authors projecting undesirable emotions in two different directions (shame to the Israelites, rage to the deity) is difficult to support through recourse to specific examples of psychological case studies or survivor literature. However, if Exod 13.17 – 15.21 is read as a revenge fantasy (of which, more under point f) below), this prospect becomes more convincing. It is common for a survivor to express their 'humiliated fury' in the form of a fantasy of revenge against the perpetrator (Herman, 1997: 189), and a key feature of such fantasies is mirroring the traumatising event – reversing the roles of victim and perpetrator – so as to restore the survivor's sense of power and agency (Haen and Weber, 2009: 85). Thus, the revenge fantasy arises from and is formulated partly in response to traumatised shame. In this case, the authors seem to express their rage through their portrayal of YHWH but are not yet successful in ridding themselves of shame and guilt, which are still manifest in the text through the characterisation of the Israelites.

f) 15.14-16 – YHWH is a source of fear and terror to the nations surrounding Israel (Brueggemann, 1994: 801; Dozeman, 2009: 339). The nations stand terrified at YHWH's violence and anger. They 'tremble' (15.14), they are 'dismayed' (15.15) and they 'melt away' as 'terror and dread... fall upon them' (15.16). YHWH's anger utterly overwhelms them.

¹³⁷ I am by no means the first scholar to suggest that a biblical author might have projected an emotion or impulse onto the deity (see e.g. Durkheim, 1926: 226; von Franz, 1980: 35-42; Francis, 1997: 81-96; Hull, 2001: 215; Smith, 1992: 267-268).

Within Exodus 13-15, YHWH's anger and violence are abundantly clear. Establishing a sense of revenge or a desire for revenge is more complicated. YHWH's violence could be said to be revenge for the Egyptians' oppression of the Israelites, particularly for the drowning of their sons in the Nile, as Cassuto has argued (2005: 170). Thus, although I am sceptical of the historicity of this episode, I cannot entirely dismiss the possibility that the text represents an account of divine revenge based (however loosely) on a historical event. If we allow for at least the kernel of the narrative being formed as an oral tradition in the monarchical period, or possibly earlier, it may be that an event perceived as an act of divine revenge from the second millennium B.C.E. has been assimilated into a piece of literature composed in Yehud in the fifth century. However, this theory rests on a good deal of assumption and conjecture.

Equally – and, in my view, more plausibly – the text might represent an Israelite *desire* for revenge against their enemies. K.L. Noll comes close to proposing that representations of divine anger in the Hebrew Bible might be projections of human anger from the societies which produced them. Noll observes that biblical portrayals of the deity are reflections – indeed he uses the word 'projection' – of the writers and their communities (2001: 1). He goes on to argue that disparate biblical portrayals of YHWH were brought together in the Hebrew Bible, comprising an 'anthology' of human projections of the divine; a 'kaleidoscopic... divine personality' (2001: 1-3). I simply want to advance Noll's thesis by one step and propose that YHWH's anger in particular, and specifically in Exodus 13-15, is a projection of the very human anger of its authors and their community. It is an expression of their desire for revenge.

This desire for revenge might derive from the monarchical period or even earlier, being preserved in writing during the Exile or in post-exilic Yehud. More likely, it might derive directly from the community in exile or in Yehud, for whom the humiliation and trauma at the hands of the Babylonians were still painfully raw. The community's desire for revenge against Babylon might have found expression in a story of revenge from Israel's 'history'; a story reworked, embellished and preserved in what we now know as Exodus 13.17 – 15.21.

There is precedent for this proposition. Ruth Poser's comprehensive treatment of trauma in Ezekiel highlights the impulse for revenge expressed throughout Ezek 26-33 (2012: 490-505), and describes Ezek 38-39 as 'a single, sustained revenge fantasy' against Babylon (2012: 485). It is also striking that, within this revenge fantasy, Babylon is not directly mentioned. Instead, the target of YHWH's wrath is characterised as 'Gog'. There seems little doubt that Gog is a cipher for one of the nations neighbouring Judah, and Babylon is the most likely candidate (2012: 611-612).

What is more, similarities can be observed between Ezek 38-39 and Exod 13-15. Ezek 38.10-16 envisages a planned attack by the enemy, featuring a large and intimidating army (c.f. Exod 14.5-10); 38.16 makes it clear that YHWH is the one who incites this attack, in order to reveal his holiness (c.f. Exod 14.4, 15.11); 38.18 mentions the 'hot anger' of YHWH ('DN, just as in Ex 15.7-8); the earthquake in 38.19-20 is comparable to the earth swallowing Egypt in Exod 15.12; and in 38.23, YHWH reveals his greatness (c.f. Exod 14.31, 15.7). In 39.21, the display of YHWH's 'glory' echoes Exod 14.4 (\(\pi\)\(\pi\)\(\pi\)\(\pi\)\) is used in both verses, albeit with different constructions), and the gathering of Israel in the presence of the nations in 39.21-29 parallels Exod 15.13-17.\(^{138}\) Thus, if Ezek 38-39 can be

¹³⁸ Admittedly, there are differences between the two passages. Ezekiel mentions 'fire and sulphur' (38.22) in contrast to the waters of the Reed Sea, and 39.23 explicitly references the Exile: an allusion which is conspicuously absent from Exod 13-15. Still, the similarities far outweigh the differences.

understood as a revenge fantasy against Babylon, there is certainly a case for seeing the Reed Sea story in the same light. 139

The theory of 'time collapse' also offers a model for the Reed Sea story as an expression of revenge. I outlined in chapter three Volkan's description of how Serbia was traumatised by its rout at the hands of Turkey at the Battle of Kosovo in 1389. In the late 1980s and early 90s, Kosovan Serbs' fear and resentment of Bosnian Muslims erupted into widespread violence as 'Muslims' became conflated with 'Turks' in the Serbian collective consciousness. The Battle of Kosovo – and particularly the hero, Prince Lazar – remerged in public discourse, frequently and vividly, and the predominant narrative was one of revenge and nationalistic pride. Slobodan Milosevic, the then President of Yugoslavia, was instrumental in reactivating the memory of the Battle of Kosovo, initiating a time collapse between 1389 and 1989 and deliberately encouraging violence against the modern 'enemy' as an act of revenge against the historical one.

It is very difficult to prove that the Reed Sea narrative represents a time collapse of the kind Volkan describes. There is also a significant problem in that a charismatic leader is instrumental to initiating a time collapse, so it would have been necessary for such a leader to emerge in Yehud to consciously reactivate the memory of the Reed Sea, for the category of time collapse to be applicable to this scenario. Although Egypt might function as a proxy for Babylon, for the analogy to be complete, Moses would need to stand for a post-exilic leader of Yehud and it is far from clear who, if anyone, he might represent.

_

¹³⁹ In a similar vein, Mark Brett argues that within Gen 37-50, Egypt functions as a cipher for Persia and the narrative as a critique of and protest against Persian oppression. Joseph is portrayed as a despot, dominating his own brothers and reducing the Egyptian people to slavery (2000: 131-132), which echoes the social control and dispossession of foreigners enacted by Ezra (2000: 132, 136). Both Joseph and Ezra are endorsed and supported by imperial might (Egypt for Joseph, Persia for Ezra), and both couch their domination in terms of piety and divine providence (2000: 131, 136). Following this line of argument, the Joseph narrative is thus a critique of Ezra and Persia's oppression, with its authors using Joseph and Egypt as a cipher, presumably to avoid potential punishment at the hands of the Persian authorities.

It is possible that Ezra might fulfil this role. Nehemiah 9 is probably the clearest biblical association between Ezra and Moses, drawing parallels between the Israelites' current trials and their ancestors' suffering in Egypt, recapitulating the Reed Sea crossing (9.9-12). However, I am not fully convinced by this possibility. Neh 9 presents the Reed Sea crossing within a wider national history, encompassing Abraham, the Exodus, Sinai, the conquest of Canaan and the nation's apostasy in the monarchical period. In this context, the Reed Sea episode does not stand out as any more significant than these other memories. Nor is Moses especially prominent within this history: he is mentioned only once and then in relation to Sinai rather than the Reed Sea. If the authors of Nehemiah (or indeed Ezra himself) had intended to reactivate the memory of the Reed Sea and to draw parallels between Ezra and Moses, it is surprising that Moses is not more prominent in this chapter. Furthermore, the prayer in Neh 9 is attributed to the Levites rather than directly to Ezra. 140

However, aspects of the time collapse model may still be applicable. In effect, the authors of the Reed Sea narrative appear to have created a kind of time collapse in reverse. Instead of beginning with an already well-established episode from their nation's 'history', and identifying contemporary circumstances and enemies with those from this episode, they seem to have begun with Babylon – their recent enemy – and created a narrative and enemy within a fictive past to help them express and process their rage against Babylon.

As to whether this can be called a 'revenge fantasy', the definition of revenge fantasy is itself disputed. Frechette, for example, differentiates revenge fantasy from a 'controlled expression of rage', arguing that texts which express desire for revenge but envisage a deity, rather than human agents, enacting this revenge, cannot properly be categorised as

¹⁴⁰ Zerubbabel might also fulfil this function but there is, if anything, even less biblical support for parallels between Moses and Zerubbabel than for parallels between Moses and Ezra.

192

'revenge fantasy' (2016: 78). However, to my mind, this differentiation is only convincing if we accept that texts like Isaiah 47 (to which Frechette refers) are genuine divine oracles; words spoken directly by the deity. If the words attributed to the deity are, instead, an imagined divine response, then this merely projects the desire for revenge from the human authors onto the deity. Their revenge fantasy stands and is enacted by a divine proxy.

Revenge by proxy, even within a fantasy, is understandable in a context where the victim feels especially lacking in power (as Lillie and Strelan observe [2016 : 290], for example). Thus, there is precedent for revenge by proxy within modern cinema, especially in instances where the victim is female (Henry, 2014: 36, 45). There are also biblical examples of YHWH being portrayed as enacting revenge on behalf of his people. Such an example can be seen in Ezekiel 38-39, as we have seen. Morrow argues that Deut 7 can likewise be understood as a fantasy of divinely-ordained revenge (2011: 289).¹⁴¹

Since the Reed Sea narrative and Song of Moses depict overwhelming violence by Israel's God, against their enemies, the prospect remains of the text being born out of its authors' revenge fantasy against their own contemporary enemies. This does not fit exactly with the model of a trauma-induced time collapse but there is still reason to believe that this passage articulates a revenge fantasy on the part of the Yehud community. The sheer scale of the manipulation and violence YHWH is portrayed as enacting against Israel's enemies (14.16-18, 25, 27), the extent of Egypt's death and destruction (14.28-31) and the

-

¹⁴¹ Tellingly, within Deut 7, the actions of YHWH and the people are intertwined: YHWH instructs the people to destroy their enemies (7.2) and it is indeed the people who are envisaged as carrying out this destruction (7.5, 16) but it is equally construed as an act of divine retribution (7.10). Similarly, Exod 14 envisages YHWH acting in partnership with a human agent: Moses. Moses stretches out his hand over the sea at YHWH's instruction, and YHWH then divides the waters (14.16, 21). Later, Moses stretches out his hand again, whereupon YHWH restores the waters to their place and sweeps the Egyptians into the sea (14.26-29). Both Exod 14 and Deut 7 therefore envisage revenge carried out by YHWH with human participation; perhaps conveying a recognition that the deity is uniquely placed to enact revenge on a scale and with a severity impossible to human agents in their own right. (Frechette hints at this [2014: 80].)

profound terror and dread YHWH is credited with inspiring in other nations (15.14-16) all suggest a longing for supreme revenge on the part of the authors.

- iii) The imperative to bear witness; the impossibility of doing so
- a) 14.13-15 Survivors of trauma often express an inner conflict between feeling compelled to bear witness to what they have experienced, while also feeling that any language they could use would be inadequate to articulate the depth of their suffering. As we have seen, survivors of the Holocaust feel a huge responsibility to share their experiences, while simultaneously feeling they can do little more than scream to express their pain, grief and outrage (c.f. Des Pres, 1973: 668-675; Laub, 1995: 63-64). Trauma effectively renders them mute.

There are suggestions of this traumatic tension within the Reed Sea narrative. In 14.13-15, YHWH first commands the Israelites to be silent, then rebukes them (or at least rebukes Moses as their representative) for speaking up. The Israelites, in fear of their lives and helpless to defend themselves from the onrushing Egyptian army, cry out in terror and are immediately silenced. Among commentators on Exodus, Brueggemann (1994: 793) and Meyers (2005: 114) both observe the extremity of the Israelites' peril and the intensity of their fear. Brueggemann goes further and associates the Israelites' speech with their lack of trust in the deity (1994: 793). YHWH requires silence of them as evidence of trust and obedience (as Durham implies [1987: 192]). The Israelites' enforced silence can be understood as mirroring the narrative's authors; driven to speak of what they and their community experienced but rendered speechless by the inadequacy of language to convey what they witnessed.

As I mentioned in chapter one, this aspect of survivor literature is a matter of some debate. Some literary theorists point out, fairly, the extensive body of literature, film and art produced by trauma survivors, including those who survived the Holocaust. Trauma can be and is expressed in language, they argue (c.f. Lang, 2000: 18). If such trauma is impossible to articulate, how can we explain the apparent creative fertility arising from it? But the volume of survivors' creative output belies the torment behind it; their unquenchable thirst to tell their stories and their inability to be satisfied with their efforts to do so. However many times a survivor bears witness to their experiences, whatever artistry they use to do so, the compulsion to tell and retell their stories is insatiable.

Indeed, I believe this entire narrative and the song which follows were a means for the authors to circumvent the impossibility of bearing witness to their experiences.

Articulating trauma does not necessarily involve a literal description of facts (Lifton, 1991: 408, 450). Other approaches to witnessing are common in literature and art created by trauma survivors. For example, *Badenheim 1939* describes the Holocaust only in terms of an allegory (Lang, 2000: 26) but the novel can only be fully understood against this background. And several writers of 'A-bomb literature' have used allegory and figurative language to depict Hiroshima and its suffering, apparently feeling that a literal description of events would be inadequate to convey their experiences (Lifton, 1991: 403-422).

Similarly, the authors of Exod 13-15 recast their experiences and the still-raw emotions those experiences generated, in a different story, set in a far-distant time. The markers of trauma within the text thus derive from its authors. The story is a manifestation of the authors' trauma, without a direct description of the events which caused that trauma.

- b) 14.30-31 This prospect is reinforced by the Israelites' reaction to the deaths of the Egyptians. When confronted with the bodies on the sea shore, the Israelites see what YHWH has done but the narrator does not put a word in their mouths. Instead, their reported response is to fear (YT') YHWH (see e.g. Alexander, 2017: 280; Noth, 1962: 118). The narrator leaves the Israelites mute in the face of death and destruction on a huge scale, and subject to extreme fear, itself a marker of trauma (see point v) below).
- YHWH, extolling his strength, majesty and wonders. Does the imperative to bear witness finally win out against the inadequacy of language for the task? Not exactly. The Song of Moses is couched in generalisations and mythological language (see e.g. Alter, 2004: 398; Hyatt, 1980: 161). As the Israelites sing of YHWH hurling 'horse and chariot' into the sea (15.1), it is implied that they are referring to the Egyptian army but this is obscured, as Meyers observes (2005: 111). Pharaoh and his army are only mentioned briefly, in verses 4 and 19. Moreover, the singers quickly move on to describing impersonal nations trembling in fear of YHWH, and to his faithfulness in leading his people to his sanctuary. The song therefore alludes to YHWH's actions against Egypt but is light on detail. It could be read as a recapitulation of the Israelites' experiences but only in an idealised, mythologised form which actually distorts the sequence of events described in the two previous chapters. The representation of the Reed Sea crossing in terms of mythological concepts is particularly significant. With its allusions to creation, divine victory over chaos (15.4-5, 10, 12; see Fretheim, 1991: 166-168) and YHWH's enemies descending to the underworld

(15.5; see Sarna, 1991: 78; Hyatt, 1980: 164), and its emphasis on YHWH as supreme among all deities (15.11), Moses' song features other-worldly language and tropes of the kind typical of survivor literature.

Moreover, the ideas of pursuit, of a strong and victorious deity and of YHWH holding back and loosing the waters are all discernible in Job 12, which has itself been read as an echo of the Babylonian conquest, directly emulating the tone and content of Lamentations 3 (Houck-Loomis, 2018: 187-188).¹⁴⁴

Nor do the similarities between Job and the Reed Sea episode end here. Job 12.22 presents YHWH manipulating and confusing dark and light (Purdue, 1991: 98-100): a sense of confusion which can also be seen in the puzzling Exod 14.20. Job also references slavery, with the man Job portrayed as a slave in chapters 1-3, and as subjected to 'hard service' in 7.1 and 14.14 (Purdue, 1991: 127, 169). Furthermore, Purdue points out that the word translated as 'hard service' (*\Sigma\Sigma\Sigma) appears in Isaiah 40.2 specifically to describe the

¹⁴⁴ This idea is supported by the more conservative Habel, who envisages the Chaldean raiding parties mentioned in Job 1.17 as 'evok[ing] associations with the organized destruction wrought by the Babylonian army on Israel.' (1985: 92).

¹⁴³ It goes against my methodical instinct to return to 14.4 out of sequence but it makes the most sense to do so now, in terms of the logical flow of my argument.

fate of exiles in Babylon (1991: 127). ¹⁴⁵ It is possible that the Israelites' slavery in Egypt might in itself echo this fate.

In the same way that Job has been read as alluding to the Babylonian conquest, with its tropes of pursuit, of slavery, of the deity as a warrior and of YHWH controlling and manipulating the waters, so too Exod 13.17 – 15.21 hints at these specific events, despite the silence and generalisations which dominate the text and attest to the authors' struggle to bear witness to the experiences which traumatised them. The Reed Sea episode thus gives clues to the fall of Jerusalem and the Exile as specific events, as well as to trauma in general.

Within Job, the established theological order is thrown into disarray as Judah reels from the traumata of destruction and exile and gropes for a sense of meaning to its shared suffering. No longer can the people insist that virtue is always rewarded and vice punished. The concept of a just deity is subverted as a righteous man is made to suffer excruciatingly and entirely undeservedly (Houck-Loomis, 2018: 184, 195-198; Purdue, 1991: 109-110). Might this subversion of divine justice have also informed the extermination of the faceless Egyptian soldiers in the Reed Sea story?

iv) Other-worldly language

a) 13.21, 14.19 – At the opening of this narrative, YHWH is depicted wrapped in cloud and fire. Here, just as elsewhere in the Hebrew Bible, the fire represents theophany: a powerful manifestation of the deity (Meyers, 2005: 111-112; Sarna, 1996: 111). YHWH is thus visibly present in a form which marks him out as distinctly transcendent and 'other'. The

198

¹⁴⁵ The man Job thus functions as a representation of exiled Israel. Houck-Loomis advances the same argument (2018: 6, 197) but Habel disputes it (1985: 41).

other-worldly atmosphere is added to by the appearance of an angel or divine messenger in 14.19: another unmistakable example of YHWH's immanence (Alexander, 2017: 278).¹⁴⁶

Other-worldly or quasi-religious language are very common in biblical literature, of course. So it would be absurd to argue that a biblical text must fall into the category of survivor literature, simply because of the presence of this kind of language. However, the Reed Sea narrative seems especially rich in other-worldly language and tropes, including overtones of conflict on a mythological scale.

b) 14.16, 21-22, 27 – The scale of the action is miraculous: YHWH splits the ocean to allow the Israelites to cross on dry land, before turning the waters back and hurling the panic-stricken Egyptians into the depths. The narrator is at pains to present this episode as singular and divinely-enacted.

What's more, the narrative presents YHWH's actions as conflict on a cosmic, mythological level. As Meyers observes:

The defeat of the Egyptian forces is nothing less than the defeat of chaos, of the universal forces antithetical to life and represented in mythic terms by raging waters. The "dragons" and "leviathan" that are crushed when God divides the primordial seas – doing so brings about "salvation" in the world in Ps 74:12–17 – here are the pharaoh's armies. (2005: 115-116)¹⁴⁷

Similarly, Brueggemann sees the parting of the sea as an echo of the Genesis creation myth¹⁴⁸: 'replicating the coming of dry land... when the sea is divided for the sake of

¹⁴⁷Fretheim also underlines this dimension of YHWH's victory: 'God's victory at the sea is not simply an event of local significance, vanquishing a historical enemy, however important. It is a cosmic victory.' (1991: 153). Alexander is more cautious about this idea. He accepts that the Reed Sea episode echoes the early chapters of Genesis but argues that this link focuses on 'reversing the consequences of Adam and Eve's expulsion from God's presence', rather than consciously drawing on elements from other ANE creation myths (2017: 309-310). He seems alone in raising this objection, though.

¹⁴⁶ 'Messenger' is a better translation of the Hebrew than 'angel' but, whether messenger or angel, this being can be seen as a bodily representation of YHWH (see e.g. Cole, 1973: 121).

¹⁴⁸ Of course, this assumes that the writers of Exodus borrowed from Genesis, rather than vice versa and, as Alexander points out, it is difficult to prove which book borrowed from which (2017: 292-293). In any case, the allusion to creation in Exod 13-15 seems clear.

inhabitable land' (1994: 794). It might even have been intended as a response to and refutation of other ANE creation myths, which depict creation as arising from conflict between a deity and the forces of chaos, represented by the sea (Bruckner, 2008: 138-139).

Even in the context of the Hebrew Bible, in which 'other-worldly' language is commonplace, this is an extraordinary episode. The scale of YHWH's involvement, along with the echoes of creation and cosmic conflict, creates an impression of sublimity and transcendence. It calls to mind the 'language of ultimate concern' employed by Terrence Des Pres in his literary response to the Holocaust (1976: vi).

c) 14.20, 24-25 – It is unclear how light and darkness relate to each other in 14.20, hence this verse being notoriously difficult to translate. In my own translation, I render the verse: 'behold the cloud and darkness shone in the night'. The sense is of light being somehow produced by the cloud and darkness, but how this happens is ambiguous. Among commentators, Propp (1999: 498) and Dozeman (2009: 316-317) notice the confusion but do not clarify exactly what they believe is happening at this point. Dozeman suggests that the ambiguity may be attributed to a combination of different sources (2009: 316).

This confusion over light and darkness lends the text an unreal, dreamlike impression, which is enhanced by vv24-25. In these verses, the wheels of the Egyptian chariots are diverted - wrested from their control – and they are left panicking and helpless as their

¹⁹

Syr), the verb is \nabla \nabla '', which can only be translated 'bound'. But the \textbf is missing from MT's \nabla '', opening up a range of possible interpretations: 'bound', 'diverted' and even 'removed' (Propp, 1999: 500, supported by Dozeman, 2009: 316). Noth favours 'clogged' (1962: 117). Cole envisages the chariots being bogged down, with their axles broken afterwards (1973: 122). Hyatt rules out 'bound', assuming that this implies 'the Egyptian chariots were bogged down in the mud or quicksand over which the Israelites had been able to pass easily. However, this clause comes too early in the account, for there is no reference to the return of the waters until verse 27.' (1980: 145). But, as Propp rightly observes, 'bound' might simply mean that YHWH locked the chariots' wheels (1999: 500). Propp rejects 'removed' as an interpretation, since wheels removed from a chariot wouldn't turn at all, not even with the 'difficulty' the text mentions (1999: 500). The most intriguing possibility is 'diverted'. Perhaps YHWH makes the chariot drivers lose control and collide with each other. Propp hears in

doom is sealed (Alter, 2004: 395; Noth, 1962: 117). It is not just dreamlike but nightmarish, especially from the Egyptians' point of view.

Such confusion and ambiguity are common in trauma literature, including biblical trauma narratives. Literature which conveys trauma is susceptible to traumatised repetition and flashback, so it should not be surprising if the narrative itself is confused and non-linear (as Claassens observes, 2020a: 7-8). This confusion adds to the other-worldly atmosphere of the text. Poser underscores this by showing how the authors of Ezekiel, under the influence of trauma, created a narrative with a novel, non-linear and other-worldly form: 'fiktionale Literatur in Reaktion auf Schwägen, Negationen und Ausschlüsse herrschender (Sinn-)Systeme Gegenwelten oder -wirklichkeiten zu entwerfen versucht' (2012: 254). ¹⁵⁰

d) 14.21, 15.5 – Garber argues that the other-worldly language characteristic of survivor literature includes 'heightened fissures in language, puns, wordplay' (2015: 26), and there are suggestions within Exod 13-15 of wordplay of this kind. For example, \$\Pi\Pi\Pi\Pi\Pi\ ('dry ground')\$ could be read as a pun on \$\Pi\Pi\Pi\Pi\Pi\ ('sword')\$ in 14.21, conveying the idea of YHWH using the ground itself as a weapon, and \$\Pi\Pi\Pi\Pi\Pi\Pi\ ('the depths')\$ may be a play on the name 'Tiamat' in 15.5 (Bruckner, 2008: 133-134, 138-139). I find these possibilities fascinating but, unfortunately, Bruckner's argument on this point does not seem to have a great deal of support from other commentators. Without more detail from Bruckner on how he reached

-

^{14.25} an echo of 14.6, in which Pharaoh harnessed (המשל) his chariots (1999: 500). This echo is indeed clearly present, either as the exact same word (as in Sam) or as a pun (as in MT). Pharaoh harnessed his chariots to begin with, but in the later verse, it is YHWH who controls them (Propp, 1999: 500)! Of the possible interpretations of the verb, I prefer 'diverted', since it is the most effective in bringing out YHWH's wresting control of the chariots away from Pharaoh.

¹⁵⁰ 'fictional literature attempts to create counter-worlds or realities in response to the weaknesses, negations and exclusions of dominant systems'.

these conclusions and which other scholars (if any) influenced them, we must leave the prospect of wordplay in Exod 13-15 as an intriguing possibility but, alas, not a convincing argument.

e) 15.6-12 – The Song of Moses is shot through with poetic hyperbole, exemplified by these seven verses. YHWH utterly destroys his enemies (15.7) and the mere breath of his nostrils is enough to pile up the waters of the sea and bring them down upon his adversaries (15.8, 10).

The unmistakable theophany, the cosmic scale of YHWH's action, the dreamlike atmosphere, and the hyperbolic description of YHWH's greatness represent a thread of other-worldly language and tropes which runs throughout Exod 13.17 – 15.21. Even in the context of the Hebrew Bible, in which other-worldly language is commonplace and ecstatic experiences are frequent, the Reed Sea episode is extraordinary, and its thread of other-worldliness can be attributed to the influence of the authors' trauma on the text. The authors, unable to describe their traumatising experiences in a literal, documentary account, appear to have processed and come to terms with their trauma partly by recasting it in hyperbolic language and in terms of a cosmic conflict.

- *v)* Extreme and enduring fear
- a) 14.10 There is a good deal of fear to be found in the Reed Sea episode. Firstly, the Israelites are 'very much afraid' after seeing Pharaoh and his army bearing down on them. The construction of the Hebrew phrase און באר באר (Clines, 1998: 276-277) and, in response, Moses must reassure them: 'Do not be afraid' (14.13). Brueggemann (1994: 793), Alter (2004: 392) and Meyers (2005: 114) are among the commentators who highlight the intensity of the Israelites' fear.
- b) 14.25 The Egyptians themselves are portrayed as extremely fearful even panic-stricken when it becomes clear that YHWH has trapped them and is contending for Israel against them (see e.g. Hyatt, 1980: 155; Alter, 2004: 395). Indeed, when they realise the full extent of their plight, the Egyptians then flee in fear for their lives (14.27).

¹⁵¹ Some commentators gloss over the Israelites' apparent fear of YHWH by calling it 'reverence' (e.g. Cassuto, 2005: 172) or 'reverential awe' (e.g. Durham, 1987: 197). But shying away from the sense of pure fear in איר gives a translation missing an important nuance of the verb.

d) 15.14-16 – These verses from the Song of Moses repeatedly portray Israel's enemies as fearful and terrified of YHWH. The deity's acts in saving and redeeming his people inspire 'terror and dread' in the nations who see those acts (15.16). Their fearful trembling is mentioned twice (15.14-15). As Dozeman comments, 'The nations are disturbed... They tremble...They experience anguish like birth pangs... terror... dread' (2009: 339).

What's more, the inhabitants of Canaan are described as 'motionless like stone' (15.16), suggesting not just fear but traumatised 'constriction', whereby terror causes a victim to freeze physically and escape from reality by altering their state of consciousness – even to the point of an out-of-body experience (Herman, 1997: 42-43). It is possible that this image is informed by the authors' having witnessed others literally paralysed by fear. Within the context of a revenge fantasy, whereby the traumatising experience is inverted and the roles of victim and perpetrator reversed (Herman, 1997: 189; Thomas, 2004: 297), it is understandable that helplessness and extreme fear are transferred from the authors and their community onto their enemies.

It would be going too far to claim that fear is 'all pervading' in the Reed Sea episode, but it is certainly obvious and multi-faceted. Both the Israelites and the Egyptians experience extreme fear, believing their lives are in danger, and YHWH's enemies are depicted as terrified within the Song of Moses. The presence of fear in these chapters is not sufficient on its own to provide a convincing case for trauma underpinning the text. However, trauma is inextricably linked to extreme and enduring fear (for example, see van der Kolk and van der Hart, 1995: 172; Herman, 1997: 33) and, when combined with the other criteria in this study, a stronger case forms for understanding the Reed Sea episode as survivor literature.

vi) Learned helplessness

a) 14.9-12 – The sudden appearance of the Egyptians and the peril they represent leads the 'unarmed and defenceless' Israelites (Alexander, 2017: 268) not to action but to helpless 'crying out' to YHWH.

Morrow outlines the learned helplessness common among trauma survivors and suggests the Judaean exiles – and especially second-generation exiles – may have developed learned helplessness themselves, characterised by despair, passivity and low self-esteem (2004: 82-84). Similarly, trauma-induced helplessness might have found expression in the characterisation of helpless and passive Israelites in the Reed Sea episode: a piece of literature reshaped and augmented by second-generation exiles.

b) 15.14-15 – The terror and trembling of the 'peoples' may reflect the passivity experienced by the exiled Judaeans. By contrast, YHWH is presented within the song as supremely powerful and beyond comparison even with other deities. He is the ultimate protagonist.
 Perhaps the Yehud community, in which Exod 13.17 – 15.21 was reshaped and completed, in some respects needed a deity like this, to help them come to terms with their shared trauma and offer them a sense of security for the future.

Is Exod 13.17 – 15.21 a piece of survivor literature?

There is evidence for several of the common markers of survivor literature within the text, and I believe the case for trauma-influenced anger and desire for revenge is particularly strong. The combination of similarities to pieces of recent survivor literature, along with the complex of trauma-inducing experiences associated with the siege and fall of Jerusalem, and

the possibility (if not probability) of trauma arising from the Exile represents a compelling case for reading the Reed Sea episode as an example of survivor literature too.

However, there are weaknesses to this case. It is not (yet) possible to prove conclusively that the exiled Judaeans were traumatised; still less that any trauma they experienced was passed on to their children and grandchildren. And although the text of Exod 13-15 can be read as manifesting trauma and a trauma-informed reading of the text offers novel answers to some textual difficulties, there are several other valid explanations for why the text is formed as it is. For example, it could be a literal, absolutely factual, historical account (although I find that idea implausible). At the other extreme, it could be a simple literary fabrication: a work of fiction for the amusement of Yehud's intelligentsia (although it is hard to reconcile this prospect with the extent to which the Exodus motif has left an imprint on the whole Hebrew Bible). Or it is possible that Exod 13-15 is a bit of both: a historical account which has been embellished with literary artistry to create a more powerful and memorable story.

It must also be noted that, even if the similarities between the Reed Sea episode and modern survivor literature were overwhelming, the Reed Sea narrative cannot be categorised as survivor literature in its truest sense. The available modern survivor literature was all composed by individuals who had themselves experienced the events which caused the trauma inherent in their literary works. It is my contention that, although the core of the Reed Sea narrative was composed by trauma survivors, a significant portion of it was shaped by a group of scribes who were *descended* from survivors.

While I hold that this trauma would have been transmitted to them by their parents, grandparents or even wider community, I will resist the temptation to widen my definition of survivor literature to accommodate Exodus, lest I dilute the raw and visceral trauma expressed

within this category and, somehow, belittle the suffering of those who survived Hiroshima and the Holocaust. Instead, I propose a new category of literature, similar but different to survivor literature. I propose to call it 'survival literature': writing which conveys a community's latent trauma and, in so doing, helps that community to understand itself, shape its post-traumatic identity and heal. In short, survival literature is literature which helps a community to survive.

There is a valid case for reading Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 as a piece of survival literature. However (and, I confess, slightly to my disappointment), the idea of trauma within the text, while compelling, is not unassailable. Research into other passages of the Pentateuch might yield further evidence of the authors' trauma and such evidence would strengthen my case. For now, I must let my hypothesis stand as an innovative and illuminating interpretation of the text, but not yet an irrefutable argument.

In this chapter, I have suggested that trauma offers new insights into how Exod 13.17 – 15.21 assumed its final form. I have not yet fully explained *why* the authors chose this specific story to express their pain and grief. The answer to that question lies in an exploration of the Yehud community's collective memory.

Trauma expert Kai Erikson observes that '...trauma shared can serve as a source of communality in the same way that common languages and common backgrounds can. There is a spiritual kinship there, a sense of identity' (1995: 186). Thus, a collective trauma can not only cast a shadow over a community for several generations but also reinforce the bonds within that community. Furthermore, creating certain stories and preserving them in their collective memory can not only express traumatised pain, anger and grief, but help a community to 'heal and adapt' (Smith-Christopher, 2014: 238). The next chapter will explore

the relationship between trauma and collective memory, and how these two factors might have combined in the formation and preservation of the Reed Sea story.

Chapter 5 – Traumatised memory in the Reed Sea episode

We can see, then, that Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 shows evidence of the trauma which overshadowed its authors. But what was the authors' purpose in preserving a narrative and song marked by trauma in this way? An assumption that they were motivated simply by a desire to record a literal historical account of events appears implausible. Collective memory studies seems to offer a more enlightening perspective.

I believe that the authors of Exodus were writing in order to shape the collective memory of their community. Through the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses, the experiences of the fall of Jerusalem and exile to Babylonia were preserved – and, along with them, the accompanying trauma – in such a way as to be passed on easily and 'remembered' by subsequent generations. To be clear, Exod 13-15 is not a repository for simple, unreconstructed memories of historical events, but a means by which memory is communicated: a memory vector or 'mnemotechnic' as Assmann calls it (2011: 196-199).¹⁵²

The Exodus was clearly a hugely important memory to the communities in which the Hebrew Bible was written and edited. The Exodus is referred to repeatedly throughout the Hebrew Bible and is especially vivid as an image for the return from Exile within the writings of the sixth century prophets. Second Isaiah and Ezekiel both present the return from Babylonia in terms of a 'Second Exodus' and their respective uses of this trope shed light on why the Reed Sea episode may have been so significant for the authors of Exod 13-15, and why they chose this specific story to convey a sense of their own suffering.

In Ezekiel, the return from Babylonia is to be not only a recapitulation of the Exodus but superior to it (Allen, 1990: 15-16). There are some similarities between Ezekiel 20 and Exodus 13-15. Within both passages, YHWH's wrath is hard to ignore. Both include the

-

¹⁵² Assmann posits eight such vectors, which Culp has since summarised and re-categorised into just three: story, song and ritual (Culp, 2020: 109).

image of YHWH gathering his people. Both could be said to show concern for fidelity and obedience to YHWH (c.f. Exod 14.31; Ezek 20.39-40). But whereas in Exod 13-15, the deity's wrath is targeted against Israel's enemies, Ezek 20 describes his wrath being turned against his own people – his giving over of his people to flawed and impossible laws (20.25-26) put them in a position similar to Pharaoh in terms of being manipulated and misled (Block, 1997: 639). While Exod 15.13-17 envisages YHWH gathering his people, leading them to a secure home and striking terror into the hearts of neighbouring nations, Ezek 20.34-40 presents this gathering as a time of judgment and purging, with those who survive being appointed to serve YHWH (Levitt Kohn, 2002: 108). Thus, the authors of Ezekiel repurpose the Exodus image for their own ends, lending it a very different tone from Exod 13-15. Ezekiel's concerns for purity and for the exclusivity of Israel (see e.g. Rom-Shiloni, 2011: 141-143; Strine, 2012: 473) are probably not especially relevant to the Reed Sea episode in Exod 13-15.

The tone and mood of Second Isaiah seem far more in step with Exodus. In Second Isaiah, the Exodus is eschatological: the return to the land is marked by YHWH's manifest presence in Zion, with his people (Anderson, 2010: 181). The gathering of Israel from all four compass directions, in the presence of the nations (43.5-9), echoes YHWH's establishment of Israel in his dwelling in Exod 15.13-18. The emphasis on passing 'through the waters' (Isa 43.2) suggests a victory over chaos and also over calamity more generally. Indeed, the redemption envisaged in 43.1-2 is associated with creation, echoing the overtones of creation myth within Exod 15 (Goldingay, 2005: 188; see also Fretheim, 1991: 166-168). Isa 42-43 also seems to include direct allusions to Exod 14-15: 43.16-17 seems a direct reference to

¹⁵³ This seems more akin to Sinai than to the Reed Sea crossing itself, as Allen notes (1990: 14). What is more, Ezekiel emphasises idolatry as defiling the land and the people: a concept absent from Exod 13-15 (Patton, 1996: 80).

Exod 14.22-23, and 42.13 describes YHWH as a 'man of war' – the exact description offered by Exod 15.3 (Whybray, 1975: 78).

Just as Second Isaiah presents the return from Exile as a moment of triumph, a gathering of YHWH's scattered and oppressed people and a vital step in his coming to dwell among them (Anderson, 2010: 181-182), the Reed Sea story in Exod 13-15 can be understood as an eschatological event. This may explain why the authors of Exodus chose to express their pain, loss and suffering through this specific story. Reeling from the destruction of Jerusalem by their enemies and forced displacement to Babylonia, a story envisaging triumph, restoration and vindication by their deity would have been more important than ever to the authors and their community. Although their trauma still intrudes into the text, the story allowed them to reframe the pain and humiliation of 586 B.C.E. as a memory of strength, victory and fulfilment.

In this chapter, I examine how the rubric of collective memory is relevant to Exod 13.17 – 15.21, and how the trauma underlying this text is likely to have affected the Yehud community's collective memory. I begin by outlining where the concept of collective memory originated, its most prominent exponents and the key features of their arguments, and how these ideas have already been applied to the study of the Hebrew Bible. Next, I explore traumatised memory – that is, how collective memory is influenced by an experience of shared trauma, along with examples of how those ideas, too, have been used in recent biblical studies. All of this is to set the context for the heart of this chapter: how the experience of shared trauma preserved in Exod 13.17 – 15.21 affected the collective memory of the community in which it was reshaped and completed (post-exilic Yehud), and subsequent generations of Israelites.

In my summary of collective memory, I have focused particularly on Maurice Halbwachs and Jan Assmann, both of whose ideas have been especially influential within memory studies, widely cited and developed by other scholars. ¹⁵⁴ Similarly, in my discussion of traumatised memory, I have concentrated on LaCapra and Alexander, whose ideas are ground-breaking, influential and relevant to any study of how trauma affects a community's collective memory. ¹⁵⁵ I also offer illustrations of how conclusions from all four scholars have been applied to biblical texts. My decisions on which biblical scholars to include have been made easier by the small number of scholars involved in this kind of study. Nevertheless, their work remains insightful and all the more valuable for its rarity. I have, however, given particular attention to scholars who have applied collective memory studies to Exodus and/or Moses, as these studies are most directly relevant to my own work.

A notable absence from this chapter is Marianne Hirsch and her work on postmemory. This theory is fascinating, Hirsch's work is especially engaging, and my instinct is that it may be relevant to the study of the Reed Sea episode. I have omitted postmemory from this thesis simply because it adds another layer of complexity to memory studies, and space does not allow me to explore the concept to a satisfactory depth and apply it to the Reed Sea episode alongside traumatised memory.

What is collective memory?

The term 'collective memory' appears to have been coined by Maurice Halbwachs in his incomplete 1941 work *La Topographie Légendaire des Évangiles en Terre Sainte: Etude*

-

¹⁵⁴ For example, Connerton (1989) and Zerubavel (1995) cite and build on Halbwachs' theories, and Halbwachs and Assmann are both referenced throughout Erll and Nünning's edited volume of essays on cultural memory (2008)

¹⁵⁵ Le Goff (1992) has also written useful material on history and memory, but not with such a clear link to trauma.

de Mémoire Collective, and explained at more length in Les Cadres Sociaux de la Mémoire (1952). ¹⁵⁶ I have drawn on this second work, more coherent and more extensive than the first, in order to summarise and critique Halbwachs' ideas. Halbwachs proposes the idea of collective memory as an explanation for why an individual's memories are influenced by the group(s) to which they feel a sense of belonging (1992: 49), and why certain past events recur within a group while others are forgotten (1992: 39). Central to his thesis is his contention that an individual's memory derives from outside themselves (1992: 169-170). That is, the individual is influenced and shaped by the society in which they live, and this shaping includes the individual's recollections of the past (1992: 50-51).

It must be noted that Halbwachs did not create his ideas *ex nihilo*. His influences are not immediately clear, partly because he provides surprisingly few references for such a substantial work. But a handful of direct references to Emile Durkheim (1992: 55, 66, 76, 78, 89, 164) give the strongest hint of a guiding influence. Indeed, Halbwachs' interest in memory as a product of a group appears to owe a good deal to Durkheim's concept of collective consciousness (c.f. Durkheim, 1933: 147). It was Durkheim who first considered 'the ties which bind us to society and which come from the community of beliefs and sentiments' (Durkheim, 1933: 147; Halbwachs, 1992: 52-53) which assert themselves through 'unwritten rules' such as 'custom and public opinion' (1933: 147). Durkheim also notes the role of the older members of a society in preserving 'traditional beliefs and practices' (1933: 293-294), echoed by Halbwachs (1992: 48). Similarly, Halbwachs appears to have adopted

-

thought.

 ¹⁵⁶ For this study, I have referred to Coser's translation of Halbwachs' original work, published in 1992.
 157 The most appropriate translation of the French term 'conscience collective', coined by Durkheim, is a moot point. Simpson, for example, favours 'collective conscience' (Durkheim, 1933: 147), but this implies an element of moral judgment in the concept which may be misleading. 'Collective consciousness' is a less literal translation but may communicate the concept more helpfully, suggesting as it does awareness, sentience and

Durkheim's view that the collective consciousness is at its most potent and influential when it is specific and deeply ingrained (Durkheim, 1933: 290; Halbwachs, 1992: 183).¹⁵⁸

In more recent years, the Egyptologist Jan Assmann has written extensively and influentially on collective memory, developing Halbwachs' ideas and applying the concept of collective memory to Ancient Israel. Several other contemporary writers have made significant contributions to the field of study, but nearly all of these other significant contributors reference Assmann and largely accept his conclusions. He is also highly readable, with a wonderful turn of phrase.¹⁵⁹

While clearly influenced by Halbwachs, Assmann's writings soon reveal that his understanding of collective memory has a slightly different emphasis. For Assmann, collective memory is not merely a matter of how a society preserves memories it perceives as important, but also of how these memories form the society's shared identity (2011: 16). Assmann is an Egyptologist first and foremost, and he seems to approach the phenomenon of collective memory predominantly through the lens of the ancient world. That said, since Assmann focuses largely on ancient or pre-industrial societies, his examples are similar enough to Ancient Israel to give reasonable grounds for applying his ideas to the Hebrew Bible.

_

¹⁵⁸ While Halbwachs has built on some elements of Durkheim's work, he appears to have departed from him at other points. For example, where Durkheim seems vague on which 'traditional beliefs and practices' give shape to a society's collective consciousness (he mentions 'proverbs, adages, dicta' [1933: 170] but little else), Halbwachs is more specific, especially on how recollections of the past influence families (1992: 59, 63), religious groups (1992: 101-102) and social strata (1992: 128-130). Conversely, where Durkheim assumes that collective consciousness will inevitably become 'feebler and vaguer in its entirety... more abstract and more indecisive' (1933: 171), Halbwachs does not mention this, and seems to assume its enduring influence. Also, Durkheim's understanding of collective consciousness seems, paradoxically, to be quite individualistic: for Durkheim, the collective consciousness relies on a 'consensus' of individuals, whereby 'all consciences vibrate in unison' (1933: 152) and 'each [member of a society] contains within himself all that social life consists of' (1933: 151).

¹⁵⁹ 'Anyone who during today fixes his eyes on tomorrow must preserve yesterday from oblivion by grasping it through memory.' (2011: 17) is a good example of Assmann's skilful phrasing.

i) Purpose

Collective memory has a simple purpose: to ensure that events and figures which embody qualities seen as important and desirable are remembered by a community. While memories which encapsulate a 'physical or moral quality' (Halbwachs, 1992: 59) prized by the group are preserved, painful and undesirable aspects of the past are forgotten (1992: 51). Just as a society passes value judgments on individuals while they are alive, it extends these judgements when they are dead (1992: 175), by either preserving or neglecting memories relating to those individuals.

However, not all memories are equal. Some are everyday, prosaic and relate to the recent past: anecdotes which an individual might share with a contemporary. Assmann calls such recollections 'communicative' memories (2011: 36). The class of memories most relevant to this thesis is different. Memories deliberately preserved by a group – stories which are foundational to a community and its collective identity – stand apart from the ordinary recollections of individuals. It is these memories, called 'cultural' memories by Assmann, which are most applicable to Exod 13.17 –15.21. The difference between communicative memory and cultural memory can be summarised as 'the difference between the everyday and the festive, the profane and the sacred, the ephemeral and the lasting, the particular and the general' (2011: 43).

'Cultural memory' is therefore similar to collective memory but more focused: effectively a subset of collective memory. Cultural memory concentrates on foundational stories – myths – which explain the origins of the world, the specific community and its relationships with its deity and the cosmos (Assmann, 2011: 38). Its purpose is thus to shape the community's shared identity.

-

¹⁶⁰ Halbwachs' thesis contrasts with the concept of cultural trauma, whereby real or imagined grievances from a group's past are supposedly brought to the fore by the group's leaders (see below).

Indeed, the shaping of collective identity is central to cultural memory's function. The preservation of important ideas and values is crucial in its own right, but doing so also reinforces how a community sees itself. 'Just as an individual forms a personal identity through memory, maintaining this despite the passage of time, so a group identity is also dependent on the reproduction of shared memories.' (Assmann, 2011: 72). As a society refers back to its shared memories, which embody its values, those values reinforce its shared identity in the present (2011: 62).

Assmann comments on this subject to a much greater extent than Halbwachs, but he is supported by other theorists. For example, Connerton observes that commemorative ceremonies are particularly powerful in expressing a community's 'master narrative' and therefore reminding the members of that community of their collective identity (1989: 70).

Assmann suggests that the Exodus narrative was a foundational memory for Israel, which 'provided the basis for the identity not only of the people, but also of God himself.' (2011: 180). He appears to believe that the narrative is at least partly based on a literal historical event, calling it a 'foundational act' (2011: 180). But he also suggests that to argue over the historicity of the event is to miss the point: 'What matters here... is not the historical accuracy but the importance of this story for Israelite memory' (2011: 180). The Exodus narrative – the memory of the Exodus – plays a key role in shaping Israel's collective identity, so from that point of view, it is of little consequence whether or not the narrative depicts a literal historical event. (See section *iii*) below for a lengthier discussion of the relationship between collective memory and history.)

If the Exodus (and the Reed Sea episode as part of it) should be understood as an identity-forming myth, this opens up intriguing possibilities for the text. If Israel, Moses and YHWH are portrayed positively and Egypt negatively, this may be as much because of the

authors' concerns for the identity of their contemporaneous community, as because of any actual historical events behind the text.

ii) Memory figures

If an idea or a value is to be remembered by a society, it must be anchored in a 'memory figure': a concrete example of that idea or value (Assmann, 2011: 23-24). This concrete example might be an event, a place or a person (Halbwachs, 1992: 200), which makes me wonder whether (and to what extent) Moses might function as a memory figure within Exod 13.17 – 15.21. Halbwachs describes the Exodus tradition as a memory figure, in that numerous communities who perceive themselves as victims of oppression – not least the ancient survivors of Assyrian and Babylonian terror – find their plight reflected in this literary event (1992: 190). He stops short of proposing that Moses himself might be a memory figure, though.

Interestingly, Assmann goes on to develop his thoughts on how time and place can serve as memory figures (2011: 24-25), but does not offer further comment on how a person might fulfil this function. However, in *Moses the Egyptian*, he suggests that Moses might be, in effect, a deposit for both memories of Akhenaten (a rebellious Egyptian priest) and Israelite anti-Egyptian sentiment (Assmann, 1997: 11, 34-40). Moses is, it seems, remembered in a certain way by the authors of Exodus, because of the circumstances in which they lived and worked. Thus, he functions as a memory figure, although Assmann does not directly apply this label to him. I am not convinced there is sufficient evidence to give credence to the

_

¹⁶¹ As an example of a person as a memory figure, Halbwachs mentions Catherine of Siena seeing Jesus Christ as an example of suffering, influenced by the social and political upheavals of her time. Thus, Christ was a memory figure for Catherine: she saw her values embodied by this individual, and her memories of him were influenced by the context in which she lived (1992: 109).

'Moses as Egyptian' theory¹⁶², but in articulating this theory, Assmann at least raises important questions on how biblical figures – Moses in particular – might function as a memory figure for Israel.

Intriguingly for my own work, Assmann muses that the Pentateuch's depiction of the exodus might be a 'traumatic memory' (1997: 25). I agree with Assmann's observation but disagree with his conclusion. For Assmann, markers of trauma within the text of Exodus derive from religious and political upheaval in fourteenth century Egypt; from Akhenaten's revolution (1997: 25). 'Moses' is thus a relic of trauma. I would agree that the indicators of trauma within the text are indeed very clear, but I would contend that the origins of such traumas are several centuries later than Assmann would have us believe.

To summarise, within collective memory, important ideas coalesce around concrete exemplars, in the forms of events, places and people. All three of these forms of 'memory figures' are applicable to the Hebrew Bible and, indeed, to the Exodus story itself.

iii) Reconstruction

In order for events and figures to be remembered in a certain way within a community, it is often necessary for an individual's memories to be reconstructed. This occurs not merely through tacit influence but also by means of overt societal pressure to remember in a certain way: to reconstruct recollections of the past into their desired form (Halbwachs, 1992: 51). 'Society from time to time obligates people not just to reproduce in thought previous events of their lives, but also to touch them up, to shorten them, or to complete them so that, however convinced we are that our memories are exact, we give them a prestige that reality did not

¹⁶² Assmann is not the first to advance this theory. Freud first suggested it in *Moses and Monotheism* (1939) and it was then developed by Joseph Campbell, who saw the biblical story of Moses as an archetype for a mythological hero's journey (Campbell, 1949).

possess.' (1992: 51). Not only that, but this pressure continues to exert influence on an individual, even when s/he is no longer physically present within the society to whom s/he feels a sense of belonging. Collective memory is thus underpinned by bonds of intimacy and 'kinship' (1992: 49, 53, 56).

The implication, of course, is that a community's memory of an event may, in itself, be reconstructed. In the same way that an individual's memories may not be entirely true to actual past events, so a community will 'remember' a version of the past which may distort the literal historical events (deliberately or unconsciously), so as to emphasise important ideas or values. For example, the Bar Kokhba revolt against Rome, from 132-135 C.E., is described by contemporary Jewish sources as a crushing defeat, and Bar Kokhba himself is presented as a liar and a rogue. But from the nineteenth century onwards, a new interest in Jewish self-determination – and therefore in Jewish antiquity – has resulted in a revised memory of the revolt: it has come to be remembered by the Jewish community, not as a failed uprising but as a moment of heroism and an expression of their indomitable national spirit and struggle for freedom (Zerubavel, 1995: 48-55). And Bar Kokhba is remembered as a beloved folk hero, with his memory embellished by newly created legends (1995: 54, 103-104).

Just as a collective memory may be reconstructed, it may be revised. A memory is very difficult to modify, especially if it derives from a long time past or has influenced a great many people, or both, and has therefore become deeply ingrained in society (Halbwachs, 1992: 183). But even a prized memory can be 'opposed' and 'transformed' by ideas from the present, if these new ideas 'correspond to a collective experience, if not as ancient, at least much larger' (1992: 184). So, a community's collective memory can be radically revised if the community is confident that newer beliefs, shored up by revised memories, will replace the older beliefs adequately (1992: 187). Furthermore, a community's deeply-held beliefs can

be thrown into question by an experience of shared trauma. Traumatic events can be said to 'undermine the belief systems that give meaning to human experience... violate the victim's faith in a natural or divine order and cast the victim into a state of existential crisis.' (Herman, 1997: 51). This being the case, a traumatised community might deem it necessary to revise their beliefs and, at the same time, to revise the memories which inform their belief system.

'Memory culture' can be said to apply to all societies – ancient and modern – and focuses not on what a community finds useful to remember but on what it decides must not be forgotten (Assmann, 2011: 16). Historical accuracy is not essential within this – the question of historical fact is irrelevant. What matters is the preservation of knowledge, and preserving cultural memories as myths makes them more real and more powerful than any dry description of historical facts could ever be (2011: 38). The boundaries between memory and myth therefore become blurred. So it would be tempting to describe cultural memory as 'cultural myth-making' instead. However, even if a community realises that a particular cultural memory deviates from historical fact, that community can still choose to 'remember' people and events in that way. (This is illustrated by Israel's ready acceptance of the modern legend of Bar Kokhba and the lion, which has no basis whatsoever in contemporary source material [Zerubavel, 1995: 103-104]). A cultural memory therefore remains a memory, despite being simultaneously (at least partly) a myth.

This serves to illustrate a key point: memory is not history. While history (in Halbwachs' and Assmann's understanding) has to do with universal realities, memory is specific to an individual group or community. There is no universal memory or objective 'truth' to a memory's form or content. Indeed, a community defines its shared memories partly in opposition to the memories of other communities (Assmann, 2011: 28-29).

If collective memory reconstructs historical events and figures to express important ideas and beliefs, if a deeply-ingrained memory can itself be revised in light of a contemporary crisis, then even wholesale changes to a community's collective memory are possible. The logical conclusion is that a 'memory' might even be a pure creation, with no basis whatsoever in historical events.

iv) Preservation

For an important person or event to be remembered by a community, it must be preserved. For 'communicative memories', based on everyday experiences from the recent past, this preservation might take place simply by individuals sharing and discussing these memories (Assmann, 2011: 36). However, for 'cultural' memories, stories foundational to a community and its collective identity, the process of preservation is much more formalised. Halbwachs notes that the elderly tend to be seen as the guardians of collective memories, especially in primitive societies (1992: 48), and Assmann develops this idea, arguing that such memories are indeed entrusted only to a select group of people, but that these carrier groups vary from one society to another. Poets, bards, scribes, priests and teachers may all be given the mantle of preserving memories, carrying them and ensuring they are passed on appropriately (Assmann, 2011: 39). And just as a very select group of people preserves cultural memories, other groups (e.g. women and members of lower social strata) are flatly excluded from articulating these memories in any kind of public context (2011: 40).

Assmann illustrates this trend by referring to classical China and Ancient Greece, where certain specialised forms of communication had to be mastered before an individual could presume to carry and express cultural memories, and to twentieth century Senegalese bards (2011: 39-40). However, this does not seem to be applicable to all societies. For

example, I would question to what extent specialised forms of communication of cultural memories can be observed within modern, Western societies. To be sure, we still have poets, artists and teachers, but I doubt whether their art is as formalised, and whether they hold the same influence over the population, as their counterparts in less industrialised contexts.

Nor can we assume that all carrier groups of cultural memories operate within the same limitations. A 'bard' is not the same thing as a 'scribe'. So while Rwandan bards may be required to learn eighteen royal rituals, word for word, with little scope for their own literary creations (Assmann, 2011: 39-40), the scribes who composed the book of Exodus may have had a very different role. As revisionist Bible scholars argue, such scribes would have had freedom to create stories, as well as responsibilities to record legal documents and financial transactions (see e.g. Davies, 1998: 16-18). So, although Assmann does not make this explicit, the possibility remains that a cultural memory might be created by its carrier group, not simply preserved by them.

There is a linguistic difference, too. Cultural memories tend to be expressed in an older form of the community's language, instead of the contemporary vernacular (e.g. Ancient Hebrew instead of Yiddish) (Assmann, 2011: 18; 2008: 117-118), lending those memories a tone which suggests weight and significance. Davies agrees, claiming that scribal compositions – at least biblical texts – feature an 'artificial archaic language, which marks off literary texts from other writing and from speech' (1998: 34). The argument for such artificial archaisation in biblical texts is contested but it is intriguing that this trend is observed in other cultures. This raises questions about whether it might, after all, apply to the Reed Sea narrative.

Thus, a community's most significant memories are jealously guarded. Only a select few individuals are allowed to keep and communicate them, and this communication is done

by means of rituals and festivals, and through carefully preserved texts (Halbwachs, 1992: 101-102; Assmann, 2011: 72-74). The memory of the Passover is preserved and communicated through the Seder meal (Halbwachs, 1992: 116; Assmann, 2011: 73). A cultural memory's 'special' status is therefore made clear to the community by its preservation by a select group of people, by its archaic language and often by the ritualised form in which it is communicated.

Neither Halbwachs nor Assmann reaches an entirely clear conclusion on how a society decides precisely which memories must be preserved. Both give hints on this, however. Halbwachs emphasises an element of collective judgment: society preserves memories of events and figures which encapsulate important and desirable ideas or moral qualities (1992: 59), and Assmann implies something similar; that events and figures must be perceived as somehow foundational to the society's history, in order for that society to deem it necessary to remember them (2011: 38). Assmann also observes, astutely, that power can influence the selection and preservation of collective memories. A ruler may co-opt his society's memories to emphasise qualities and ideas which suit his agenda, to legitimise his leadership and, above all, to ensure that his own deeds will be remembered (2011: 54). So, although memories are chosen for preservation largely by consensus, this can be overridden by a charismatic or tyrannical leader. All of this suggests that collective memories are preserved based on the conscious decision of a society – especially the decision of its leaders – rather than tacit approval or rejection. Certainly, it is not a matter of one generation passively inheriting memories from the generation before (Halbwachs, 1992: 80).

Beyond this, Halbwachs points out that religion is often closely associated with the society in which it was birthed, and is therefore integral to preserving memories of that society's origins and pivotal events (1992: 84). With such a close relationship between

religion and society, we could surmise that religious agents are also likely to be involved in any decisions about which memories their society should preserve.

Memory studies and the Hebrew Bible

The divide between collective memory studies and biblical studies is far from neat. Specialists in the history and memory of the ancient world – Assmann and Ben Zvi in particular – are understandably drawn to Ancient Israel and the Hebrew Bible to illustrate their ideas. And in turn, it is impossible to entirely separate the study of the Hebrew Bible from its repeated imperative to 'remember' (c.f. Deuteronomy).

i) Purpose

Several Bible scholars follow Halbwachs and Assmann, even crediting them as direct influences, in arguing that the Hebrew Bible represents a reflection of the community's desire to preserve important cultural memories. ¹⁶³ Just as Assmann explains that preserving such memories underpins a community's present, Bible scholars see the Hebrew Bible as a repository of Israel's memories, used to apply important ideas from the nation's past to the present of the biblical authors (e.g. Smith, 2004: 117), and to shape the nation's collective identity (e.g. Blenkinsopp, 2004b: 11-12).

Within Ancient Israel, as within numerous other societies, collective memory was not concerned only with preserving memory figures – places, events and people – but also with interpreting those figures, in the light of present concerns. For example, Mark S. Smith argues that the Yehud community chose to remember Sinai as a pivotal cultic moment, because it

1

¹⁶³ For example, Hendel cites Halbwachs and Assmann as direct influences (2001: 601-603) and, while Blenkinsopp references Connerton instead (2004: 3), Connerton's thesis is itself in step with Halbwachs and Assmann.

helped them come to terms with the loss of the Temple (Smith, 2004: 126, 134). Indeed – and this is an important idea for my own thesis – the entire Exodus narrative was preserved in writing, so as to speak into the present concerns of the community: the escape from slavery, the teaching of Torah and the arrival in a 'promised land' echoed the Yehud community's own direct experiences (2004: 131). The parallels between the Exodus narrative and the return from the Babylonian Exile are clear, although I believe Smith's argument needs support from other sources to be entirely convincing.

Echoing Assmann's ideas on cultural memory as identity-forming, Blenkinsopp argues that the Hebrew Bible serves as a repository for Ancient Israel's shared memories, especially the memory of the fall of Jerusalem (Blenkinsopp, 2004b: 2-3). By extension, in preserving Israel's collective memory, the Hebrew Bible shaped Israel's collective identity (2004: 11-12).

Emphasising the far-reaching consequences of a disaster for a society's identity, Blenkinsopp argues plausibly that the fall of Jerusalem was sufficiently catastrophic to have left an imprint on any and all biblical texts produced afterwards (2004b: 2, 3). Perhaps because of my own interest in trauma literature, I expected him to go on to demonstrate how the fall of Jerusalem resulted in markers of trauma within the text of the Hebrew Bible, but Blenkinsopp changes tack at this point, arguing that Israel preserved the memory of the fall of Jerusalem, 'not so much to perpetuate the memory of the disaster as to explain *why it happened*.' (2004b: 5, emphasis added). ¹⁶⁴ Thus, the Hebrew Bible preserves the memory of the fall of Jerusalem to help the community come to terms with the disaster. And through preserving and processing this memory, the community's collective identity is changed.

_

¹⁶⁴ Janzen argues something very similar with regard to DtrH. For Janzen, the Deuteronomist's desire to answer the 'why' of the Exile is not a marker of trauma but, conversely, minimises the suffering of the people and relegates trauma to the margins of the narrative (2019: 41, 48-50).

A sense of shared identity would have been vital following the Exile, at a time when the fledgling 'new commonwealth' was struggling to establish itself. By articulating, processing and coming to terms with the fall of Jerusalem, in the context of constructing a quasi-mythological past, the Yehud community's shared identity was solidified (Blenkinsopp, 2004b: 11-14). This argument is in step with scholars like Crouch who apply the sociological concept of group identity to biblical texts. Crouch points out that ethnic identity is often constructed in times of social and political upheaval and in response to the discovery of similar but distinct alternative identities (2014: 94-97). In response to exactly these stimuli, Deuteronomy was composed as an exercise in identity formation for Israel (2014: 92). Crouch holds that Deuteronomy was largely composed before the Exile and that the drive to articulate Israelite identity was prompted by an Assyrian influence, not a Babylonian one (2014: 98). However, her observations still add weight to the argument for post-exilic texts as identity forming, even if she does not view Deuteronomy as a post-exilic text.

To me, it seems likely that large portions of the Hebrew Bible were composed in order to reinforce the shared identity of the Yehud community, following the return from Exile, as Blenkinsopp suggests, but he does not specify how he envisages the completed text being communicated to the wider community. Blenkinsopp makes it clear that, in his view, the 'vast majority' of residents of Yehud would have been unable to read and write, and even the scribes who are likely to have written down post-exilic biblical texts would have been limited in their linguistic skill and understanding (2004b: 4-5), but he offers no alternative explanation for how the community's 'myths of origin' might have been passed from person to person.

Blenkinsopp's essay on memory and history in Ancient Israel was written at a similar time to Assmann's treatise on Moses as an Egyptian, and the two seem to think along similar lines, but Blenkinsopp gives no direct reference to Assmann's work. Neither does
Blenkinsopp acknowledge Vamik Volkan, which is surprising as the opening pages of
Blenkinsopp's essay closely resemble Volkan's work. He even directly mentions
transgenerational transmission of memories, especially memories of a disaster (2004b: 3). The
only significant difference between Blenkinsopp and Volkan on this subject is that
Blenkinsopp does not name 'trauma' as a result of a disaster, despite dancing all around it: he
describes specific events which deeply disturbed the societies affected and affirms that such
disasters have a significant bearing on the society's subsequent collective identity (2004b: 3).
He also supplies the same example of the Battle of Kosovo in 1389 as being pivotal to
Serbia's national identity (2004b: 3).

The Hebrew Bible, then, preserves Ancient Israel's most important memories, in order to explain and come to terms with its most traumatic experiences, and to reinforce the nation's collective identity.

ii) Memory figures

As Assmann argues, cultural memory can be preserved partly through its association with a 'memory figure': a key cultural object such as a place, a monument, a ritual or an artefact (2011: 23-24). Several Bible scholars have developed this idea, with reference to the Hebrew Bible. For example, Smith highlights the importance of place in shaping cultural memory. Mount Sinai, for instance, is pivotal to Israel's collective memory: at this place, the nation's shared past and religious identity are recast, and Israel's earlier monolatry is reframed into outright monotheism (2004: 119, 126).

Mount Sinai is significant in another respect, too. Ritual and religious observance are key factors in shaping collective memory (Smith, 2004: 123), and Sinai represents a place of

revelation, where the people receive the Law from God, and a place of worship for a people without a Temple. This emphasis on Sinai in Exodus was especially important at the time when the book was written, Smith claims. As noted above, in post-exilic Yehud, when Jerusalem and its Temple had not yet been fully restored following their destruction by Babylon, an alternative sanctuary would have been necessary to help the community come to terms with the fall of Jerusalem. Exodus, completed in this context, therefore remembers Sinai as a place of worship and theophany (2004: 134).

Just as places function as memory figures within the Hebrew Bible, so do events and people (Ben Zvi, 2013: 335). Hendel looks at Abraham from this perspective: the collective memory of Abraham, as preserved in Genesis, is functional rather than simply descriptive of his life and actions. 'To both God and humans, Abraham's memory restores a link between past, present, and future, providing a catalyst for reflection and action.' (2005: 32). So the preserved memory of Abraham is a device to solidify collective identity and make the past relevant to the present and the future. Indeed, within the literary figure of Abraham, there are layers of memory, some of which are in tension with one another, or even directly contradictory. 'Countermemories' have been created and attached to Abraham, as fitted the concerns of the agents who added them – echoing Assmann's description of collective memories being preserved in a manner to fit the interests of present (2005: 41).

Likewise, Moses can be described as memory figure; 'one of the most salient sites of memory in ancient Yehud.' (Ben Zvi, 2013: 335). As Hendel observes, Moses, as a character in the text, comprises many characteristics desirable to Israel and integral to the nation's identity, therefore embodying and mediating multiple different perspectives and values (2001:

620). This depiction of Israel's founding leader makes the 'past' of the Exodus immediate and relevant in the future (2001: 604).¹⁶⁵

Moses is a complicated figure, however. Ehud Ben Zvi argues that a 'positive feedback loop' developed around Moses: as Moses grew in perceived significance, more and more important ideas came to be attached to him, which only increased his significance even further. Moses thus became a 'magnet' for ideas and values the Yehud community held dear, to the point where remembering Moses came to be synonymous with articulating Israel's collective identity (2013: 335-336). In the same way, Hendel suggests that Moses gathered 'memories' of many different sorts around him: 'Everything else about Moses' life is so interwoven with narrative motifs and religious ideology that it is impossible to disengage the history from the tradition.' (2001: 615). Thus, it is impossible to tell how much of the historical man is left in the literary persona. The literary figure of Moses is just as much a memory figure as Sinai or the Ark of the Covenant.

This proposition is consistent with earlier work by Martin Noth, who notices five overarching themes within the Pentateuch¹⁶⁶, surmises that these themes derived from independent traditions and concludes that the figure of Moses was used as a narrative device to hold these thematic strands together (1972: 156, 160-161). Although there was a historical core to the Moses story (Noth argues), narrative elements containing Moses were added to the themes to which he did not originally belong¹⁶⁷, to give the Pentateuch greater coherence. As

.

¹⁶⁵ Hendel assumes that the Exodus was a literal historical event, and that memories of Moses were brought together in a coherent form several centuries before Yehud came into existence: it was 'early Israel' which first needed a depiction of its founding leader, and a depiction of the kind which would remain relevant to later settlers who were not themselves part of the Exodus (Hendel, 2001: 604). I would dispute both the historicity of the Exodus and Hendel's dating of the biblical account of Moses.

¹⁶⁶ According to Noth, these themes are: 'guidance out of Egypt'; 'guidance into the arable land'; 'promise to the patriarchs'; 'guidance in the wilderness'; and 'revelation at Sinai' (1972: 46-62).

¹⁶⁷ Noth does not envisage Moses being relevant to 'revelation at Sinai' or 'guidance out of Egypt' in their original traditions (1972: 162).

the Pentateuch was edited and developed, Moses thus became 'the overwhelmingly prominent human figure of the Pentateuchal narrative' (1972: 174 [emphasis original]). 168

Thomas Thompson argues something very similar but from a different perspective. According to Thompson, the Pentateuch is in essence a collection of pre-existing narrative units 169 which 'attained their canonical positions because of their association with the patriarchs and Moses respectively' (1992: 358). Thus, instead of Moses being inserted into themes and stories with which he was not originally associated, narrative units within the Pentateuch are arranged according to their relevance to Moses. Thompson argues that the individual events described are not necessarily presented in chronological order or in the context of the geographical locations with which they were originally linked. Instead, their places in the overarching narrative are dictated by the memory figures purportedly involved. The result is that the finished pentateuchal text ties a series of heroes to a series of pivotal events, removed from the chronological and geographical contexts given in the traditions from which they derived (1992: 366-367). Partly because of this, although individual 'units of traditions' may be historically reliable, the finished Pentateuch, as a collection of these units, is not (1992: 365-366).

iii) Reconstruction

The 'reconstructed' nature of collective memory is one of its defining features.

Therefore, insofar as a biblical text expresses a collective memory, this memory must have been reconstructed, at least to an extent: its depiction of events and people cannot be assumed

168 von Rad agrees with Noth that Moses is unlikely to have featured in all of the pentateuchal traditions and that his role would have been embellished as part of the process of editing and compiling the Pentateuch (von Rad,

2001: 289). However, he concludes that it is impossible to tell which source material would have mentioned Moses and which would not (2001: 291).

¹⁶⁹ Whether these units were oral traditions or written fragments is not made entirely clear.

to be a literal historical account. Blenkinsopp notices just this, arguing that collective memory was at the heart of the process of composing the Hebrew Bible. Through this process, the Yehud community attempted to 'construct a past', gathering 'myths of origin... stories about culture heroes' (2004b: 12) in order to fill out the community's shared identity. However, these myths and stories bear little relation to historical events. They represent 'repressed desires or anxieties, a kind of collective false memory syndrome, or simply invented.' (2004b: 13). Blenkinsopp stops short of calling the resultant literature 'fiction', but suggests that the memories of figures and events from Israel's past which became preserved in the Hebrew Bible underwent significant revisions and adaptations in the process of writing and compiling (2004b: 15-16). This does not mean that we must entirely dismiss the possibility of some kind of basis in history, however. As Hendel observes (adopting a more cautious position than Blenkinsopp), biblical narratives, as cultural memories, 'tend to be *a mixture of historical truth and fiction*, composed of "authentic" historical details, folklore motifs, ethnic self-fashioning, ideological claims, and narrative imagination.' (2001: 602 [emphasis added]).

Hendel picks out the Exodus narrative as a classic example of collective memory: 'a focal point of ancient Israelite religion... a foundational event' which would therefore have been vital to preserve (2001: 601). This being the case, there is value in asking how radically, and in what ways, the narrative might have been reconstructed. This forms a key strand of my application of memory studies to Exod 13.17 – 15.21.

iv) Preservation

Israel was no exception to the common tacit imperative to 'keep and remember' significant people and events, in order to reinforce collective identity (Assmann, 2011: 16-17, 72). As a result, the Hebrew Bible contains many such collective memories, which were

preserved in writing, so as to shape and affirm its collective identity, even through periods of intense strain and upheaval. For example, in Assmann's opinion, the covenant with YHWH, as recorded in Deuteronomy, enabled Israel to remember its origins and its identity throughout the Babylonian Exile, despite the strain and disruption that this experience would have enacted upon the nation. Other societies, comparable to Israel, either assimilated into the cultures of their conquerors or simply forgot their past and their identities, because of the lack of a written record of their shared memories (2011: 137-138).¹⁷⁰

I agree with the principle Assmann proposes, but not its specifics. The idea of biblical texts buttressing Israel's identity seems very reasonable, but I'm not convinced this would have been the case during the Exile. Assmann implies that the covenant would have been preserved for a significant length of time – perhaps for centuries before the Exile, although he does not specify that – which relies on either a well-established pre-exilic oral tradition or a very early written version of Deuteronomy. 171 It is doubtful that Deuteronomy would have existed in a form substantial enough to reinforce Israel's collective identity, before the return from Exile. 172 Like Assmann, I can see a theme of displacement within the Pentateuch. But I do not believe the text and therefore the theme would have been established enough at that stage to help Israel make sense of the Exile and hold on to their collective identity throughout that period, as Assmann argues (2011: 181).

However, I do find Assmann's ideas helpful if viewed from the opposite perspective. Instead of the themes of 'emigration and segregation' within Deuteronomy sustaining Israel in exile (2011: 181), I would instead contend that those themes are a result of the Exile. Large

¹⁷⁰ For example, Assmann holds that the 'ten northern tribes' suffered a loss of ethnic identity, following their conquest by Assyria (2011: 137-138).

¹⁷¹ Assmann also implies that the text might not have assumed its final form until after the Exile (2011: 186). On that point, we agree.

¹⁷² See chapter two for a more extensive discussion of how and when the Pentateuch was written, including my reasons for dissenting from the documentary hypothesis.

sections of the Pentateuch are likely to have been composed during and following the Exile, and the themes of 'emigration and segregation' were therefore influenced by the experience of exile and by the return to a land in which the status of the 'true Israel' was disputed. This, in itself, underpinned Israel's collective memory and its identity as returning exiles, distinct from surrounding nations, for subsequent generations.

Very recently, A.J. Culp has developed Assmann's and Halbwachs' ideas, again focusing on Deuteronomy. Culp's work is helpful particularly as it emphasises how a biblical text can not just sustain a community's identity through the memories of previous generations, but also intentionally shape the collective identity of future generations. So for example, Deuteronomy not only preserves Israel's collective memories; it is also a 'memory maker' for future generations, with repeated injunctions to 'remember' the places, people and events it depicts. Through Deuteronomy, remembering certain things in a certain way becomes bound up with the covenant itself: it carries the weight of an act of obedience to YHWH (Culp, 2020: 7-8).

Culp also provides a clearer answer than Assmann on how collective memories are preserved in order to promote remembering. It was Assmann who first proposed a list of eight 'mnemotechnics' in play in Deuteronomy, but this comprises just a brief list towards the end of an extensive volume, and is easily overlooked (2011: 196-199). Furthermore, Culp is right to observe that several of the terms Assmann uses are vague and generic, and say little about the exact mechanisms used to promote memory (2020: 105).

Instead, Culp suggests three 'memory vectors' visible in Deuteronomy: story, ritual and song (2020: 109). Ritual is not directly relevant to my study of Exod 13.17 – 15.21, but

-

¹⁷³ Culp cites seven mnemotechnics in Assmann's work, rather than eight. He seems to have conflated 'visibility: marks on the body' with 'limitic symbolism: inscriptions on doorposts', which are, admittedly, very similar mechanisms (Culp, 2020: 105; Assmann, 2011: 197).

story and song are both included within that text. Story is a powerful means for 'inculcating visual memory', encouraging whoever hears it to imagine themselves present and to own the memory contained within the story as theirs, as a collective and as individuals. Story also serves to explain 'why?' and 'so what?': that is, why particular events matter and what their significance is for life in the hearer's present (2020: 131). Song functions slightly differently. A song is easily remembered and easily shared, suggesting that memories preserved in the form of a song are intended to be passed on from person to person, and especially from generation to generation (2020: 183). A song is also more likely than a story to provoke strong emotions. Culp gives Deut 32.1-43 as an example, which constitutes a warning of the consequences of breaking faith with YHWH, imbuing its hearers with a sense of fear (2020: 183).

Assmann's and Culp's ideas bring into focus how the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses might have served to both preserve Israel's collective memory and promote remembering in subsequent generations. Including both story and song, the text contains two different but equally effective memory vectors, raising the question of how the text was intended to affect the memory and identity of its readers or hearers. Later in this chapter, I outline how the issue of preservation of collective memory is relevant to Exod 13.17 – 15.21.

Traumatised memory

The concept of collective memory has been complicated by the recent blurring of boundaries between collective memory and collective trauma. However, to say this concept has complicated the discussion is not to say it is without value: far from it. The delineation between memory and history, and memory's relation to trauma – articulated most clearly and

most prominently by Dominick LaCapra and Jeffrey Alexander – have opened up a new dimension in trauma studies, influencing sociologists and Bible scholars alike.

In essence, these two theorists develop the key features of collective memory which we have already explored, putting a new slant on these features. It is illuminating to see how they have done this, and their observations are relevant to how collective memory applies to Exod 13.17 – 15.21, particularly since we have already established that the text is influenced by trauma. I will therefore briefly explain how trauma affects collective memory, using the same structure as the summary of collective memory above, and concentrating on LaCapra's and Alexander's ideas.

i)*Purpose* – *acting out or working through?*

LaCapra and Alexander illuminate not how a group influences an individual to remember particular events and figures, but rather how a group's collective memory is affected by a shared trauma and even by individuals' accounts of that trauma. They therefore offer unique insights into how the Reed Sea narrative – a text influenced by trauma – relates to the collective memory of the Yehud community.

It is striking that Freud seems to influence this field of study far more than Halbwachs. LaCapra, for example, makes no reference to Halbwachs in any of the three of his books I have studied. Instead, he bases his understanding of memory and trauma on Freud. He uses Freudian terminology such as 'acting out' and 'working through' and, when he describes history as a process of 'transference' of accounts of past events, he is once again using Freudian language. 175

¹⁷⁴ LaCapra references Freud's essays, 'Remembering, Repeating and Working-Through' (1914) and 'Mourning and Melancholia' (1917).

¹⁷⁵ LaCapra's ideas seem to echo Paul Connerton, too, although he does not reference him. Connerton's 1989 volume draws on Freudian 'transference' as a means of forming collective memory (1989: 26, 39), and suggests

Compulsive 'acting out' is a result of trauma, causing the survivor to repetitively relive the past experience at the root of their trauma. Within this acting out, the boundaries between past, present and future become blurred: 'the past returns and the future is blocked out or fatalistically caught up in a melancholic feedback loop'. To put it briefly, 'tenses implode' (LaCapra, 2001: 21). The alternative to endless acting out is 'working through'; for the survivor to reach a point of acknowledging that a traumatising experience happened to them, but that this event is in the past and does not have to constitute part of their identity. Mourning can be understood as an example of working through (2001: 21-22); a means of helping an individual survivor or a group to come to terms with their loss. 176 However, the survivor or the group must actively choose working through over acting out. And for many trauma survivors, particularly the Holocaust survivors upon whom LaCapra concentrates, working through seems a betrayal of those who didn't survive. They prefer to remain acting out, from a sense of 'fidelity to trauma, a feeling that one must somehow keep faith with it.' (2001: 22). Thus, some survivors and groups may work through their trauma by expressing their grief and loss, while others, unable or unwilling to work through their experiences, remain indefinitely at the stage of acting out their trauma.

These differing responses have implications for history and collective memory. As a community recovers from a shared trauma, the people will seek to understand what they have experienced and explain how and why it happened. An element of reconstruction is necessary in this; perhaps more so than in conventional collective memory, since trauma by its nature resists being grasped by the conscious mind. (See section *iii*) below for a more extensive

_

that collective memory draws on both eyewitness accounts and historiographical investigation (1989: 14). Both points are very close to LaCapra's conclusions.

¹⁷⁶ LaCapra distinguishes loss from absence. What he calls 'structural trauma' can result from an important absence within a group, but this is distinct from the 'historical trauma' we have described so far, which derives from a shared sense of loss (1998: 47-50).

explanation of this.) Historiographical enquiry is therefore often necessary for a community to process its experiences and establish collective memory, and this historiographical enquiry might be a means of enabling working through: 'historiography... may help... to come to terms with the wounds and scars of the past. Such a coming-to-terms would seek knowledge whose truth claims are not one-dimensionally objectifying or narrowly cognitive but involve affect' (LaCapra, 2001: 42). That is, the process of constructing 'secondary memory', helping individuals or a group of survivors to articulate their (often confused) experiences clearly and in conjunction with other historical evidence, can be a way of helping those survivors to come to terms with those experiences. And it may help survivors to move beyond the alternative – acting out – which would leave them stuck in an endless repetition of their trauma.

So a text overshadowed by trauma might either help the author (and the audience) to work through their experiences or feed into the endless repetition of acting out. A trauma-informed text which appears to reconstruct a community's experiences, in order to shape its collective memory, is likely to enable working through rather than acting out. I believe these criteria apply to the Reed Sea narrative.

At this stage, I must address an important point I have so far left unmentioned: we must examine the assumption that 'trauma' means the same thing for a collective as for an individual. Jeffrey Alexander seeks to challenge this assumption. Building on LaCapra's work on how individuals' trauma can influence their society's collective memory, Alexander differentiates between 'individual trauma', a psychological response to a sudden and overwhelming event, and 'collective trauma', anything that damages the bonds between members of a society and threatens their sense of community (2004a: 4). He critiques the classic psychoanalytic understanding of trauma, especially Caruth's application of this model

to sociology, and instead presents trauma as a social process, by which pain or persecution enters into a society's collective consciousness and changes their shared identity.

If collective trauma does indeed constitute something different from individual trauma, then not everything that is true of individual trauma also applies to collective trauma. Most significantly, Alexander holds that, while individual trauma is an involuntary psychological response to a particular event or set of circumstances, collective trauma is 'something constructed by society' (2004a: 2). A society will create such a trauma when they have suffered a shared experience of sufficient gravity to seriously affect their collective memory and identity. By constructing this trauma, the society begins to come to terms with the existence and origin of suffering, and to apportion blame for it (2004a: 1). Collective trauma is therefore not an involuntary response but a 'socially mediated attribution' (2004a: 8).

Alexander proposes a solution to an awkward question: precisely how a society can be 'traumatised' when the majority of psychological literature presents trauma as a phenomenon affecting individuals. But the suggestion that collective trauma is 'constructed' is problematic. Trauma, as it is understood as a psychological concept, is involuntary on the part of the survivor. It is more imposed upon the survivor than in any way 'constructed' by them.

Alexander's suggestion differentiates collective trauma from individual trauma so starkly that I find it difficult to accept the label of 'trauma' for it, at all. There is abundant evidence that societies can be collectively traumatised – a brief survey of accounts of the Holocaust and its aftermath provides ample evidence in itself – but the idea that a collective trauma is 'created',

-

¹⁷⁷ Alexander asserts that collective trauma is 'imagined' but is at pains to point out that this does not mean it is a complete fabrication, without any kind of basis in a group's lived experience. Collective trauma is 'imagined' in the sense of Durkheim's 'religious imagination': that is, it articulates and gives shape to an intangible, confused experience, often through some kind of 'aesthetic creation' (2004a: 8-9).

merely because a group feels its collective identity has been damaged, seems out of step with trauma's most essential characteristics.

Revising the label 'collective trauma' therefore seems not just advisable but necessary, in order to convey its essence and its difference from 'psychological trauma'. What Alexander seems to be describing could simply be explained as 'collective memory'. A community constructs a shared past, in order to preserve memories of significant events and figures.

Within this constructed past, the boundaries between history and fiction become blurred: the events in question may not even have happened at all (2004a: 9). And the 'facts' of this past are dictated not by what is strictly 'true' but by the group's consensus on the version of their past which they wish to preserve, and the effects of this past on their collective identity (2004: 9-10). Thus, the community dictates what an individual should remember, and how they should remember it. In effect, Alexander has circled back to Halbwachs' and Assmann's conclusions. What he calls 'collective trauma' is little more than Halbwachs' 'collective memory': an experience which has a significant impact (positive or negative) on a community, and must therefore be remembered in a form which highlights ideas and values that community holds dear, thus influencing the community's collective identity.

Differentiating between the effects of 'psychological trauma' and 'collective trauma' is confusing and misleading. We must take seriously the deep psychological impact of a traumatic experience for a whole community, just as for an individual survivor. And in the aftermath of a collective trauma, a text which seeks to articulate and explain the community's shared experience can be extremely valuable in enabling that community to come to terms with their trauma and 'work through' it.

ii) Memory figures – sites of memory, sites of trauma

As we have established, collective memory rests on 'memory figures': places, events and people which come to represent a community's most important ideas and values. But LaCapra proposes a fascinating development to this idea: 'a memory site is generally also a site of trauma, and the extent to which it remains invested with trauma marks the extent to which memory has not been effective in coming to terms with it, notably through modes of mourning.' (1998: 10). This holds true for many public monuments, especially war memorials, which do indeed express mourning and trauma at the same time as a determination to collectively remember the events which made mourning necessary and trauma unavoidable. However, I would suggest that some sites of memory are sites of triumph, rather than mourning. Trafalgar Square is a commemoration of Nelson's victory over France, rather than mourning for those who died during the battle. Nelson's Column itself is a monument to the man's achievements, over and above any sense of grief at his passing. Perhaps there is inevitably an element of trauma involved in remembering a war, but I would be cautious in assuming that. It is intriguing, though, that LaCapra envisages trauma being so closely tied to memory. If the biblical figure of Moses can be understood as a site of memory (as Ben Zvi argues [2013: 335] and Hendel implies [2001: 615]), it is worth investigating whether Moses might equally be a site of trauma.

iii) Reconstruction – trauma versus history

Collective memory always involves at least an element of reconstructing historical events, even in an attempt to recall the exact details of an event as faithfully as possible.

Because of the fallibility of the human mind, it is entirely possible for an individual to recall an event differently from how it actually happened, or even to have a vivid memory of an

event which never happened at all (LaCapra, 1998: 9). This is especially true where the individual concerned is unusually impressionable and strongly influenced to remember particular things. Adding trauma into the equation makes memory more slippery still. A traumatising event is, by nature, difficult to grasp and articulate, and the event's subsequent intrusions into the survivor's consciousness (by means of dreams or flashbacks) come as a result of the mind's attempts to understand and process what happened (LaCapra, 1998: 9). This is entirely in step with conclusions put forward by psychologists such as Herman (1997: 37-42) and van der Kolk and van der Hart (1995: 171-172), and by Caruth in her application of trauma to art and literature (1995: 4-7).

Trauma can be understood as being incompatible with history. A still-traumatised survivor, stuck in the process of acting out, may well express memories of his/her experience but, because trauma itself resists articulation and understanding, any memories the survivor expresses may represent a distorted or entirely erroneous version of historical events (LaCapra, 2001: 88-89). In this way, trauma and history are mutually-opposed.

Trauma therefore makes the process of remembering deeply problematic. Indeed, for LaCapra, trauma is incompatible with 'primary memory'; that is, accounts from those who have directly experienced traumatising events. The details of those events must instead be reconstructed through 'secondary memory'; a critical engagement with and evaluation of primary memory, usually by someone other than the survivor themselves (1998: 20-21). Traumatised memory can never be a simple, dry description of places, people and events. It is necessarily something pieced together from fragments of literal events, combined with personal impressions a survivor forms in their mind.

¹⁷⁸ To illustrate this point, LaCapra mentions the notorious trend of 'false memory syndrome', by which unscrupulous psychotherapists create 'memories' of childhood abuse in some of their patients.

An element of imagination may also be necessary in clarifying and shaping a traumatising experience into a memorable representation (Alexander, 2004a: 9). However, Alexander goes too far in suggesting that, 'events that are deeply traumatizing may not actually have occurred at all'; that it is enough that the society feels its collective memory and identity has been damaged by events, for those events to be preserved as traumata in the same way as strictly historical occurrences (2004a: 8, 10). This view is underpinned by examples of 'angry nationalist groups', such as late-twentieth century Serbians and even the Nazis, claiming to be slighted as a pretext for retaliation against their purported oppressors (2004a: 8-9). It relies on a definition of collective trauma as a social construct instead of a psychological reality, so does not apply to the kind of memory reconstruction LaCapra describes.

While it may be impossible to reveal the 'truth' – the literal historical events behind a primary memory – the process of formulating secondary memory, investigating and evaluating primary memory, is an inherently historiographical exercise (LaCapra, 1998: 21; 1994: 84). So, while we should be wary of conflating history with memory, we should be equally wary of seeing history and memory as being in direct opposition to each other (1998: 16-17; 1994: 84). Formulating a memory of events which is widely accepted within a group and internalised by its members often involves historiographical efforts.

Applying these possibilities to my own thesis, the question becomes what sort of memory the Reed Sea narrative might be. Is it a primary memory: a quasi-fantasy produced by authors still in the grip of traumatised acting out? Or is it a secondary memory: a combination of survivors' direct experiences and other historiographical sources? I believe it is something different: a little of both options, in the form of a proxy memory 179, which

¹⁷⁹ I have borrowed the term 'proxy memory' from Morrow's study of trauma and violence in Deuteronomy 7 (2011).

helped the authors express and memorialise their own trauma without directly describing the experiences which traumatised them.

iv) Preservation – mediated mass communication

A collective memory – traumatised or otherwise – must be preserved in order to be internalised by a community. Alexander proposes that a 'carrier group' is needed to articulate and preserve a collective trauma (Alexander, 2004a: 11). Such carrier groups are distinguished by having both a position within society and an ability to articulate a claim of being wronged, which allow them to present a compelling message. They may be part of the society's elite, but they may equally be marginalised. The trauma claim must have an audience if it is to be accepted into the society's collective identity. In the first instance, this audience will be other members of the carrier group. Only once the carrier group has been entirely convinced of the legitimacy of the claim can this claim then be presented to the wider society (2004a: 11-12). Wider society will scrutinise the trauma claim, investigating 'the nature of the pain', 'the nature of the victim', the 'Relation of the trauma to the wider audience' and 'Attribution of responsibility'. When these questions have been answered, the trauma will be accepted as 'a new master narrative of social suffering' (2004a: 12-15).

This process of evaluation of the trauma claim is necessary, especially when the carrier group advancing the claim is marginalised within the wider society and the group's experiences challenge the society's dominant narrative. For example, the claim of Mayan Indians (a marginalised ethnic group) that the violence inflicted upon them by the Guatemalan government in the 1980s constituted a genocide was at odds with the government's glossing-over of this violence, and was only upheld after a five-year investigation by a Commission for

¹⁸⁰ The term 'carrier group' derives from Weber's sociology of religion.

Historical Clarification. Similarly, a Truth and Reconciliation Commission was needed before the oppression of black South Africans was acknowledged by the rest of the nation (2004a: 19-20).

Alexander also offers an answer to how collective trauma, and indeed collective memories in general, are disseminated. 'Mediated mass communication' allows trauma claims to be shared widely, dramatically and effectively (2004a: 18), and once the political elite accept the trauma claim, the state bureaucracy will itself disseminate it (2004a: 19-21), presumably largely by use of these same mass communication media.

It seems entirely plausible that a collective trauma would be preserved through carrier groups, but Alexander's thinking again rests on the assumption that a 'collective trauma' might be nothing more than an imagined wrong against a group. It is this assumption which makes necessary the lengthy process of investigation he envisages: in Alexander's understanding of collective trauma, an alleged 'trauma' cannot be assumed to be genuine or significant, and society must therefore weigh up the legitimacy of a trauma claim. There may indeed be an element of unspoken evaluation in a society's acceptance of a true collective trauma but it seems unlikely that this evaluation would be so protracted and regimented.

Although I contest Alexander's understanding of the nature of collective trauma, his ideas of how collective traumata are preserved and disseminated remain valuable. The concepts of 'carrier groups' and 'mediated mass communication' raise intriguing possibilities for the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses as traumatised literature. LaCapra and Alexander both concentrate on collective trauma in a modern context, so do not answer how a trauma claim might have been communicated effectively, before the advent of radio or television. Culp's memory vectors may hold the key to explaining mediated mass communication in an ANE context.

Memory, trauma and biblical studies

At the nexus of trauma theory and collective memory studies, a few intrepid Bible scholars are investigating how trauma might have affected Ancient Israel's collective memory. Of these scholars, David Janzen and Tiffany Houck-Loomis are noteworthy in producing illuminating work, influenced by both LaCapra and Alexander.

i) Purpose – acting out or working through?

Building on LaCapra's conclusion that trauma is incompatible with history (Janzen, 2019: 2), Janzen gives examples of this tension from within the Hebrew Bible. He contrasts Lamentations with the Deuteronomistic History, observing that both books were composed in the wake of the fall of Jerusalem but, while Lamentations represents an example of 'acting out', DtrH is far more rational and distanced from Judah's shared trauma.

Janzen sees Lamentations as highly demonstrative, showing a clear, raw sense of trauma. The poem is a harrowing lament, a howl of pain and protest, with 'no stable narrative explanation', therefore conveying a sense of profound suffering (2019: 4, 91). The repetition within Lamentations, as well as the poem's acrostic form, are evidence (Janzen argues) of repeated, inescapable traumatic intrusion and of 'acting out' on the part of the poet (2019: 91-93). These points rest on an assumption that Lamentations represents a genuine and visceral response to the destruction of Jerusalem, the slaughter of its inhabitants and the starvation of the survivors. But the poem appears to borrow heavily from other ANE city laments, not just in its form but also in several of its characteristic motifs (see e.g. O'Connor, 2002: 10). This suggests a type of staged grief, rather than deep and unresolved trauma. Furthermore, the acrostic form of Lamentations, to which Janzen himself draws our attention, indicates a high

degree of literary artistry, of which a poet deep in the throes of traumatic intrusion is unlikely to have been capable.

Conversely, the Deuteronomist glosses over or simply refuses to see Judah's suffering in the wake of the fall of Jerusalem, and seems reluctant to apportion blame (2019: 41, 48-50). He does not seem traumatised by what he has witnessed. Instead, he creates a narrative to explain why the twin disasters of the Exile and the destruction of Jerusalem have taken place. The Deuteronomist 'simply seems to want to acknowledge an unfortunate event in the people's past and move on.' (2019: 49). I81 Janzen suggests that the Deuteronomist was especially interested in the Davidic line of succession, and was preoccupied with the monarchy's successes and failures, to the point of overlooking, or at least not fully grasping, the suffering of the people in the wake of the fall of Jerusalem (2019: 41). This approach does not constitute 'working through' trauma however. While working through involves acknowledging trauma, articulating it but seeking to move beyond it, Janzen describes DtrH as glossing over trauma, acknowledging the events which caused the people's suffering but not engaging with the suffering itself. I82

Tiffany Houck-Loomis does not use the Freudian terminology of 'acting out' and 'working through' but still provides very helpful illustrations of how trauma affected Israel's collective memory and identity (2018: 39), and where these effects can be seen in biblical texts. Houck-Loomis envisages the Babylonian Exile as being particularly traumatic, but

¹⁸¹ The sermons of Jeremiah appear to reflect a similar authorial intention. The prophet draws the people's attention to their shared past, reframing it in the light of their recent suffering, and seeking to help them understand and move beyond their collective trauma (Claassens, 2017b: 29).

¹⁸² In his 2012 monograph, Janzen describes how DtrH presents the Babylonian oppression of Judah within a carefully-constructed ethical and theological framework, seeking to make sense of these catastrophic events. However, the resultant master narrative is subverted by powerful and uncontrollable eruptions of Dtr's trauma, which intrudes into the text (2012: 3-4). Janzen's 2019 work seems consistent with these ideas but develops them further.

¹⁸³ Houck-Loomis is an experienced psychotherapist and an ordained minister, which places her uniquely to speak with authority on both psychology and the Bible.

also this trauma being 'compounded by the many previous exiles amongst Israel and Judah' (2018: 39). This allows her to date the Deuteronomic Covenant (for example) to the eighth-seventh centuries B.C.E., while still maintaining that this text bears an imprint of trauma, presumably from the Assyrian invasion of the northern kingdom, in particular (2018: 46).

In this context, the Covenant was composed to reinforce Israel's sense of independence from its threatening neighbours and to foster an identity based on 'a god-image that promised safety, wellbeing, and a prosperous future' (2018: 46). However, the text was revised and repurposed during the Babylonian Exile, in order to explain the disaster Judah had just experienced. The wider DtrH places the blame for the exile on the disobedient community, and the revised Covenant now emphasises 'exile and destruction... as inevitable consequences of disobedience' (2018: 79). The Covenant still contributes to the community's collective identity, but this collective identity is now reimagined. Guilt and self-blame now come to the fore, articulated in DtrH – Israel's national history – to the point where they are subsumed into the national consciousness (2018: 101-103). Exile, destruction and self-blame for those disasters 'become[s] inscribed as the dominant history of ancient Israel' (2018: 109).¹⁸⁴

It is worth noting that Houck-Loomis identifies 'anxiety, aggressive impulses, and splitting' as indicators of the community's developing identity (2018: 91). She expresses this in terms of object relations theory and the Jungian concepts of symbol and the Self (2018: 22-23, 101). But anxiety, aggression, and a sense of separation from one's own body are classic markers of trauma as, of course, is guilt. Houck-Loomis does not make this link between

¹⁸⁴ Holt advances a similar argument, suggesting that Lamentations and post-exilic sections of Jeremiah 'can be understood as representations or configurations of cultural trauma, used as an agent for the building or rebuilding of a national identity in the post-exilic centuries.' (2014: 171-172).

trauma and Israel's collective identity explicit, but it is clear to any reader with a working knowledge of psychological trauma.

So, the Deuteronomic Covenant expresses the trauma deriving from the Exile (and previous exiles) and cements it within Israel's shared memories and collective identity. But the narrative put forward by the Covenant – and the wider DtrH – is subverted by some other biblical texts. Houck-Loomis explores Job as an example of a text which presents a 'counternarrative' (2018: 1). While DtrH offers an explanation of the origin and reason for the Exile, Job presents a contrasting perspective, with both Job himself and the deity expressing 'aggression, desire, anger, and passion' (2018: 120). What's more, Job's character seems to shift between the prose and poetic sections of the book, revealing contradictory attitudes towards suffering and evil, and challenging the dominant narrative of self-blame which finds expression in DtrH (2018: 120).

Thus, Job presents a counter-narrative to DtrH, showing trauma in its inconsistencies, its subversion of DtrH's core message, and the author's refusal to neatly resolve the question of responsibility for suffering (2018: 117, 122-129). In this respect, Houck-Loomis draws on Janzen's earlier work on trauma's subversion of DtrH's 'master narrative' (2012). 185

Job not only offers a contrasting narrative of trauma and suffering; it also offers a contrasting collective identity and a contrasting conception of the deity (2018: 166). In step with Herman, and with van der Kolk and van der Hart, who suggest that reimaging the self and the memory are integral parts of a survivor's recovery from trauma, Job represents a revision of the traumatic memory: the author's intrusive and repetitious memories gradually retreat into the past and in their place emerges a memory which conveys trauma, clearly but

_

¹⁸⁵ Houck-Loomis directly references Janzen's work (2018: 52).

honestly (2018: 133). Although Houck-Loomis does not use the term 'working through', that is exactly what she is describing.

Biblical texts can and do constitute examples of trauma affecting Israel's collective memory and identity. These texts include examples of 'acting out' and 'working through', as well as simply glossing over trauma or subverting texts which seek to do that.

ii) Memory figures – sites of memory, sites of trauma

There is little extant scholarship which applies traumatised memory to the concept of memory figures within the Hebrew Bible. Neither Janzen nor Houck-Loomis explicitly makes this link, despite their important work in bringing together trauma, memory and biblical studies. It is possible that we should infer from Houck-Loomis that the character Job functions as a site of memory and of trauma – after all, Job embodies suffering and his story articulates trauma in the form of a memory distinct from DtrH's master narrative (2018: 1, 120-129, 133-134) – but Houck-Loomis does not state this directly.

I am aware of no-one who comes closer than Margaret S. Odell to describing simultaneous sites of memory and trauma within the Hebrew Bible. Odell suggests that the אלמי זכר (male images) mentioned in Ezek 16.15-22 represent a 'fragment of memory' of the Assyrian invasion, cast adrift by trauma from a wholesale recollection of the conquest, and used within Ezekiel to symbolise Jerusalem's complicity in Israel's ruin (Odell, 2016: 114-115). Thus, memory and trauma are bound up together within the male images. But even Odell does not use the term 'memory figure' or 'site of memory'.

Although there is little precedent for arguing that a biblical 'memory figure' might also be a site of trauma, there is ample basis for arguing that Moses functions as a memory figure. And since Exod 13.17 - 15.21 bears evidence of the influence of trauma, then Moses

might indeed embody both trauma and significant collective memories. I discuss this possibility below.

iii) Reconstruction – trauma versus history

Following on from Alexander, Janzen differentiates between 'psychological trauma' (the complex of mental and physiological symptoms affecting an individual who has experienced a shocking, overwhelming or extremely upsetting event) and 'collective trauma' (a constructed sense of shared injury) (2019: 5-6). As I explain above, the differentiation between psychological and collective trauma seems to me misleading. However, Janzen's work remains valuable in highlighting the tension between trauma and history, with regard to biblical texts.

For example, DtrH is a national history, seeking to explain Judah's defeat by Babylon as the result of the people's apostasy and the deity's judgment on them. It presents a clear narrative, understandable reasons and apportioning of blame, preserving all this within the community's collective memory. But although DtrH presents a rational explanation for the events which traumatised Judah, trauma itself cannot be integrated into or expressed by an orderly, dispassionate account like this (2019: 35-38, 49-50; see also Houck-Loomis, 2018: 116-117, 137).

Conversely, Janzen understands Lamentations as all trauma with no history. Any sense of rational narrative disappears under the weight of overwhelming trauma, manifested again and again in an outpouring of grief. In this way, 'trauma silences history' (Janzen, 2019: 118-119). So once again, trauma and history are irreconcilable. Lamentations is a reconstruction of memory in that it displays recurring, unresolved trauma, with little if any historical description of events, places and people. Despite my reservations with interpreting

Lamentations as an example of 'acting out', it remains a visceral, emotional response to the destruction of Jerusalem. Any attempt to marry the plangent tone and lament form with a forensic investigation of events would be strange indeed.

Houck-Loomis offers a third option. She notes (following van der Kolk and van der Hart), that recovery from trauma requires the survivor to process their experiences and to articulate those experiences in some form. But if the survivor is simply unable to articulate their experiences in terms directly relatable to the traumatising event, fantasy would be the only means to express trauma and work through it: 'What if some stories are simply erased and the only way to begin to access them are through fantasy, other forms of story telling outside of verbal narrative, or affectively and in the messy work of transference.' (2018: 133-134). 186 This, she suggests, is what underpinned the composition of Job. Job is 'symbolic history': not a literal depiction of events but including enough references to historical events – especially the Exile – for the audience to understand that those events form the background to the text. Through this counter-narrative, contrasting with the neat rationalism of DtrH, the 'unknown' story of the Exile is expressed in fantasy, 'linking affect with experience' (2018: 132). Job expresses the trauma of the exiled Judaeans and enables 'working through' despite never directly mentioning the events which gave rise to their trauma. This raises the possibility that very real trauma can be articulated through narratives based only partly on historical fact, or even on out-and-out fiction. It also suggests that other biblical narratives might show evidence of trauma deriving from the Exile or the fall of Jerusalem despite, at first reading, having no clear link to those events.

_

¹⁸⁶ Poser advances a very similar argument with regard to Ezekiel. She reasons that Ezekiel, although rooted in real historical events, is largely fictional, since its traumatised authors struggled to piece together their fragmented experiences and were forced to reconstruct a sequence of events using imaginative elements (2012: 334-335).

iv) Preservation – mediated mass communication

As with the 'memory figure' question (see point *ii*) above), neither Janzen nor Houck-Loomis spells out how they envision traumatised memories being passed on, once they were preserved in the biblical texts they discuss. However, it is interesting that Houck-Loomis notes a shift between the prose and poetic sections of Job, in tone and in apparent attitudes towards suffering and evil (2018: 120). Culp's memory vectors (2020: 109) may be relevant to this shift. The prose sections of Job – the 'story' – were preserved and, one assumes, passed on as a written text, in the same form and with the same master narrative as the 'national history' preserved in DtrH (Houck-Loomis, 2018: 101, 137). The poetic core of the book – the 'song' – is likely to be a later addition (2018: 156, 166), subverting the master narrative and more easily passed on from person to person than a written text, which would be accessible only to the educated elite.¹⁸⁷

A similar divide between prose and poetry, story and song, is visible within Exod 13.17 – 15.21. I believe the combination of two memory vectors is significant here, too, albeit for different reasons.

Exod 13.17 – 15.21 as traumatised memory

I established in chapter four that there is good reason for seeing this text as an outworking of trauma. I will now investigate to what extent the characteristics of traumatised memory summarised above are relevant to the text, and hence whether this narrative and song should be understood as an example of traumatised collective memory.

for an educated elite than the masses.

252

¹⁸⁷ Houck-Loomis describes the prose sections of Job as 'folk narrative' (2018: 156), likely to have been originally composed during the monarchical period. Without wishing to be drawn into a protracted discussion of the rates of literacy in monarchical Israel, I find it more likely that such a text would have been written by and

For this investigation, I reverse the order in which I have previously discussed the characteristics of traumatised memory. This order was convenient for my earlier summary, but working through the list backwards now allows me to draw insights on the nature and purpose of Exod 13-15 from other elements of traumatised memory at play in the text, and thus to close in and finish on the central and fundamental question of what the text is for.

i) Preservation – mediated mass communication

It would be a truism to say that the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses preserve a story that their authors considered important. This seems self-evident, regardless of the reader's opinion on the historicity of the text. Neither is it controversial to suggest that the narrative and the song represent a memory. Even if the story has no basis whatsoever in literal historical events, it may still be an articulation of a memory of sorts, as we have seen.

It is striking that Exod 13.17 – 14.31 presents a prose account of YHWH's victory over Egypt at the Reed Sea, and 15.1-21 presents a poetic account of the very same incident. This repetition has puzzled numerous commentators and given rise to a broad spectrum of opinions on which of the two accounts was composed first, and the extent to which the latter 'borrowed' from the former. The majority of commentators on Exodus argue that the song is older than the narrative, and perhaps one of the oldest passages preserved in the Hebrew Bible¹⁸⁸, but dissenting voices suggest that the existing song might be a later composition, or the product of several stages of revision (see e.g. Durham, 1987: 209). The dating of the song is difficult to prove, and the direction of any 'borrowing' between it and the narrative even more so (as Alexander notes [2017: 292-293]).

253

¹⁸⁸ For example, see Alexander (2017: 294), Brueggemann (1994: 799), Cassuto (2005: 158), Fretheim (1991: 161), Meyers (2005: 110) and Noth (1962: 121).

The matter is complicated further by the possibility of the authors using artificially archaic language to compose the song. Assmann points out that cultural memories tend to be expressed in an older form of the community's language, instead of the contemporary vernacular (2011: 18; 2008: 117-118), and a few commentators on Exodus hint that this may be applicable to the Song of Moses. As Dozeman observes, 'The debate [around the dating of the Song of Moses] introduces the problem of distinguishing between genuinely archaic literature and the archaizing style of later writers.' (2009: 336). Dozeman stops short of explicitly claiming that the song was a later composition, created with an artificially archaic form of Hebrew, and so will I. Even a scholar with an exceptional command of Paleo-Hebrew, Late Biblical Hebrew and the distinctions between the two would be hard pressed to conclusively prove or disprove this idea. Davies is quite forthright in arguing for artificial archaisation as a common feature in the Hebrew Bible (1998: 34) but he does not command widespread agreement. Indeed, the prospect of extended sections of biblical text being consciously composed in a language and style indistinguishable from earlier compositions seems unlikely. However, while it seems implausible that the entire song could have been composed ex nihilo in the fifth century, I am prepared to believe that Yehud's scribes would have had sufficient skill to employ tone and linguistic features common to an earlier form of Hebrew, as they made additions and amendments to the extant text.

The possibility of artificial archaisation is not in itself enough to convince even me that Exod 13.17 – 15.21 represented a significant cultural memory for the community which composed it. But the presentation of the same memory in two different genres, one after the other, is a stronger argument. To preserve a story in writing, even once, suggests that it is significant for its author. To preserve it twice, in different forms, underlines the story's importance, for its authors and their community.

Culp proposes three 'memory vectors' visible in Deuteronomy (2020: 109). Of these three, two – story and song – are used in Exodus for accounts of YHWH's defeat of Egypt. Story is highly effective in persuading an audience to own the memory contained within the story as their own, and a song is easily remembered and easily passed on from person to person (2020: 131, 183). The use of two memory vectors in Exod 13.17 – 15.21 suggests that the Reed Sea incident was indeed a highly significant collective memory for the community which composed the text, and that this community was anxious to allow the memory to be passed on readily and by various means.

Culp's example of Deut 32.1-43 is remarkably similar to Exod 15.1-21, too. Like the Song of Moses in Exod 15, the Song of Moses in Deut 32 is echoed in Psalms and the prophetic books. And both songs are the subjects of some debate regarding their supposed ancient authorship (2020: 175). We can extrapolate that, if Deut 32 preserves a vital collective memory and indeed is a 'memory maker' for later generations (2020: 7-8, 33-35), this is likely to be equally true of Exod 15.

The context in which Exod 13.17 – 15.21 was composed gives further reason for seeing the text as a preserving a significant collective memory. For the Yehud community, settling into a land few of them would ever have seen before, establishing unity would have been vital. Vivid accounts of episodes from their supposed shared past would have helped meet this need, and the twin accounts of the Reed Sea episode suggest that this memory was especially significant. The community preserved it for posterity in a story; a form which would have encouraged its readers to own the memory as theirs. But the impact of a written text is likely to have been limited to the literate elite¹⁸⁹, at least in the short term. Preserving the episode in a song would have given a second avenue for passing on this memory; one with

¹⁸⁹ See e.g. Davies (1998: 16-17; 1992: 19), Young (1998: 408-409, 419), Schniedewind (2005: 35-37).

perhaps a more immediate mass appeal. Story and song, in this context the most effective available forms of mediated mass communication, were both employed to ensure the memory of the Reed Sea was preserved and propagated.

ii) Reconstruction – trauma versus history

The Exodus narrative is a classic example of collective memory. Hendel calls it 'a focal point of ancient Israelite religion... a foundational event' (2001: 601). But the narrative which records this 'event' is a radically reconstructed version of the past and 'No critical reader will defend its literal historical truth.' (Blenkinsopp, 2004b: 15; see also Hendel, 2001: 601-602). The details of the story themselves make it implausible as a literal historical account. Leaving aside the miraculous elements of the episode, the idea of six hundred thousand men (not to mention women, children and livestock) (Exod 12.37-38) crossing anything that could be described as a 'sea' in a single night stretches the bounds of believability.

At the same time, Blenkinsopp and Hendel also cast doubt on the possibility of the narrative being a pure invention. Since the Exodus is alluded to and knowledge of the story assumed throughout the Hebrew Bible, the narrative in Exod 13-14 can only be a pure invention if all texts containing those other allusions were written after it. So, if we assume that Exod 13-14 was formed during the Exile and completed during the Persian period, as Blenkinsopp and I both do¹⁹⁰, then DtrH, many of the Psalms and most of the prophetic books must all have been composed even later (Blenkinsopp, 2004b: 15-16), which is a very extreme view.

256

¹⁹⁰ Hendel implies that some form of the Exodus narrative would have been written much earlier – perhaps even in the pre-monarchical period (2001: 608).

Neither the Reed Sea narrative nor the Song of Moses constitute 'history' as a modern reader would understand it. But the language and tone of the two passages suggest it was never the authors' intention to create a rational, dispassionate account of literal, historical events. Typically of an essential cultural memory, the Reed Sea episode is described in mythological language and terms. The episode hinges on theophany, which lends both narrative and song an other-worldly tone. And commentators on Exodus note that the conflict between Israel and Egypt is described in terms of cosmic warfare between the deity and the forces of chaos (Meyers, 2005: 115-116; Fretheim, 1991: 153), with the authors employing tropes which echo ANE creation myths, especially in the parting of the sea itself in Exod 14.16, 21-22, 27 (Brueggemann, 1994: 794). The Reed Sea episode, then, was composed as a foundational myth for Israel: a collective memory – at least mostly fictive – which encapsulated ideas the nation held dear.

The 'other-worldly' tone and mythological tropes of Exod 13.17 – 15.21 may have been prompted by the trauma influencing its authors. It is well documented that trauma often results in the survivor being so overwhelmed with rage that they are 'literally unable to speak' (Tal, 1996: 157), or feeling an inner conflict between a compulsion to bear witness to what they have experienced and the inadequacy of any language to convey their suffering (c.f. Des Pres, 1973: 668-675; Laub, 1995: 63-64).

This trend has been noticed within the Hebrew Bible. We have seen that Houck-Loomis understands Job as conveying trauma deriving from the Exile, despite never directly referencing it (Houck-Loomis, 2018: 132-134), and William Morrow suggests something similar, ascribing the genocide commanded by YHWH in Deuteronomy 7 to the same traumatic root (2011: 283). In the same way, the authors of the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses felt compelled to articulate the experiences which traumatised them but were

incapable of doing so through a direct description. Telling a different story, in a different time, with a different enemy and shot through with myth, enabled them to express the suffering they had experienced.

There are parallels to be drawn between Exod 13.17 – 15.21 and Job. Both include song and story, and both are the subject of debate over whether the story or the song was composed first and how the two relate to each other (Houck-Loomis, 2018: 156-157). And while Job's narrative lacks Exodus' clear anchor in a specific (purported) time and place, its reference to Uz (Job 1.1) still gives it a sense of a time long past, similar to Exodus. The comparison with Deuteronomy 7 is much stronger, though. Like Deut 7, Exod 13-15 is set in the supposed time of Moses – indeed the words of Deut 7 are put in Moses' mouth. Both texts advocate divinely-sanctioned violence against Israel's enemies; in Exod 14-15, YHWH carries out this violence himself, in Deut 7, he commands his people to carry it out. Deut 7 even references the Reed Sea episode in its endorsement of violence (7.17-19). And both texts are overshadowed by experiences of trauma in the authors' past. Establishing a precise dating for Deuteronomy is not within the purview of this thesis, but Morrow believes it was composed in the aftermath of the fall of Jerusalem and exile to Babylon (Morrow, 2011: 283), and its reference to the Reed Sea suggests it is later than Exod 13-15.

As Morrow argues, the overwhelming violence – genocide indeed – envisioned in Deut 7 would have helped survivors of the Exile to process their unresolved trauma. Following the destruction of their city and Temple and the threatened annihilation of their entire culture, the survivors' response was, perhaps understandably, a desire to see their enemies annihilated instead (2011: 284-286). The violence encouraged in Deut 7 is an expression of this trauma-driven desire: 'The destruction of the seven Canaanite nations served as a proxy memory for the violent destruction of the exiles' own culture; only now it is

Israel who is in the position of power.' (2011: 289). A desire for revenge against Babylon is displaced onto the seven Canaanite nations.¹⁹¹

Morrow's argument is compelling and stands in tension with Janzen's characterisation of DtrH resisting engagement with trauma. Janzen references Morrow's essay along with several others (2019: 7), but dismisses all of them on the grounds that their conclusions do not differentiate psychological trauma from collective trauma in the same way he does. In my view, this differentiation is misleading and Morrow's insights into Deut 7 are valuable. At the same time though, Janzen's observations on the minimisation of trauma within DtrH remain helpful. It is possible to reconcile the two scholars' views and argue that a narrative which contains elements of trauma (Deut 7) might still bear a close textual relationship to a largely rationalist master narrative (DtrH), especially given that trauma is, by its nature, insidious and difficult for a survivor to contain within themselves. Janzen argues a very similar point himself in his earlier monograph, which describes traumatic 'intrusions' into DtrH (Janzen, 2012: 3-5).

Exod 13.17 – 15.21 is a proxy memory in the same model and with the same traumatic root as Deut 7. Within it, the authors' trauma is manifested, deriving from the fall of Jerusalem and inherited from their parents and wider community. Unable to directly describe the experiences at the root of this trauma, the authors created a myth which expressed their traumatised rage and fantasy of revenge against their enemies, and preserved it as a collective memory.

The composite nature of Exod 13.17 - 15.21 (and of the Pentateuch as a whole) adds a further intriguing element to this process of reconstruction. Its authors appear to have

1

¹⁹¹ Morrow argues that Deut 7 is based on a pre-existing story, embellished and 'radicalized' so as to express a trauma-infused desire for revenge (2011: 275). In support of this, he highlights close textual comparisons between Deut 7 and Exod 23: 20-33, 34:11-16 and Josh 14-18 (2011: 276-277). Exod 13-15 does not seem to draw on other biblical texts in the same way.

reworked at least one pre-existing tradition in their creation of a traumatised myth, thus reshaping a story which would already have constituted a collective memory of some kind. 192 This almost fits Alexander's framework (2004a) of a carrier group articulating a trauma claim but, as a dominant group within their society, being able to communicate it without need for their claim to be subjected to an extended public evaluation. However, the category of a trauma claim does not fit neatly here since the story is a proxy memory rather than a direct description of the traumatising experience. The question of how an existing tradition – even an existing collective memory – might be reformulated in response to a trauma is a fascinating one, and this story appears to be an example of exactly that. Unfortunately, it remains unclear precisely how the story was reconstructed. It is not possible to see from the finalised text what might have been lost or deliberately effaced from previous versions of the Reed Sea story, as it was reshaped in the Persian period. 193

Like many other evangelical scholars, I balk at the prospect of entirely dismissing the historicity of the Reed Sea episode. I want to insist that there is a kernel of historical fact to the narrative, however small, but any history within the story is impossible to discern: it is submerged beneath multiple layers of revisions and embellishments; beneath trauma, myth and fantasy.¹⁹⁴

_

¹⁹² To me, this calls to mind the reconstruction of the Bar Kokhba revolt, in which an existing collective memory was radically revised to fit Israel's national interests, hundreds of years after the memory's initial formulation (Zerubavel, 1995: 48-55, 103-104). However, this memory differs from the Reed Sea episode in that it does not appear to have been especially influenced by trauma.

¹⁹³ Many commentators on Exodus are ready to speculate on which verses within Exod 13.17-14.31 should be attributed to J, E and P under the documentary hypothesis (see e.g. Propp, 1999: 461, 476; Childs, 1976: 220; Hyatt, 1980: 147). More helpfully, some venture suggestions on how the passage might have drawn on P and non-P (see e.g. Dozeman, 2009: 300-305). However, it is extremely difficult to discern precisely how the combined P and non-P might have been reworked by Persian period scribes.

¹⁹⁴ Hendel seems to feel the same impulse I do to pull back from calling the Exodus pure fiction. He suggests that the narrative might be a grandly embellished account of a real group of exiles from Egypt who settled in Canaan (Hendel, 2001: 605-608).

iii) Memory figures – sites of memory, sites of trauma

Moses can be seen as a site of memory for Israel, embodying nationally significant ideas and values, as has been contended by Ben Zvi (2013: 335) and Hendel (2001: 620). Carr implies this, too, although he doesn't use the term 'memory figure' (2014: 110). The idea is also beginning to gain traction with commentators on Exodus. Carol Meyers is among those who, dissatisfied with exhaustive but inconclusive investigations into the historicity of the Exodus, have adopted the framework of collective memory as a more fruitful line of investigation: 'The term *mnemohistory* represents this kind of thinking, in which the biblical traditions of national origin are understood as phenomena of collective cultural memory rather than as historical record. Moses and the exodus thereby become figures of memory rather than history.' (Meyers, 2005: 10, emphasis original).

Within Exod 13-15, Moses stands at one remove from the Israelites, among them but distinct from them. He is Israel's spokesman before YHWH (Alter, 2004: 393; Noth, 1962: 133), but also YHWH's agent within Israel. He is the target of YHWH's caprice (14.15), but also 'channels the power of, or even becomes, God's own arm' (Propp, 1999: 497), stretching out his arm over the sea to divide the waters and then to turn them back (14.21-22, 26-27). At the climax of the Reed Sea narrative, the people 'believed in' Moses and YHWH together (14.31). Moses' singular role in the Reed Sea narrative marks him out as a memory figure, with regard to this episode. 195

In becoming a site of memory with regard to the Reed Sea episode, Moses also becomes a site of trauma through his association with a traumatised text. He epitomises traumatised shame and self-abasement, subordinate to an overwhelmingly powerful and

lend weight to their narrative.

¹⁹⁵ If Ben Zvi's supposition is correct, and Moses became the subject of a 'positive feedback loop' with more and more important memories becoming attached to him (2013: 335-336), then it is impossible to tell whether the authors of Exodus created their story with Moses already in mind or chose Moses as a convenient protagonist to

violent deity (Brueggemann, 1994: 795) and leading the Israelites in a song of praise to him (15.1-19). He enacts traumatised rage, not only witnessing YHWH's violence at close quarters but playing a part in enacting that violence (14.21-22, 26-27). And he speaks using traumatised, other-worldly language, most notably in the poetic hyperbole of the song (15.6-12).

I do not accept that a memory figure is always also a figure of trauma (as LaCapra argues [1998: 10]), but I believe Moses is both. He is a site of memory for the Exodus, and also a site of trauma, as the focal point of a text expressing the trauma of the ruined and exiled Judaeans.

iv) Purpose – acting out or working through?

To summarise, Exod 13-15 is designed in such a way as to make the memory of the Reed Sea doubly communicable – to be passed on through story and song – thus highlighting the memory's significance. The latent trauma behind the text makes anything approximating a historical account impossible, and the result is a proxy memory; a memory of trauma reconstructed to the degree of being expressed in an entirely different story. And the memory and the trauma are centred on Moses, who comes to embody both.

These observations offer insights into the text's purpose. Clearly, it is not a rationalistic explanation for why the Exile happened. DtrH focuses on the 'why' of the Exile, offering a documentary account of the people breaking faith with YHWH and therefore being subjected to his punishment (Janzen, 2019: 48-50; Houck-Loomis, 2018: 120). In Exod 13-15, there is no 'why'. DtrH comments on the fall of Jerusalem and its reasons at length, but Exod 13-15 never explicitly mentions it. And while DtrH depicts YHWH as threatening punishment for infidelity (e.g. Deut 28.15-68), and then enacting that punishment through defeat,

destruction and exile (e.g. 2 Kgs 21.10-15, 24.10-17), the deity of Exod 13-15 is inscrutable, revealing his plans only to Moses (14.15-18) after initially keeping his thoughts to himself (13.17-18). The Reed Sea episode expresses trauma but offers no answer to the 'why' of the people's suffering.

Neither is this an example of acting out. In acting out a trauma, the survivor is almost possessed by their traumatising experience, unable to escape from it and compelled to repeat it endlessly (LaCapra, 2001: 21). Lamentations is as close as the Hebrew Bible comes to an example of acting out. Although I suspect it constitutes a staged mourning as much as a genuine outpouring of grief, Lamentations expresses grief overwhelmingly: grief is 'everpresent' and articulated over and over again (Janzen, 2019: 4, 91). Exod 13-15 shows none of the repetition of Lamentations, or its competing voices which express different responses to disaster (2019: 91-93). In Exod 13-15, the Israelites are of one voice, crying out to YHWH and haranguing Moses, and singing YHWH's praises, all in unison (14.11-12, 15.1).

Instead, Exod 13-15 represents the authors and their community working through the trauma arising from the fall of Jerusalem and deportation to Babylonia. Working through enables a trauma survivor to move beyond acting out, articulating their experiences in a way which allows them to escape the confusion between past and future, and imagine a future free from the experience which traumatised them (LaCapra, 2001: 21-22). The Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses acknowledge the pain in Yehud's past and articulate the nation's trauma, seeking to transcend it. The result is an outworking of trauma which is simultaneously raw – hence the rage, guilt and fear it demonstrates – and controlled – hence the neatly conceived parallel story which allows the authors to express their suffering without directly describing the traumatising event. The traumata of destruction, defeat and exile are

communicated but finally transformed. By expressing their pain and desire for revenge against their enemies, Yehud's trauma is reimagined as a moment of victory and vindication.

Traumatised memory, triumphant identity

As with all collective memories, the Reed Sea episode informed the collective identity of the community in which it was composed, and at the point when Exod 13-15 is likely to have been composed, forming collective memory would have been vital to the Yehud community. At times of social and political upheaval, concerns around a society's collective identity come to the fore and, as Assmann rightly observes, a crisis in Judah's collective identity was prompted by the fall of Jerusalem, the loss of the Temple and the deposition of the Davidic monarchy (Assmann, 2011: 137-138; see also Crouch, 2014: 97). Both immediately after the events of 586 B.C.E. and on settling in Yehud after the Exile, it was crucial for the community's sense of unity to reinforce their shared idea of who they were. It is no surprise that they wished to work through their traumatised past, move on and redefine themselves as victorious and overcoming. At this time, with these concerns in mind, the Reed Sea narrative and Song of Moses were composed. It is understandable that a story which emphasised victory, restoration and even eschatological hope was particularly appealing to them in this context.

The Reed Sea episode thus played a key role in shaping not only Yehud's collective memory but also their collective identity. This is illustrated by several aspects of the text which demonstrate features of collective identity formation, as outlined by Crouch in her monograph on collective identity in Deuteronomy (2014: 113). Firstly, the Exodus story is a foundational myth for the community; a myth of origins, as Crouch herself observes (2014:

¹⁹⁶ These features of collective identity appear to be derived, at least in part, from the work of A. Cohen (1969).

138). Secondly, YHWH's terrorising of four different nations in 15.14-15, not to mention the destruction of Egypt itself, conveys a clear sense of separation between Israel and their neighbours; a common feature of ethnic identity formation. The 'dwelling' prepared by YHWH for his people (15.13) reinforces the spatial separation of Israel from other nations (despite their continued proximity) (2014: 224). And the use of a hymn to preserve and communicate the superiority of Israel and YHWH over and against their rivals could, in itself, be understood as a classic use of a worship practice to reinforce a community's identity (2014: 113-114).

Through the Reed Sea story, Yehud remembers YHWH as supreme, fearsome to all and terrifying to his enemies, requiring fidelity as an essential trait in his people. They remember Moses as a hero, a servant of a mighty but unpredictable deity, emblematic of Yehud's vindication by that same deity. Above all, they remember their nation as persecuted and eventually victorious. What defines the Yehud community is not victimhood but victory; not trauma itself but working through it.

The narrative and song bolster a collective self-image as victorious despite overwhelming odds; as vindicated by a supremely powerful deity, terrible to his enemies but protective and commanding of his own people; and as liberated from servitude and inheriting a land which was theirs by divine mandate. As the authors of Exodus, their community and future generations remembered the Reed Sea, they remembered this – not destruction and exile – as the foundational myth of their nation. Although the text of Exod 13.17 – 15.21 was born out of trauma and defeat, it created memories of strength and victory.

Conclusion

This thesis was inspired by my fascination with the Reed Sea story. I was (and still am) struck by the story's enormous influence, which ranges from other biblical texts right up to oppressed groups in the present day, and I was also slightly morbidly fascinated with the overwhelming violence YHWH metes out in the course of the story. I wondered why the authors of Exodus felt it necessary to depict this level of violence on the deity's part. So, I embarked on my doctoral research, aiming to establish how far trauma might help explain the extent of the violence within the Reed Sea story. After all, if the authors of Exodus had themselves experienced violence and terror, it would be understandable if violence and terror were manifested in the literature they created. Establishing the extent of trauma's influence on Exod 13.17 – 15.21 and markers of trauma within the text was thus my primary research aim.

I did not originally envisage applying collective memory studies to the Reed Sea episode, but that theory's relevance to the story became clear as I read Assmann's work on Moses as a memory figure. Although Assmann's work suggested to me that collective memory was closely tied to trauma theory, it took some time for me to fully grasp the nature of that link. But once that had happened, I realised how profoundly trauma can affect a society's shared memories, and my secondary research aim became to clarify how the concept of traumatised memory might apply to Exod 13.17 – 15.21.

I have sought to demonstrate three things within this thesis: 1) that Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 is profoundly influenced by the authors' trauma, deriving from the fall of Jerusalem and the deportation to Babylonian and inherited from their parents and others of their parents' generation, within the exiled community; 2) that the text therefore bears the watermark of trauma; 3) that the text functions as an example of a collective memory, with this function in itself affected by trauma.

I have done this by outlining the conception and development of the psychological phenomenon of trauma, and common features of literature – including biblical literature – influenced by trauma. In order to establish whether or not the authors of Exodus were traumatised, it was necessary to investigate when, where and by whom the book was written, and therefore what events in the authors' recent past might have traumatised them. Next, I have outlined how trauma can be inherited from the previous generation, and suggested that this is applicable to the authors of Exodus. The heart of the thesis is a close reading of Exod 13.17 – 15.21, in which I highlight where the text exhibits common markers of trauma literature. And the final chapter unpacks the framework of collective memory, how it can be affected by a community's shared trauma, what justifies reading Exod 13.17 – 15.21 as an example of traumatised memory and, finally, what insights can be gained from such a reading.

Limitations of my research

While I believe my argument is compelling, there are points at which my conclusions are likely but not proven. First and foremost, the available evidence does not allow us to say with certainty how a group of scribes in the fifth century B.C.E. would have thought and felt. This is all the more true when trauma is involved, since a survivor might act in a way which manifests trauma without themselves realising that is what they are doing. So, although I believe there is a strong case for the scribes who reshaped Exodus inheriting trauma from their parents and wider community, I cannot prove this conclusively, from the evidence available to me. Related to that point, this thesis assumes that an ANE society would have responded to collective trauma in the same way as a modern, western society. Once again, this is likely but not certain, and it is hard to envisage how it could be proven that survivors of the fall of Jerusalem in 586 B.C.E. suffered from psychological trauma.

The parameters of this thesis have not allowed me to address every question my research has raised. Several of these questions therefore remain. Perhaps the most obvious of these questions is whether the aspects of Exod 13-15 which I ascribe to trauma could be explained in other ways. I have made it clear within the body of the thesis that I consider it very unlikely that the text represents a literal historical account of Israel crossing the Reed Sea. I therefore consider it equally unlikely that the rage, guilt and fear expressed in the text could simply be ascribed to the historical actions of God and reactions of Israel and Egypt.

Alternatively, there is a case to be made for the Reed Sea episode being composed primarily for theological, not historical, reasons. In this line of thought, the events within the narrative and especially the behaviour of YHWH are intended to highlight what the authors perceived as important truths about the character of God. Several commentators on Exodus have argued for this. (For example, see Childs [1976: xiii]; Fretheim [1991: 5-6]; Sarna [1996: xiii]; and Durham [1987: 210].) This argument progresses the study of the text beyond a narrow insistence on its literal historicity, but it foregrounds troubling aspects of YHWH's character. Within the Reed Sea episode, YHWH is aloof, manipulative, vengeful and violent. If the text was composed with the primary aim of highlighting theological truths, we are left with a disturbing portrayal of God. Reading the Reed Sea episode through the lens of trauma helps explain this disturbing portrayal, attributing YHWH's violence and manipulation to manifestations of the authors' trauma, instead of assertions about the character of God as a metaphysical being.

Similarly, the story could have been written to strengthen the cause of monotheism, by emphasising YHWH's supremacy through a depiction of his victory over the forces of chaos and, by implication, over other deities. In this case, YHWH's apparent violence could be understood as a result of the authors' desire to present YHWH as all-powerful and rival

deities as therefore unworthy of being worshipped on the same footing. I would agree with this idea, up to a point. Exod 13-15 certainly does present YHWH as supreme, and reinforcing the centrality of YHWH-worship is likely to have been important to the community settling in Yehud. However, this argument does not, in itself, sufficiently explain the extent of the rage, violence and fear inherent within the text. Trauma seems a more convincing explanation.

Of course, my thesis rests on a Persian-period dating for the completion of the Reed Sea story. Needless to say, the dating of pentateuchal texts is the subject of vigorous debate. If it were demonstrated convincingly that the narrative and song must have been composed before the Exile or, conversely, much later (in the Hellenistic period, for example) then I would need to revise my conclusions. However, a pre-exilic dating for the Reed Sea story would leave open the possibility that the text was influenced by trauma deriving from the Assyrian defeat of the northern kingdom. It would be harder to point to a specific traumatic event overshadowing a text composed in the Hellenistic period but it is not impossible that a transgenerational trauma might endure for this long after the Exile (see e.g. Loewenberg, 2012: 56). In any case, a Hellenistic dating would demand further analysis of why the origins story within Exod 13.17 – 15.21 is so couched in mythological tropes and allusions to YHWH's victory over primordial chaos.

The nature of life within the Exile – and therefore whether or not it could be described as traumatic – is also a moot point. There is not enough evidence available to justify a conclusion that the exiles' lot was horrendous and left them psychologically scarred. Indeed, the available evidence suggests the opposite conclusion. However, trauma prompted by forced displacement is well documented in psychological studies, so the Judaeans' experience of being forcibly removed from their homes and deported to a foreign country is likely to have been traumatic in itself. Thus, regardless of the horrors or otherwise of life in Babylon, there

is good reason for believing that the exiles would have been traumatised by the destruction of Jerusalem, by forced displacement from their homes, or by a combination of those two experiences.

And finally, if the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses can be described as survival literature, it is worth discussing whether this might be equally true of the rest of the book of Exodus. Conversely, as a colleague recently challenged me, what is to prevent me from interpreting any and all biblical texts through the lens of trauma? To the Bible scholar with a traumatic hammer, any text looks like a nail. I believe the answer to both of those questions is to treat each biblical text in its own right. If Exodus as a whole was completed in the Persian period, then the book as a whole postdates the traumatic events of the fall of Jerusalem and the Babylonian Exile. But it does not necessarily follow that trauma must be manifested in every part of the book. It would be necessary to analyse other individual narratives from the book of Exodus, in order to argue that these narratives – and even the whole book – were influenced by trauma.

My thesis, then, is not unassailable. However, I believe my conclusions offer stronger answers to the questions identified above than the alternatives do. Acknowledging these caveats, I will now summarise my key findings.

The Reed Sea episode is overshadowed by trauma

Trauma is a watermark on the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses: trauma which probably derived from the fall of Jerusalem in 586 B.C.E. and the subsequent displacement to Babylonia. The fall of Jerusalem would have been devastating. It is likely to have included the slaughter and perhaps even torture of its male inhabitants, and sexual

violence against the women. And the siege which preceded it would have been a long, drawnout process of starvation, accompanied by constant threats of death and the loss of loved ones.

Although the scribes who reshaped Exodus in Yehud are unlikely to have been born in 586, this does not preclude trauma from this date affecting them deeply and thus influencing the composition of their text. Numerous case studies of Holocaust survivors, Vietnam veterans and others have shown that parents can and do pass on their own trauma to their children (see, for example, Baranowsky *et al*, 1998; Yehuda *et al*, 1998), and it would be no surprise if a national trauma on the scale of the fall of Jerusalem would have traumatised the descendants of the survivors in the same way. And naturally, the authors of the exilic P source are likely to have directly experienced the fall of Jerusalem. Trauma deriving from their experiences may well have showed itself in their literary creation.

Volkan's concept of 'time collapse' does not fit this context neatly (2001: 89-93), but his observations on 'chosen trauma' – how trauma can infuse an entire community for generations after the fact – are astute and applicable here (2001: 85-88). The trauma of the fall of Jerusalem and forced deportation to Babylon, inherited from their parents and saturating their whole community, is manifested in the literary activity of the scribes who reshaped and augmented Exodus.

This conclusion is informed by what is, in my view, the most likely dating schema for the book of Exodus. Any significant literary activity before the Exile seems unlikely.

Jerusalem was neither large enough to have facilitated extensive scribal activity nor socially-advanced enough to need it until the eighth century B.C.E. (Römer, 2007a: 46; Davies, 1998: 59-60). Some non-Priestly material seems to have been composed before the Exile, but this material appears to have taken the form of disconnected narrative units. Once in Babylonia, the exiles may have had sufficient leisure and facilities to create extensive literary works.

Indeed, the Priestly material appears to be exilic. And the Persian period, shortly following the return from Babylonia, seems to offer an environment and socio-political apparatus to make the production of a national history possible. What's more, at this point at which a fledgling community was seeking to establish itself in a new homeland, a national history would have been desirable in order to foster a sense of shared identity within this community. In this context, the Reed Sea story was shaped into the form in which we now know it.

Markers of trauma are discernible within the text of the Reed Sea episode

'Survivor literature' – that is, literature influenced by trauma experienced by the author – is not limited to a single genre of writing. The category can encompass memoirs (Lang, 2000: 19-20), documentary descriptions of traumatising events (Lifton, 1991: 456), fiction set against the background of those events (Lang, 2000: 21-22), or a hybrid of fiction and autobiography (Lifton, 1991: 399). But despite the diversity of genre, survivor literature tends to share common markers of trauma. Several of these markers are either clearly present or strongly suggested within the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses.

It is not my intention to repeat here my entire argument from earlier chapters, but I will offer a brief summary of my findings:

i) Guilt and shame

A sense of guilt and shame on the survivor's part, a sense of self-blame for the traumatising event(s), can be seen in many examples of modern survivor literature (Des Pres, 1973: 678; Lifton, 1991: 35, 489), not to mention biblical texts which have been categorised in a similar way (Garber, 2011: 319; Morrow, 2004: 84). Since guilt is characteristic of trauma, it should not be surprising if guilt and other markers of trauma appear in literature

produced by trauma survivors. Of course, any guilt on the survivor's part is entirely undeserved, but such guilt is still very common in trauma survivors and in any literature they produce following their traumatising experiences.

I have identified several points within Exod 13.17 – 15.21 at which guilt and shame are discernible. They are suggested by the Israelites' passive crying out to YHWH and his sharp rebuke in response (14.15). They are visible in Israel's subordination to the deity: their subservient fear and belief (14.31) and the simultaneous majesty and terror they ascribe to him (15.11). Paradoxically, guilt and shame are also suggested by YHWH's 'unfailing love' (15.13), similarly to an abused child's hero-worship of their tyrannical father (Lasine, 2002: 39-41).

ii) Anger and desire for revenge

A traumatic experience often results in extreme anger and a desire for revenge against the perpetrator, partly as a response to the guilt and shame the survivor feels (Herman, 1997: 189). Anger and desire for revenge spill over into survivor literature, too (Tal, 1996: 7) and Garber specifically mentions the divine wrath and punishment in exilic biblical texts (2011: 320), expressing the authors' desire for revenge against their enemies.

The violence within the Reed Sea story – the violence which inspired me to undertake this whole research project – is inseparable from a deep sense of anger on the authors' part. The violence at the heart of the story is foreshadowed from the very beginning, when the Israelites leave Egypt prepared for battle (13.18). The language used to describe YHWH's actions conveys a sense of violence, too: he commands Moses to 'split' the sea (14.16), he 'hurled' the Egyptians into the water (14.27) and, finally, the Egyptians are emphatically

'drowned', in the intensive passive form of the verb (15.4). They are destroyed (Alter, 2004: 395).

Within the Song of Moses, YHWH's 'burning anger' is made explicit (15.7-8) and he is portrayed as a source of terror to Israel's neighbours (15.14-16). With anger featuring as such a prominent characteristic of the main protagonist of Exodus 13-15, there is good reason for seeing him as a reflection of the authors' own anger and rage. Indeed, it represents the authors' desire for revenge against the enemies of their recent past: the Babylonians.

iii) The imperative to bear witness; the impossibility of doing so

It is common for a traumatised individual to emerge from their experience determined to tell the story of what they have seen, heard and felt. This is necessary not only to communicate their experience to others, but also to process the experience for themselves (Laub, 1995: 63). Trauma is, by nature, not fully grasped or assimilated by the survivor in the course of their experience, and articulating that experience is an important step to enable them to come to terms with it. In the case of an event as monstrous as the Holocaust, many survivors are motivated to bear witness by a sense of duty to friends and loved ones who lost their lives. Some even describe this duty in terms of a 'sacred mission' (Des Pres, 1973: 671). The cruel irony is that bearing witness is impossible: no words are adequate to convey the reality of the experience or the magnitude of the survivors' suffering.

The same irony is at work within the Reed Sea story. It is suggested by YHWH's command that the Israelites should be silent, swiftly followed by a rebuke as they (or Moses as their representative) cry out to him in terror (14.13-15). Even when the Israelites are confronted with the dead bodies of their enemies, they cannot break their silence. Instead their response is fear of YHWH (14.30-31). The deity seems to require silence as evidence of trust

and obedience (Durham, 1987: 192) and the Israelites' enforced silence mirrors the narrative's authors, who are trapped between the imperative to bear witness to their experiences and their inability to describe those experiences to their own satisfaction.

A survivor caught in this paradox must either constantly tell and retell their story, or find an alternative way to bear witness. One such alternative is to tell a story about the traumatic experience, without describing the event itself (Caruth, 1996: 27). In this way, a faithful history of the event can be conveyed, without depicting it directly. The authors of Exodus, unable to describe their traumatising experiences directly, conveyed those experiences by recasting them in a story set in the distant past.

iv) Other-worldly language

Depictions of traumatic experiences often seem to adopt a quasi-religious tone. If a profound trauma is inherently 'other', inherently 'strange' (Felman and Laub, 1992: 7), then language which is similarly 'other' might be necessary to depict it.

Obviously, the Hebrew Bible contains a great deal of other-worldly language. But even in this context, the Reed Sea episode stands out as grandiose, dreamlike and extraordinary. YHWH's presence in cloud and fire represents theophany (13.21). His actions in manipulating the sea suggest conflict on a cosmic, mythological scale (14.16, 21-22, 27; see Meyers, 2005: 115-116). The confusion over light and darkness creates a sense of unreality within the narrative (14.24-25). The description of YHWH in the Song of Moses is shot-through with hyperbole (c.f. 15.6-12). And there are occasional examples of possible puns (14.21, 15.5), which are characteristic of the wordplay commonly found in survivor literature (Garber, 2015: 26).

v) Extreme and enduring fear

Experiences of trauma are frequently associated with extreme fear or horror (Herman, 1997: 33, 46; see also *International Classification of Diseases*, 2018: online). This fear often manifests itself in traumatic nightmares and flashbacks, or even in 'context-free fearful associations' which may last for years after the traumatising event (van der Kolk and van der Hart, 1995: 172). In other words, a trauma survivor can experience profound fear without clear association to any specific stimulus.

This aspect of trauma has been accepted by several Bible scholars who apply trauma theory to biblical texts. For example, Carr draws on Caruth's idea of 'speechless terror' to describe the experiences of the Judaean exiles and explain the Hebrew Bible's silence on day-to-day like in Babylon (2011b: 295-297), and O'Connor argues that fear deriving from the fall of Jerusalem underpinned biblical texts written in its aftermath, particularly Lamentations (2011: 21; 2002: 3-6).

There is a good deal of fear on display in Exodus 13.17 – 15.21, too. The Israelites are 'very much afraid' after seeing the approach of the onrushing Egyptian army (14.10); the Egyptians themselves are portrayed as extremely fearful when it becomes clear that YHWH is fighting for Israel against them (14.25); the Israelites respond to the Egyptians' deaths with 'fear' of YHWH (14.31); and the Song of Moses describes YHWH as provoking fear and terror in Israel's enemies (15.14-16). The mere presence of fear within the Reed Sea episode is not sufficient to make a convincing case for trauma influencing the composition of the text. But when this obvious sense of fear is taken in conjunction with the other markers of trauma within the text, a stronger case emerges.

vi) Learned helplessness

William Morrow's observation of learned helplessness on the part of the exiled Judaeans is intriguing (2004: 80, 83-84), although he seems a lone voice on this point. I am reluctant to apply this characteristic to survivor literature in general but Morrow has raised important questions over whether learned helplessness might represent a widespread Judaean reaction to the trauma of displacement. In the same way, it could also be argued that the Israelites' crying out to YHWH (14.9-12) expresses the authors' own trauma-induced helplessness and passivity, while emphasising YHWH's overwhelming power, control and wisdom. The Yehud community perhaps needed to remember their deity in this light, at a time when the community itself was vulnerable and trying to establish its shared identity.

Thus, there is a strong case for treating Exod 13.17 – 15.21 as trauma literature. It is not 'survivor literature' in its truest sense, as survivor literature is created by those who have directly experienced a traumatising event. Instead, we can describe it as 'survival literature'. It is a piece of literature which helped the authors and their community to survive in the aftermath of trauma and upheaval, to express their pain and forge a renewed sense of collective identity.

The Reed Sea episode is an example of traumatised memory

This thesis has highlighted key features of collective memory: how a large group preserves and communicates memories of significant events and people; how the group reconstructs an event so as to emphasise important values and ideas; how it focuses on a 'memory figure' which embodies such values; and how the group's collective identity is formed through such memories.

Each of these key features is changed by a group's trauma: a traumatised memory not only preserves significant people and events, but also pieces together remembered fragments of the event in an attempt to understand what happened; it is not just reconstructed but simply incompatible with history as the traumatising event cannot be fully grasped by the conscious mind (LaCapra, 2001: 88-89); it focuses on a memory figure which comes to represent trauma, as well as the memory itself (LaCapra, 1998: 10); and while it helps to shape the group's collective identity, it also enables the group to work through their shared trauma and move beyond it (LaCapra, 2001: 21-22).

The Reed Sea episode bears the hallmarks of a collective memory, coloured by shared trauma:

i) It includes examples of mass communication

The Reed Sea narrative presents a prose account of YHWH's victory over Egypt, and the Song of Moses gives a poetic account of the very same incident. The presentation of the same memory in two different memory vectors (genres), one after the other, supports the idea that this incident is a significant cultural memory (Culp, 2020: 109). To preserve the story twice, in different forms, underlines its importance, for its authors and their community.

As the Yehud community settled into an unfamiliar land, reinforcing a sense of unity would have been vital. Establishing collective memories and therefore collective identity contributed to this unity. The Reed Sea episode seems to have been a highly significant memory for the community, who preserved it in a story, to encourage its readers to own the memory as theirs, and also in a song, to make it easy for members of the community to remember and pass on.

ii) It is a reconstructed memory, in which trauma displaces history

While the historicity of the Reed Sea episode is likely to remain the subject of lively debate for many years to come, it seems implausible that the text might represent a literal historical account. Like any collective memory, it is reconstructed, with events presented in a way which emphasises important values rather than strict historical 'facts'. But the reconstruction of the memory of the Reed Sea goes further than this.

The language and tone of the narrative and the song suggest that the authors never intended to create a historical account. Typically of an essential cultural memory, it is couched in mythological language and terms, with the conflict between Israel and Egypt described in terms of cosmic warfare between the deity and the forces of chaos (Meyers, 2005: 115-116). The Reed Sea episode, then, was composed as a foundational myth for Israel, infused with trauma and fantasy. Compelled to bear witness to the violence, devastation and loss experienced by their parents and wider community, but also lacking the words to describe these experiences to their own satisfaction, the authors of the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses communicated and preserved the traumatising experiences by telling an entirely different story. The result is a proxy memory: a myth which expresses the traumatised rage of the authors and their fantasy of revenge against their enemies, and preserves it as a collective memory.

iii) It presents Moses as a site of memory and of trauma

Several scholars have previously argued that Moses functions as a site of memory within the Hebrew Bible (see e.g. Ben Zvi [2013: 335]; Hendel [2001: 620]). Meyers also includes this idea in her commentary on Exodus (2005: 10). This is therefore not a novel claim. And there is evidence within Exod 13.17 – 15.21 to support the idea of Moses as a site

of memory. Within the narrative in particular, Moses acts as Israel's representative before YHWH, receiving his orders for the whole nation (Alter, 2004: 393), but also represents YHWH before Israel. At the climax of the narrative, Moses and YHWH are even conflated as the people 'believed in' both of them at once (14.31).

However, Moses is more than a site of memory for Israel. He is also a site of trauma. Moses himself embodies several markers of trauma literature: shame in his subordination to the supreme and overwhelmingly violent deity; rage in playing a part in YHWH's violence against Egypt; and other-worldly language, as the poetic hyperbole of the song come from his mouth (15.6-12).

iv) It enabled the Yehud community to work through trauma

Each of these three previous features of the Reed Sea episode offer clues to the text's purpose. It is not a simple and literal historical account. Neither does it seem to offer a rational explanation for the experiences which traumatised the authors and their community. This is not to say that the text represents traumatised 'acting out', though. Exod 13.17 – 15.21 expresses the pain of the Yehud community and their thirst for revenge against their enemies, but it is not trapped by this pain: it places trauma in the past and envisages a future of victory and vindication. The text enables the community to work through their collective trauma; to transcend it and move beyond it.

On settling in Yehud after the Exile, the community urgently needed to define itself and foster a sense of collective identity. Articulating and preserving their shared past was a crucial step towards this. Reshaped against this background, the Reed Sea episode places trauma, fear and subjugation in the past and defines the community as victorious and overcoming. Through the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses, the Yehud community

shapes its conceptions of itself and its deity. They remember YHWH as supreme, fearsome to all and terrifying to his enemies. They remember Moses as a hero, a servant of their supreme deity, embodying their endurance, their victory over oppression and their divine favour.

The Reed Sea story was a highly significant collective memory for the communities in which it was composed and later reshaped. The profound influence of trauma on its authors resulted in a proxy memory: a myth which articulated traumatised pain and rage by displacing it into a time long past. But this foundational myth also helped shape the community's collective identity for their present and future. It was born out of fear, anger and suffering but envisioned freedom, security and peace to come.

Further research

At various points, limited space and the parameters of my research have forced me to bracket off important questions. For example, I would have liked to explore: the concept of postmemory and its relevance to the Reed Sea episode; how trauma might inform our understanding of the characterisation of the deity; and to what extent evangelical readers might find these conclusions helpful or even acceptable. All of these questions might form the basis for fruitful further research. I would also welcome the opportunity to investigate how trauma might illuminate other disturbing biblical texts and the deity within them.

Throughout my PhD research, I have held my scholarly integrity in one hand and my evangelical Christian faith in the other. My thesis was partly prompted by my desire to reconcile myself to a disturbing biblical text and its violent deity. I have been successful in that I can now explain the extent of the violence within the Reed Sea episode, without either retreating into theodicy or concluding that God must be a tyrant. However, at the start of this

project, I would have been surprised and probably disappointed to find myself expressing scepticism about any kind of historical basis to the Reed Sea story, just a few short years later.

Cruel sea or cruel deity?

The film *The Cruel Sea* begins with an observation on the nature of violence and cruelty: 'This is a story of the Battle of the Atlantic, the story of an ocean, two ships, and a handful of men. The men are the heroes; the heroines are the ships. The only villain is the sea, the cruel sea, that man has made more cruel.' (*The Cruel Sea* [1953]).

The Reed Sea is not cruel in itself. But, like the Atlantic Ocean, it is made cruel. The Reed Sea drowns the Egyptian army at the behest of YHWH, so it could be said to have been made cruel by the deity. However, the violence within the Reed Sea narrative and the Song of Moses is an outworking of the authors' traumatised rage and desire for revenge, arising from Babylonian brutality. If the Reed Sea is cruel, it is made so by the deity but, more pertinently, by human cruelty.

Appendix 1: Exodus 13.17 – 15.21 with translation

- אַמָר אֱלֹהִים בֶּי קַרָּוֹב הָוּא בִּיוּ אָמָר אֱלֹהִים בָּרֶדְ אֶרֶץ פְּלְשְׁהִּים בִּי קַרָוֹב הָוּא בִּיוּ אָמַר אֱלֹהִים 13.17 בֶּן־יִנָּחֵם הָעָם בִּרְאֹתָם מִלְחָמָה וְשָׁבוּ מִצְרֵיְמָה:
 - 18 וַיַּפֶּב אֱלֹהָיםוּ אֶת־הָעֶם דֶּרֶךְ הַמִּדְבָּר יַם־סְוּף וַחְמֻעִּים עָלוּ בְנִי־יִשְׂרָאֵל מֵאֶרֶץ מִצְרֵים:
- 19 וַיַּקָּח מֹשֶׁה אָת־עַצְמָות יוֹסֵף עמָּוֹ כִּי[°] הַשְׁבֵּע הִשְׁבִּיע אֶת־בְּגֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל לֵאמֹר פָּקּד יִפְּקְד אֶלֹהִים אֶתְכֶם: וְהַעֲלִיתָם אֶת־עַצְמֹתַי מָזָּה אִתְּכֶם:
 - נִיסְעָוּ מִסֶּכָּת וַיַּחֲנָוּ בָאֵתֶׁם בִּקְצֵה הַמִּדְבֵּר: 20
 - בן הוֹלָה הֹלָהְ לְפְנֵיהֶּם יוּמָּם בְּעַמְּוּד עָנָן לַנְחֹתָם הַדֶּׁרֶךְ וְלֵיֶלָה בְּעַמְּוּד אֵשׁ לְהָאִיר לָהֶם לָלֶכֶת יומָם וַלִּילָה:
 - 22 לֹא־יָמִّישׁ עַמְּוּד הֶעָנָן יוֹמֶּם וְעַמְּוּד הָאֵשׁ לֻיְלָה לֹפְגַי הָעָם: פ

:וִידַבֵּר יִהֹוָה אֵל־מֹשֵׁה לְאמְר:

- בּבֵר ٛ אֶל־בְּנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל ٞ וְיָשֵׁבוּ וְיַחֲנוּ לֹפְנֵי פִּי הַחִירֶת בֵּין מִגְדָּל וּבֵין הַיָּבְם לִפְנֵי בְּעַל צְפֿן נִכְחָו תחַנִוּ עַל־הַיָּם:
 - : וָאָמַר פַּרְעֹה לבְגַי יִשְׂרָאֵׁל נְבַכִים הַם כָּאָרֶץ סָגַר עֲלֵיהָם הַמִּדְבֶּר:
- ַרְעָה פֶּרְעָה וְנָדָעָוּ מִצְרָיִם פֶּי־אָנִי יְהָוֶה בְּפַּרְעֹה וּבְכָל־חֵילוֹ וְיָדְעַוּ מִצְרָיִם פִּי־אָנִי יְהָוֶה וַיְּצֲשׂוּ־בֵן:
- ניַגַּדֹ לְמֶלֶהְ מִצְרַיִם כִּי בָרָח הָעָם וַיֵּהָפֵּהְ לְבַּב פַּרְעָּה וַעֲבָדִיוֹ אָל־הָעָׁם וַיְּאמרוּ מַה־זְּאֹת עָשִּׁינוּ כִּי־שִׁלָּחָנוּ אָת־יִשְׂרָאָל מֵעַבְדֵנוּ:
 - ניָאָסָר אָת־רְכְבָּו וְאֶת־עַמִּו לָקָח עִמְּו: 6
 - ַנִיּלָּח שֵׁשׁ־מֵאָות רֶּכֶב בָּחוּר וְלָל רֶכֶב מִצְרֻיִם וְשָׁלִשָּׁם עַל־בִּלְוֹ: 7
- צַיָד רָמֶה: פַּרְעֹה מֶלֶךְ מִצְרִים וַיִּרְדֹּף אַחָרֵי בְּגֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל וּבְגֵי יִשְׂרָאֵל יִצְאַים בְּיָד רָמֶה:
- על־פּי' פַּרְעָּה וּפָּרָשָׁיו וְחֵילֵו עַל־פּי' נִיּלְים אַחָרִיהָּם וַיַּשָּׂיגוּ אוֹתָם חֹנִים עַל־הַיָּׁם כָּל־סוּס בֶּרֶבֶב פַּרְעָה וּפָּרָשָׁיו וְחֵילֵו עַל־פּי' הַחִירֶת לִפָּנֵי בַּעַל צִפָּן:
- וּפַּרְעָׂה הָקֶרֶיב וַיִּשְׂאוּ בְגִי־יִשְׂרָאֵּל אֶת־עֵינֵיהֶם וְהָנָּה מִצְרַיִםוּ נֹסֵע אַחַרֵיהֶׁם וַיִּירְאוּ מְאֹד וַיִּצְעֲקוּ בִנִי־יִשִׂרָאַל אֵל־יִהוָה:

- ניּאמְרוּ אֶל־מֹשֶׁהֹ הָמִבְּלִי אֵין־קְבָרִיםֹ בְּמִצְלֵיִם לְקַחְהָּנוּ לָמְוּת בַּמִּדְבֶּר מַה־זּאֹת עַשְׂיתָ לְּנוּ לְהוֹצִיאָנוּ מִמִּצְרֵיִם:
- רנוּ אֵלֶיךּ בְמִצְרַיִם לֵאמֹר חָדָל מִמֶּנוּ וְגַעַבְדָה אֶת־מִצְרַיִם כִּי טִוב לָנוּ בְּלֹא־זֶה הַדָּבָר אֲשֶׁר דְּבַּרְנוּ אֵלֶיךּ בְמִצְרַיִם לֵאמֹר חָדָל מִמֶּנוּ וְגַעַבְדָה אֶת־מִצְרַיִם מִמְּחָנוּ בַּמִּדְבָּר:
 - 13 נּיֹאמֶר מֹעֶה אֶל־הָעָם אַל־תִּירָאוּ הְתִיצְבוּ וּרְאוּ אֶת־יִשׁוּעַת יְהוָה אֲשֶׁר־יַעֲעֶה לָכֶם הַזְּוֹם כִּי אֲשֶׁר רְאִיתָם אֶת־מִצְרַיִם הַיּוֹם לָאׁ תֹסֶיפוּ לֹרְאֹתָם עִוד עַד־עוֹלֶם:
 - 14 יְהָוָה יִלְחַם לָכֶם וְאַתָּם תַּחֲרִישְׁוּן: פ
 - ניָאמֶר יְהוָהֹ אֶל־מֹשֶׁה מַה־תִּצְעַק אֵלָי דַבֵּר אֶל־בְּנֵי־יִשְׂרָאֵל וְיִסְעוּ: 15
 - :בַּיַבָּשָׁה: הָרֶם אֱת־מַטְּךָּ וּנְטֵה אֶת־יָדְדֶּ עַל־הַיָם וּבְקַעֵהוּ וְיָבָאוּ בְנֵי־יִשְׂרָאֱל בְּתִוךְ הַיָּם בַּיַבָּשָׁה:
- ַנאַנִי הנְגַי מְחַזֵּלְ אֶת־לֵב מִצְרַיִם וְיָבָאוּ אַחָרֵיהֶם וְאִכָּבְדָה בְּפַרְעֹה וּבְכָל־חֵילוֹ בְּרְכְבָּו וּבְפָּרְשֵׁיו:
 - :וְיָדְעָוּ מִצְרַיִם כִּי־אֲנִי יְהוֶה בְּהַכְּבְדֵי בְּפַרְעֹה בְּרְכְבָּו וּבְפָּרְשָׁיוו
 - 19 ניָּפֿע מַלְאַד הָאֶלהֿים הַהֹלֵדְ לְפָנֵי מַחָנֵה יִשְׂרָאֵׁל נַיֻּלֶדְ מֵאחָרֵיהֶם ניִּפֿע עַמְּוּד הָעָנָן מִפְּנֵיהֶם ניַעַמְד מַאַחָרִיהֵם:
- ניָבֿא בִּיןו מַחָגַה מִצְרַיִם וּבֵין מַחָגַה יִשְׂרָאֵׁל וַיְהָי הֶעָנָן וְהַחֹּשֶׁהְ וַיָּאֶר אָת־הַלָּיִלָה וְלֹא־קָּרָב זֶה 20 אָל־זֶה כָּל־הַלָּיִלָה:
- ַרַנָּט מֹשֶׁה אֶת־יָדוֹ עַל־הַיָּם נַוּוֹלֶךְ יְהָנָהוּ אֶת־הַיָּם בְּרוּחַ קַדִים עַזָּה כָּל־הַלַּיִּלָה נַיָּשֶׁם אֶת־הַיָּם לֶחָרָבָה נַיִּבָּקְעַוּ הַמֵּיִם:
 - 22 וַיָּבָאוּ בְגֵי־יִשְׂרָאֵל בְּתַּוֹךְ הַיָּם בּיַּבָּשָׁה וְהַמָּיִם לָהֶם חֹמָה מְימִינָם וּמִשְּׁמֹאלֶם:
 - בּיֶם: מַצְרַיִּם נַיָּבָאוּ אַחֲרֵיהֶם כָּל סָוּס פַּרְעֹה רְכְבָּו וּפָּרְשָׁיו אֶל־חָּוֹךְ הַיֶּם: 23
 - בּלֵיִם בְּעַמְּוּד אֵשׁ וְעָנָ,ן וַיָּהָם אֵת מַחָנָה מִצְלַיִם בְּעַמְּוּד אֵשׁ וְעָנָ,ן וַיָּהָם אֵת מַחָנָה מִצָּרֵיִם:
- 25 וַיָּסָר אָת אֹפַן מַרְכְּבֹלָיו וַיְנַהָּגָהוּ בִּכְבַדֵת וַיָּאמֶר מִצְרַיִם אָנוּסָהֹ מִפְּנֵי יִשְׂרָאֵׁל כֵּי יְהֹוָה נִלְחָם לָהֶם בְּמִצְרֵיִם: פּ
- ַניָּאמֶר יְהנָהֹ אֶל־מֹשֶּׁה נְטֵה אֶת־יִדְדֶּ עַל־הַיֶּח וְיָאֻבוּ הַמַּּיִםׁ עַל־מִצְלַיִם עַל־רְכְבָּו וְעַל־פָּרָשְׁיו: 26
 - רַנִּט מֹשֶׁה אֶת־יָדו עַל־הַיָּם נַיָּשָׁב הַיָּם לְפְנָות בּּקֶר לְאֵיתָנו וּמִצְרַיִם נָסִים לְקְרָאתֵו וַיְנַעֵּר יְהוָה אֶת־מִצְרַיִם בְּתִוֹךְ הַיָּם:

- רּנִישָׁבוּ הַפַּאִים אַחָרִיהָם פַּיָם לְאֹ־נִשְׁאַר פַּרֶעוֹה הַבָּאִים אַחָרִיהָם פַּיָם לְאֹ־נִשְׁאַר בּיָב בָּהָם עַד־אָחָד:
 - :בַּנְ יִשְׂרָאֵל הָלְכִּוּ בַיַּבָּשָׁה בְּתַּוֹךְ הַיָּב וְהַמַּיִם לָהֶם חֹמָה מְימִינָם וּמִשְּׁמֹאֹלֶם:
- נּיִושַׁע יְהוָה בַּיִּוֹם הַהָּוּא אֶת־יִשְׂרָאָל מִיַּד מִצְרֵיִם נַיְרָא יִשְׂרָאֵל אֶת־מִצְרַיִם מֻת עַל־שְׁפַת הַיֶּם:
 - 31 וַיַּרָא יִשְׂרָאֵל אֶת־הַיָּד הַגִּּדֹלָה אֲשֶׁר עָשָׂה יְהוָהֹ בְּמִצְרַיִם וַיְּירְאָוּ הָעָם אֶת־יְהוֶה וַיְאֲמִינוּ בִּיהוָה וּבִמֹשֵׁה עַבִּדְּו: פּ
 - אָז יָשִׁיר־מֹשֶׁה װּבְנֵּי יִשְּׂרָאֵל אֶת־הַשִּׁירָה הַזּאֹת לִיהוָה וַיּאֹמְרָוּ לֵאמֶר אָשִׁירָה לִיהוָה כֵּי־גָאָה 15.1 גַּאָָה סָוּס וְרֹכָבָו רָמֵה בַיֵּם:
 - 2 עָזִי וְזִמְרָתֹ יָּה וַיְהִי־לֵי לִישׁוּעֵה זֶה אֵלִי וְאַנְוֹהוּ אֱלֹהֵי אָבֶי וַאֲרֹמְמֶנְהוּ:
 - :יהוָה אִישׁ מִלְחָמֵה יִהוָה שְׁמְוּ: 3
 - בּרֶכְלַת פַּרְעָה וְחֵילוֹ יָרָה בַיָּב וּמִבְחַר שֵׁלִשָׁיו טֻבְּעוּ בְיַם־סְוּף:
 - 5 הְהֹמָת יְכַסְיֻמִּוּ יָרְדָוּ בִמְצוֹלָת כְּמוֹ־אָבֶן:
 - :בְּיָהוָה הָּרְעַץ אוֹיֵב יְמִינְהָּ יְמִינְהָּ יְהוָה תִּרְעַץ אוֹיֵב 6
 - ' וּבְרָב גְּאוֹנְדָ תַּהָרָס קָמֶיְדְ תְּשַׁלַּחֹ חֲרָנְדְּ יֹאֹכְלָמוֹ כַּקְשׁ:
 - וּבְרָוּחַ אַפֶּּיךְ גֵעֶרְמוּ מִַּיִם נִצְּבָוּ כְמוֹ־גַּדְ נֹזְלֵים קָפְאוּ תָהֹמְת בְּלֶב־יֵם:
 - יַדִי: אָרַיִּף אַשָּׂיג אָחַלֵּק שָׁלֶל תִּמְלָאֲמֹו נַפְשִּׁי אָרַיק חַרְבִּי תּוֹרִישֵׁמו יָדִי:
 - נַעַפְתָּ בְרוּחֲדֶּ כִּסָּמוֹ יָם צֶּלֲלוֹּ כַּעוֹבֶּׁרֶת בְּמַיִם אַדִּירִים:
 - 11 מִי־כָמְכָה בָּאַלָם יְהוָה מִי כָּמָכָה נָאְדָּר בַּאֱדֶשׁ נוֹרָא תְהּלָּת עַשֵּׁה פֶּלֶא:
 - :נָטִּיתָ יְמִינְךָּ תִּבְלָצֵמו אֶרֶץ
 - 13 נָחֶיתָ בְחַסְדָּהָ עַמ־זְוּ גָּאֱלְתָּ נַהַלְתָּ בְעַזְּהָ אֶל־נָוֶה קֵדְשֶׁדְ:
 - :יַבְּי פַּלֵשֶׁת אַחָׁז יִשְׁבֵי פְּלֵשֶׁת 14
 - :אָז נִבְהַלוּ אַלוּפֵי אֱדֹום אֵילֵי מוֹאָב יְאֹחֲזַאוֹ רֻעַד נָמגוּ כָּל יֹשְׁבֵי כְנָעַן:
- בּגְלָל זְלוּעָהָ נָפַּׁחַד בִּגְלָל זְלוּעָהָ יִדְּמָוּ כָּאָבֶן עַד־יַעֲבָר עַמְּדְּ יְהֹנָה עַד־יַעֲבָר עַם־זָוּ קַנְיתָ:
 - ַבִּיף: מָקְדָּשׁ אֲדֹנָי כּוּנְנָוּ יָדֵיף: אָבָוּן לְשִׁבְתַּךָּ פָּצַלְתָּ יְהוָגָה מִקְּדָשׁ אֲדֹנָי כּוּנְנָוּ יָדֵיף:
 - :קלָה לְעֹלָם נָעֶד: 18

- 19 בֵּי בָא° סוּס פַּרְעֹה בְּרִכְבָּו וּבְפָּרָשָׁיוֹ בַּיָּם נִיָּשֶׁב יְהוָה עֲלַהֶּם אֶת־מֵי הַיָּם וּבְגַי יִשְׂרָאֵל הָלְכִוּ בַיַּבַשֵּׁה בִּתִּוֹךְ הַיַּם: פּ
- בּמְשֹּים אַחָלֶיהָ בְּתַפִּים וּבִּמְחֹלְת: נַתַּצֶאנָ בֵל־הַנָּשִׁים אַחָלֶיהָ בְּתַפִּים וּבִמְחֹלְת: 20
 - ס נַתַּעַן לָהֶם מִרְיָם שִׁירוּ לִיהוָהֹ כִּי־גַאָּה נָאָה סְוּס וְרֹכְלָו רָמֵה בַיָּם: ס

13.17 And so it was that when Pharaoh sent out¹⁹⁷ the people, God did not lead them by way of¹⁹⁸ the land of the Philistines, although it was nearby. For God said to himself, 'If the people see war, they may return to Egypt.'

13.18 Hence God led the people by way of the desert¹⁹⁹ to the Reed Sea.²⁰⁰ The Israelites went out from the land of Egypt prepared for battle.²⁰¹

includes a number of imperatives which imply that he is not merely allowing them to leave but ordering them to do so.

בים can be understood as 'to dismiss, send away' or as 'to let free, give free reign to' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1999: 1511-1513). While Pharaoh does not dismiss the Israelites against their will, Ex 12.31-32

¹⁹⁸ an established route, which seems unlikely in these circumstances, so I have followed the NRSV translation, 'by way of...'.

¹⁹⁹ הברב' can also be translated as 'wilderness' or 'steppe', but 'desert' is the most common translation, and there seems no particular reason for preferring 'wilderness' over it.

²⁰⁰ This body of water is unlikely to be the Red Sea as modern readers know it. It may refer to an arm of the Red Sea (Cole, 1973: 117) or to a 'series of marshes and lakes between the Mediterranean and the Gulf of Suez' (Bruckner, 2008: 125).

²⁰¹ Literally, the Israelites 'were five' or 'were grouped in fifties' in the sense that they were arranged as an army, ready for battle (Clines, 1996: 259). This concept has no direct equivalent in English, so I have highlighted their battle-readiness, rather than their arrangement in groups of fifty.

- **13.19** Moses took the bones of Joseph with him, for he had made the Israelites swear a solemn oath²⁰², saying, 'God will surely come to your aid²⁰³ and then you must bring up²⁰⁴ my bones with you from here.'
- 13.20 They set out from Succoth and camped at Etham, on the edge of the desert.
- **13.21** The LORD was going before them in a pillar of cloud by day, to lead the way, and in a pillar of fire²⁰⁵ by night, to give them light²⁰⁶, so that they could travel by day or by night.
- **13.22** The pillar of cloud did not leave its place by day and the pillar of fire went before the people by night.
- **14.1** The word of the LORD came to Moses, saying:
- **14.2** 'Tell²⁰⁷ the Israelites²⁰⁸ to turn back and camp in front of Pi-Hahiroth, between Migdol and the sea, in front of Baal Zephon; you shall camp opposite it, by the sea.²⁰⁹

²⁰² The sense is of a 'solemn, irrevocable promise... a strongly judicial form of expression concluding with an invocation to God to be a witness to the oath' (Koehler and Baumgarner, 1999: 1397). I have attempted to convey the gravity of this oath here.

²⁰³ TPD means to visit somebody or to 'pay attention to' that individual, with connotations of doing so in order to 'examine one's plight' (Clines, 2007: 737-738). So the NKJV's 'God will surely visit you' doesn't convey this full meaning. The emphatic repetition of TPD suggests an intention to reassure Israel not just of YHWH's presence but also of his help. Hence, I have followed the NIV's translation here.

²⁰⁴ The hiphil form of אנו suggests causing someone or something to rise up, to 'lead up' or to 'bring up' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1995: 828-830). In this case, bringing up an object seems the connotation most applicable to Joseph's bones.

suggests not just 'fire' but 'supernatural fire associated with theophany' (Clines, 1993: 399, supported by Sarna, 1996: 111). This is a difficult concept to translate but it may not be necessary to do so, as YHWH's presence in the fire is a given.

presence in the fire is a given.

206 This verb takes the hiphil (causative active) form, making it clear that YHWH caused the fire to give light.

207 This verb takes the hiphil (causative active) form, making it clear that YHWH caused the fire to give light.

207 This verb takes the hiphil (causative active) form, making it clear that YHWH caused the fire to give light.

^{&#}x27;Speak to the Israelites' doesn't quite convey the necessary authoritative tone.

²⁰⁸ Literally, 'sons of Israel'. This idiom suggests YHWH addressing the whole nation so, while I applaud the NKJV's use of inclusive language in 'children of Israel', simply rendering it 'the Israelites' seems satisfactory. ²⁰⁹ It seems clear that YHWH commands Moses to have the Israelites camp opposite Baal Zephon. The only differences among the major English translations have to do with word order.

- **14.3** Pharaoh will say of the Israelites²¹⁰: "They are wandering aimlessly²¹¹ in the land; the desert has closed in on them."
- **14.4** I will harden²¹² Pharaoh's heart and he will pursue you, and I will reveal my glory²¹³ through Pharaoh and all his army²¹⁴, and the Egyptians will know that I am the LORD.' And it was so.
- **14.5** When the King of Egypt was informed²¹⁵ that the people had fled, the hearts²¹⁶ of Pharaoh and his servants were changed.²¹⁷ He said to the people: 'What have we done, sending Israel away from serving us?'
- **14.6** He had his chariot harnessed and took his people with him.
- **14.7** And he took six hundred²¹⁸ chosen²¹⁹ chariots and all the chariots of Egypt, with officers over all of them.

²¹⁰ Various translations are possible here. הממ' can mean 'say' or 'think' and, in this context, it may mean that Pharaoh speaks to himself or thinks. And the construction, introducing an addressee, can mean that something is 'said of' someone (Clines, 1993: 322-325). Thus, 'Pharaoh will say, "The Israelites are wandering..." is a fair translation, but I believe, 'Pharaoh will say of the Israelites, "They are wandering..." is better.

²¹¹ Tidal takes the niphal (simple passive) form, emphasising the Israelites' supposed helplessness.

²¹² PTT often means 'to strengthen' and sometimes 'take hold of, seize' (Brown and Gesenius, 1979: 304; see also Clines, 1996: 187). So it is intriguing that translators tend to assume a negative connotation to the verb in this particular context and render it 'harden'. But there seems to be widespread agreement on this point. (Propp is unusual amongst commentators in preferring 'strengthen' to 'harden' [1999: 466]). The hiphil form makes it clear that YHWH will harden Pharaoh's heart, rather than Pharaoh himself hardening his own heart.

²¹³ מברי carries multiple possible meanings: 'be made heavy, be honoured, be glorious... reveal one's glory' (Clines, 1998: 349). The implication here seems to be that YHWH seeks to make himself and his glory known more widely, with Pharaoh as his instrument to enable this. Thus: 'I will reveal my glory through Pharaoh'. מולי can mean 'power' in the sense of wealth or property (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1994: 311), but the inference in this situation is obviously military.

²¹⁵ The hophal (causative passive) form of This suggests Pharaoh being informed rather than actively hearing. ²¹⁶ Can also mean mind or will, but a change of heart is true to the literal wording and is a common English idiom.

²¹⁷ **TE** with the niphal (passive) form. Their hearts are changed. They do not choose to change their hearts.

²¹⁸ A hundred being a common 'military unit' (Clines, 2001: 114).

²¹⁹ 'chosen' in the sense of being 'choice'; the best Pharaoh has available.

- **14.8** The LORD hardened the heart of Pharaoh, King of Egypt, and he pursued after²²⁰ the Israelites, and the Israelites were marching out boldly.²²¹
- **14.9** The Egyptians pursued after them and overtook them, encamped by the sea all of Pharaoh's horses and chariots, his horsemen and his army by Pi-Hahiroth, in front of Baal Zephon.
- **14.10** As Pharaoh approached, the Israelites raised their eyes²²² and behold the Egyptians going after them, and they were very much afraid.²²³ The Israelites cried out to the LORD.
- **14.11** They said to Moses: 'Was it for lack of graves in Egypt that you brought us²²⁴ to perish²²⁵ in the desert? What have you done to us²²⁶, bringing us out of Egypt?
- **14.12** Is this not the very thing which we said to you in Egypt, saying: "Leave us alone and let us serve the Egyptians"? It would be better for us to serve the Egyptians than to die in the desert.'

²²⁰ ¬¬¬¬ is is often used alongside a verb of motion, especially with one conveying a hostile pursuit (Clines, 1993: 197)

²²¹ Literally, 'going out with a hand raised/high', which implies boldness or defiance (c.f. Noth, 1962: 112; Propp, 1999: 493). Once again, this concept has no direct equivalent in English. The NLT's 'with fists raised in defiance' seems to me overly literal and a little clumsy.

²²² This translation has the twin benefits of being very close to the Hebrew's literal meaning and conjuring the image of people, hunched over from a long trudge, lifting their heads to look around them.

²²³ The construction here emphasises the depth of Israel's fear (Clines, 1998: 276-277).

²²⁴ The verb takes the hophal (causative) form, implying that the Israelites hold Moses responsible for causing them to leave Egypt, and claim they had little say in the matter.

²²⁵ The pual (intensive passive) form of the verb means that simply 'to die' does not convey the full weight of the Israelites' words.

²²⁶ The echo of 14.5 is obvious and highly ironic.

- **14.13** Moses said to the people: 'Do not be afraid²²⁷, stand firm²²⁸ and see the salvation²²⁹ of the LORD, which he will accomplish for you today. For the Egyptians you see today, you will never see again, forever.²³⁰
- 14.14 The LORD will fight for you. You shall be silent.'231
- **14.15** The LORD said to Moses: 'Why are you crying out²³² to me? Tell the Israelites to move on.
- **14.16** You hold out your staff. Stretch out your hand over²³³ the sea and split²³⁴ it open. The Israelites will go into the middle of the sea on dry land.
- **14.17** And behold I will harden the hearts of the Egyptians. They will go in after you and I will reveal my glory through Pharaoh and through all his army, his chariots and his horsemen.
- **14.18** And Egypt will know that I am the LORD when I reveal my glory through Pharaoh, through his chariots and through his horsemen.'
- **14.19** The messenger²³⁵ of God who was going in front of Israel's camp²³⁶ moved and went behind them, and the pillar of cloud moved from in front of them and stood behind them.

Literally, Fear not.

²²⁷ Literally, 'Fear not'.

²²⁸ Or 'take your stand'. The hitpael (reflexive) form is used.

²²⁹ Or 'deliverance, prosperity, help' (Clines, 1998: 331). But the sense is that this event is something remarkable: 'help' therefore seems inadequate.

²³⁰ I accept that 'you will never see them again, forever' is an unusual English construction but the Hebrew conveys an idea of the Israelites' not seeing the Egyptians again, continuing until the end of time (Brown and Gesenius, 1979: 725), and I wanted to capture this.

²³¹ Other translations of this phrase vary from, 'you shall hold your peace' (NKJV) to 'you need only to be still' (NIV) to 'just stay calm' (NLT). מור can be literally translated as 'be silent, dumb' (Brown and Gesenius, 1979: 361) and the construction suggests a command so, 'You shall be silent' seems a good option.

²³² The sense of צעם is of a desperate shouting out to YHWH for help.

²³³ A Hebrew language expert suggested to me that Moses should be understood as extending his hand upwards rather than outwards, over the sea, but I can find no support for this idea in commentaries or lexicons.

²³⁴ Or 'open, penetrate' (Clines, 1995: 248-249). 'Divide' is inadequate to express the violence implicit here.

²³⁵ Or 'angel' (Clines, 2001: 284-285). But 'messenger' is probably a better translation. In any case, YHWH's messengers tend to be angels and either term suggests a representation of YHWH's presence (see e.g. Cole, 1973: 121).

²³⁶ This can be a camp with military connotations or simply a large group of people (Clines, 2001: 222-223).

- **14.20** It came between Egypt's camp and Israel's camp and behold the cloud and darkness shone in the night²³⁷, and neither came near the other all night.
- **14.21** Then Moses stretched out his hand over the sea and the LORD drove back the sea all night, with a strong east wind, and turned the sea into dry ground²³⁸. The waters were broken open²³⁹,
- **14.22** and the Israelites went into the middle of the sea on dry land, and the waters were a wall to them on their right hand and on their left hand.
- **14.23** The Egyptians pursued them and went in after them; all Pharaoh's horses, chariots and horsemen, into the middle of the sea.
- **14.24** And so it was that, at the morning watch²⁴⁰, the LORD looked down on the Egyptian camp from the pillar of fire and cloud²⁴¹ and threw the Egyptian camp into confusion.²⁴²
- **14.25** He diverted²⁴³ the wheels of their chariots so that they drove with difficulty. And the Egyptians said: 'Let's flee from before Israel! For the LORD is fighting for them against Egypt!'

²³⁷ This concept is both important and difficult to translate. The sense is of light being somehow produced by the cloud and darkness, but how this happens is unclear. Among commentators, Propp is singular in noticing this confusion (1999: 498) but even he does not clarify exactly what he believes is happening at this point. The NLT renders it 'the cloud turned to fire', but there is nothing in the Hebrew to support this.

²³⁸ ¬¬¬¬ might be a pun on ¬¬¬¬ (sword), as Bruckner (2008: 133) suggests. YHWH uses the ground as a weapon by which he crushes the enemies of his people.

²³⁹ DD carries overtones of violence. It is the same word used for chopping wood with an axe (Alter, 2004: 394). So a clinical 'dividing' of the waters seems insufficient. The verb takes the niphal form, so the waters are passive; the object being broken.

²⁴⁰ The implication is that this refers to the last watch of the night, as dawn was breaking.

²⁴¹ The NRSV translates this phrase as 'the LORD in the pillar of fire and cloud looked down', but to my mind, the word order in the Hebrew suggests 'the LORD looked down... from the pillar'.

²⁴² Once again, translating this verb in such a way as to convey every nuance of the Hebrew is difficult. □□□ suggests motion, confusion, troubling and even panic. 'Throw into confusion' probably comes closest to summing this up.

14.26 The LORD said to Moses: 'Stretch out your hand over the sea and the waters will turn back over the Egyptians; over their chariots and over their horsemen.'

14.27 And Moses stretched out his hand over the sea, and the sea turned back to its usual place at dawn, while the Egyptians were fleeing away from²⁴⁴ it. The LORD hurled²⁴⁵ the Egyptians into the middle of the sea.

14.28 The waters turned back over the chariots and horsemen; all of Pharaoh's army which had followed them into the sea. Not one of them remained.

14.29 But the Israelites walked into the middle of the sea on dry land and the waters were a wall to them on their right hand and on their left hand.

14.30 Thus, that day, the LORD saved Israel from the hand of the Egyptians and Israel saw the Egyptians dead on the sea shore.²⁴⁶

Dozeman, 2009: 316). Noth favours 'clogged' (1962: 117). Cole envisages the chariots being bogged down, with their axles broken afterwards (1973: 122). Hyatt rules out 'bound', assuming that this implies 'the Egyptian chariots were bogged down in the mud or quicksand over which the Israelites had been able to pass easily. However, this clause comes too early in the account, for there is no reference to the return of the waters until verse 27.' (Hyatt, 1980: 145). But, as Propp rightly observes, 'bound' might simply mean that YHWH locked the chariots' wheels (1999: 500). Propp rejects 'removed' as an interpretation, since wheels removed from a chariot wouldn't turn at all, not even with the 'difficulty' the text mentions (1999: 500). The most intriguing possibility is 'diverted'. Perhaps YHWH makes the chariot drivers lose control and collide with each other. Propp hears in 14.25 an echo of 14.6, in which Pharaoh harnessed (הראלי) his chariots (Propp, 1999: 500). This echo is indeed clearly present, either as the exact same word (as in Sam) or as a pun (as in MT). Pharaoh harnessed his chariots to begin with, but in the later verse, it is YHWH who controls them (Propp, 1999: 500)! Of the possible interpretations of the verb, I prefer 'diverted', since it is the most effective in bringing out YHWH's wresting control of the chariots away from Pharaoh.

²⁴⁴ Some translations (e.g. NASB, NKJV) have the Egyptians fleeing into the sea, not away from it. This has the advantage of emphasising the Egyptians' confusion but there is no reason within the text itself to suppose they would have done anything other than flee away from the source of danger.

²⁴⁵ This verb takes the piel (intensive active) form. Thus, YHWH does not merely 'throw' the Egyptians into the sea. He 'hurls' them. (c.f. Alter, 2004: 398).

²⁴⁶ Literally, 'on the edge of the sea'.

- **14.31** Israel saw the great work²⁴⁷ which the LORD had done against²⁴⁸ the Egyptians, and the people feared²⁴⁹ the LORD and believed in the LORD and in Moses, his servant.
- **15.1** Then Moses and the Israelites sang this song to the LORD, saying: 'I will sing to the LORD for he is indeed exalted.²⁵⁰ Horse and chariot he has thrown into the sea.
- **15.2** The LORD is my strength and my might.²⁵¹ He has become my salvation. This is my god and I will glorify²⁵² him; my father's god and I will exalt him.
- **15.3** The LORD is a man of war²⁵³; YHWH is his name.
- **15.4** Pharaoh's chariots and army he has thrown into the sea; his choicest officers were drowned²⁵⁴ in the Reed Sea.
- **15.5** The depths covered them; they sank into the deep²⁵⁵ like a stone.
- **15.6** Your right hand, O LORD, is majestic in power. Your right hand, O LORD, shattered the enemy.

²⁴⁷ The literal translation of T' is 'hand', but this does not make clear the connotations of power and of work done which are implicit in the Hebrew.

²⁴⁸ The NKJV renders this 'the great work which the LORD had done *in Egypt*' (emphasis added) but its context within the narrative suggests to me that it should be understood as referring to YHWH's action *against* the Egyptian army.

²⁴⁹ 'feared' seems appropriate here. It effectively sums up the awe and respect conveyed by the Hebrew, alongside fear itself.

²⁵⁰ Literally, 'arising, he has arisen'. So, YHWH has made himself exalted, and the emphatic construction adds weight to this self-exaltation.

²⁵¹ המרט can be translated, 'my refuge', 'my might' or 'my song' (see Clines, 1996: 119), and the translator must make a choice for one of these options. But the 'song' in itself suggests a song of praise or triumph, with YHWH (and his might) as its subject.

²⁵² Literally, 'I will beautify, adorn him (with praise)' (Brown and Gesenius, 1979: 627).

²⁵³ מוט בול חבר ('man of war') is a common biblical construct, so I have adopted that rather than 'warrior'.

²⁵⁴ The verb takes the pual (intensive passive) form. So Pharaoh's officers were emphatically and violently 'drowned'.

²⁵⁵ The 'deep' may suggest not just the depths of the sea but also the underworld (Clines, 2001: 449, supported by Sarna, 1991: 78; Hyatt, 1980: 164).

- **15.7** In the greatness of your magnificence, you destroyed²⁵⁶ your adversaries. You sent forth your burning anger; it consumed them like chaff.
- **15.8** By the breath of²⁵⁷ your nostrils²⁵⁸, the waters piled up. The floods stood up in a heap; the depths thickened²⁵⁹ in the heart of the sea.
- **15.9** The enemy said: "I will pursue, I will overtake, I will divide the spoil. I will satisfy my hunger²⁶⁰; I will draw out²⁶¹ my sword and my hand will ruin²⁶² them."
- **15.10** You blew with your wind and the sea covered them. They sank like lead in the mighty waters.
- **15.11** Who is like you, O LORD, among the gods? Who is like you, majestic in holiness, terrible in splendour²⁶³, working wonders?
- **15.12** You stretched out your right hand and the earth swallowed them.

²⁵⁶ Daar encompasses 'attack, tear down... demolish, destroy... ruin' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1994: 256-7). 'Destroyed' brings these ideas together.

²⁵⁷ הוח is multivalent and can mean wind, breath, breeze or, in the context of breath from nostrils, anger (Kohler and Baumgartner, 1996: 1197-1201). I have translated it 'breath' because 'blast' would be a very unusual translation of the word, and because a 'blast' from an individual's nostrils presents a very curious image.

²⁵⁸ Nose and nostrils are a common Hebrew idiom to suggest anger (Durham, 1987: 201).

²⁵⁹ Or 'congealed', 'became rigid' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1996: 1117).

²⁶⁰ The Hebrew suggests a physical appetite; a desire to almost literally devour the enemy. The NKJV's 'My desire shall be satisfied on them' suggests to me sexual connotations, absent in the Hebrew.

²⁶¹ Or 'pour out', 'empty out'. 'Draw out' makes more sense in English.

²⁶² an be rendered 'take possession of... dispossess', when applied to an action against another person or group of people (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1995: 441-442). 'Ruin' seems an effective way to sum up these possibilities while also capturing the aggression expressed in 15.9.

15.13 In your unfailing love²⁶⁴, you will lead the people you have redeemed. In your strength, you will guide them to your holy dwelling.²⁶⁵

15.14 The peoples will²⁶⁶ hear and tremble²⁶⁷; agony will seize the inhabitants of Philistia.

15.15 The chiefs of Edom will be dismayed²⁶⁸, the strong men²⁶⁹ of Moab will be seized with trembling.

15.16 All the inhabitants of Canaan will melt away; terror and dread will fall²⁷⁰ upon them. By the greatness of your arm, they will be motionless like stone, until your people pass by²⁷¹ O LORD, until the people which you acquired pass by.

_

²⁶⁴ ¬D¬ is a highly multi-faceted concept, encompassing loyalty, faithfulness, kindness, goodness, love and mercy (Clines, 1996: 227-228; Brown and Gesenius, 1979: 338-339). Therefore, rendering it in English is a frustrating exercise. 'Unfailing love' at least comes close to the inferences of the Hebrew.

²⁶⁵ NRSV translates as 'your... abode', NASB as 'habitation'. I follow NIV in preferring 'dwelling', which is less archaic but still preserves the essential meaning of the Hebrew.

²⁶⁶ Opinion is divided over whether vv14-17 should be rendered in the future or perfect tense. For example, NRSV uses the perfect tense, NKJV the future. Do these words anticipate what YHWH will do in the future? Or is Moses declaring what YHWH has already done? (NKJV couples v13 to the previous verses, assuming that YHWH's act of guiding his people to his dwelling is a reference to the crossing of the Reed Sea.) It seems to me that these verses envisage a future when YHWH will complete his saving work of the Hebrews and lead them into their homeland. This is supported by the likely writing or extensive editing performed on the song in the Persian period, when the Yehud community was settling into its new home, and needed reassurance that their deity had given this land to them (see chapter two).

²⁶⁷ The implication is that this trembling arises from terror.

²⁶⁸ Could also be translated 'be horrified... be out of one's senses' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1994: 111).

means 'strength' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1994: 40) or, therefore, 'strong men'.

²⁷⁰ can mean 'to fall' literally, as an accident, in the context of dying in battle or, as I think is most appropriate here, 'falling upon' someone similarly to raiding them (Kohler and Baumgartner, 1995: 709-711).

271 can mean 'go over, pass over' but 'go on one's way' and 'pass by' are both more common usages (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1995: 778-780). And in this context, 'cross over' only really makes sense if it alludes to crossing the Reed Sea (which is described in the song as a past event, not a future one), or to crossing the Jordan, which is not mentioned at all, elsewhere in the song.

15.17 You will bring them in and you will plant them on the mountain of your inheritance, the place which you made for your abode²⁷² O LORD; the sanctuary of the LORD²⁷³ which your hands established.²⁷⁴

15.18 The LORD shall reign for ever and ever. ²⁷⁵

15.19 For Pharaoh's horses, chariots and horsemen went into the sea and the LORD turned back the sea over them, but the Israelites walked into the middle of the sea on dry land.'

15.20 Then Miriam the prophetess, the sister of Aaron, took a timbrel²⁷⁶ in her hand and all the women followed her with timbrels, dancing.

15.21 Miriam sang²⁷⁷ to them: 'Sing to the LORD for he is indeed exalted. Horse and chariot he has thrown into the sea.'

²⁷² ⊓⊐⋓ most often means 'rest' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1999: 1407-1411) but the sense here seems to be of rest in terms of a place to stay.

²⁷³ The construct בקרש ארני ('sanctuary of the LORD') is used elsewhere in the Hebrew Bible (e.g. Lamentations 2.20), as Clines points out (1993: 134).

is a variant form of ¡□: 'set up, establish... found' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1995: 464-465).

²⁷⁵ כסnveys a sense of perpetuity.

²⁷⁶ Or tambourine.

²⁷⁷ This is not שיר used in connection with Moses in 15.1 but ", 'sing... sing in praise of' (Koehler and Baumgartner, 1995: 854). However, 'singing' is the most effective way to translate both verbs.

Bibliography

Abas, Nazdar

'Introducing Some Traumas and PTSD among Yazidi Female Survivors from ISIS Army'. Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/319279589_Introducing_Some_Traumas_and_PTSD_among_Yazidi_Female_Survivors_from_ISIS_Army.

(Accessed: 19th March 2018.)

Abe, Jennifer, Nolan Zane and Kevin Chun

1994 'Differential Responses to Trauma: Migration-Related Discriminants of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder Among Southeast Asian Refugees', *Journal of Community Psychology* (22), 121-135.

Adelson, Alan and Robert Lapides (eds.)

1989 Lodz Ghetto: Inside a Community Under Siege (London: Penguin).

Ahn, John J.

2010 Exile as Forced Migrations: A Sociological, Literary, and Theological Approach on the Displacement and Resettlement of the Southern Kingdom of Judah (Berlin: De Gruyter).

Albeck, J.H.

'Intergenerational consequences of trauma: Reframing traps in treatment theory – A second-generation perspective' in Mary Beth Williams and John F. Sommer (eds.) *Handbook of Post-Traumatic Therapy* (Greenwood, New York: Greenwood Press), 106-125.

Albertz, Rainer (trans. David Green)

2003 *Israel in Exile: The History and Literature of the Sixth Century B.C.E.* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature).

Alexander, Jeffrey C.

2004a 'Toward a Theory of Cultural Trauma' in Alexander, Eyermann and Giesen (eds.) *Cultural Trauma and Collective Identity* (Berkeley: University of California Press), 1-30.

2004b 'On the Social Construction of Moral Universals' in Alexander, Eyermann and Giesen (eds.), 196-263.

2012 Trauma: A Social Theory (Cambridge: Polity).

Alexander, Jeffrey C., Ron Eyermann and Bernard Giesen (eds.)

2004 *Cultural Trauma and Collective Identity* (Berkeley: University of California Press).

Alexander, T. Desmond

2017 *Exodus* (Downers Grove, Illinois: InterVarsity Press), Apollos Old Testament Commentary.

Aleksandrowicz, D.R.

1973 'Children of Concentration Camp Survivors' in E.J. Anthony and C. Coupemick (eds.) *The Child and His Family* (New York: Wiley), 385-392.

Allen, Leslie C.

1990 Ezekiel 20-48 (Dallas, Texas: Word Books), Word Biblical Commentary.

Alstola, Tero

2020 Judeans in Babylonia: A Study of Deportees in the Sixth and Fifth Centuries BCE (Leiden: Brill).

Alter, Robert

2004 The Five Books of Moses (New York: W.W. Norton).

American Psychiatric Association

2013 'Posttraumatic Stress Disorder' in *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th edition (Washington, DC: APA), 271-280.

Ames, Frank Ritchel

'The Cascading Effects of Exile: From Diminished Resources to New Identities' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.)

Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern

Contexts (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 173-187.

Ancelin Schutzenberger, Anne

2007 'Transgenerational analysis and psychodrama' in Clark Baim, Jorge Burmeister and Manuela Maciel (eds.) *Psychodrama: Advances in Theory and Practice* (London: Routledge), 155-174.

Anderson, Bernhard W.

2010 'Exodus Typology in Second Isaiah' in Bernhard W. Anderson and Walter Harrelson (eds.) *Israel's Prophetic Heritage* (Eugene, Oregon: Wipf & Stock), 177-195.

Anzieu, Didier (trans. Benjamin Kilborne)

1984 *The Group and the Unconscious* (London: Routledge & Kegan Paul).

Ashby, Godfrey

1998 *Go Out and Meet God: A Commentary on the Book of Exodus* (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans), International Theological Commentary.

Assmann, Aleida

2008 'Canon and Archive' in Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning (eds.) *Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 97-107.

Assmann, Jan

- 1997 *Moses the Egyptian: The Memory of Egypt in Western Monotheism* (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press).
- 2006 Religion and Cultural Memory (Stanford: Stanford University Press).
- 'Communicative and Cultural Memory' in Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning (eds.) *Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 109-118.
- 2010 'Memory, Narration, Identity: Exodus as a Political Myth' in Hanna Liss and Mannfred Oeming (eds.) *Literary Construction of Identity in the Ancient World* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns), 3-18.
- 2011 Cultural Memory and Early Civilization: Writing, Remembrance, and Political Imagination (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Auld, A. Graeme

1980 Joshua, Moses and the Land (Edinburgh: T&T Clark).

Aunger, Robert

1995 'On Ethnography: Storytelling or Science?', *Current Anthropology* (36.1), 97-130

Baden, Joel S.

- 'Identifying the original stratum of P: Theoretical and practical considerations' in Sarah Shectman and Joel S. Baden (eds.) *The Strata of the Priestly Writings: Contemporary Debate and Future Directions* (Zürich: Theologischer Verlag Zürich), 13-29.
- 2012 The Composition of the Pentateuch: Renewing the Documentary Hypothesis (New Haven: Yale University Press).
- 2019 The Book of Exodus: A Biography (Princeton: Princeton University Press).

Baranowsky, Anna B., Marta Young, Sue Johnson-Douglas, Lyn Williams-Keeler and Michael McCarrey

1998 'PTSD Transmission: A Review of Secondary Traumatization in Holocaust Survivor Families', *Canadian Psychology* (39.4), 247-256.

Barr, James

2000 History and Ideology in the Old Testament: Biblical Studies at the End of a Millennium (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Barstad, Hans

- 'The Strange Fear of the Bible: Some Reflections on the "Bibliophobia" in Recent Ancient Israelite Historiography' in Lester Grabbe (ed.) *Leading Captivity Captive: 'The Exile' as History and Ideology* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), 120-127.
- 'After the "Myth of the Empty Land": Major Challenges in the Study of Neo-Babylonian Judah' in Oded Lipschits and Joseph Blenkinsopp (eds.) *Judah and the Judeans in the Neo-Babylonian Period* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns), 3-20.

Baumeister, Roy F., Karen Dale and Kristin L. Sommer

2002 'Freudian Defense Mechanisms and Empirical Findings in Modern Social Psychology: Reaction Formation, Projection, Displacement, Undoing, Isolation, Sublimation, and Denial', *Journal of Personality* (66.6), 1081-1124.

Becker, Eve-Marie

2014 "'Trauma Studies" and Exegesis: Challenges, Limits and Prospects' in Eve-Marie Becker, Jan Dochhorn and Else Kragelund Holt (eds.) *Trauma and Traumatization in Individual and Collective Dimensions* (Gottingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 15-29.

Becking, Bob

2011 'A Fragmented History of the Exile' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.) *Interpreting Exile* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 151-169.

Ben Zvi, Ehud

2013 'Exploring the Memory of Moses "The Prophet" in Late Persian/Early Hellenistic Yehud/Judah' in Diana V. Edelman and Ehud Ben Zvi (eds.) Remembering Biblical Figures in the Late Persian and Early Hellenistic Periods: Social Memory and Imagination (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 335-364.

Berenbaum, Michael and Abraham J. Peck (eds.)

2002 *The Holocaust and History* (Bloomington and Indianapolis: Indiana University Press).

Berlejung, Angelika

2016 'New Life, New Skills and New Friends in Exile: The Loss and Rise of Capitals of the Judeans in Babylonia' in Israel Finkelstein, Christian Robin and Thomas Römer (eds.) *Alphabets, Texts and Artifacts in the Ancient Near East* (Paris: Van Dieren Éditeur), 12-46.

Berlin, Adele

'The Exile: Biblical Ideology and Its Postmodern Ideological Interpretation' in Hanna Liss and Mannfred Oeming (eds.) *Literary Construction of Identity in the Ancient World* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns), 342-356.

Bertman, Stephen

2003 Handbook to Life in Ancient Mesopotamia (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Bilgili, Gamze Özcürümez

2018 'Syrian "guests" and the "receiving" communities: Traumatization of being an outsider/insider' in Camellia Hancheva, Saime Özcürümez, Carmer Scher, Biljana Stankovic and Slavica Tutnjevic (eds.) Forced Migration and Social Trauma: Interdisciplinary Perspectives from Psychoanalysis, Psychology, Sociology and Politics (London: Routledge), 85-94.

Bird, Phyllis, A.

1990 'Discovering Eve: Ancient Israelite Women in Context by Carol Meyers', The Journal of Religion (70.1), 84-85.

Birnbaum, Aiton

2008 'Collective trauma and post-traumatic symptoms in the biblical narrative of ancient Israel', *Mental Health, Religion & Culture* (11.5), 533-546.

Blenkinsopp, Joseph

- 1992 *The Pentateuch: An Introduction to the First Five Books of the Bible* (London: SCM Press).
- 'An Assessment of the Alleged Pre-Exilic Date of the Priestly Material in the Pentateuch', *Zeitschrift für die Alttestamentliche Wissenschaft*, (108.4), 495-518.
- 1998 'The Pentateuch' in John Barton (ed.) *The Cambridge Companion to Biblical Interpretation* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 181-197.
- 2002a 'The Bible, Archaeology and Politics; or The Empty Land Revisited', *The Journal for the Study of the Old Testament* (27.2), 169-187.
- 2002b 'The Age of the Exile' in John Barton (ed.) *The Biblical World* (vol. 1) (London: Routledge), 416-439.
- 2004a *Treasures Old and New: Essays in the Theology of the Pentateuch* (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans).
- 2004b 'Memory, Tradition, and the Construction of the Past in Ancient Israel' in *Treasures Old and New: Essays in the Theology of the Pentateuch* (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans), 1-17. (First published in *Biblical Theology Bulletin* [27.3], 1997.)

Block, Daniel

1997 *The Book of Ezekiel: Chapters 1-24* (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans), The New International Commentary on the Old Testament.

Blum, Erhard

- 1990 Studien Zur Komposition Des Pentateuch (Berlin: W. de Gruyter).
- 2006a 'The Literary Connection Between the Books of Genesis and Exodus and the End of the Book of Joshua' in Thomas B. Dozeman and Konrad Schmid (eds.) A Farewell to the Yahwist? The Composition of the Pentateuch in Recent European Interpretation (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 89-106.
- 2006b 'Die Feuersäule in Ex 13-14 eine Spur der "Endredaktion"?' in Riemer Roukema (ed.) *The Interpretation of Exodus: Studies in Honour of Cornelis Houtman* (Leuven: Peeters), 117-137.
- 'Issues and Problems in the Contemporary Debate Regarding the Priestly Writings' in Sarah Shectman and Joel S. Baden (eds.) *The Strata of the Priestly Writings: Contemporary Debate and Future Directions* (Zürich: Theologischer Verlag Zürich), 31-44.
- 2015a 'Noch einmal: Das literargeschichtliche Profil der P-Überlieferung' in Friedhelm Hartenstein and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *Abschied von der Priesterschrift? Zum Stand der Pentateuchdebatte* (Leipzig: Evangelische Verlagenstalt), 32-64.

2015b 'Die Entstehungsgeschichte der Mosetora: Fragestellungen und Tendenzen der neueren Forschung' Zeitschrift für Pädagogik und Theologie (67.2), 163-178.

Boase, Elizabeth

- 'The Traumatized Body: Communal Trauma and Somatization in Lamentations' in Eve-Marie Becker, Jan Dochhorn and Else Kragelund Holt (eds.) *Trauma and Traumatization in Individual and Collective Dimensions* (Gottingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 193-209.
- 'Fragmented Voices: Collective Identity and Traumatization in Lamentations' in Boase and Frechette (eds.) *Bible Through the Lens of Trauma* (Atlanta: SBL Press), 49-66.

Boase, Elizabeth and Christopher G. Frechette (eds.) 2016 *Bible Through the Lens of Trauma* (Atlanta: SBL Press).

Bolin, Thomas M.

- 1996 'When the End is the Beginning: The Persian Period and the Origins of the Biblical Tradition', *Scandinavian Journal of the Old Testament* (10.1), 3-15.
- 'Memory and Covenant: The Role of Israel's and God's Memory in Sustaining the Deuteronomic and Priestley Covenants', *Catholic Bible Quarterly* (77.4), 738-739.
- 'Out of the Wilderness? Some Suggestions for the Future of Pentateuchal Research' in Ingrid Hjelm and Thomas L. Thompson (eds.) *History, Archaeology and the Bible Forty Years After 'Historicity'* (London: Routledge), 63-75.

Brenner, Ira

'Child Survivors as Parents and Grandparents' in Judith S. Kestenberg and Ira Brenner (eds.) *The Last Witness: The Child Survivor of the Holocaust* (Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press), 107-129.

Brett, Mark G.

- 2016 Political Trauma and Healing: Biblical Ethics for a Postcolonial World (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans).
- 2020 Genesis: Procreation and the Politics of Identity (London: Routledge).

Bright, John

2000 *A History of Israel* (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press). (Fourth edition: first published 1959.)

Broome, E.C.

1946 'Ezekiel's Abnormal Personality', *Journal of Biblical Literature* (65), 277-292.

Brown, Francis and Wilhelm Gesenius

1979 *The New Brown-Driver-Briggs-Gesenius Hebrew and English Lexicon* (Peabody, Massachusetts: Hendrickson).

Bruckner, James K.

2008 *Exodus* (Peabody, Massachusetts: Hendrickson), New International Biblical Commentary.

Brueggemann, Walter

1994 'The Book of Exodus' in Leander E. Keck (ed.) *The New Interpreter's Bible* vol. 1 (Nashville: Abingdon Press), 675-981.

Burgess, Ann (ed.)

1985 Rape and Sexual Assault: A Research Handbook (New York: Garland).

Campbell, Joseph

1949 *The Hero With a Thousand Faces* (New York: Pantheon).

Carr, David M.

- 2005 'No Return to Wellhausen' in *Biblica* (86.1), 107-114.
- 2011a *The Formation of the Hebrew Bible: A New Reconstruction* (New York: Oxford University Press).
- 2011b 'Reading into the Gap: Refractions of Trauma in Israelite Prophecy' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.) *Interpreting Exile:*Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern Contexts (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 295-308.
- 2012 'The Moses Story: Literary-Historical Reflections', *Journal of Hebrew Bible and Ancient Israel* (1), 7-36.
- 2014 *Holy Resilience: The Bible's Traumatic Origins* (New Haven: Yale University Press).
- 'Changes in Pentateuchal Criticism' in Magne Sæbo (ed.) *Hebrew Bible/Old Testament: The History of its Interpretation, Volume III, Part 2: The Twentieth Century From Modernism to Post-Modernism* (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 433-466.
- 2016 'Data to inform ongoing debates about the formation of the Pentateuch: from documented cases of transmission history to a survey of rabbinic exegesis' in Jan Christian Gertz, Bernard M. Levinson, Dalit Rom-Shiloni and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *The Formation of the Pentateuch: Bridging the Academic Cultures of Europe, Israel, and North America* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 87-106.

Carroll, Robert P.

- 'Madonna of Silences: Clio and the Bible' in Lester L. Grabbe (ed.) *Can a* '*History of Israel Be Written*'? (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), 104-122.
- 1998 'Exile! What Exile! Deportation and the Discourses of Diaspora' in Lester Grabbe (ed.) *Leading Captivity Captive: 'The Exile' as History and Ideology* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), 62-79.

Carswell, Kenneth, Pennie Blackburn and Chris Barker

2009 'The Relationship between Trauma, Post-Migration Problems and the Psychological Well-Being of Refugees and Asylum Seekers', *International Journal of Social Psychiatry* (55.1), 1-13.

Caruth, Cathy (ed.)

1995a *Trauma: Explorations in Memory* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press).

Caruth, Cathy

- 1991 'Unclaimed Experience: Trauma and the Possibility of History', *Yale French Studies* (79), 181-192.
- 1995b Introduction to 'Trauma and Experience' section in *Trauma: Explorations in Memory*, 3-12.
- 1996 *Unclaimed Experience: Trauma, Narrative and History* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press).
- 2013 *Literature in the Ashes of History* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press).
- 2014 Listening to Trauma (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press).

Cassuto, Umberto

2005 *A Commentary on the Book of Exodus* (Skokie, Illinois: Varda Books). (Originally published 1967.)

Cheyette, Bryan

'Between Repulsion and Attraction: George Steiner's Post-Holocaust Fiction' in Andrew Leak and George Paizis (eds.) *The Holocaust and the Text:* Speaking the Unspeakable (London: Macmillan), 67-82.

Childs, Brevard S.

- 1976 *The Book of Exodus* (Louisville: The Westminster Press), The Old Testament Library. (Third printing. Originally published 1974.)
- 2001 *Isaiah* (Louisville, Kentucky: Westminster John Knox Press), The Old Testament Library.

Claassens, Juliana

- 'Trauma and Recovery: A New Hermeneutical Framework for the Rape of Tamar (2 Samuel 13)' in Elizabeth Boase and Christopher G. Frechette (eds.) *Bible Through the Lens of Trauma* (Atlanta: SBL Press), 177-192.
- 2017a 'Beyond Revenge?: Responsible Bible Reading Practices in a Traumatized Land', *HTS Teologiese Studies/Theological Studies*, (73.4), 1-8.
- 2017b 'Preaching the Pentateuch: Reading Jeremiah's Sermons through the Lens of Cultural Trauma', *Scriptura* (116:2), 27-37.
- 2020a Writing and Reading to Survive: Biblical and Contemporary Trauma Narratives in Conversation (Sheffield: Sheffield Phoenix).
- 2020b 'Reading Trauma Narratives: Insidious Trauma in the Story of Rachel, Leah, Bilhah and Zilpah (Genesis 29-30) and Margaret Atwood's *The Handmaid's Tale'*, *Old Testament Essays* (33.1), 10-31.

Clements, Ronald E.

1972 Exodus (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Clines, David J.A.

- 1989 Job 1-20 (Dallas: Word Books), Word Biblical Commentary.
- 1993 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 1. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 1995 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 2. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 1996 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 3. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 1997 *The Theme of the Pentateuch* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 1998 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 4. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 2001 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 5. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 2007 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 6. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 2010 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 7. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 2011 *The Dictionary of Classical Hebrew*, vol 8. (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).

Cohen, A.

1969 Custom and Politics in Urban Africa: A Study of Hausa Migrants in Yoruba Towns (London: Routledge).

Cole, R. Alan

1973 *Exodus: An Introduction and Commentary* (Leicester: Inter-Varsity Press), The Tyndale Old Testament Commentaries.

Connerton, Paul

1989 How Societies Remember (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Conroy, Grace P.

2016 Migration Trauma, Culture, and Finding the Psychological Home Within (Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield).

Coogan, Michael David

1974 'Life in the Diaspora: Jews at Nippur in the Fifth Century B.C.', *The Biblical Archaeologist* (37.1), 6-12.

Crouch, C.L.

- 'The Threat to Israel's Identity in Deuteronomy: Mesopotamian or Levantine?', Zeitschrift für Alttestamentliche Wissenschaft (124.4), 541-554.
- 2014 The Making of Israel: Cultural Diversity in the Southern Levant and the Formation of Ethnic Identity in Deuteronomy (Leiden and Boston: Brill).

- 2015 'What Makes a Thing Abominable? Observations on the Language of Boundaries and Identity Formation from a Social Scientific Perspective', *Vetus Testamentum* (65), 516-541.
- 2021 Israel and Judah Redefined: Migration, Trauma, and Empire in the Sixth Century BCE (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Culp, A.J.

2020 *Memoir of Moses: The Literary Creation of Covenantal Memory in Deuteronomy* (Lanham, Maryland: Lexington Books).

Davies, G. Henton

1967 Exodus (London: SCM Press), Torch Bible Commentaries.

Davies, G. I.

- 'The Origin of the History of Israel: Herodotus' Histories as Blueprint for the First Books of the Bible by Jan-Wim Wesselius', *The Journal of Theological Studies* (55.2), 805-806.
- 2020 *Exodus 1-18* (vol. 2), International Critical Commentary (London: T&T Clark).

Davies, P.R.

- 1992 In Search of 'Ancient Israel' (Sheffield: JSOT Press).
- 1998 Scribes and Schools (London: SPCK).
- 2008 *Memories of Ancient Israel: An Introduction to Biblical History Ancient and Modern* (Louisville, Kentucky: Westminster John Knox Press).
- 2009 'Biblical History and Cultural Memory'. Available at: www.bibleinterp.com/articles/memory.shtml. (Accessed: 12th February 2018.)

Daxinger, Lucia and Emma Whitelaw

2010 'Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance: More questions than answers', *Genome Research* (20), 1623-1628.

Den Boer, Pim

2008 'Loci Memoriae - Lieux de Memoire' in Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning (eds.) Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 19-25.

Des Pres, Terrence

- 1973 'Survivors and the Will to Bear Witness', *Social Research* (40.4), 668-90.
- 1976 *The Survivor: An Anatomy of Life in the Death Camps* (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Dever, William G.

2001 What Did the Biblical Writers Know and When Did They Know It? (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans).

Dietrich, Jan

2014 'Cultural Traumata in the Ancient Near East' in Eve-Marie Becker, Jan Dochhorn and Else Kragelund Holt (eds.) *Trauma and Traumatization in Individual and Collective Dimensions* (Gottingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 145-161.

Dozeman, Thomas B.

2009 Exodus (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans), Eerdmans Critical Commentary.

2017 *The Pentateuch: Introducing the Torah* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press).

Dozeman, Thomas B., Craig A. Evans, and Joel N. Lohr (eds.)

2014 *The Book of Exodus: Composition, Reception, and Interpretation* (Boston: Brill).

Dozeman, Thomas B. and Konrad Schmid (eds.)

2006 A Farewell to the Yahwist? The Composition of the Pentateuch in Recent European Interpretation (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature).

Dozeman, Thomas B., Konrad Schmid, and Baruch J. Schwartz (eds.)

2011 *The Pentateuch: International Perspectives on Current Research* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck).

Dozeman Thomas B., Thomas Römer and Konrad Schmid (eds.)

2011 Pentateuch, Hexateuch, or Enneateuch? Identifying Literary Works in Genesis through Kings (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature).

Driver, S.R.

1911 *The Book of Exodus* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Durham, John

1987 Exodus (Waco, Texas: Word Books), Word Biblical Commentary.

Durkheim, Emile (trans. J.W. Swain)

1926 The Elementary Forms of Religious Life (Glencoe, Illinois: The Free Press).

Durkheim, Emile (trans. George Simpson)

1933 The Division of Labor in Society (London: Macmillan).

Eaglestone, Robert

'From behind the Bars of Quotation Marks: Emmanuel Levinas's (Non)-Representation of the Holocaust' in Andrew Leak and George Paizis (eds.) *The Holocaust and the Text: Speaking the Unspeakable* (London: Macmillan), 97-108.

Edelman, Diana V. and Ehud Ben Zvi (eds.)

2013 Remembering Biblical Figures in the Late Persian and Early Hellenistic Periods: Social Memory and Imagination (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Ehrhart, W. D.

2019 *Thank You For Your Service: Collected Poems* (Jefferson, North Carolina: McFarland).

Elliott, John H.

1993 What is Social Scientific Criticism? (Minneapolis: Fortress Press), New Testament Series, Dan O. Via Jr. (ed.).

Emerton, J.A.

'The Date of the Yahwist' in John Day (ed.) *In Search of Pre-Exilic Israel* (London: T&T Clark), 107-29.

Enns, Peter

2000 Exodus (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Zondervan Academic), The NIV Application Commentary.

Eph'al, Israel

1978 'The Western Minorities in Babylonia in the 6th-5th centuries B.C.: Maintenance and Cohesion', *Orientalia* (47), 74-89.

2009 The City Besieged: Siege and its Manifestations in the Ancient Near East (Leiden: Brill), Culture and History of the Ancient Near East, Founding Editor M.H.E. Weippert, vol. 36.

Erikson, Kai

1995 'Notes on Trauma and Community' in Cathy Caruth (ed.) *Trauma: Explorations in Memory* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press), 183-99.

Erll, Astrid and Ansgar Nünning (eds.)

2008 Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter).

Esler, Philip F.

1995 'Making and Breaking an Agreement Mediterranean Style: A New Reading of Galatians 2:1-14', *Biblical Interpretation* (3.3), 285-314.

2000 'Models in New Testament Interpretation: A Reply to David Horrell', *Journal* for the Study of the New Testament (78), 107-113.

Faust, Avraham

'Deportation and Demography in Sixth-Century B.C.E. Judah' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.) *Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern Contexts* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 91-103.

Feldman, Louis H.

'Jan-Wim Wesselius, The Origin of the History of Israel: Herodotus's Histories as Blueprint for the First Books of the Bible', *Journal of Hebrew Scriptures*, (4). Available at: http://www.jhsonline.org/reviews/review081.htm. (Accessed: 29th March 2017.)

Felman, Shoshana and Dori Laub

1992 Testimony: Crises of Witnessing in Literature, Psychoanalysis, and History (London: Routledge).

Foucault, Michel (trans. Alan Sheridan)

1991 Discipline and Punish: The Birth of the Prison (London: Penguin Books).

Frame, Grant

1999 'A Siege Document from Babylon Dating to 649 B.C.', *Journal of Cuneiform Studies* (51), 101-6.

Francis, Leslie J.

1997 'The Psychology of Gender Differences in Religion: A Review of Empirical Research', *Religion* (27.1), 81-96.

Frechette, Christopher G.

- 2014 'Destroying the Internalized Perpetrator: A Healing Function of the Violent Language against Enemies in the Psalms' in Eve-Marie Becker, Jan Dochhorn and Else Kragelund Holt (eds.) *Trauma and Traumatization in Individual and Collective Dimensions* (Gottingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 71-84.
- 'Daughter Babylon Raped and Bereaved (Isaiah 47): Symbolic Violence and Meaning-Making in Recovery from Trauma' in Elizabeth Boase and Christopher G. Frechette (eds.) *Bible Through the Lens of Trauma* (Atlanta: SBL Press), 67-83.
- 'Two Biblical Motifs of Divine Violence as Resources for Meaning-Making in Engaging Self-Blame and Rage after Traumatization', *Pastoral Psychology* (66.2) 239-249.

Fretheim, Terrence

1991 *Exodus* (Louisville, Kentucky: Westminster John Knox Press), Interpretation commentary series.

Freud, Sigmund (trans. C.J.M. Hubback)

1922 *Beyond the Pleasure Principle* (London: The International Psycho-Analytical Press).

Freud, Sigmund (trans. Katherine Jones)

1939 *Moses and Monotheism* (London: The Hogarth Press).

Fromm, M. Gerard (ed.)

2012 Lost in Transmission: Studies of Trauma Across Generations (London: Karnac Books).

Galil, Gershon, Mark Geller and Alan Millard (eds.)

2009 Homeland and Exile: Biblical and Ancient Near Eastern Studies in Honour of Bustenay Oded (Leiden and Boston: Brill).

- Gapp, Katharina, Ali Jawaid, Peter Sarkies, Johannes Bohacek, Pawel Pelczar, Julien Prados, Laurent Farinelli, Eric Miska and Isabelle M. Mansuy
 - 'Implication of sperm RNAs in transgenerational inheritance of the effects of early trauma in mice', *Nature Neuroscience* (17), 667-669. Available at https://www.nature.com/articles/nn.3695. (Accessed: 14th May 2018.)

Garber, David G. Jr.

- 2011 'A Vocabulary of Trauma in the Exilic Writings' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.) *Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern Contexts* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 309-322.
- 2013 'Trauma theory' in *The Oxford Encyclopaedia of Biblical Interpretation*, vol. 2 (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 421-428.
- 2015 'Trauma Theory and Biblical Studies', *Currents in Biblical Research* (14.1), 24-44.

Garbini. Giovanni

- 1988 History and Ideology in Ancient Israel (New York: Crossroad).
- 2003 Myth and History in the Bible (Sheffield: T&T Clark).

Gertz, Jan Christian

- 2000 Tradition und Redaktion in der Exoduserzählung: Untersuchungen Zur Endredaktion Des Pentateuch (Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht).
- 'The Transition Between the Books of Genesis and Exodus' in Thomas B. Dozeman and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *A Farewell to the Yahwist? The Composition of the Pentateuch in Recent European Interpretation* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 73-87.
- 'Beobachtungen zum literarischen Charakter und zum geistesgeschichtlichen Ort der nichtpriesterschriftlichen Sintfluterzählung' in Martin Beck and Ulrike Schorn (eds.) *Auf dem Weg zur Endgestalt von Genesis bis II Regum* (Berlin: de Gruyter), 41-57.
- 'Abraham, Mose und der Exodus: Beobachtungen zur Redaktionsgeschichte von Gen 15' in Jan Christian Gertz, Konrad Schmid and Markus Witte (eds.) *Abschied vom Jahwisten: Die Komposition des Hexateuch in der jüngsten Diskussion* (Berlin: de Gruyter), 63-82.
- 'The Miracle at the Sea: Remarks on the recent discussion about origin and composition of the Exodus narrative' in Thomas B. Dozeman, Craig A. Evans and Joel N. Lohr (eds.) *The Book of Exodus: Composition, Reception, and Interpretation* (Boston: Brill), 91-120.
- 2015 'Zusammenhang, Trennung und Selbständigkeit der Bücher Genesis und Exodus im priesterlichen und nachpriesterlichen Pentateuch' in Federico Giuntoli and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *The Post-Priestly Pentateuch: New Perspectives on its Redactional Development and Theological Profiles* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 233-252.
- Gertz, Jan Christian, Bernard M. Levinson, Dalit Rom-Shiloni and Konrad Schmid (eds.)

 2016 The Formation of the Pentateuch: Bridging the Academic Cultures of Europe,
 Israel, and North America (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck).

Gmirkin, Russell E.

'Greek Evidence for the Hebrew Bible' in Thomas L. Thompson and Philippe Wajdenbaum (eds.) *The Bible and Hellenism: Greek Influence on Jewish and Early Christian Literature* (Durham: Acumen), 56-88.

Gnuse, Robert K.

2018 'A Hellenistic First Testament: The Views of Minimalist Scholars', *Biblical Theology Bulletin* (48.3), 115-132.

Goldberg, Amos (trans. Shmuel Sermoneta-Gertel and Avner Greenberg)

2017 Trauma in First Person: Diary Writing During the Holocaust (Bloomington, Indiana: Indiana University Press).

Goldingay, John

2005 *The Message of Isaiah 40-55: A Literary-Theological Commentary* (London: Bloomsbury).

Goldner, L., R. Lev-Wiesel and G. Simon

2019 'Revenge fantasies after experiencing traumatic events: sex differences', Frontiers in Psychology (online). Available at: www.frontiersin.org. (Accessed 17th August 2021.)

Goodman, Janice H.

'Coping With Trauma and Hardship Among Unaccompanied Refugee Youths From Sudan', *Qualitative Health Research* (14.9), 1177-1196.

Grabbe, Lester L. (ed.)

1997a Can a 'History of Israel Be Written'? (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).

1998 *Leading Captivity Captive: 'The Exile' as History and Ideology* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).

2001a *Did Moses Speak Attic? Jewish Historiography and Scripture in the Hellenistic Period* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).

Grabbe, Lester L.

1997b 'Are Historians of Ancient Palestine Fellow Creatures – or Different Animals?' in Lester L. Grabbe (ed.) *Can a 'History of Israel Be Written'?* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), 19-36.

2001b 'Jewish Historiography and Scripture in the Hellenistic Period' in Lester L. Grabbe (ed.) *Did Moses Speak Attic? Jewish Historiography and Scripture in the Hellenistic Period* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), 129-155.

2009a "They Shall Come Rejoicing to Zion" – Or Did They? The Settlement of Yehud in the Early Persian Period' in Gary N. Knoppers and Lester L. Grabbe (eds.) *Exile and Restoration Revisited : Essays on the Babylonian and Persian Periods* (London: T&T Clark), 116-127.

2009b 'Was Jerusalem a Persian Fortress?' in Knoppers and Grabbe, 128-137.

2014 'Exodus and History' in Thomas B. Dozeman, Craig A. Evans and Joel N. Lohr (eds.) *The Book of Exodus: Composition, Reception, and Interpretation* (Boston: Brill), 61-87.

Grabes, Herbert

'Cultural Memory and the Literary Canon' in Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning (eds.) *Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 311-319.

Grayson, Albert Kirk

1976 Assyrian Royal Inscriptions, part 2: From Tiglath-pileser I to Ashur-nasir-apli II (Wiesbaden: Otto Harrassowitz).

Groenewald, Alphonso

2018 "Trauma is suffering that remains". The contribution of trauma studies to prophetic studies' *Acta Theologica Supplementum* (26), 88-102.

Grossniklaus, Ueli, William G. Kelly, Anne C. Ferguson-Smith, Marcus Pembrey and Susan Lundquist

2013 'Transgenerational epigenetic inheritance: how important is it?', *Nature Reviews Genetics* (14), 228–235.

Gruen, Erich S.

'Did Moses Speak Attic? Jewish Historiography and Scripture in the Hellenistic Period by Lester L. Grabbe', *Journal of Biblical Literature* (121.2), 359-361.

Gurtner, Daniel M.

2013 Exodus: A Commentary on the Greek Text of Codex Vaticanus (Leiden: Brill).

Habel, Norman

1985 *The Book of Job* (Philadelphia: The Westminster Press), Old Testament Library.

Hachiya, Michihiko (trans. Warner Wells)

1995 *Hiroshima Diary: The Journal of a Japanese Physician, August 6 – September 30, 1945* (first published 1955), (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press).

Hacking, Ian

1998 Rewriting the Soul: Multiple Personality and the Sciences of Memory (Princeton: Princeton University Press).

Haen, Craig and Anne Marie Weber

'Beyond retribution: Working through revenge fantasies with traumatized young people', *The Arts in Psychotherapy* (36), 84-93.

Halbwachs, Maurice (trans. L.A. Coser)

1992 On Collective Memory (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).

Halperin, David J.

1993 *Seeking Ezekiel: Text and Psychology* (University Park: Pennsylvania State University Press).

Halpern, Baruch

1988 *The First Historians: The Hebrew Bible and History* (University Park, Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania State University Press).

Harkness, Laurie Leydic

1993 'Transgenerational Transmission of War-Related Trauma' in J.P. Wilson and B. Raphael (eds.) *International Handbook of Traumatic Stress Syndromes* (Boston, Springer), 635-643.

Harris, William V.

1989 Ancient Literacy (Cambridge, Massachusetts: Harvard University Press).

Harth, Dietrich

2008 'The Invention of Cultural Memory' in Erll and Nünning, 85-96.

Hasel, Michael G.

'Assyrian Military Practices and Deuteronomy's Laws of Warfare' in Brad E. Kelle and Frank Ritchel Ames (eds) *Writing and Reading War* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 67-81.

Hebel, Udo J.

'Sites of Memory in U.S.-American Histories and Cultures' in Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning (eds.) *Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 47-60.

Hendel, Ronald

2001 'The Exodus in Biblical Memory', *Journal of Biblical Literature* (120.4), 601-622.

2005 Remembering Abraham: Culture, Memory, and History in the Hebrew Bible (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Henry, Claire

2014 Revisionist Rape-Revenge: Redefining a Film Genre (New York: Palgrave Macmillan).

Herman, Judith Lewis

1997 Trauma and Recovery (New York: Basic Books).

Hirsch, Marianne

1992 'Family Pictures: Maus, Mourning, and Post-Memory', *Discourse* (15.2), 3-29.

2008 'The Generation of Postmemory', *Poetics Today* (29.1), 103-128.

Holt, Else K.

'Daughter Zion: Trauma, Cultural Memory and Gender in OT Poetics' in Eve-Marie Becker, Jan Dochhorn and Else Kragelund Holt (eds.) *Trauma and Traumatization in Individual and Collective Dimensions* (Gottingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 162-176.

Horrell, David G.

'Models and Methods in Social-Scientific Interpretation: A Response to Philip Esler', *Journal for the Study of the New Testament* (78), 83-105.

Houck-Loomis, Tiffany

2018 History through Trauma: History and Counter-History in the Hebrew Bible (Eugene, Oregon: Pickwick).

Houston, Walter J.

2013 *The Pentateuch* (London: SCM Press).

Hull, John M.

'Blindness and the Face of God: Toward a Theology of Disability' in Hans-Georg Zieberts (ed.) *The Human Image of God* (Leiden: Brill), 215-229.

Human Rights Watch

1997 *The Scars of Death: Children Abducted by the Lord's Resistance Army in* Uganda (New York: Human Rights Watch).

Hutton, Stephanie

2017 'You don't have to talk about your daddy in counselling if you don't want to'. Available at: https://stephaniehutton.co.uk. (Accessed: 17th April 2019.)

Hyatt, J.P.

1980 Exodus (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans), New Century Bible Commentary.

Hynie, Michaela

'The Social Determinants of Refugee Mental Health in the Post-Migration Context: A Critical Review', *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry* (63.5), 297-303.

Isbell, Charles David

2003 More Comments on the Davies-Dever Exchange. Available at: http://www.bibleinterp.com/articles/More_comments.htm. (Accessed: 29th March 2017.)

Jamieson-Drake, David W.

1991 Scribes and Schools in Monarchic Judah: A Socio-Archeological Approach (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), The Social World of Biblical Antiquity Series.

Janet, Pierre

1891 'Étude sur un cas d'aboulie et d'idées fixes', *Revue Philosophique* (31), 258-287.

Janet, Pierre (trans. Eden and Cedar Paul)

1925 Psychological Healing vol. 1 (London: Unwin Brothers).

Janzen, David

- 2012 The Violent Gift: Trauma's Subversion of the Deuteronomistic History's Narrative (New York: T & T Clark International).
- 2019 Trauma and the Failure of History (Atlanta: SBL Press), Semeia Studies (94).

Johnstone, W.

1990 Exodus (Sheffield: JSOT Press), Old Testament Guides.

Kamya, Hugo

- 'The Stress of Migration and the Mental Health of African Immigrants' in Yoku Shaw-Taylor and Steven A. Tuch (eds.) *The Other African-Americans: Contemporary African and Caribbean Immigrants in the United States* (Lanham, Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield), 255-280.
- 'The Impact of War on Children: The Psychology of Displacement and Exile' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.) *Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern Contexts* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 235-249.

Kansteiner, Wulf and Harald Weilnböck

2008 'Against the Concept of Cultural Trauma' in Astrid Erll and Ansgar Nünning (eds.) *Cultural Memory Studies: An International and Interdisciplinary Handbook* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 229-240.

Keith, Chris

- 2019a 'Scribes' in Daniel M. Gurtner and Loren T. Stuckenbruck (eds.) *T&T Clark Encyclopaedia of Second Temple Judaism* vol. 2 (London: T&T Clark), 712-713.
- 2019b 'Writing' in Gurtner and Stuckenbruck, 831-833.

Kelle, Brad E.

'An Interdisciplinary Approach to the Exile' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.) *Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern Contexts* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 5-38.

Kelle, Brad E., Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.)

2011 Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern Contexts (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature).

Kellermann, Natan P.F.

'Transmission of Holocaust Trauma – An Integrative View', *Psychiatry* (64.3), 256-67.

- 2013 'Epigenetic Transmission of Holocaust Trauma: Can Nightmares be Inherited?', *Israel Journal of Psychiatry and Related Sciences* (50.1), 33-39.
- 2015 'Epigenetic transgenerational transmission of Holocaust trauma: A Review'. Available at: http://www.researchgate.net. (Accessed: 15th February 2019.)

Kelly, William L.

2016 'Constructing a history of Canaan and Israel: K. L. Noll, Canaan and Israel in Antiquity: A Textbook on History and Religion', *The Expository Times* (127.12), 616-617.

Kennedy, Jan E., Michael S. Jaffee, Gregory A. Leskin, James W. Stokes, Felix O. Leal and Pamela J. Fitzpatrick

2007 'Posttraumatic stress disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder-like symptoms and mild traumatic brain injury'. Available at: https://go.galegroup.com. (Accessed: 15th February 2019.)

Kestenberg, Judith S. and Ira Brenner (eds.)

1996 *The Last Witness: The Child Survivor of the Holocaust* (Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press).

Klostermann, A.

1877 'Ezekiel, Ein Beitrag zu besser Würdigung seiner Person und seiner Schrift', *Theologische Studien und Kritiken* (50), 391-439.

Knoppers, Gary N. and Lester L. Grabbe (eds.)

2009 Exile and Restoration Revisited: Essays on the Babylonian and Persian Periods (London: T&T Clark).

Koehler, Ludwig and Walter Baumgartner

- 1994 *The Hebrew and Aramaic Lexicon of the Old Testament*, vol. 1 (Leiden: E.J. Brill).
- 1995 *The Hebrew and Aramaic Lexicon of the Old Testament*, vol. 2 (Leiden: E.J. Brill).
- 1996 *The Hebrew and Aramaic Lexicon of the Old Testament*, vol. 3 (Leiden: E.J. Brill).
- 1999 *The Hebrew and Aramaic Lexicon of the Old Testament*, vol. 4 (Leiden: E.J. Brill).

Kogan, Ilany

2012 'The second generation in the shadow of terror' in Gerard M. Fromm (ed.)

Lost in Transmission: Studies of Trauma Across Generations (London: Karnac Books), 5-19.

Kratz, Reinhard G.

2005 The Composition of the Narrative Books of the Old Testament (London: T & T Clark). (Originally published as Die Komposition Der Erzählenden Bücher Des Alten Testaments: Grundwissen Der Bibelkritik [Göttingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht, 2000].)

- 2018 'Moses: Creating a Founding Figure' in *Archiv für Religiongeschichte* (20), 59-73.
- 2020 'Biblical Interpretation and Redaction History' in *Hebrew Bible and Ancient Israel* (9.2), 209-246.

Krystal, Henry

1995 'Trauma and Aging: A Thirty-Year Follow-Up' in Cathy Caruth (ed.) *Trauma: Explorations in Memory* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press), 76-99.

Lacan, Jacques (trans. Alan Sheridan)

1973 The Four Fundamental Concepts of Psychoanalysis, (New York: Norton).

LaCapra, Dominick

- 1994 Representing the Holocaust: History, Theory, Trauma (Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press).
- 1998 *History and Memory after Auschwitz* (Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press).
- 2001 Writing History, Writing Trauma (Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press).

Lang, Berel

'Holocaust Genres and the Turn to History' in Andrew Leak and George Paizis (eds.) *The Holocaust and the Text: Speaking the Unspeakable* (London: Macmillan), 17-31.

Langille, Timothy

2014 Reshaping the Persistent Past: A Study of Collective Trauma and Memory in Second Temple Judaism (unpublished doctoral thesis: University of Toronto).

Lasine, Stuart

2002 'Divine Narcissism and Yahweh's Parenting Style', *Biblical Interpretation* (10.1), 36-56.

Laub, Dori

- 1995 'Truth and Testimony: The Process and the Struggle' in Cathy Caruth (ed.) *Trauma: Explorations in Memory* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press), 61-75.
- 2012 'Traumatic shutdown of narrative and symbolization: a death instinct derivative?' in Gerard M. Fromm (ed.) Lost in Transmission: Studies of Trauma Across Generations (London: Karnac Books), 31-53.

Laub, Dori with Marjorie Allard

'History, Memory, and Truth: Defining the Place of the Survivor' in Michael Berenbaum and Abraham J. Peck (eds.) *The Holocaust and History* (Bloomington and Indianapolis: Indiana University Press), 799-812.

Laufer, Robert S., Elizabeth Brett and M.S. Gallops

1985 'Symptom patterns associated with posttraumatic stress disorder among Vietnam veterans exposed to war trauma', *The American Journal of Psychiatry* (142.11), 1304-1311.

Leak, Andrew and George Paizis (eds.)

2000 The Holocaust and the Text: Speaking the Unspeakable (London: Macmillan).

Le Goff, Jacques

1992 History and Memory (New York: Columbia University Press).

Lemche, Niels Peter

- 1985 Early Israel (Leiden: E J Brill).
- 1988 Ancient Israel: A New History of Israelite Society (Sheffield: JSOT).
- 1998 The Israelites in History and Tradition (London: SPCK).
- 'Good and Bad in History: The Greek Connection' in Steven L. McKenzie and Thomas Römer (eds.) *Rethinking the Foundations: Historiography in the Ancient World and in the Bible* (Berlin: Walter de Gruyter), 127-140.
- 2003 Conservative Scholarship Critical Scholarship: Or How Did We Get Caught by This Bogus Discussion? Available at: http://www.bibleinterp.com/articles/2003/09/lem288001.shtml. (Accessed: 27th February 2017.)
- 2011 'Does the Idea of the Old Testament as a Hellenistic Book Prevent Source Criticism of the Pentateuch?', *Scandinavian Journal of the Old Testament* (25.1), 75-92.
- 2013a Biblical Studies and the Failure of History (Sheffield: Equinox).
- 2013b "Hebrew" as a national name for Israel' in *Biblical Studies and the Failure of History*, 77-94. (Originally published 1979.)
- 2013c 'The Old Testament: a Hellenistic Book?' in *Biblical Studies and the Failure of History*, 133-156. (Originally published 1993.)
- 2013d 'History writing in the ancient Near East and Greece' in *Biblical Studies and the Failure of History*, 253-263. (Originally published 1999.)
- 2013e 'How does one date an expression of mental history? The Old Testament and Hellenism' in *Biblical Studies and the Failure of History*, 289-306. (Originally published 2001.)
- 2013f "Because they have cast away the law of the Lord of Hosts", or "We and the rest of the world": the authors who "wrote" the Old Testament' in *Biblical Studies and the Failure of History*, 317-333. (Originally published 2003.)

Lemos, T.M.

'The Emasculation of Exile: Hypermasculinity and Feminization in the Book of Ezekiel' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritchel Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.)

Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportation in Biblical and Modern

Contexts (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 377-393.

Levin, Christoph

'The Yahwist and the Redactional Link Between Genesis and Exodus' in Thomas B. Dozeman and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *A Farewell to the Yahwist?*

- The Composition of the Pentateuch in Recent European Interpretation (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 131-141.
- 2007 'The Yahwist: The Earliest Editor in the Pentateuch', *Journal of Biblical Literature* (126.2), 209-230.
- 'The Pentateuch: A compilation by redactors' in Jan Christian Gertz, Bernard M. Levinson, Dalit Rom-Shiloni and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *The Formation of the Pentateuch: Bridging the Academic Cultures of Europe, Israel, and North America* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 579-587.

Levinson, Bernard M.

'Is the Covenant Code an Exilic Composition? A Response to John van Seters' in John Day (ed.) *In Search of Pre-Exilic Israel* (London: T&T Clark), 272-325.

Levitt Kohn, Risa

2002 A New Heart and a New Soul: Ezekiel, the Exile and the Torah (London: Sheffield Academic Press).

Lifton, Robert Jay

- 1980 'The Concept of the Survivor' in J.E. Dimsdale (ed.) *Survivors, Victims, and Perpetrators* (New York: Hemisphere), 113-126.
- 1991 *Death in Life: Survivors of Hiroshima* (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press). (Originally published by Random House, 1968.)

Lillie, Meredith and Peter Strelan

2016 'Careful what you wish for: Fantasizing about revenge increases justice dissatisfaction in the chronically powerless', *Personality and Individual Differences* (94), 290-294.

Lim, Bo H.

2016 'Exile and Migration: Toward a Biblical Theology of Immigration and Displacement', *The Covenant Quarterly* (74.2), 3-15.

Linafelt, Tod

2000 Surviving Lamentations (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).

Linton, Malcolm, Issatu Kargbo and Abdul Sankoh

1999 'War Wounds', *Time* (September 5, 1999). Available at: http://content.time.com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,30536-2,00.html. (Accessed: 14th August 2017.)

Lipschits, Oded

- 1999 'The History of the Benjamin Region under Babylonian Rule', *Journal of the Institute of Archaeology of Tel Aviv University* (26.2), 155-190.
- 'Demographic Changes in Judah between the Seventh and the Fifth Centuries B.C.E.' in Oded Lipschits and Joseph Blenkinsopp (eds.) *Judah and the Judeans in the Neo-Babylonian Period* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns), 323-376.

2005 *The Fall and Rise of Jerusalem: Judah under Babylonian Rule* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns).

Liss, Hanna and Mannfred Oeming (eds.)

2010 *Literary Construction of Identity in the Ancient World* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns).

Liverani, Mario (trans. Chiara Peri and Philip R. Davies)

2015 Israel's History and the History of Israel (London: Equinox). (First published 2003 as Oltre la Bibbia: Storia Antica di Israele.)

Loewenberg, Peter

'Clinical and historical perspectives on the intergenerational transmission of trauma' in Gerard M. Fromm (ed.) *Lost in Transmission: Studies of Trauma Across Generations* (London: Karnac Books), 55-68.

Long, V. Philips

2005 Conservative Scholarship – Critical Scholarship: Can We Talk? Available at: http://www.bibleinterp.com/articles/2005/03/lon308001.shtml. (Accessed: 27th February 2017.)

Magdalene, F. Rachel and Cornelia Wunsch

2011 'Slavery between Judah and Babylon: the Exilic Experience'. Laura Culbertson (ed.), *Slaves and Households in the Near East* (Chicago: The Oriental Institute of the University of Chicago), 113–134.

Malancharuvil, Joseph M.

2004 'Projection, Introjection, and Projective Identification: A Reformulation', *The American Journal of Psychoanalysis* (64.4), 375-382.

Malkki, Liisa H.

1995 Purity and Exile (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).

Matthäus, Jürgen (ed.)

2013 *Jewish Responses to Persecution, Volume III, 1941-1942* (Plymouth: AltaMira Press).

Matthews, Victor H.

'Social science models' in Stephen B. Chapman (ed.) *The Cambridge Companion to the Hebrew Bible/Old Testament* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 147-162.

McConville, Gordon

'Deuteronomy' in D.A. Carson, R.T. France, J.A. Motyer and G.J. Wenham (eds.) *New Bible Commentary* (Leicester: IVP), 198-232.

McNeile, A.H.

1908 *The Book of Exodus* (London: Methuen).

Meyers, Carol

- 1999a 'Mother to Muse: An Archaeomusicological Study of Women's Performance in Ancient Israel' in Athalya Brenner and Jan Willem van Henten (eds.) *Recycling Biblical Figures* (Leiden: Deo Publishing), 50-77.
- 1999b "Women of the Neighborhood" (Ruth 4.17): Informal Female Networks in Ancient Israel' in Athalya Brenner (ed.) *Ruth and Esther: A Feminist Companion to the Bible (Second Series)* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), 110-127.
- 2005 *Exodus* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), The New Cambridge Bible Commentary.

Middlemas, J.A.

'Going Beyond the Myth of the Empty Land: A Reassessment of the Early Persian Period' in Gary N. Knoppers and Lester L. Grabbe (eds.) *Exile and Restoration Revisited: Essays on the Babylonian and Persian Periods* (London: T&T Clark), 174-194.

Moore, Burness E. and Bernard D. Fine (eds.)

1990 Psychoanalytic Terms & Concepts (New Haven: The American Psychoanalytic Association and Yale University Press).

Morgenstern, Julian

1956 'Jerusalem – 485 B.C.E.' Hebrew Union College Annual, (27), 101-79.

Morrow, William S.

- 2004 'Comfort for Jerusalem: The Second Isaiah as Counselor to Refugees', *Biblical Theology Bulletin* (34.2), 80-86.
- 'Deuteronomy 7 in Postcolonial Perspective: Cultural Fragmentation and Renewal' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritcher Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.)

 Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportations in Biblical and Modern Contexts (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 275-293.

Murphy, James G.

1881 *The Book of Exodus* (New York: I.K. Funk).

Na'aman, Nadav

1997 'Sources and Composition in the History of Solomon' in Lowell K. Handy (ed.) *The Age of Solomon: Scholarship at the Turn of the Millennium* (New York: Brill), 57-80.

Najman, Hindy

2012 'The Vitality of Scripture Within and Beyond the "Canon", *Journal for the Study of Judaism* (43), 497-518.

Napoli, Joseph C.

1999 'Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in the Adult Offspring of Holocaust Survivors', *American Journal of Psychiatry* (156.11), 1838-1839.

Newmark, Kevin

'Traumatic Poetry: Charles Baudelaire and the Shock of Laughter' in Cathy Caruth (ed.) *Trauma: Explorations in Memory* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press), 236-255.

Newsom, Carol

2003 *The Book of Job: A Contest of Moral Imaginations* (Oxford: Oxford University Press).

Nicholson, Ernest

- 1973 Exodus and Sinai in History and Tradition (Oxford: Basil Blackwell).
- 1994 'Story and History in the Old Testament' in Samuel E. Balentine and John Barton (eds.) *Language, Theology, and The Bible* (Oxford: Clarendon Press), 135-150.
- 2002 The Pentateuch in the Twentieth Century: The Legacy of Julius Wellhausen (Oxford: Clarendon Press).

Nielsen, Flemming A. J.

'Israel, the antithesis of Hellas: Enslavement, exile and return in the Greek Solon tradition and the Hebrew Bible' in Thomas L. Thompson and Philippe Wajdenbaum (eds.) *The Bible and Hellenism: Greek Influence on Jewish and Early Christian Literature* (Durham: Acumen), 175-186.

Nielsen, Kirsten

2014 'Post-traumatic Stress Disorder and the Book of Job' in Eve-Marie Becker, Jan Dochhorn and Else Kragelund Holt (eds.) *Trauma and Traumatization in Individual and Collective Dimensions* (Gottingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 62-70.

Niesiołowski-Spanò, Łukasz

'The Philistines as intermediaries between the Aegean and the Near East' in Thomas L. Thompson and Philippe Wajdenbaum (eds.) *The Bible and Hellenism: Greek Influence on Jewish and Early Christian Literature* (Durham: Acumen), 88-101.

Nilsen, Tina Dykesteen

2017 'Memories of Moses: A Survey through Genres', *Journal for the Study of the Old Testament* (41.3), 287-312.

Nodet, Étienne

2014 'Editing the Bible: Alexandria or Babylon?' in Thomas L. Thompson and Philippe Wajdenbaum (eds.) *The Bible and Hellenism: Greek Influence on Jewish and Early Christian Literature* (Durham: Acumen), 36-55.

Noll, K.L.

2001 'The Kaleidoscopic Nature of Divine Personality', *Biblical Interpretation* (9.1), 1-24.

2013 Canaan and Israel in Antiquity (London: Bloomsbury).

Noth, Martin (trans. J.S. Bowden)

1962 Exodus (London: SCM Press), Old Testament Library. (Originally published 1959, entitled Das zweite Buch Mose, Exodus.)

Noth, Martin (trans. Bernhard W. Anderson)

1972 A History of Pentateuchal Traditions (Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall). (Originally published 1948, entitled Überlieferungsgeschichte des Pentateuch.)

Novick, Jack and Kerry Kelly

1970 'Projection and Externalization' in Ruth S. Eissler (ed.) *The Psychoanalytic Study of the Child* vol. XXV (London: The Hogarth Press), 69-95.

O'Connor, Kathleen

- 2002 Lamentations & The Tears of the World (Maryknoll, New York: Orbis Books).
- 2011 Jeremiah: Pain and Promise (Minneapolis: Fortress Press).
- 2016 'Stammering Toward the Unsayable: Old Testament Theology, Trauma Theory, and Genesis', *Interpretation: A Journal of Bible and Theology* (70.3), 301-313.

Oded, Bustenay

- 1979 *Mass Deportations and Deportees in the Neo-Assyrian Empire* (Wiesbaden: Reichert).
- 'Where Is the "Myth of the Empty Land" To Be Found? History versus Myth' in Oded Lipschits and Joseph Blenkinsopp (eds.) *Judah and the Judeans in the Neo-Babylonian Period* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns), 55-74.

Odell, Margaret S.

'Fragments of Traumatic Memory: Salmê zākār and Child Sacrifice in Ezekiel 16:15-22' in Elizabeth Boase and Christopher G. Frechette (eds.) *Bible Through the Lens of Trauma* (Atlanta: SBL Press), 107-124.

O'Neill, J.C.

1991 The Bible's Authority: A Portrait Gallery of Thinkers from Lessing to Bultmann (Edinburgh: T & T Clark).

Parry, Ann

'Idioms for the Unrepresentable: Postwar Fiction and the Shoah' in Andrew Leak and George Paizis (eds.) *The Holocaust and the Text: Speaking the Unspeakable* (London: Macmillan), 109-124.

Patton, Corrine

1996 "I Myself Gave Them Laws That Were Not Good": Ezekiel 20 and the Exodus Traditions', *Journal for the Study of the Old Testament* (69), 73-90.

Pearrow, Melissa and Lisa Cosgrove

'The Aftermath of Combat-Related PTSD: Toward an Understanding of Transgenerational Trauma', *Communication Disorders Quarterly* (30.2), 77-82.

Perry, Campbell and Jean-Roch Laurence

'Mental Processing Outside of Awareness: The Contributions of Freud and Janet' in Kenneth S. Bower and Donald Meichenbaum (eds.) *The Unconscious Reconsidered* (New York: John Wiley & Sons), 9-48.

Person, Raymond F.

2002 The Deuteronomic School (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature).

Pfoh, Emanuel

'Ancient historiography, biblical stories and Hellenism' in Thomas L.
Thompson and Philippe Wajdenbaum (eds.) *The Bible and Hellenism: Greek Influence on Jewish and Early Christian Literature* (Durham: Acumen), 19-35.

Porzia, Fabio

'God leading his people: Exodus' longue durée' in Anne Katrine de Hemmer Gudme and Ingrid Hjelm (eds.) *Myths of Exile: History and Metaphor in the Hebrew Bible* (London: Routledge) Copenhagen International Seminar, 28-50.

Poser, Ruth

2012 Das Ezechielbuch als Trauma-Literarur (Leiden: Brill).

Propp, William H.

1999 Exodus 1-18 (New York: Doubleday), The Anchor Yale Bible, vol. 2.

Provan, Iain

'In the Stable with the Dwarves: Testimony, Interpretation, Faith and the History of Israel' in V. Philips Long, David W. Baker and Gordon J. Wenham (eds.) Windows into Old Testament History: Evidence, Argument and the Crisis of Biblical Israel (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans), 161-197.

2003 (*Perhaps the*) Last Comments on the Davies-Dever Exchange. Available at: http://www.bibleinterp.com/articles/Last_comments.htm. (Accessed: 29th March 2017.)

Provan, Iain, V. Philips Long and Tremper Longman III

2003 A Biblical History of Israel (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press).

Purdue, Leo G.

1991 *Wisdom in Revolt: Metaphorical Theology in the Book of Job* (Sheffield: JSOT Press).

Reimer, David J.

'Good Grief? A Psychological Reading of Lamentations', Zeitschrift für die Alttestamentliche Wissenschaft (114), 542-59.

Rollston, Christopher A.

'Inscriptional evidence for the writing of the earliest texts of the Bible: intellectual infrastructure in tenth- and ninth-century Israel, Judah, and the Southern Levant' in Jan Christian Gertz, Bernard M. Levinson, Dalit Rom-Shiloni and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *The Formation of the Pentateuch: Bridging the Academic Cultures of Europe, Israel, and North America* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 15-45.

Rom-Shiloni, Dalit

- 2005 'Ezekiel as the Voice of the Exiles and Constructor of Exilic Ideology' in *Hebrew Union College Annual* (76), 1-45.
- 'From Ezekiel to Ezra-Nehemiah: Shifts of Group Identities within Babylonian Exilic Ideology' in Oded Lipschits, Gary N. Knoppers and Manfred Oeming (eds.) *Judah and the Judeans in the Achaemenid Period* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns), 127-151.

Römer, Thomas, C.

- 2006a 'Exodus 3-4 und die aktuelle Pentateuchdiskussion' in Riemer Roukema (ed.) *The Interpretation of Exodus: Studies in Honour of Cornelis Houtman* (Leuven: Peeters), 65-79.
- 2006b 'The Elusive Yahwist: A Short History of Research' in Thomas B. Dozeman and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *A Farewell to the Yahwist? The Composition of the Pentateuch in Recent European Interpretation* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 9-27.
- 2007a The So-Called Deuteronomistic History (London: T&T Clark).
- 2007b 'La construction du pentateuque, de l'hexateuque et de l'ennéateuque: investigations préliminaires des grandes ensembles littéraires de la bible hébraïque' in Thomas Römer and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *Les Dernières Redactions du Pentateuque, de l'Hexateuque et de l'Ennéateuque* (Leuven: Leuven University Press/Peeters), 9-34.
- 'The Exodus Narrative According to the Priestly Document' in Sarah Shectman and Joel S. Baden (eds.) *The Strata of the Priestly Writings:*Contemporary Debate and Future Directions (Zürich: Theologischer Verlag Zürich), 157-174.
- 'How Many Books (teuchs)? Pentateuch, Hexateuch, Deuteronomistic History, or Enneateuch?' in Thomas B. Dozeman, Thomas Römer and Konrad Schmid (eds.), *Pentateuch, Hexateuch, or Enneateuch? Identifying Literary Works in Genesis through Kings* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 25-42.
- 'Moses, the Royal Lawgiver' in Diana V. Edelman and Ehud Ben Zvi (eds.) Remembering Biblical Figures in the Late Persian and Early Hellenistic Periods: Social Memory and Imagination (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 81-94.
- 'From the call of Moses to the parting of the sea' in Thomas B. Dozeman, Craig A. Evans, and Joel N. Lohr (eds.) *The Book of Exodus: Composition, Reception, and Interpretation* (Boston: Brill), 121-150.
- 2016a 'The Narrative Books of the Hebrew Bible' in John Barton (ed.) *The Hebrew Bible: A Critical Companion* (Princeton: Princeton University Press), 109-132.

- 2016b 'How to date pentateuchal texts: some case studies' in Jan Christian Gertz, Bernard M. Levinson, Dalit Rom-Shiloni and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *The Formation of the Pentateuch: Bridging the Academic Cultures of Europe, Israel, and North America* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 357-370.
- 'How "Persian" or "Hellenistic" is the Joseph Narrative?' in Thomas Römer, Konrad Schmid and Axel Buhler (eds.) *The Joseph Story between Egypt and Israel* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 35-53.

Roukema, Riemer (ed.)

2006 *The Interpretation of Exodus: Studies in Honour of Cornelis Houtman* (Leuven: Peeters).

Sarna, Nahum M.

- 1991 Exodus: The Traditional Hebrew Text with the New JPS Translation (Philadelphia: Jewish Publication Society).
- 1996 Exploring Exodus: The Origins of Biblical Israel (New York: Shocken Books).

Scarlata, Mark

2018 The Abiding Presence: A Theological Commentary on Exodus (London: SCM Press).

Schmid, Konrad

- 'The So-Called Yahwist and the Literary Gap between Genesis and Exodus' in Thomas B. Dozeman and Konrad Schmid (eds.) A Farewell to the Yahwist? The Composition of the Pentateuch in Recent European Interpretation (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 29-50.
- 2010 Genesis and the Moses Story: Israel's Dual Origins in the Hebrew Bible (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns [trans. James D. Nogalski]). (Originally published as Erzväter Und Exodus: Untersuchungen Zur Doppelten Begründung Der Ursprünge Israels Innerhalb Der Geschichtsbücher Des Alten Testaments [Neukirchen Vluyn: Neukirchener Verlag, 1999].)
- 'The Emergence and Disappearance of the Separation between the Pentateuch and the Deuteronomistic History in Biblical Studies' in Thomas B. Dozeman, Thomas Römer and Konrad Schmid (eds.), *Pentateuch, Hexateuch, or Enneateuch? Identifying Literary Works in Genesis through Kings* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 11-24.
- 2012 'Genesis and Exodus as Two Formerly Independent Traditions of Origins for Ancient Israel', *Biblica* (93.2), 187-208.
- 2014 'Exodus in the Pentateuch' in Thomas B. Dozeman, Craig A. Evans, and Joel N. Lohr (eds.) *The Book of Exodus: Composition, Reception, and Interpretation* (Boston: Brill), 27-60.
- 2016 'Post-Priestly Additions in the Pentateuch: A Survey of Scholarship' in Jan C. Gertz, Bernard M. Levinson, Dalit Rom-Shiloni and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *The Formation of the Pentateuch: Bridging the Academic Cultures of Europe, Israel, and North America* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 589-604.
- 2019 'How to identify a Persian period text in the Pentateuch' in Richard J. Bautch and Mark Lackowski (eds.) *On Dating Biblical Texts to the Persian Period:*

Discerning Criteria and Establishing Epochs (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 101-119

'Genesis, Exodus, and the Composition of the Torah'. Available at: www.thetorah.com. (Accessed: 24th August 2021.)

Schniedewind, William M.

2005 How the Bible Became a Book (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

2016 'Linguistic dating, writing systems and the pentateuchal sources' in Jan Christian Gertz, Bernard M. Levinson, Dalit Rom-Shiloni and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *The Formation of the Pentateuch: Bridging the Academic Cultures of Europe, Israel, and North America* (Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck), 345-356.

Schwartz, Baruch J.

'The Strata of the Priestly Writings and the Revised Relative Dating of P and H' in Sarah Shectman and Joel S. Baden (eds.) *The Strata of the Priestly Writings: Contemporary Debate and Future Directions* (Zürich: Theologischer Verlag Zürich), 1-12.

Schweitzer, Robert, Fritha Melville, Zachary Steel and Philippe Lacherez

'Trauma, post-migration living difficulties, and social support as predictors of psychological adjustment in resettled Sudanese refugees', *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* (40), 179-187.

Seevers, Boyd

2013 Warfare in the Old Testament (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Kregel).

Severson, Eric R. and David M. Goodman (eds.)

2018 *Memories and Monsters: Psychology, Trauma, and Narrative* (Abingdon: Routledge).

Shectman, Sarah, and Joel S. Baden (eds.)

2009 The Strata of the Priestly Writings: Contemporary Debate and Future Directions (Zürich: Theologischer Verlag Zürich).

Silver, Raul R., Murray Alpert, Dinohra M. Munoz, Sanjay Singh, Fred Matzner and Steven Dummit

'Stress and Vulnerability to Post-traumatic Stress Disorder in Children and Adolescents'. Available at:

https://ajp.psychiatryonline.org/doi/full/10.1176/appi.ajp.157.8.1229.

(Accessed 15th February 2019.)

Skehan, Patrick W., Eugene Ulrich, Judith E. Sanderson and P.J. Parsons

1993 *Discoveries in the Judaean Desert IX: Qumran Cave 4* (Oxford: Clarendon Press).

Smelser, Neil J.

- 2004a 'Psychological Trauma and Cultural Trauma' in Jeffrey C. Alexander, Ron Eyermann and Bernard Giesen (eds.) *Cultural Trauma and Collective Identity* (Berkeley: University of California Press), 31-59.
- 2004b 'September 11, 2001, as Cultural Trauma' in Alexander, Eyermann and Giesen, 264-282.

Smith, Mark S.

- 2002 'Remembering God: Collective Memory in Israelite Religion', *The Catholic Bible Quarterly* (64.4), 631-651.
- 2004 *The Memoirs of God: History, Memory and the Experience of the Divine* (Minneapolis: Fortress Press).
- 2010 *Exodus* (Collegeville, Minnesota: Liturgical Press), New Collegeville Bible Commentary.

Smith, Stephen M.

'Worldview, Language and Radical Feminism: An Evangelical Appraisal' in Alvin F. Kimel Jr. (ed.) *Speaking the Christian God: The Holy Trinity and the Challenge of Feminism* (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans), 258-275.

Smith-Christopher, Daniel L.

- 2002 A Biblical Theology of Exile (Minneapolis: Fortress Press).
- 'Reading War and Trauma: Suggestions Toward a Social-Psychological Exegesis of Exile and War in Biblical Texts' in Brad E. Kelle, Frank Ritcher Ames and Jacob L. Wright (eds.) *Interpreting Exile: Displacement and Deportations in Biblical and Modern Contexts* (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 253-274.
- 'Trauma and the Old Testament: Some Problems and Prospects' in Eve-Marie Becker, Jan Dochhorn and Else Kragelund Holt (eds.) *Trauma and Traumatization in Individual and Collective Dimensions* (Gottingen: Vandenhoeck & Ruprecht), 223-243.

Sonnenberg, Stephen M., Arthur S. Blank Jr. and John A. Talbott (eds.)

1985 *The Trauma of War: Stress and Recovery in Viet Nam Veterans* (Washington, DC: APA).

Stager, Lawrence E.

1996 'The Fury of Babylon', *Biblical Archaeology Review* (22.1), 56-69.

Stampfer, Shaul

2013 'The Composition of the Pentateuch: Renewing the Documentary Hypothesis by Joel S. Baden', Religious Studies Review (39.4), 281.

Stargel, Linda

2016 The Construction of Exodus Identity in the Texts of Ancient Israel: A Social Identity Approach (unpublished doctoral thesis: University of Manchester).

Stern, Ephraim

'The Babylonian Gap: The Archaeological Reality', *Journal for the Study of the Old Testament* (28.3), 273-277.

Stökl, Jonathan

2015 "A Youth Without Blemish, Handsome, Proficient in all Wisdom, Knowledgeable and Intelligent": Ezekiel's Access to Babylonian Culture' in Jonathan Stökl and Caroline Waerzeggers (eds.) *Exile and Return: The Babylonian Context* (Berlin: De Gruyter), 223-252.

Strine, C. A.

- 2012 'The Role of Repentance in the Book of Ezekiel: A Second Chance for the Second Generation' *Journal of Theological Studies* (63.2), 467-491.
- 2013 Sworn Enemies: The Divine Oath, the Book of Ezekiel, and the Polemics of Exile (Berlin: De Gruyter).
- 2018a 'Is "Exile" Enough? Jeremiah, Ezekiel, and the Need for a Taxonomy of Involuntary Migration', *Hebrew Bible and Ancient Israel* (7), 289-315.
- 2018b 'The Study of Involuntary Migration as a Hermeneutical Guide for Reading the Jacob Narrative', *Biblical Interpretation* (26), 485-498.
- 2019 'The Famine in the Land was Severe: Environmentally Induced Involuntary Migration and the Joseph Narrative', *Hebrew Studies* (60), 55-69.

Stuart, Douglas K.

2006 *Exodus* (Nashville, Tennessee: B&H Publishing Group), The New American Commentary.

Sztompka, Piotr

'The Trauma of Social Change: A Case of Postcommunist Societies' in Jeffrey C. Alexander, Ron Eyermann and Bernard Giesen (eds.) *Cultural Trauma and Collective Identity* (Berkeley: University of California Press), 155-195.

Tal, Kalí

1996 *Worlds of Hurt: Reading the Literatures of Trauma* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press).

Thomas, Nina K.

'An eye for an eye: Fantasies of revenge in the aftermath of trauma' in D. Knafo (ed.) *Living with Terror, Working with Trauma: A Clinician's Handbook* (Lanham, MD: Rowan & Littlefield), 297-311.

Thompson, Thomas L.

- 1992 Early History of the Israelite People (Leiden: E.J. Brill).
- 1998 'The Exile in History and Myth: A Response to Hans Barstad' in Lester L. Grabbe (ed.) *Leading Captivity Captive: 'The Exile' as History and Ideology* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press), 101-118.
- 1999 The Mythic Past (London: Basic Books).

Thompson, Thomas L. and Philippe Wajdenbaum (eds.)

2014 The Bible and Hellenism: Greek Influence on Jewish and Early Christian Literature (Durham: Acumen).

Tobolowsky, Andrew

'Thompson, Thomas L., and Philippe Wajdenbaum (eds.), The Bible and Hellenism: Greek Influence on Jewish and Early Christian Literature', *Journal of Hebrew Scriptures*, vol. 17. Available at: http://www.jhsonline.org/reviews/reviews_new/review781.htm. (Accessed: 29th March 2017.)

Tov, Emanuel

2004 Scribal Practices and Approaches Reflected in the Texts Found in the Judean Desert (Studies on the Texts of the Desert of Judah, ed. Florentino Garcia Martinez, vol. 54) (Leiden: E.J. Brill).

Tréves, Marco

1963 'Conjectures sur les Dates et les Sujets des Lamentations' *Bulletin Renan* (95), 1-4

Ulrich, Eugene C

1999 *The Dead Sea Scrolls and the Origins of the Bible* (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans).

van der Kolk, Bessel A. and Onno Van Der Hart

1995 'The Intrusive Past: The Flexibility of Memory and the Engraving of Trauma' in Cathy Caruth (ed.) *Trauma: Explorations in Memory* (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press), 158-182.

van der Kolk, Bessel A., Robert Blitz, Winthrop Burr, Sally Sherry and Ernest Hartmann 1984 'Nightmares and Trauma: Life-long and Traumatic Nightmares in Veterans', *American Journal of Psychiatry* (141), 187-190.

van der Veer, Guus

1998 Counselling and Therapy with Refugees and Victims of Trauma: Psychological Problems of Victims of War, Torture and Repression (New York: Wiley).

van Seters, John

- In Search of History: Historiography in the Ancient World and the Origins of Biblical History (New Haven: Yale University Press).
- 1992 Prologue to History: The Yahwist as Historian in Genesis (Louisville: John Knox Press).
- 1994 *The Life of Moses: The Yahwist as Historian in Exodus-Numbers* (Louisville: John Knox Press).
- 1999 *The Pentateuch: A Social-Science Commentary* (Sheffield: Sheffield Academic Press).
- 'The Report of the Yahwist's Demise Has Been Greatly Exaggerated!' in Thomas B. Dozeman and Konrad Schmid (eds.) *A Farewell to the Yahwist?*

- The Composition of the Pentateuch in Recent European Interpretation (Atlanta: Society of Biblical Literature), 143-157.
- 2007 'Revision in the Study of the Covenant Code and a Response to my Critics', *Scandinavian Journal of the Old Testament* (21.12), 5-28.
- 2013 *The Yahwist: A Historian of Israelite Origins* (Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns).
- 2015 'Dating the Yahwist's History: Principles and Perspectives', *Biblical Studies on the Web* (96), 1-25.

Vickroy, Laurie

2015 Reading Trauma Narratives: The Contemporary Novel and the Psychology of Oppression (Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press).

Vikman, Elisabeth

2005 'Ancient origins: Sexual violence in warfare, part I', *Anthropology & Medicine* (12.1), 21-31.

Volkan, Vamik D.

- 1996 'Bosnia-Herzegovina: Ancient Fuel for a Modern Inferno', *Mind and Human Interaction* (7), 110-127.
- 1998 'Ethnicity and Nationalism: A Psychoanalytic Perspective', *Applied Psychology: An International Review* (47.1), 45-57.
- 2001 'Transgenerational Transmissions and Chosen Trauma: An Aspect of Large-Group Identity', *Group Analysis* (34.1), 79-97.
- 2003 'Large-Group Identity: Border Psychology and Related Societal Processes', *Mind and Human Interaction* (13), 49-76.
- 2014 Psychoanalysis, International Relations, and Diplomacy (London: Karnac).
- 2016 'The Need to Have Enemies and Allies: A Developmental Approach', *Political Psychology* (6.2), 219-247.

Volkan, Vamik D. and M. Harris

1995 'The Psychodynamics of Ethnic Terrorism', *International Journal on Group Rights* (3), 145-159.

von Franz, Marie-Louise (trans. William H. Kennedy)

1980 Projection and Re-collection in Jungian Psychology: Reflections of the Soul (Chicago, Illinois: Open Court).

von Rad, Gerhard (trans. E.W. Trueman-Dicken)

1966 'The Form-Critical Problem of the Hexateuch' in Gerhard von Rad (ed.) *The Problem of the Hexateuch and Other Essays* (New York: McGraw-Hill), 1-78.

von Rad, Gerhard (trans. D.M.G. Stalker)

2001 Old Testament Theology Volume 1: The Theology of Israel's Historical Traditions (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press).

Wajdenbaum, Philippe

2011 Argonauts of the Desert: Structural Analysis of the Hebrew Bible (Sheffield: Equinox).

Wellhausen, Julius (trans. J. Sutherland Black, Allan Menzies)

2013 *Prolegomena to the History of Israel* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press). (Originally published 1878, entitled *Geschichte Israels I*.)

Wendland, Ernst

2019 Exodus: Translation Notes. Available at: https://www.academia.edu. (Accessed: 28th January 2019.)

Wesselius, Jan-Wim

2000 'Towards a New History of Israel', *Journal of Hebrew Scripture* (3.2), 1-20. 2002 *The Origin of the History of Israel* (London: Sheffield Academic Press).

Whiting, Simeon

'Julius Wellhausen goes to Copenhagen: Towards a more progressive commentary on Exodus', *The Expository Times* (131.5), 183-198.

Whybray, R.N.

1975 Isaiah 40-66 (London: Oliphants), New Century Bible.

1987 The Making of the Pentateuch (Sheffield: JSOT Press).

1995 Introduction to the Pentateuch (Grand Rapids, Michigan: Eerdmans).

Wiese, Elizabeth Batista-Pinto

2010 'Culture and Migration: Psychological Trauma in Children and Adolescents', *Traumatology* (16.4), 142-152.

World Health Organization

'Post traumatic stress disorder' in *International Classification of Diseases* (ICD-11). Available at: https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#/http://id.who.int/icd/entity/2070699808. (Accessed: 31st August 2018.)

Wright, Jacob L.

2008 'Warfare and Wanton Destruction: A Reexamination of Deuteronomy 20: 19-20 in Relation to Ancient Siegecraft', *Journal of Biblical Literature* (127.3), 423-458.

Wunsch, Cornelia

'Glimpses on the Lives of Deportees in Rural Babylonia' in Angelika Berlejung and Michael P. Streck (eds.) *Arameans, Chaldeans, and Arabs in Babylonia and Palestine in the First Millennium B.C.* (Wiesbaden: Harrassowitz), 247–260.

Yehuda, Rachel

1999 'Dr Yehuda Replies', American Journal of Psychiatry (156.11), 1838-1839.

Yehuda, Rachel and Linda M. Bierer

2008 'Transgenerational transmission of cortisol and PTSD risk', *Progress in Brain Research* (167), 121-135.

Yehuda Rachel, S.L. Halligan and R. Grossman

'Childhood trauma and risk for PTSD: Relationship to intergenerational effects of trauma, parental PTSD, and cortisol excretion', *Development and Psychopathology* 13(3), 733-753.

Yehuda, Rachel, James Schmeidler, Earl L. Giller Jr., Larry J. Siever and Karen Binder-Brynes

1998 'Relationship Between Posttraumatic Stress Disorder Characteristics of Holocaust Survivors and Their Adult Offspring', *American Journal of Psychiatry* (155.6), 841-843.

Yehuda, Rachel, Linda M. Bierer, James Schmeidler, Daniel H. Aferiat, Ilana Breslau and Susan Dolan

2000 'Low Cortisol and Risk for PTSD in Adult Offspring of Holocaust Survivors', *American Journal of Psychiatry* (157.8), 1252-1259.

Young, Ian M.

1998a 'Israelite Literacy: Interpreting the Evidence', Part I, *Vetus Testamentum* (XLVIII:2), 239-253.

1998b 'Israelite Literacy: Interpreting the Evidence', Part II in *Vetus Testamentum* (XLVIII:3), 408-422.

Zerubavel, Yael

1995 Recovered Roots: Collective Memory and the Making of Israeli National Tradition (Chicago: University of Chicago Press).